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Postal Service Amendments of 1981 

THURSDAY, MAY 20, 1982 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL 
PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION, COMMITTEE ON POST 
OFFICE AND CIVIL SERVICE, 

Washington, D.C. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 10:12 a.m., in room 

311, Cannon House Office Building, Hon. Mickey Leland (chairman 
of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Mr. LELAND. Good morning and welcome to this hearing of the 
House Subcommittee on Postal Personnel and Modernization. 
.JJ'oday, we will consider H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 which are designed 
to strengthen the U.S. Postal Service's investigatory and enforce
ment powers. 

Our hearing will consist of two panels. Our first panel will be 
comprised of distinguished legislators from both the Senate and the 
House of Representatives who will describe for us the legislation 
they have sponsored. We will hear first from Hon. Claude Pepper, 
chairman of the House Select Committee on Aging, the committee 
which has been largely responsible on the House side for uncover
ing many of the fraud schemes we will hear about today. Accompa
nying Chairman Pepper is the ranking Republican member of the 
Aging Committee, Hon. Matthew Rinaldo and the Democratic 
member of the Senate Government Operations Subcommittee on 
Civil Service, Senator David Pryor. Also on this panel are older 
Americans who will relate their personal experiences relating to 
mail fraud. They are Ms. Bayard Moore of McKeesport, Pa.; Mr. 
Earl Sultze, of Soquel, Calif.; and Mr. Sidney Marcus of Lusby, Md. 

We welcome all of you and look forward to hearing your testimo
ny. I want to welcome especially Senator Claude Pepper. 

STATEMENT OF RON. CLAUDE PEPPER, A MEMBER OF 
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

Mr. PEPPER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am very 
much pleased to be able to be before your committee on behalf of 
this measure, H.R. 3973, and the companion bill, S. 1407. 

Weare fortunate today to have here with us the distinguished 
sponsor of the Senate bill who obtained the passage of that bill 
through the Senate last evening, Senator David Pryor of Arkansas, 
a longtime and great friend of mine . 

(1) 
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Mr. Chairman, if I may before I ~Ipeak fu~ther ~sk ~o have in
cluded in the record a statement by the rankIng mInorIty ~ember 
of the House Select Committee on Agi.ng, Hon. Matthew J. RInaldo. 

Mr. LELAND. Without objection. 
Mr. PEPPER. May I also, Mr. Chairman, note that there are over 

300 cosponsors including the distinguished chairman, the able gen
tleman from T~xas, Mr. Leland, who is presiding at this hearing on 
H.R.3973. . . 

Mr Chairman this bill, of course, is for the purpose of gIVIng 
great~r authorit~ to the Postal Service to m?v~ against mail frau~. 
Elderly people particularly have been the VIctims of such fraud In 
the past. 

In the Senate,. not only was the distinguished S~nator from Ar
kansas, Mr. Pryor, the principal sponsor of the bill ther~, but he 
was also supported by the able chairman of the Senate AgIng Com
mittee, Senator Heinz; the ranking minori.ty member and former 
chairman of the Senate Aging Committee, Senator Chiles of Flor
ida; and Senator Ted Stevens, chairman of the Subcommittee on 
Post Office and Civil Service. 

We had numerous examples, Mr. Chairman, of the kinds of fraud 
which have been perpetrated against senior citizens who s~em to 
be especially the targeted victims of perpetrator~ of. these kInds of 
schemes. Most frauds involve the use of the malls In some way. I 
think of medicaid and medicare fraud, for example, where false 
billings are sent through the mails for example. I thin~ of land 
frauds where seniors relied upon representatIOns made In adver
tiseme'nts and then mailed letters away to receive more informa
tion or to take advantage of the offer. 

The Postal Service does an excellent job given the limited au
thority that they have. We have heard testimony from U.S. attor
neys and State attorneys general to that effect. yve ~ave sent q~es
tionnaires to almost all law enforcement offiCIals In the UnIted 
States. However, the Postal Service lacks that rudimentary investi
gatory tool, the powe.r of s~bp~na. It. is har~ to see h~w they could 
do any meaningful InvestIgation Without It. Therefore, what we 
want to do is to give the Chief Postal Inspector the same power of 
subpena that we have given to the inspectors general that we have 
created in every other department of the Goverment to fight fraud. 

We have heard from literally hundreds of senior citizens who 
have been victimized. Our questioning of law enforcement officials 
suggests that the problem is becoming more severe all the time. 

Here are some examples, for example, Mr. Chairman, of the kind 
of fraud which has been perpetrated in these instances through the 
mail: 

A 60-year-old disabled senior citi~en pl~nning for retirement l?st 
$30,000 in a work-at-home scheme In WhIch the company told him 
they would pay him to gr?W earthw<;>rms. . 

Another senior who trIed to prOVIde employment for hIS 42-year
old handicapped' daughter, borrowed $6,500 to inve~t in a plant
nursery franchise. The scheme was a fraud. He lost hIS money, and 
he is still paying off the second mortgage of $153 a month that he 
took out in order to make the investment. 

.. 
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Anot~er one is a retired nurse from Lubbock, Tex., who used all 
her savIngs to buy a jewelry distributorship through the mail. She 
lost $3,475. 

Another is Ms: Bayard Moore who is here today to tell you how 
she lost $2~,000 In. a ph?ny f~st-food franchise known as Pie Tree. 

Another IS ~ MISSOUrI senIOr who was so upset at losing more 
than $50,000 ~n !ln elaborate securities fraud called Progressive 
~armers ASSOCIatIOn that he committed suicide. With all of his sav
Ings gone, he did not think that he had anything else to live for 
and he took his own life. ' 
Anot~er example, Mr. Earl. Sultze from California, is here today 

to tell you how he. lost $5,000 In the vending machine ripoff. 
Another, Mr. SIdney ~arcus, who is here by me, is here to tell 

you how he lost $58,000 In a phony commodities racket. 
We have numerous hearings on insurance fraud perpetrated 

through the !llail. II?- B~ston, for example, a 75-year-old woman was 
sold $40,000 In duplIcative and therefore worthless insurance. A 94-
ye~r-old woman was sold maternity insurance. A woman from Illi
nOIS was sold 93 policies over a period of 5 years and had to mort
gage her farm to pay for the $50,000 in premiums. 

We have heard from a district attorney about phony medical 
cur~s. In Philadelphia a man died, not from cancer, but from star
v~tIOn as the result of a special wheat grass juice prescribed for 
h~m by a so-called cancer clinic. He kept taking that, and they told 
hIm not to take anyt~ing else, until he starved to death and died. 
These exaI?~les are ~llustrative, Mr. Chairman, not exhaustive. 
Therefore, It IS a maSSIve problem. 
. Now, what I would like to do, Mr. Chairman, if I may, is offer a 

lIst of statements from a given number of seniors all over the country. 
I wish to tell the distinguished member of your full committee 

the able member from Michigan, Mr. Ford, and we would like yo~ 
to know that we are not inflexible in any sense of the word about 
the wording of this bill. 
Th~ able Senator from Arkansas, Mr. Pryor, made some excel

lent Improvements in our bill in his companion bill which he got 
t~rough ~he Senate last night. The~ef?re, yve welcome any sugges
tIOns ?r Imp~ovements that your dIstIngUIshed committee or sub
commIttee mIght make. 
. The last point is that there is another feature of this bill which 
IS a~ attempt t<;> deal wit~ recidivists. It provides that when some
one ~s found gUIlty of mall fraud and violates the order the Postal 
~ervICe could approach a U.S. district court and ask the court to 

. Impose fines u~ to $10,00~ up?n that offending person. This applies 
not only to mall, ~ut to SItuatIOns where the same scheme is perpe
trate~ through USIng the telephone, particularly the 800-free num
bers Instead of ~he .mail. This provision applies only where it can 
be proven to a dIstrICt court that there is a violation of an existing 
court order by means of an:y other instrumentality of interstate 
commerce o~he~ than .th~ mall. In other words, it is intended to be 
compreh~ns~ve In punIshing those who use any vehicle of interstate 
communICatIOn as a means of perpetrating fraud. 
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That is the essence of the matter, Mr. Chairman. Since I ha,:e to 
go to a Rules Cpmmittee meeting, unless you have some questIOns, 
I will thank you and excuse myself. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Pepper, along with the statement 
submitted for Mr. Rinaldo, follows.] 
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STATEMENT OF HONORABLE CLAUDE PEPPER 
CHAIRMAN, HOUSE SELECT COMMITTEE ON AGING 

BEFORE THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON POsTAL PERSONNEL 
AND MODERNIZATION 

May 20, 1982 

MR. CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE: 

:." .- ..... 

r am. pleased to be here this morning to testify in favor of H.R. 3973. I am 
happy to note that the Senate version, S. 1407, has been reported favorably to 
the Senate Government Affairs Committee. I want to commend the Senate sponsor of 
this legislation, Senator David Pryor, for his excellent work. His Committee has 
added a number of amendments which have improved our original legislation. I 
would hope that th,is Committee ,would seriously consider these amendments as well. 

I want to express my gratitude to you, Mr. Chairman, for calling these 
hearings and for allowing us an opportunity to participate. We appreciate your 
cosponsoring our legislation. We are gratified that over 3crO members of the 
House have joined us, including some 90 percent of the members of both of our 
Committees. . 

I would like to indicate at the outset, the tremendous respect that we have 
for your Committee. I want you to know that we will be glad to work with you 
toward an objective that we both share, that is, reduction of fraud perpetrated 
against the elderly and others through the mails. It may be that by working 
together we can come 4P with a stronger version of H.R. 3973 or that we can 
develop some other approach which accomplishes this same objective. 

, I would.like to tell you how H.R. 3973 developed and why we believe the 
. legislation is so important. In the past few years our Committee has held 

numerous heraings under the umbrella topic of frauds against the elderly. We 
brought before our Committee many, ~any older Americans who have been victimized 
by these vicious rackets. We have sent literally thousands of questionnaires to 
Federal and State law enforcement officials asking for their input. We have 
evaluated the performances of all these off.ices and even heard testimony from 
convicted con men and racketeers. After all of this work a truly desperate 
picture emerges. The extent of fraud perpetrated against the elderly and the 
unsuspecting can only be described as massive. We have issued half a dozen 
reports which deal with one or more aspects of the problem. 

Our hearin'gs have revealed that senior citizens are increasingly living in 
fear. These fears are real since 25 percent of our seniors have incomes placing 
them below the poverty line. In general those who retire can expect far less 
than half of the income they had while they,were working. Recent publicity about 
possible cuts .in Social Security has served to fuel these fears. 

As a result senior citizens are increasingly paying $25 to answer ads whiCh 
say 'i:hey:..eanmake money stuffing evelopes or by knitting baby booties. Mr. and 
Mrs. Ed~teinleitner testified before our Committee that they lost $30,000 in a 
work.-at-home scheme in which they were told that the company would pay them to 
grow earthworms. ' 

Nita Brumley of Lubbock, Texas, is a nurse who retirei:! from hospital work. 
She was looking for something she could do to earn a little income. She scraped 
together some $3,475 for a jewelry distributorship. She was supposed to receive 
display cases and the" jewelry to fill them in order t() make sales. The problem 
is that she received-nothing at all for her money. 

.. ) 

Other seniors seek to invest in franchises which turn out to be 
fraudulent. I have asked Mrs. Bayard Moore from Pennsylvania to appear before 
you here today and tell you how she and her husband lost $25,000 in a fast food 
franchise known as "Pie Tree." 

Mr. and Mrs. Barney Dial who live outside of El Paso, Texas, took out a 
mortgage' on their home to buy a plant-growing franchise. Their efforts to 
provide employment for Barney when ne retired and to provide a means of support 
for their 42-year-old handicapped daughter want up in smoke. They paid $6,500 
for a greenhouse"plants and supplies, and the promise of the firm that it would 
buy back the plants they grew. The greenhouse they received leaked like a sieve 
and the company went out of businessliwithout buying a single plant. Mr. and 
~lrs. Dial are still paying off the )lJortgage at the rate of $153 a month. 
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Those seniors with a little more money might invest in vending machines. 
Arthur Shaffer of Columbia, South Carolina, a retired Captain in the Army who 
served in Wor1d War II, Korea and Vietnam, had recently suffered a heart attack 
and was looking for some way to provide income to his family in the event of his 
death. He invested $9,000 and received nothing. "';"', ' 

You will,hear from Mr. Earl Sultze who will tell you how he lost some $5,000 
in a similar vending machine rip-of,f. 1 might say that the actual machines he 
purchased were produced at our recent hearing. 1 had the opportunity to examine 
them and I can tell you they were cheap tin; 'several of them were unworkable and 
others would not even stand upright by themselves. 

Those older Americans who are a little better off might try investing in the 
commodities market. Mr. D. H. Brinson, age 73, of Reidsville, North Carolina, 
thought he was investing his money with a reputable dealer. He didn't see any 
way that things could' go wrong since he was investing in silv.er. The problem was 
he was dealing with con men and he lost over $52,000. 1 have asked 
Mr. Sidney Marcus from nearby Maryland to tell you how he lO'st some $58,000 in an 
investment in phony gold and silver contracts. ~'" 

Our Committee has also examined abuses in the sale of health insurance to 
the aged. In Boston, the United States Attorney testified before our Committee 
about a case which involved literally hundreds of victims including one 94-year
old woman who was sold maternity insurance and a 75-year-old woman who was sold 
some $40,000 in duplicative and therefore worthless insurance. The insurance 
agency went so far ,as to forge the Signatures of the elderly on insurance 
contracts. The principals in th~ agency were recently convicted of mail fraud. 
The classic case was the woman we found in Illinois who had been victimized by 
,several insurance agents. She purchased 93 policies 1'n five years. She had to 

, mortgage her farm and paid out in excess of $50,000 for fraudulent insurance. 

Our Committee received testimony from the District Attorney from 
Ph~ladelphia concerning medical quackery and phony cancer cures. In one case a 
man with cancer died not from the cancer but from starvation as a result of the 
special wheat grass juice diet that was prescribed for him by a so-called cancer 
clinic. ' 

We have heard testimony regarding home improvement schemes. A North 
Carolina promoter was recently convicted of traveling the East Coast and 
contracting to remodel kitchens. Instead he pocketed the money. 

Mrs. Mabel Nord of Licking, Missouri, testified how she and her husband 
invested and lost over $20,000, virtually their entire life savings, in a 
Missouri-based 'farmers' cooperative which turned out'to be an elaborate , 
securities fraud. Some 6,000 people were taken for over $12 million in worthless 
stocks, bonds and notes. Mrs. Nord said she was sure the devastating experience 
contributed to her husband's heart attack and death a few weeks prior to her 
appearan~ before our Committee. Others who were taken include Mr. Ray 
Montgomefy of Greenfield, Missouri, a 73-year-old farmer who lost $84,000, and 
Mr. Dallas Colvin of Iberia, Missouri, who is 58 but retired on disability 
because of a heart condi,tion and lost $50,000. 

We have heard testimony about pension fraud and Medicare and Medicaid 
frauds. We have conducted hearings on fraud in nursing homes and boarding 
homes. We are investigating the diversion of social security and Supplementary 
Security Income checks from their rightful owners. Thousands of such thefts 
aopparently occur every month. We have asked the U.S. Postal Service to increase 
its efforts in this area. We have asked the General Accounting Office to help us 
examine this issue and we will be having hearings on the subject in the near 
future. 

In short, we are convinced that mail fraud is a massive problem and that the 
elderly constitute a disproportionate number of the victims of fraud. It is true 
that all fraud is not perpetrated through the mails but the greatest percentage 
of it does utilize the mails in some:way. 

, We tried to examine the reasons why the elderly are especially vulnerable. 
We learned that few elderly report being defrauded because they are heartsick 
over their loss'or just plain embarrassed. We learned that the elderly are easy 
prey because they grew up in a more trusting era. Second, many of them have a 
little money put by. Third, they are generally not accustomed to making large 
investments. Fourth, they have time on their hands and want to keep busy. 

.. 
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Fifth, ~hey desire to leave a little someth1'ng grandchl1dren. to their children and 

The con men who testified befor C' 
these schemes can 'tie -- 0 e ?ur ommlttee told us just how lucrative 
coin scheme. He told uSn~h~~nt~:~em~klng $1.5 millio~ a year in a Counterfeit 
~e~ng caught, prosecuted and put in j~i~Oa~~c~omo~:y ~~volved and the chances of 
Jal1 as an acceptable professional risk. s 1m at many con men look at 

All of this brings me to the P t 1 S ' 
criminals which regulator a enci os a erVlce. We asked these convicted 
insp:c~ors the highest ma~ks: Ite~a!h~~t~~~~~~tedth rh~~ gave ~h: Postal Service 
prOV1S1ons of the law intimately Theyals k ng th a l' ~se ~rlmlnals know the 
authority of the US Postal S " 0 new e lm1tat1ons on the 
amusing th~t t~e C~ngress has ~~~1~~. inJ~~t c~h~i~~~~afo~ me~ fOU~d it greatly 
power. ThlS, 1n short, is the reason we are here beforee~~~c~o~!;~ subpoena 

commi~~~~~ ~~dh~~~e;e~~s~f!~~e sugges~ions applicable to the Federal Trade 
immediately to help the gIns e~{·agenCle~, we are convinced tnat more must be done 
reached epidemic proportion~ ~~nc~~~~~c~ffO Tdhetprob~tem we are deaH,ng with has 

• Q r 0 wal any longer. 
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STATEMENT OF 
REP. MATTHEW J. RiNAlDo 

before 
THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION 

. ~ --

Mr. Chairman, '" 

on 
HR3973 

: .~lay 20, 1982 
\. ,~"\,,, 

I want to c()mmend you for holdin'g this hearing today on the growing problem 
of postal fraud. __, 

The incidence of mail fraud has jumped tremendously in recent years, ~nd 
literally thousands of citizens have been victimized by fly-by-night schemes 
that have resulted i.n the loss of billions of dollars. Statistics show that 
over. sixty percent of these victims are elderly -- one of the most··vulnerable 
segments of our society •. 

, . Schemes directed against the elderly run the gamut from unfounded medical 
'cures for cancer and arthritis to preparations to restore youth. Sentor citi'zens 
are also the primary targets of work-at-home schemes and land fraud. 

Mail order distributorship is one such scam that is frequently encountered. 
The elderly person is taunted·with claims of large profits that can be gained by 
investing in a distributorship and "instruction manuals" that turn out to be 
nothing mOle than fancy names for chain letter frauds. The jewelry distributorship 
is especially notorious, where false prgmises of grossly high profits are the bait. 

. , 

For the record, Mr. Chairman, ~ would 1ike to cite just a few examples of 
the types of incidents that have occurred in my own state of New Jersey: 

* A retired military couple invested over $4,000 in a distributorship 
. selling photo plaques. They.were told they would receive an exclusive 

distributor.ship and prompt delivery of materials. They received neither 
and have been unable to recover their investment. 

* Two sisters answered an advertisement for a career in permanent hair 
rerooval. They sent a $500 refundable deposit for a training session 
and equipment. The training presentation was inadequate, the machine 
defective, and they are still trying to recover their $500. 

* An operator defrauded over 425 purchasers of jewelry distributorships 
in 41 states for a total cost of over $1.8 million. 

The list goes on and on. Some of the witnesses with us here this morning 
will give you their own first-hand accounts of ~hat it is like to be victims 
of these con men. 

Chair.waT\ Pepper and I have introduced H.R. 3973 as a response to this increase 
in mail fraud. This legislation would provide increased protection for our 
nation's citizens by strengthening the authority of the U.S. Postal Service to 
cr~ck down on frauds perpetrated. through the mails. ,The bill would give the 
Ch1ef Postal Inspector the same subpoena power that 1S currently possessed by 
all Inspec~ors General in government agencies. By granting this increased 

, 'authority, we will be giving the Postal Service a necessary tool in its efforts 
to eliminate these fra~ds. 

At the, same time, our bill would authorize the Postal Service to initiate 
expedited proceedings to bar suspected individuals from continuing illegal 
activities. The bill also allows the imposition of civil penalties in the event 
the order is violated. 

Mr. Chairman, the House Aging Committee has been looking extensively at the 
problem of frauds against the elderly for a long time, and the legislation 
before your subcommittee has the suppo.rt of virtually our entire committee. 

- In fact, there are now over 300 members of the House of Representatives who have 
co-sponsored this ?ill. 

We believe it is an important measure, and I urge you to push forward with 
its consideration. Additionally, I ~ould strongly urge your favorable 
consideration of the perfecting amendments adopted in the Senate. 

.. 
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Mr. LELAND. The Chair. would like to thank the distinguished 
gentleman from Florida for bringing this matter before this sub
committee. I will defer any questions to a later date. I understand 
that the gentleman does have to leave. I hope that you are willing 
to come back at some future date. 

Mr. PEPPER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We are honored today to 
have the distinguished Senator from Arkansas here. I wish in the 
warmest way for my Aging Committee and the House to commend 
him upon his excellent achievement in getting this bill enacted by 
the Senate. It will give us a cloak of protection so much needed for 
the 34 million elderly citizens of this country. 

Ms. DAKAR. Mr. Chairman, may I make a remark? 
Mr. LELAND. Senator Pepper, if you will, our distinguished col-

league, Congresswoman Oakar, would like to make a comment. 
Mr. PEPPER. Dh, yes. 
Ms. DAKAR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. PEPPER. Excuse me. Ms. Dakar is one of the distinguished 

and effective members of the House Select Committee on Aging. I 
didn't notice that she had come in. 

Ms. DAKAR. I just slipped in, Senator. 
I just want the Chair to know how grateful I am for this hearing 

of the Post Dffice Committee. I serve on the Post Office Committee 
with my colleague from Texas. This is a very important issue, and I 
want to acknowledge the work that you, Senator, and the fme staff 
we have have done on this issue. They have really gathered excel
lent material illustrating the problems so many elderly are facing 
with mail fraud. I just think that it is about time that we reported 
out a bill to deal with the issue. 

As a member of the Post Dffice and Civil Service Committee I 
believe this hearing is invaluable. 

Mr. PEPPER. Thank you. Thank you so much, Ms. Dakar. 
Ms. DAKAR. Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to now recognize the distin

guished gentleman from Arkansas, Senator David Pryor. 

STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID PRYOR, SENATOR FROM THE STATE 
OF ARKANSAS 

Senator PRYOR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to express my 
gratitude to you, Mr. Chairman, for scheduling this hearing today 
and allowing me to participate in association with my longtime 
friend, Claude Pepper from Florida. 

I must say that when I introduced S. 1407 in the Senate that 26 
cosponsors eventually signed on this legislation. To any questions I 
had pertaining to this matter my answer would be very simple. I 
would say, "Claude Pepper is supporting this bill," and that was all 
that was necessary, to gain final approval of this measure at about 
10 p.m. during the Senate session last evening. 

We have had good hearings, Mr. Chairman, on this particular 
piece of legislation. We have brought postal inspectors in. We have 
brought people who have been defrauded. We have brought people 
from all overthe United States who have been affected by this par
ticular situation that has enveloped America relating to mail 
fraud. 
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Mail fraud as we know, has grown to epidemic proportions in 
America. Ac~ording to Kenneth Fletcher, who is the Chief Postal 
Inspector and who testified at the Senate hearings recently-fal~e 
representation schemes using the mails involved hundreds of ~Il
lions of dollars annually in consumer losses. Moreover, the ChIef 
Postal Inspector cited fraudulent schemes which he had received in 
excess of 20,000 a day. He also gave the committee a few examples 
of these cases. As Senator Pepper has just mentioned some of 
these, I will mention only two or three more: . 

One, investigation of an individual who peddled phony aphrodIS
iacs by mail, using 55 pseudonyms and addre~ses over the ye~rs, 
making it almost impossible for the Postal ServIce to catch up wIth 
him. 

Another item: a company operating out of Memphis, Tenn., 
which sent direct-mail advertisements to thousands of senior citi
zens nationwide, offering a product called Potency Plus to stop the 
process of aging, and to increase the lifesp~n of the user. Abo?t 
7,000 people, Mr. Chairman, responded to thIS ad. They sent $20 In 
for a 60-day supply of pills consisting of no more than vitamins C 
and E and a so-called miracle ingredient called Panax. 

The third situation, Mr. Chairman, was a promotion claiming to 
"get rid of body pain without medicine." For $14 plus $1.50 postage 
and handling, 2,100 purchasers eventually received a board ap
proximately 6 inches by 12 inches long with plastic cushions at
tached to one side. A person is supposed to place this device on the 
floor, sit on it, rock back and forth, and at the same time move the 
knees from side to side. This is, of course, to get rid of body pain 
without medicine. 

Well, the sad thing, Mr. Chairman, which examples such ~s 
these make very clear, is that these people may not only lose theIr 
hard-earned money, but possibly their health since victims, relying 
on the promised miracle cures may fail to seek appropriate medical 
attention. 

I might point out that since Chairman Pepper's Select Commit
tee on Aging has held such thorough hearings on the subject, we 
went to the State of Arkansas for a hearing. As you might know, 
our State has a very high percentage of population over 60. We felt 
this would be a good forum for such a hearing, and, indeed, it was. 
We heard testimony from the Arkansas Press Association, from the 
Better Business Bureau, who share our concern and who support 
generally the concepts outlined in this legislation. The attorney 
general of Arkansas, Steve Clark, testified that "mail order and 
mail-solicitation related complaints consistently rank as the No. 1 
complaint category in the consumer protection division" of his 
office. He told us of several fraudulent schemes which had been 
stopped. One of these was a Nigerian national who advertised in 
several publications using a Pine Bluff, Ark., post office box. The 
ads offered a work-at-home envelope-stuffing operation that said a 
person could earn 65 cents per stuffed envelope for a $25 initial in
vestment. However, for $25, an individual would receive only a 
mimeographed instruction kit that would show him how to adver
tise for others to stuff envelopes. Approximately $20,000 was ob
tained by this individual in only a few months. 
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. Other e~amples cited by our attorney general involved bogus-bill
Ing operatIOns, fraudulent schemes, and other ripoffs. 

At the October Senate hearing, we also heard from a private citi
~en! ~s. Hazel Karraker of Little Rock, Ark., who lost $4,000 to an 
IndIVIdual who has .s~indled more than $29,000 from individuals 
through false advertIsln~ for a bogus home repair scheme. 

Mr. ~ohn Bake~ d~scrIbed at our hearing how he bought into a 
bogus Jewelry dIstrIbutorship which is today a very common 
scheme. 

Mr. C.hairn;an,. in closing, I would just briefly wish to outline 
wha~ thIS .1egI~latIOn does. It gives the Chief Postal Inspector writ
tel?- I~vestIgatIVe demand authority with respect to enforcement of 
~xlstIng postal frau? statutes. This investigative demand authority 
I~ the same !luthorIty already granted to Inspectors General The 
,bIll would gIVe th~ Insp~ction Serv~ce the authority to tender a 
money o~der ~n? Imn;edI!ltely receIve the suspicious product in 
o:der that theIr 11:lvestIga~IOn. ~ay begin at once. The bill also pro
VIded. for ~he leVYIng of stiff CIVIl penalties of up to $10,000 per day 
for vIOlatIO~ of orders to cease engaging in false representation 
schemes. Rlgh~ now, even after a promoter has been ordered to 
cease, he ca~ sI~ply move on to a new location and the authorities 
have to start theIr case from scratch 

S. 1407 is cospons?red, as I have ~entioned, by 26 other Senators' 
and .has been :unanImously reported by the Senate Governmental 
AffaIrs CommIttee. As I mentioned, last night, it did pass the 
Senate an~ was sent to the House of Representatives. 

Mr. Chairman, that completes my statement. 
Mr. LE~ND. The Chair would like to thank the gentleman and 

applaud hnp. for the passage of this legislation. 
I would lIke to ask th<=: gentleman one question if I can. I am con

cerned that the exe~ptIOn made for private couriers gets us into 
the matter of th~ prIvate-express statute, Senator Pryor, which is a 
total~y sepa~at~ Issue from the problems we are discussing today in 
t~at It may InVIte opponents of those statutes to attempt to weaken 
t em by amending this bill. What are your thoughts on that? 
~enato~ PRYOR. Mr. Chairman, we felt that S. 1407 shouid have 

thI~ particular exemption because S. 1407 is intended to address 
mall fraud per se and to address the present weaknesses in the 
present statu~e that we ?ave been operating under. 
Th~ ~xclusIOn from Investigative-demand authority in matters 

per.talnlng to chapter 6 of title 39 and the provisions of title 18 
G'hICh are part of t~e private. exp,ress statute expresses the Senate 

overnme?tal AffaIrs CommIttee s determination, as embodied in 
~ur .com~Itte~ report, that appropriate authority does already exist 
or InvestIgatIOns under these particular provisions 

. W~ felt that t~is amendment actually would not ·weaken our leg
IsI~tIOn. In fact, It would perhaps strengthen it and once again pin
POl~t t~e fact that this legislation was addressed specifically to mall fraud. 

Mr. LELAND. I thank the gentleman. The Chair understands that 
the Se1:lator has to leave. Before you leave, however, I would like to 
recognlz~ the pres~n.ce of the chairman of the full Committee on 
Post OffICe and CIVIl Service, and I would ask if my chairman 
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would like to ask any questions of the Senator or make a statement 
or both or whatever he wants to do. . . t t 

Mr. FORD. Thank you very muc~, Mr. ChaIrman. I Just wan 0 

thank you for proceeding in the. mld~t of .all the other problems we 
have to expeditiously hear to thIS legislatIOn. b t I 

I am sorry that I missed. our ~ollea~ue, Senator Peppe~, lU 1 
have d~scussed the legislation With hIm, and I am partIcu ar y 
pleased'" to be here to hear the testimony of our former colleague 
who is now in what we refer to respectfully as the other body. 

David it is a pleasure to have you here. 
Senat~r PRYOR. Thank you. . . 1 t' 
Mr. FORD. I look forward to workin~ with you on thIS ~egls a IOJ?-. 

I understand that you have carrj~d It on the Senate sIde. Has It 
been acted on? C 

Senator PRYOR. It passed last night around 10 p.m., ongressman 

Ford. 1 th t '1-Mr FORD. Well, I have no doubt, nor does anyon~ ese, a mal 
order' scams have been a problem since the ea~hest days .of the 
Postal Service. They get more sophisticated, just. hke ot~er klndshof 
scams do as time goes by. There can be no questIOn, ObVIOusl~, t at 
the elderly who depend to a large extent on the use of maIls for 
purchasing goods and services are likely to be well represented 
among its victims. J.' t th d 

I listen with great interest and sympathy, ther~lore, 0 e a vo-
cates of this legislation. I have to say to you, DaVId, tha.t y~u kn?w 
this is not the first time we have lo?ked at a w:o:thy objective WIth 
respect to the use of the Postal SerVIce as a poh~lng age~cy. . 

One of the most distinguished members of thIS commltte~ ev~r IS 
the gentleman from Arizona who a number of years ago dispaIred 
of ever getting the State of. Ari~ona ~o pass adequate laws to pr.o
tect people who were investIng In mall-order sales of. real"est~te ~n 
that State where newspapers would carry an ad sayIng, WrIte In 
and send us $500 down and pay $50 a :y:ear f?r the next .25 ~ears, 
and when you retire, you will come to t~ll~ verIta~le paradIse In the 
middle of sunny Arizona." Retirees, ~Itt~ng the~r golde~ age and 
ready to leave and start collecting theIr fIrst SOCIal. security check, 
arrived in Arizona to find that they had been payIng for and had 
purchased indeed a piece of sand that was worthless and had no 
water, and so on. bl t t 

In order to protect people, because .the Sta~e was una e 0 ac , 
Congressman Udall persuaded us to tinker WIth the powers of th.e 
Postal Service to control the content of ~hat goes through the mall 
to protect people against that kind of thIng. . 

I was moved to recall and go back and look and I see that our 
former colleague Jerry Waldie and I-wit~ all due r~spect to M:. 
Udall-wrote a dissenting opinion at the time tha~ bIll passed-It 
just sailed through here-saying that we are gOIng to be. ~orry 
someday if we gave the post office that much more addItIOnal 

power. "." b t·.f-h t f Not in the nature of saying, I told you so, u In II' e na ure 0 
having lived to see the problem develop, I now find myself as the 
chairman of the committee very much concerned when I look at 
this corporation that we created over there 10 years ago and see 
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that it is doing more work than the Justice Department in deter
mining whether or not the law is broken in the use of the mails. 

My own view is that we have-in the spirit of Benjamin Frank
lin who devised the system-a duty to carry anything in the mails 
that isn't going to explode or cause a fire. It is none of our business 
what people put in there. It is between the person who mails it and 
the person who receives it. 

All of this, David, is by way of telling you that my reservations 
with respect to the way in which this legislation is structured is 
that I am fearful that we are expanding, again, the police-type ac
tivities of this Federal agency, 

I think this is particularly more sensitive than it was when we 
considered it years ago because, if you would stop and think about 
it, what would be your reaction to giving the same kind of civil 
power to a large utility like AT&T? Because they happen to be the 
exclusive carrier of telephone messages, obviously, they should be 
the ones that ought to be able to cut in and catch obscene calls. 
Would you then go the next step and give that corporation that is 
not directly answerable to the people the authority to cut off calls 
and to proceed with actions on their own initiative against the cus
tomer? 

Since we created the separate postal corporation, we really have 
a corporation here that is somewhat insulated from the direct 
action of the Congress and the White House. All too frequently, the 
Postal Service does everything possible to separate itself from the 
political process, and if they run away in one direction or another, 
it is difficult for us to get ahold of it. 

It is no criticism of Postmaster General Bolger, but it is a coinci
dence worth noting that the top management of the postal corpora
tion is very heavily impacted by people whose careers have been 
spent in the postal inspection service prior to their elevation to 
these managerial positions. That may explain the great emphasis 
that has been put on it. 

I don't know if you are familiar with it, but we now have uni
formed people. We have marked police cars with sirens and lights. 
We have weapon systems. We have dogs. All of this has grown as a 
part of this new Federal police force that does a whole variety of 
things for the Postal Service-all the way from· looking for mari
huana in packages to deciding whether a piece of material going 
through the mail is a violation of community standards of decency. 

Therefore, while I as the chairman of the committee am very 
sympathetic to what you and Senator Pepper want to do, I hope 
that we can work together. I have asked the Attorney General, a 
series of specific questions about the legislation. 

My problem is not with what the legislation wants to do. My 
problem is not with having to be convinced that something has to 
be done to protect these people. 

Our staff has been working on this and responding to some of the 
concerns. I believe that it is possible for us to reach my concerns 
and still do what you want to do. I hope that we can work as we 
have so many times in the past together to come out with the 
result that you want and not put us in the position of sanctifying 
the·growth of our in-house police department over there. 

98-546 0-82--2 



\ 

14 

If you look at the number of orders that have been issued in 
recent years, you find that for some reason in the last couple or 3 
years the actIOn of the Postal Service in civil administrative ac
tions has just sort of exploded. Some of this is in real estate. Some 
of it is in charitable solicitations. As a matter of fact I have recent
ly been informed that the Postal Service, if you ca'n believe it is 
operating on a sele?tive basis a little system where they call people 
and tell them that If they answer a particular ad that is running in 
that area at that time, they will be violating the law. We a.re dan
g~rously close to having some overzealous people playing ads cam 
WIt? book publi~hers. We ?ave the publishing industry more than 
a lIttle upset rIght now ill terms of what the Postal Service is 
doing. We have a strange rule being applied, for example that says 
that if you put a picture of a scantly clad female on' the 'ad for the 
book, even though the bo?k has nothing to do with that scantly 
clad fem~le ~nd says nothIng that would offend the dignity of the 
communIty, If the content of the ad would be offensive to common 
decency-;vhatever that means i~ any given community-and then 
the book ~s sent thrOl~gh the. mall by the publisher, the publisher 
becomes lIable for actIOn agaInst them for sending the book in re
sponse t? the ~ommunication initiated by the ad. rhat IS obVIOusly not what we had in mind when we broadened 
thI~ out to tak~ care of Mr. Udall's problem. However, it is an indi
catIon of the kInd of concern that we have from mailers. There are 
a nt;tmber of m~iler associations that are very much worried. 

FInally, D~vld, one of the things that just sort of jumped at us 
b~ca~se out.slders came to us t~ complain is the question of provi
SIOn In .sectIOn 4 of~. 140~ specIfying that resumption through use 
of any InstruI?-entallty of Interst~te commerce of any activity with 
respect to WhICh a cease and deSIst order has been issued shall be 
consid~red a failure to comply. with such order. When you couple 
that WIth the power that you gIve the Postal Service to have access 
to books, records, .and documen~s, it has .b~en s~ggested that pri
vately owned carrIers that are In competItIOn WIth the post office 
could ~e subjected to an examination of their books and records by 
postal Inspectors because they are in interstate commerce and be
?ause there is some susp.ected connection between somebody shift
Ing. from the Postal ServICe to them. In other words, the overnight 
delIvery people and others ~re very much upset about the idea that 
postal Inspectors can come In and look at their books. They are not 
~t all sure that they can trust the Government to have the postal 
~nspect<?r~ look at the books solely to determine if they are protect
Ing a CItIzen or only to determine how competitive they are with 
our rates. . 

I v~ry frankly think that we are past the point that we should be 
~t wI~h Uncle. Sam's instrumentality, the Postal Service meddling 
In prIvate bUSIness and meddling in private affairs. I want to pro
tect these people without expanding that authority. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator PRYOR. May I respond for just a moment, Mr. Chairman? 
Mr. LELAND. Surely. 
Senator PRYOR. I certainly do appreciate Chairman Ford's con

cerns about this matter. I can assure Congressman Ford and the 
members of this committee that in trying to fashion or shape this 
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legislation it was not my intention and certainly not of Chairman 
Pepper to give excessive authority to the Postal Service. 

For example, we took into consideration, I think, the fact that for 
about 100 years the Postal Department or the Post Office Depart
ment has been charged with the responsibility of mail fraud. Yet, 
we have not given them the sufficient tools to follow through with 
the task which they were challenged to do. This is an attempt to 
find a balance there. 

Mr. FORD. Dave, there is the nub of my concern. Should we con
tinue to give the Postal Service an independent law-enforcement 
ability or should we refocus the Postal Service and say, "We have a 
Department of Justice in this country, and we have a Federal 
police force and a Federal prosecutorial force and a Federal judici
ary that are designed to protect everyone's interest out there. 
What you should do is report this to them and let them handle it"? 

What I am concerned about is that we are now in the business of 
prosecuting people for reading dirty books, and we are intercepting 
the books and looking at them, and we are becoming the investiga
tor and the prosecutor. Indeed, if you look at the annual report 
from the Postal Service, they will proudly tell you how many 
people they nailed during the year right along with their increase 
in productivity. Something is being taken away from the money 
that we need to subsidize third-class nonprofits, for example. 

Senator PRYOR. Mr. Chairman, so the record will reflect a re
sponse to the very valid concern of the distinguished chairman, Mr. 
Ford, during consideration of this legislation, we have attempted to 
address concerns such as this. As a safeguard, only the Federal dis
trict courts would have the authority to compel compliance once 
the Postal Service has instigated any proceedings. In other words, 
we are requiring a cooperative effort with the Postal Service and 
the Department of Justice and the district court system. I think 
that safeguard is--

Mr. FORD. If I might interrupt you there, staff is reminding me 
that we did discuss this between the time that the original bill was 
introduced and you took action. I want to compliment the Senator 
from Arkansas for having added that protection to the version that 
you passed in the Senate, because that answered one of the first 
concerns we had and answered it very well. 

Senator PRYOR. Thank you, sir. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to ask if the gentlewoman 

from Ohio would have any questions of the Senator. I know that 
the gentleman from New York does. The Senator is trying to leave. 

Senator PRYOR. We are trying to balance the budget over in the 
Senate. I think you all are familiar with that exercise. 

Ms. OAKAR. No, I have questions, but I certainly want to com
mend the Senator for his interest. I do think there is a real prob
lem. How we achieve the means to the end is the issue, but there is 
no question that there is a problem with the fraud and abuse that 
exists in the mail, particularly, the fraud that exists with respect 
to preying on older Americans and their health needs. 

One of the things that I find most reprehensible is that we have 
so many celebrities and people that the elderly seem to identify 
with endorsing some of these quackery kinds of objects. I feel that 
it is the cheapest way to make money. It is unbelievable. Some-
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where along the line we have to put a stop to that kind of abuse, 
whether it is the Senator's way or my chairman's way. You know, 
one way or another, we have to achieve a means to the end because 
it is out there and it ought to be corrected. 

Senator PRYOR. Well, I would like to just pledge my cooperation 
to the distinguished Congresswoman, to the chairman, and to the 
members of t.he committee. If there is a way that we can sit down, 
take a look at this bill, and come forward with legislation that will 
achieve those ends, I stand ready to cooperate and to look at the 
language and to try to fashion legislation that will be effective. 
rrhat is the purpose and intent of this particular hill. 

Ms. OAKAR. Thank you. 
Mr. FORD. Would the gentlelady yield to me? 
Ms. OAKAR. I would be happy to yield. . 
Mr. FORD. I would just like the record to show that the Senator 

and I go a long way back in this body and in his other incarnation 
in the State and since he has returned to the other body. I cannot 
recall, over all those years, any time when we have not been able 
to come together because, while not wanting to hurt him in any 
way in Arkansas, he and I think a lot more alike than people 
might expect for someone from Michigan and Arkansas. 

Senator PRYOR. Thank you so much, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to now yield to the gentleman 

from New York. 
Mr. GILMAN. I thank the chairman for yielding. 
Mr. Chairman, I want to join you in welcoming our distinguished 

colleagues and panel testifying this morning in support of H.R. 
3973, legislation to strengthen the Postal Service's authority to 
combat mail fraud. I commend the distinguished gentleman from 
Florida, Congressman Pepper, Congress recognized champion of our 
Nation's senior citizens, for introducing this measure, of which I 
am pleased to be a cosponsor. I congratulate also, our distinguished 
colleague, Senator Pryor of Arkansas, for taking the initiative to 
sponsor a similar bill in the Senate. I understand that measure was 
passed by the Senate last evening. I commend you also, Mr. Chair
man, for providing our subcommittee with the opportunity to 
review appropriate proposals to strengthen the resources we can 
bring to bear against mail fraud. 

Mr. Chairman, as the ranking Republican on our Subcommittee 
on Postal Personnel and Modernization, I have long recognized the 
need to improve efforts to combat mail fraud. In 1977, I introduced 
legislation which was designed also to help crackdown on fraudu
lent mail offerings. My concern in large measure, was generated by 
the fact that all too often the target of these schemes and mislead
ing advertisements is our Nation's senior citizens. Indeed, Con
gressman Pepper indicated that a comprehensive series of hearings 
held before the Select Committee on Aging, which he chairs, re
vealed that over 60 percent of those victimized by mail order 
quackery artists peddling phony health remedies, land fraud, and 
work-at-home schemes were senior citizens. 

H.R. 3973 would go a long way to stemming the rising tide of 
mail fraud, an epidemic which is estimated to involve hundreds of 
millions of dollars annually in consumer losses. This measure 
would: First, permit the Chief Postal Inspector to seek access, to 
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any books or records related to an investigation he undertakes; 
second, enable the Postal Service to more quickly obtain from an 
offeror, a suspicious product; and third, provide for civil penalties 
of up to $10,000 per day for anyone who continues to engage in 
fraudulent schemes after a cease and desist order has been issued 
in addition to any criminal penalties which may apply. ' 

Mr. Chairman, while we recognize that the vast majority of our 
Nation's mail order marketing firms are legitimate and responsible 
operations, we cannot permit a comparatively small number of 
firms and individuals to engage boldly in crooked schemes to de
~raud the public. I am confident that these will be productive hear
Ings, and I look forward to our subcommittee taking expeditious 
and favorable action on this measure . 

I would like to address a question to the gentleman from Arkan
sas with regard to the measure. Have you received any comments 
from the business community at all? 

Senator PRYOR. I know that the Arkansas Better Business 
Bureau has testified in favor of the concepts of this legislation. 
Before you arrived, I referred to the testimony of the attorney gen
eral's office of our State in support of this legislation and citing nu
merous abuses that have occurred in our own State. 

I would have to frankly consult with staff to see if we have state
ments from other organizations in support of this legislation. 

Mr. GILMAN. I would welcome your doing that. 
Senator PRYOR. If I could have the privilege of submitting for the 

record those statements of support, if they exist, I will do so. 
Mr. GILMAN. Mr. Chairman, with your permission I would like to 

request that those statements, if received, be made part of the 
record. 

Would the gentleman from Arkansas tell us what means are 
presently available for recovering the kind of losses that we are 
talking about for these victimized postal patrons? 

Senator PRYOR. The concern with the present law is that it is too 
little, too late, to effectively ascertain or chase down, or however 
~ou would ~ike to say it, those people who are guilty of perpetrat
Ing these crImes. 

As I cited earlier, once an individual-a vendor-is discovered of 
wrongdoing, once the Postal Service pursues that individual all the 
vendo~ has to do is to change his address or change his place of 
operatIon. We feel that having the new jurisdiction, the new au
thority under this legislation, would assist in trying to get to the 
root of these matters before the crime has actUally had its impact. 

I think that is the main thrust of the legislation, to give addition
al authority to carry out those responsibilities that the Postal Serv
ice is charged with in the beginning. 

Mr. GILMAN. Senator Pryor, am I correct that the Postal Service 
supports this measure? 

Senator PRYOR. The Postal Service does support this measure. 
Mr. GILMAN, And that the Office of Management and Budget has 

no objections to the measure? 
Senator PRYOR. It is my opinion that OMB has no objections to 

it. 
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Mr GILMAN. And the Congressional Budget Office also states 
that ~nactment of this measure would result in no significant cost 
to the Federal Government? 

Senator PRYOR. That is correct. . 
Mr. GILMAN. Thank you. I thank the gen~lel!lan for app~a~Ing 

before the committee and for undertaking thIS Important mIssiOn. 
Senator PRYOR. Thank you. I thank all of you so much. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to thank the Senator, also. 

Please hurry up and balance th~ budget for us. " . 
Senator PRYOR. We will do It before noon If that IS all right. 

[Laughter.] 
I thank all of you. Thank you so much. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would now like to recognize Ms. Bayard 

Moore from Pennsylvania. 

STATEMENT OF MS. BAYARD G. MOORE, MAIL FRAUD VICTIM 
FROM PENNSYLVANIA 

Ms. MOORE. Thank you. Mr. Chairman and members of the com
mittee, I am pleased to have the opportunity to tell you my s~ory'. I 
am Ms. Betty Moore. I live with my husband Bayard who IS dIS
abled in McKeesport, Pa. .. 

In the summer of 1977, my husband and I read an ad In the bUSI
ness opportunities section of our local news~aper. The a~ was a .so
licitation for investors interested in purchasIng a franchIse speCIal
izing in selling pies, tarts, and cookies. 

We responded to the ad and met with ~he principals of the .c?m
pany. They made the franchise sound lIke a no-lose propOSItIOn. 
They assured us we had an opportunity of.a lifetime and that our 
investment in their company would be an Ideal way for us to pre-
pare for our retirement years. . 

We checked with our attorney and the Better BUSIness Bureau. 
He agreed that an investment in the pie franchise would be a 
sound decision. Therefore, in September of 1977, we mortgaged our 
home and purchased the franchise for $25,0~0. 

Our franchise agreement called for servICe.s to .be performed by 
the franchisor too numerous to completely ItemIze today. I shall 
just try to disc~ss a few of their more flagrant violations. 

To begin with, the company projected an anD:ual net profit of 
about $26,000. To achieve that pr?fit, about 100 ~:n~s had to ~e so~d 
daily. After the original promotion and advertiSIng had ~Ied, In 
fact, about 10 pies sold on a good day: The co~pany promIsed an 
advertising budget of 2 percent of theIr gross Income. At firs~ ~he 
advertising was provided. After a few months, the advertiSIng 
stopped completely. We contacted the media and sought to pur
chase advertising out of our own pockets. We were refused and 
were told that the company had not paid for past advertisements. 

The company promised to train my husband and me. They never 
did. . 1 

What essentially killed our business was the poor qualIty of tie 
pies the company provided. They became increasingly bad ~n ~ex
ture and taste to the point where the company by letter, InVIted 
the franchise owners to find another supplier for pies and then 
closed their bakery. We attempted to confront the principals with 
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their many broken promises, but they simply refused to return our 
calls. 

I could go on and on about broken promises, but you could only 
get the full picture by also talking to the 27 other pie franchises in 
our tristate area and dozens nationwide who invested in this 
scheme. Many of the pie franchise owners also were retiring and 
expecting to use the profits from their franchises to support them
selves in their retirement years. All of us were forced to close 
many within months after opening, some without ever opening at 
all. We lost everything, our entire $25,000. Moreover, we are left 
making loan payments of $400 until 1988 because we mortgaged 
our home to make this investment. I know of another elderly 
couple in West Virginia who will be making mortgage payments 
for the next 8 years, and many others, too. I know of a couple in 
Florida who lost everything and were literally forced to live out of 
their car. 

Mr. Chairman, I want you to know that the company sold as 
many franchises as they could in the first few months that we were 
in business. In fact, they used us as a good example of how good 
their business could be. Then they took the money and ran. We 
don't know how much money was lost, but I would guess it in
volved millions of dollars. Many couples invested $50,000 for the 
exclusive right to bake and service other Pie Tree franchises in 
their area. One group of businessmen purchased the right to serv
ice the entire State of Florida. They received nothing for their 
money. They never even got to open for business. 

We did ask for help from law enforcement officials in our area 
and in Washington, D.C. We learned that both of the principals in 
the company had in the past, been indicted for fraud, one of them 
twice, and that the latter had been proven guilty and served time. 
We also learned that the same two principals had moved south and 
were actively engaged in selling candy franchises to other unsus
pecting victims. 

We know we will not get our money back, but we do hope that 
our testimony will prevent others from throwing their lifesavings 
away. Thank you. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much, Ms. Moore. That is very dis
turbing testimony. Did I hear you say that you checked with the 
Better Business Bureau in your area? . 

Ms. MOORE. Yes; it was fairly new at that time. None of the busi
nesses that were in the area had been ip. operation long enough to 
be in trouble because the franchisors were still trying to make ev
erything look good and sending possible franchise buyers to a few 
of us locally who created a good opinion and who had nothing but 
good to say for the first few months. 

Mr. LELAND. What course of action did you take after you real
ized this was a fraudulent act? 

Ms. MOORE. Well, the first thing we all did-all these franchi
sees-was to form a group. We met monthly with all our com
plaints and we met with one of the lower officials of the Pie Tree 
Co. We never got anywhere. We tried to form our own advertising. 
We didn't do well with it at all. Then eventually when the Pie Tree 
declared bankruptcy, some tried to file a class action suit, but it 
was all so involved. Because they had no actual tools to prosecute 
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this type of fraud, it didn't get anywhere and these people wasted 
additional money on attorney fees and so on. 

I guess we were very vocal in complaining to postal officials and 
so on. We also got nowhere. 

Mr. LEL: •. ~!D. Thank you. Are there any other questions of Ms. 
Moore? 

Mr. GILMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Ms. Moore, when you complained to the postal officials, was 

there any investigation undertaken? 
Ms. MOORE. Oh, yes, there was. They have a very good case 

against them. They called a good many of us into Pittsburgh to 
their offices there, and they kept in touch with us for a good while. 
However, there really wasn't anything that they c\)uld really do at 
that time. 

Mr. GILMAN. There was no prosecution after tbe investigation? 
l\~s. MOORE. No. It just dropped there. They said that they would 

be in touch with us. We tried every year or so to ge,\-, in touch with 
them, and it was just at a standstill. 

Mr. GILMAN. How long ago was that investigation undertaken? 
Ms. MOORE. I would say about 1978 or 1979. 
Mr. GILMAN. And when was the last that you heard from the 

Postal Inspection Service? ' 
Ms. MOORE. Oh, well, over a year ago. 
Mr. GILMAN. And that was out of the Pittsburgh office? 
Ms. MOORE. Yes. 
Mr. GILMAN. Thank you. 
Ms. OAKAR. I have no questions. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to thank Ms. Moore very 

much for participating today. We certainly encourage all citizens, 
particularly those who have been victimized in this way, to partici
pate in the legislative process so we can help others to avoid suffer
ing the same kind of fate. 

The Chair would now like to recognize Mr. Sidney Marcus from 
Maryland. Mr. Marcus? 

STATEMENT OF SIDNEY O. MARCUS, JR., MAIL FRAUD VICTIM 
FROM MARYLAND 

Mr. MARCUS. My name is Sidney O. Marcus, Jr. I am a retired 
oceanographer, age 64, and I live in Lusby, Md. 

In November 1979, I read an ad in the Wall Street Journal by 
First Guaranty Metals Co. for the sale and purchase of precious 
metals. I telephoned a Boston salesman for the company. It was 
during this conversation that the salesman informed me that my 
only costs in buying and selling silver and gold would be commis
sions of 1 % percent for getting "in" and 1 % percent for getting 
"out" of the market and an interest charge at 1 percent above the 
prime for unpaid balances. In addition, he told me untruthfully 
that First Guaranty Metals maintained its own inventory of pre
cious metals and transacted $2 billion worth of business annually. 

I phoned the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to inquire 
about the legitimacy of the company. The CFTC told me that First 
Guaranty Metals was known to them and that their parent compa
ny was registered with them. They could tell me nothing more. 
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With the assurance that First Guaranty Metals was a reputable 
company, I invested about $9,000 for the purchase of silver and 
gold bullion. . 

On December 15, 1979, in another converration with the Boston 
salesman, I was told that I could not establish First Guaranty's re
purchase price, through whom I had to sell, because First Guaran
ty figured its own market prices, despite the fact that he main
tained that the company traded on the Chicago market. 

On December 21, 1979, I ordered the sale of 80 ounces of gold 
from which I should have received $10,000. The Boston salesma~ 
r~lated that I. should receive the cash. in. 5 working days, Not only 
dId I not receIve the $10,000 due me WIthIn 5 days, but to this day I 
have never received any of it. After 5 days I threatened to go to the 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission, but the Boston salesman 
~old me first t~ speak directly with the company's attorney in Flor
Ida. When I dId, the lawyer told me that he did not understand 
why I had not received the money and to call him back in a couple 
of days. I called the lawyer back on December 31. He related that 
wildly fluctuating markets had delayed my cash payment and 
made me susceptib]~ to a margin call. This seemed quite implausi
ble to me because my current equity position of 323/10 percent 
seemed an adequate cushion being more than 25 percent above the 
7-percent limit for margin calls. 

On January 15, 1980, my problem became compounded when I 
ordered the sale of 4,000 ounces of silver. My sales price was to be 
$5 less than the price that First Guaranty established as its cur
rent sales price to prospective purchasers. Even at this reduced 
rate, I should have received $15,000 making my equity approxi
mately $40,000, a 19-percent position and well above the required 7-
percent margin limit. 

N o~ only ~id the money fail to arrive once again in the 5-day 
wor~Ing lImIt, but the Boston salesman also told me that I might 
receIve less than the $15,000 depending on how the Miami office 
figured it. .. 

On January 22, I called the Miami lawyer and insisted that he 
adhere to the 5-day contractual limit, but he just put me off by 
saying that there was a backlog of paperwork. On January 24, an
other call to the Miami lawyer reproduced the same irrational and 
fraudulent response. 

On January 30, I tried to liquidate my holdings, but I was told on 
the phone that the CFTC and the FEI had raided the office and 
closed it down. 

I understand that on June 12, 1981, the CFTC obtained a perma
~ent injunction against th:e officers of First Guaranty Metals and 
Its parent company, TrendIng Cycles. The CFTC says that the firms 
ran an elaborate "boiler room" operation based in Miami and 
Boston and that the offices marketed so-called leverage and cash 
for~ard contracts through the use of long-distance telephone })olici
tatIons and the mail which were false, deceptive, and misleading. 
For example, CFTC said that the officers failed to inform custom
ers that the firm so~d com!l1odities at one price and bought them 
back at a second prIce WhICh was always lower than the original 
se~ling price. ~his is exactly what ~appened to me. The court ap
pOInted a receIver and sought to brIng about the disgorgement of 
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unlawfully obtained profits. Some 800 other people were taken and 
total losses may approximate $10 million. My personal loss was 
about $58,000. If I had been dealing with a'reputable firm, my prof
its could have been this amount or more. 

I hope this committee will be able to enact H.R. 3973 to protect 
others from these types of abuses. Thank you. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very mlwh, Mr. Marcus. We appreciate 
your testimony. 

Are there any questions from any of my colleagues? 
Ms. OAKAR. Yes, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to recognIze the gentle

lady--
Mr. GILMAN. If the chairman would yield. 
Mr. Marcus, did you take this up with the Postal Inspection offi

cials? 
Mr. MARCUS. No, sir. I went to the CFTC who instructed me on 

how to file a formal complaint which I did. 
Mr. GILMAN. What has been the disposition of that complaint? 
Mr. MARCUS. Well, it is still under litigation because there is an

other trial. I was a witness for them in the bankruptcy hearing in 
Miami, but there is a criminal case pending in Chicago: Nothing 
can be done until that is cleared up. That is still pending, sir. 

Mr. GILMAN. And you haven't received any reimbursement? . 
Mr. :MARCUS. None, whatsoever. 
Mr. GILMAN. Thank you. 
Mr. MARCUS. I would like to add this: I approached the people 

from the CFTC and said, "Now, you tell me that you had com
plaints against that company before I invested, but you wouldn't 
tell me about that when I asked before I invested. How come?" 

They told me that unless something is proven, such as in a court 
of law, they cannot say anything. They would be liable to suit if 
they were not pr.oven guilty. 

Mr. GILMAN. You had made an inquiry of them before you in
vested your money? 

Mr. MARCUS. Yes, sir. That was by telephone, so I don't have it 
in writing. 

Mr. GILMAN. You received nothing in writing from them? 
Mr. MARCUS. No. 
Mr. GILMAN. Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to recognize now the gentle

woman from Ohio. 
Ms. OAKAR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I have a very simple question. I think that the root of your prob-: 

lem was when you asked whether this was a reputable company 
and you were told that it was a reputable company. Is that correct? 

Mr. MARCUS. That is correct. No, I was not told that it was a rep
utable company. I was not told that it was not a reputable compa
ny. They told me that the company itself was known to them and 
the parent company, Trending Cycles for Commodities was regis
tered with the CFTC. That is all they could tell me. Although they 
knew of other things, they couldn't tell me because it had not been 
proven yet. 

Ms. OAKAR. Did they warn you in any way that there were prob
lems? 
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Mr. MARCUS. None. Not at all. 
Ms. OAKAR. Did you ask them if there was any kind of a prob-

lem? 
Mr. MARCUS. I did. 
Ms. OAKAR. But they declined to comment on that. 
Mr. MAR.CUS. That is correct. 
Ms. OAKAR. Vihen you got no satisfaction from them, did you go 

to your local organization? For example, in my city of Cleveland we 
have a consumer affairs department and a better business bureau. 
Did you try anything on a less bureaucratic level to assist you? 
There are some groups that do have, in fact, attorneys who will 
volunteer to represent you when they see that there is fraud in
volved. 

Mr. MARCUS. Well, when the Commodity Futures Trading Com
mission moved against them, after they closed them down and I 
had lost my money, that was the only forum I could really work 
with because if I went to anybody else they would say that I would 
have to wait until this prior claim by CFTC was settled. 

Ms. OAKAR. So they did not in any way assist you on a local 
level? I am just trying to establish whether local organizations that 
sometimes get Federal funds are effective or not. 

Mr. MARCUS. I don't know. I had the word from the CFTC and 
the receiver-the court-appointed receiver-that actions were being 
taken. I was just afraid that if I moved in another angle on it, it 
might muddy up their waters. 

Ms. OAKAR. I see, so you didn't really tryon a local level? 
Mr. MARCUS. No. I did not. 
Ms. OAKAR. You put all your faith in the Commodity Futures 

Trading Commission? . 
Mr. MARCUS. That is right. 
Ms. OAKAR. How do you feel they have fared? 
Mr. MARCUS. It is hard to say. In the first place, they let me 

down by not telling me what they knew. They were afraid to tell 
me because it had not been proven in a court of law. 

Ms. OAKAR. Can I just establish, did they tell you afterward that 
, they really had this information? 

Mr. MARCUS. Yes. I invested in November, and they told me they 
had received complaints against them in August prior. 

Ms. OAKAR. But they did not volunteer that information when 
you questioned them? 

Mr. MARCUS. No. 
Ms. OAKAR. Initially? 
Mr. MARCUS. They told me later that if they had given informa

tion out like that, they might be subject to court action if the 
charges proved false. 

Ms. OAKAR. Let me ask you, if they had told you that "We really 
don't take a stand one way or another, but we had complaints 
about"-- I 

Mr. MARCUS. I would have gone somewhere like Deak Perera in
stead. Yes. 

Ms. OAKAR. You would hflve gone elsewhere or you would not 
have invested. 

Mr. MARCUS. That's right. Absolutely. 
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Ms. OAKAR. Does the Chair know of any law that says that they 
can't give out that kind of information? It seems to me that would 
have been the deterrent necessary. 

Mr. LELAND. The Chair is not apprised. 
Ms. OAKAR. Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you, Mr. Marcus. 
Mr. MARCUS. You are welcome, sir. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would now like to recognize Mr. Sultze of 

California. 

STATEMENT OF EARL SULTZE, MAIL FRAUD VICTIM FROM 
CALU'ORNIA 

Mr. SULTZE. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my 
name is Earl Sultze. I live in Soquel, Calif. I am 71 years of age. I 
have been a double amputee since 1925, but have fought all my life 
to remain an independent and productive member of society. At 
the present time I run a saw, knife, and scissor sharpening busi
ness. 

Shortly after moving to California in 1970, I was looking for 
some business that I could get into. I saw an ad in our local paper 
about the vending machine business which sounded good to me. I 
paid Robert Donovan, president of Certified Vending of San Mateo, 
Calif., $4,998 for 10 "Chocolate Shoppe" vending machines and 10 
cases of candy. The purchase agreement called for delivery within 
120 days or the company would be liable for a full refund plus 6 
percent interest. Shipment was not made and weeks stretched into 
months, so I hired an attorney. 

My attorney found out that Donovan had been an associate of 
James Stewart Amber who was convicted of fraud in the sale of 
vending machines sometime in 1970. Before that, Donovan had 
been an insurance agent. My attorney learned that he was operat
ing a half a dozen different enterprises of a questionable nature in 
1975. We filed suit to get our money back, but Donovan filed bank
ruptcy on October 15, 1975, with $700,000 in unsecured claims. We 
heard that in 1977 he opened essentially the same kind of business 
and that the Federal Government filed a $26,900 tax lien against 
him ·in July 1978. In January 1979, he was finally indicted thanks 
to the good work of the Inspection Service of the Post Office De
partment. 

Mr. Donovan was convicted on mail fraud and charges related to 
the fraudulent sales of vending machine distributorships. He was 
sentenced to 3 years in jail with 5 years probation provided that he 
make $180,000 in restitution and that he make all of his company 
books available for inspection. , 

Court records indicate that from 1977 through 1978, operating as 
Sentinel Distributors, Inc., and Sentinel Vending Supply, Mr. 
Donovan and his associates had ripped off at least $540,000. Of 82 
vending machine sales which were documented by investigators, 47 
people received nothing and the 35 who did receive the machines 
had difficulty keeping them operating or the locations promised by 
the company in its advertising and in the contract it signed with 
investors turned out to he worthless. 
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Interestingly, court records show that some. of the original cer~i
fied vending forms which Donovan had used In 1974 .were ';lse~ In 
the sales of vending machines by the successor, Sentinel DIstrIbu-
tors. '8 

It is some satisfaction to me that this man who cheated me 
years ago has been convicted and at long last \\rill serve som~ ~ime 
in jail. I feel very sorry for the .hundreds o~ others who have JOl~ed 
me as victims of these bUSIness and Investment opportunIty 
schemes. . 1 

Thank you for the opportunity to present this statement. I wil 
never see my money again, but I hope that by coming here t~day I 
can help to get H.R. 3973 enacted so that other people who sl~nply 
want to make an honest living will not be hurt by schemes lIke I 
was. Thank you. 

Mr. LELAND. We certainly appreciate your coming :rorwar~. Your 
testimony has been very helpful. I hope that you WIll continue to 
do all you can to help inform us about thes~ problems. . 

It is very important for us as a subcommIttee and a commIttee of 
the House to determine exactly what the real problems are. We are 
most concerned about the problems that you have brought to our 
attention, and we hope to be able to remedy them. . 

I thank you again for coming and I hope to see you agaIn. 
Mr. SULTZE. Thank you again. . 
Ms. OAKAR. Mr. Chairman, while the next witnesses are comIng 

up, I just want to make a comm~nt. One of the things that you can 
never measure is the psychological trauma that people who have 
been bilked experience. All the anguish, the problems, and the fact 
that people are cheated diminish their own sense of health and 
self-worth. Monetary loss is only a part of the fraudulence. 

Mr. LELAND. Absolutely. The Chair certainly concurs with the 
gentlewoman. 

The Chair would now like to bring forward the second panel. 
Leading off for our second panel of witnesses will be ~on. Fr~nk E. 
Moss former Senator from the State of Utah and a pIOneer In the 
whol~ area of fraud investigations in both the public and .private 
sectors. Joining Senator Moss is David Affeldt, representing the 
American Association of Retired Persons/National Retired Teach
ers Association, the largest senior citizen organization in the 
United States. Lastly, we will hear from Ms. Sandra Bo:urbon, the 
chief investigator of the Department of Consumer AffaIrs for ~he 
State of Georgia, and John J. O'Brie? III, !in attorney fro;m .P~Ila
delphia, who has handled a cla~~-actIon SUIt for pers~ms VIctimIzed 
by vending machine rackets solIcIted through the mails. . 

Again, thank you for coming and we look forward to hearIng 
your testimony. .. 

Leading off for our second panel of WItnesses wIll be Hon. Frank 
Moss and we certainly want to welcome you here, Senator. Thank , . 
you very much for comIng. . 

STATEMENT OF HON. FRANK E. MOSS, A FORMER MEMBER OF 
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF UTAH 

Mr. Moss. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am pleased to be here 
today to testify. I am liI..e the old fire horse who smells the smoke 
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and has to go to the fire. I commend the chairman and this com
mittee for the bills that are now before us in hearing and express 
my hope that they will be enacted into law. I understand that the 
Senate acted last night on a companion bill in the Senate. Hopeful
ly, the Senate and House can come together and we can have bills 
to increase the authority of the U.S. Postal Service to deal with 
frauds perpetrated through the mails which is the thrust of these 
bills. 

I would like to make the following points in my testimony this 
morning: 

Fraud is a massive problem today in our society. Literally bil
lions of dollars are lost every year through an infinite number of 
con games and rackets. We have been hearing about some of those 
earlier in this hearing. 

Two, the problem is getting more serious. Historically, when the 
economic situation deteriorates, we have a sharp increase in such 
frauds. 

Third, the elderly and the poor number disproportionately 
among the victims of such frauds. Many of these ripoffs are target
ed exclusively at the elderly. 

Four, almost all of the frauds that we can talk about use the 
mails to a large extent. There are a large number of rackets which 
are promoted exclusively through the mails. 

Five, the U.S. Postal Service and specifically its Inspection Serv
ice have done a great job of combatting these schemes given the 
limited resources and authority that they have. Postal inspectors in 
general are hard working and professional and have done an excel
lent job protecting the rights of individuals. 

Six, in particular the Postal Service needs help in being able to 
deal with recidivists, the promoters who flaunt court rulings and 
continue to operate essentially the same scheme by means of credit 
cards and 800 telephone numbers. The provision in S. 1407 which 
would allow the Postal Service to petition U.S. district courts when 
there is a violation of an existing court order and allowing district 
courts to impose fines up to $10,000 in such cases would go a long 
way in dealing with this problem. That is the one who shifts over 
and uses another means of doing essentially the same kind of 
fraud. 

Seven, bills H.R. 3973 and its companion on the Senate side, S. 
1407, are a conservative, modest but effective means to deal with a 
devastating problem. The public has made it very clear that they 
want an end to medicare and medicaid frauds and other kinds of 
ripoffs. The U.S. Postal Service could play an important role in this 
respect if the Congress would but give it the tools. It is unconscion
able to me that the Congress has, in effect, asked the Postal Serv
ice to stem the avalanche of fraud and yet has failed to give that 
service even the most rudimentary of investigative tools and the 
power of subpena. 

I believe that I am qualified to speak on the merits of this bill. I 
am an attorney by profession. Early in my career I had the honor 
of being elected of the National District Attorneys Association. I 
served on the bench as a judge in the Utah court system prior to 
my election to the Senate in 1958. I wag a Member of the Senate 
for 18 years. During my tenure, I was chairman of the Aeronautics 

... 

It 

27 

and Space Sciences Committee and a senior member of. the Post 
Office and Civil Service Committee, the Commerce CommIttee, and 
the Aging Committee, also the Budget Committee. I served as 
chairman of one or more subcommittees on each of those full com
mittees. 

While I was in the Senate, I had ample opportunity to learn of 
the wide panoply of frauds which are perpetrated in this country. I 
was able to learn firsthand about the massive amount of money 
that is swindled and stolen and to see the resulting drain on the 
economy. I learned something of the involvement of organized 
crime in some lucrative schemes. Most of all, I was able to learn 
from graphic testimony the devastating effect of such frauds on 
their victims, many of whom are poor and elderly . 

Our committee hearings over the years generated national atten
tion and led to the enactment of legislative reforms. We held hear
ings on land fraud and heard tragic stories about senior citizens 
who lost their life savings purchasing land that did not exist or 
which was worthless. I conducted hearings on another scheme tar
geted almost exclusively at the elderly: Medical quackery. We 
found that thousands of people had been fleeced by promoters who 
promised phony cures for cancer or . arthritis. T~~ Arthritis ~oun
dation currently estimates losses oWIng to arthrItis quackery IS $1 
billion a year. I conducted hearings which exposed promot~rs who 
sold phony franc~~ses, distributorships,. and o~her questIOnable 
business opportunIties. I conducted hearIngs on Insurance abuses, 
as well as mobile-home and hearing-aid sales. We looked at fraud 
in the funeral industry, in Government housing programs, and at 
fraud in programs such as medicare and medicaid. The point that I 
am making is that the list of ripoffs is seemingly endless, and I 
would add that most of these schemes utilize the mails to a large 
degree. Having devoted almost 50 years of my life in p1l:blic service 
to dealing with this subject in one way or another, I belIeve I know 
as much about fraud as anyone. I want to assure you that the full 
dimensions of the fraud problem are massive. 

In order to illustrate the point, I want to talk briefly about only 
one of the investigations which I conducted in 1976. We held a 
dozen hearings on medicare and medicaid fraud in that year. W~ 
began by looking into nursing-home problems where we f01l:nd eVI
dence of widescale abuse. We found people who were lIterally 
starved to death, who were deprived of essential medications and 
who died of gangrene which developed from unattended bedsores. 
Our committee, which was made up of 25 Members of the Senate, 
issued a 12-volume report which charged that 50 perc~nt of the 
nursing homes in the United States were substandard With one or 
more life-threatening conditions. We quickly learned that there 
was a relationship between poor care and fraud. We had the U.S. 
General Accounting Office audit 30 homes characterized by. poor 
care in six States. GAO found potential fraud and abuse, specifical
ly theft of the patients' personal funds, in each of the 30 homes. 

The more we looked, the worse it got. We learned that nursing
home owners had placed relatives or other ghosts on the payroll, 
and they collected medicaid reimbursement for phony invoices. We 
found that kickbacks between nursing homes and vendors were a 
common practice nationwide and that the average amount of the 
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kickback was 25 percent. The result was enactment of a statute 
making kickbacks a felony. We found nursing ho:r;n~s who charged 
for services that were not rendered and for physIcIans who made 
gang visits billing everyone in the home on the basis of a walk
through. \Ve found nursing-home operators who charged medicaid, 
and hence the taxpayer, for such items as mink coats, luxury auto
mobiles, airplanes, and you can go on, down to tuition for children 
to go to college. Literally billions of dollars were being lost through 
fraudulent billings, all of which were being sent through the U.S. 
mails. 

In another investigation, we looked at clinical laboratories which 
test blood and other specimens. I will never forget visiting some of 
the laboratories which billed medicare for $2 million each year. I 
was surprised to find that one of these consisted of only two 8-by-10 
rooms. There was no lab equipment to speak of. The only personnel 
in evidence were busy filling out mountains of phony medicaid 
bills. We learned that all too often the labs performed the sink test. 
They poured the specimen down the sink and wrote the test num
bers at random. I confronted the owner of one of these labs who 
admitted sending his wife's blood to test at a nearby hospital lab 
instead of doing it in his own facility. We found that the only com
petition among laboratories was to see which could give the great
est kickbacks. The kickbacks ranged from 30 percent to 55 percent 
of the total medicaid billings. Our investigation documented this 
problem in five States and was featured on CBS' "Sixty Minutes." 
In Illinois, we developed hard evidence that 11 of 12 labs who con
trolled 90 percent of the medicaid business in that State were en
gaging in such illegal activity and that fully 50 percent of the 
amount being paid for lab services was fraud. 

In another aspect of the investigation, committee staff obtained 
medicaid cards through the U.S. attorney in New York and posed 
as medicaid patients to test the reported information about wide
scale fraud in the so-called medicaid mills which are found in our 
urban areas. The perfectly healthy State senate investig~tors were 
diagnosed having such ailments as heart trouble, tuberdulosis, ve
nereal disease, and fallen arches. At least these diagnoses appear 
in the billings as justification for payments. Once again, these bill
ings are sent through the mails. Typically our investigators would 
be seen in a 3-minute visit by a physician who prescribed a fistful 
of prescriptions to be filled at the adjacent pharmacy. Meanwhile, 
other practitioners who shared this office space would also bill, 
claiming to have provided services. It would not be unusual for the 
podiatrist, the psychiatrist, and the dentist all to bill, claiming to 
have provided services. In other cases, we had clinics who would 
file billings on the same person on the same date which we found 
out came from Xeroxed cards which were exchanged among the 
mills. 

It was during this investigation that I decided that I had to see 
this fraud fqr myself. I obtained a medicaid card from the U.S. at
torney and went into three clinics in Harlem, the Bronx, and the 
Lower East Side of Manhattan. I got quite an education. I was able 
to experience firsthand the indignities and the lack of care that 
poor people must put up with. I was able to see for myself the full 
extent of the fraud which was committed by greedy businessmen 
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hho ir: effect use~ and ~lackmailed foreign medical doctors to aid i eh-" In perpetratI?g. thIS cruel racket. The doctoI:s were essential-
y Ired on commIssIOn. They were told that they could keep 30 

percent of what they brought in from medicaid. The clinic owner 
kept the 70 percent. The:re was, therefore, an incentive for the doc
tors to see as many patIents as they could and to bill the Govern
ment prog~aJ?s for as much as possible. Billing forms were pre
pared by clInIC man~g~rs sometimes after the doctors had signed in 
blank. Fraudulent bIllIngs were added in many cases without the 
knowledge of a ph~sic~an. A physician who might be disposed to 
speak <?~t was kept ~n ~Ine by the threat of being turned over to the 
au~horItIes for medicald fraud. On the basis of our investigation 
whICh focused o~ f~ve States which accounted for more than 50 per~ 
cent of the m~dICaid program, we concluded that 25 percent of the 
cost of th.e entI!e 'progr~m "?Vas being lost to fraud. 
. I mentIOn thIS Inv~stIga~IOn n?t because it resulted in the convic

tIon of.so~e 75 prOVIders IncludIng the physicians who treated me 
~ i57tIOn I.t bec~use the investigation resulted in the enactment of 

·fi 0 whICh I Introduced in September of, 1976. This created the 
of Ice of Inspector Gener~l in the HEW, now the Department of 
He~lth and Human ServIces. The concept of Inspector General 
whICh has now extended to every Government department wa~ 
~odeled ?D: the Chief Postal Inspector. The Chief Postal Inspector 
IS the <;>fflclal char~ed by. the Congress with the responsibility for 
protectIng the ?lalis agaInst robbery and theft, from the conse
qu~nces of sendIng nonmailable matters such as bombs through the 
malls, and for keeping the mails free from fraud and items sold by 
me~ns of false repres~ntations .. The IG in HHS has similar duties. 
~he I~ t~e officer. who IS responsIble for internal security, protecting 

e socI~1 sec~rIty computers and checks from fraud and theft as 
well as InvestI~a~Ing fraud against medicaid and other Government 
programs. admInIstered by the department. 
U ~ was In 1976.that I became aware of the excellent work of the 
.. Post~l SeryICe and th~ sho~tcoming of their authority. I re

member .dIscus~In&, the subJect wIth U.S. attorney Robert Fiske of Wi southern dIStrICt of New York and his chief assistant George 
1 son. The~ told me that the Postal Service inspectors ~ere the 

most profeSSIOnal of all the investigators with whom they had to 
work .. They told me that they worked hard and understood the 
complIcated nature of fraud schemes. As one who had been hon
ored by the local chapter of the Civil Liberties Union I was pleased 
to hear that they have been careful to protect the rights of individ
uals. The.y also t<;>ld me how much more the inspection service 
co~ld do If they dId not have both hands tied and I asked Dor de-
taIls. ' 

I was t?ld that un~er pre~e?t law, t~e inspection service cannot 
moye agaInst fraud eIther CIVIlly or crIminally. A criminal investi
gatIon must be conduct~d under the aegis of the U.S. attorney's 
?ffice, "?Vh? ~ust be co~vInced that there is a case and that the case 
IS of sI&,nIfICant magnItude that prosecution will be undertaken. 

OUnlhapPIly, onl~ t~e largest of fraud schemes ever reach that level. 
n y aft~r C?nVIncing the U.S. attorney's office that the case meets 

~hes~ cr~te!Ia, can the s~rvic~ proceed. In short, the Insnection 
ervICe IS In a catch-22 sItuatIOn.· They can only proceed If they 

98-546 0-82--3 

.. 
j 



\ 

30 

convince the U.S. attorney that they have a case, a;nd th~y ~an 
only establish th~t they have a case ~f they first .do an InvestIgatIOn 
which, of course, is not possible until they conVInce the U.S. attor-
ney to let them do so. . ., . 

In civil cases 'where false representatIOI?-s are made In ~dvertIsI~g 
relating to matters sold through the malls, the Insp.ectIO?- SerVICe 
has no way of obtaining access to the product descnbed In the ~d 
short of a test purchase. The service promoters understand thIS; 
therefore, they wait 3 months and fill all orders ~t once as they ~re 
going out of business. This me~ns that by the tIme the Inspec~lOn 
Service gets the product, there IS no recourse. 

I was informed that the simple answer to both I?roblem.s was to 
give the Chief Postal Investigator subpena authonty. I pIcked up 
this suggestion in my legislation to create to the office of Inspector 
General in the Department of Health and ~uman SerVIces. Mo,re
over I had drafted legislation along the hnes of S. 1407 whICh 
wouid have given subpena authority to the Chief Postal Inspector. I 
also included language making th.is. offipe ac~oun.table to the Con
gress with quarterly reports descrIbIng InvestigatIOns, referrals for 
prosecution, and use of subpenas. It was one of the f~w reg~e~s that 
I have in looking back that I was not able to see thIS prOVISIon en-
acted into law before I left the Senate. .. . 

You may be asking if the extent of the fraud In medICaI~ and 
other areas is still as great as it was whe~ we conducted our In~es
tigation. You need only consult ~he 1;eanngs .of the House AgIng 
Committee which are replete WIth InformatIOn that new fraud 
schemes have been developed as a means around many of the re
forms which we enacted. Medicaid fraud continues ~o ?e a hu~e 
problem. In· fact, the FBI recently t~stified. that medICaId fraud, IS 
pervasive. They said that the conclUSIOns of our 1976 report contIn
ue to be valid today. If anything, they assert that the extent of the 
fraud has increased since then. 

Therefore, you Members of the 90ngress on. this cOI?-mittee ha~e 
a unique opportunity to attack thIS problem In a major, way .. Thls 
simple bill which gives ~he Chi~f Postal Inspector authOrIty to Issue 
investigative demands IS the SIngle most Important step that. ~an 
be taken to stem the roaring riptide of fraud. The other prOVISIOn 
of the bill aimed at recidivists is also an excellent ide~.. . ,.' 

In the case where an individual violates an eXIstIng JUdICIal 
order by perpetrating the same scheme through a. different instru
mentality of interstate commerce, the Postal ServI~e could ask the 
U.S. district court which issued the initial order to Iss~e ,fines up to 
$10,000 for each violation of the existir~,~ order. ThIs. IS o~ly. ~e
signed to deal with the pro~oter wh.o seeks to avo~d a JudICIal 
order in mail fraud by starting the same scheme USIng 800 te~e
phone numbers. This provision would go a long way toward prohIb-
iting this kind of activity. . .. 

I commend all of those W1IO are cosponsoring this legIslatIOn, I 
am told that more than 300 other' Members. of the House have 
joined. By the enactment of this legisla~ion, y~u ca~ do ,mor,e good 
for America than you can possibly realIze. TIllS legIslatIOn IS l<?ng 
overdue. It is vital if we are to stem the avalanche o.f f!aud beIn~ 
perpetrated in Government programs and other varIeties of mall 
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fraud targeted at the poor, the elderly, and the unsuspecting. I 
urge you to enact this bill at once. 

I thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much, Senator, for your expert tes

timony. It provides insight, both from your perspective as a former 
elected official and from your expertise on these matters. 

One of the arguments that I have heard for this legislation is 
that it gives the Postal Inspection Service no more authority than 
Inspectors General have in other agencies. Do you believe that by 
upgrading the status of the Inspection Service to that of an Inspec
tor General's Office, we could give them the authority that they 
need to fight these frauds? 

Mr. Moss. I would agree with that if we could simply create the 
Inspector General in the Postal Service. I do think that he ought to 
report quarterly, as all other Inspectors General do, on the investi
gations that they ha.ve entered into in that quarter, subpenas 
issued, and other details so that the Congress can be fully in
formed. Worry about whether there was any abuse of power could 
be very quickly discovered in those quarterly reports. 

Mr. LELAND~ I am sure that you heard Chairman Ford's reserva
tions about some of the matters contained within the bill. The sug
gestion that you are making now somewhat might remedy some of 
those problems. I have some reservations also. 

Mr. Moss. Well, yes, I listened to Mr. Ford's discussion. It seemed 
to me that there were several things that he objected to. One of the 
thi.ngs that he worried about was the issuance of the subpena. Any 
person who thinks that they are getting an illegal or improper sub
pena can ignore it and go to the district court. The Federal district 
court has to decide whether or not that subpena was properly 
issued, whether there was probable cause, whether it was specific 
enough, and all the other details. Therefore, every citizen has the 
protection of the courts, just as he has in any other legal proceed
ing if he believes that the subpena is improperly issued by the 
postal inspector. . 

Mr. LELAND. The gentleman from New York. Thank you, Sena-
tor, . 

Mr. GILMAN, Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I want to commend the Senator for his sound testimony and for 

all of the good work he has done in the past in investigating many 
of these abuses. I remember sitting in on some prior testimony 
where he reviewed what he had done regarding laboratory-fraudtt
lent schemes and some other areas where fraud was involved. You 
have certainly made a great contribution in delving into these 
abuses. 

In looking over our proposed bill, do you see any areas where we 
could strengthen the bill, Senator Moss? Do you see any area that 
needs a little tightening? 

Mr. Moss. Well, I have no doubt that it ought to be very careful
ly considered on a line-by-line basis. Now, that the Senate has 
acted, that can come in the conference. I think that the bill is ade
quate now. As I suggested, you might make it mandatory to have 
this quarterly report by the postal inspector, the same which is re
quired of the IG's now. 

I 
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I would say that we ought to make the postal inspector essential
ly the same as all these other IG's that we have created. 

Mr. GILMAN. Do you mean by giving them a little more 
independence of authority? 

Mr. Moss. Give them independence of authority and the tools to 
act, to start an investigation when he determines that there is 
some violation going on and not cripple him by being required to 
go and convince the U.S. attorney that he ought to have some in
vestigation because time slipping by is very important. 

I think that some of the people who have testified here before 
indicated that they knew after they were into it a while that they 
were being taken, but they couldn't get action soon enough to head 
it off. That is what I would like to see the inspector have the power 
to do. Since the mails are used in nearly every kind of fraud 
scheme at some point, I think it is a critical point to use. 

Mr. GILMAN. Chairman Ford seemed to indicate that we could 
very well do the same thing by eliciting the support of the FBI or 
some of the other existing investigatory agencies. What are your 
thoughts about that suggestion? 

Mr. Moss. Well, I think that, of course, the courts and the U.S. 
attorneys are already burdened very heavily with the volume of 
business. The FBI is also. By giving some of that authority in the 
limited area of mail fraud, it seems to me that we can get greater 
concentration there than just throwing it into the pile with every
thing else that the U.S. attorneys have. 

I sympathize with the U.S. attorneys. I was a prosecuting attor
ney myself. You can be absolutely buried in complaints coming in, 
and you pretty soon have to sort them out and give priorities in 
order to get anything done. 

I think this is sort of pinpointing into the mail fraud area, and it 
ought to be done by a service that has a long and good record 
behind it already. 

Mr. GILMAN. Senator Moss, I take it that you give a good grade 
to the Postal Service Inspectors for the work that they have been 
doing. Have you found that to be a general perception among agen
cies that have had to deal with the postal inspectors?' Are they 
doing good work generally? 

Mr. Moss. Yes. They have a generally good record, and they have 
really a long history of good investigative technique, of follow 
through, and fairness. I threw in a line there speaking of their fair
ness because I feel that the individual is never being put upon 
unduly or unfairly. 

Mr. GILMAN. Again, I thank you, Senator Moss, for your support- -
ive comments regarding this proposal. I hope that we can see the 
early enactment of this measure. 

Mr. Moss. Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you, again, Senator. 
The Chair would now like to recognize our colleague, Don AI

bosta, who has just joined us, for a statement. 
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STATEMENT OF HON. DON ALBOSTA, A MEMBER OF CONGRESS 
FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN 

Mr. ALBOSTA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am pleased to be here 
before this Subcommittee on Postal Personnel and Modernization. 

As you have been hearing today, this legislation, of whkh I am 
one of the 300 cosponsors, is aimed at strengthening the U.S. Postal 
Service's power to deal with mail frauds that victimize the elderly 
and others. 

Mail frauds and schemes against the elderly have become one of 
the most common crimes against our senior citizens. By allowing 
the postal inspectors t.o proceed with investigations, we can put a 
stop to these crimes ~hat prey upon our older Americans particu
larly. 

In my home district in Michigan, we have seen evidence of mail 
frauds including phony arthritis cures, work-at-home schemes, and 
commodity and security scams. These kinds of mail fraud schemes 
can no longer be tolerated. 

As a member of the Select Committee on Aging and of the Sub
committee on Rural Elderly, I have a special duty to share my con
cerns about this issue with my fellow members of the Post Office 
and Civil Service Committee. 

Rural areas depend heavily upon mail orders, and my district is 
a rural one. But whether urban or rural, elderly or young, rich or 
poor, we will all be better off with a stronger system for protecting 
postal patrons from fraud and false promises. 

While we want to protect innocent consumers, we should also 
make sure that the powers we provide are not so broad that they 
will be abused. Chairman Ford has made several important obser
vations on this, and the Senate has passed an amended bill that 
addresses some similar reservations. 

We should look carefully at these powers, but move as quickly as 
possible to provide the authority that is needed where it is needed. 
I urge the committee to deal with this issue now and not delay. 
These hearings are a very fine first step, Mr. Chairman. I appreci
ate the opportunity to be before you today. 

Mr. LELAND. The Chair thanks the gentleman from Michigan for 
his statement. The Chair would also like to, for the record, submit 
the statement of the Honorable Ed Derwinski from Illinois who 
could not be here today. 

[The statement referred to follows:] 

STATEMENT OF HON. EDWARD J. DERWINSKI 

As a cosponsor of R.R. 3973, I strongly endorse R.R. 3973, a measure which will 
materially assist the efforts of the Postal Service to protect consumers from decep
tive advertising. We all have heard or read about situations where individuals have 
placed their trust in advertising claims, only to be victimized by unscrupulous pro
moters. In a great many instances, the victims are the aged and infirm, whose lack 
of mobility forces them to rely on firms that do business through themails.Al
though the vast majority of these firms are legitimate, the fact remains that we are 
confronted with an enormous problem involving schemes using the mail to obtain 
money by false representation. -

H.R. 3973 would permit postal inspectors to tender in person the purchase price of 
an article advertised for sale through the mail. In the past, shady operators, know
ing that the postal inspectors make test purchases by mail, would hold all orders 
received for their products and when a sufficient number had been amassed would 
flll them all at once and close up shop, living a cold trail. More often than not they 
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would be back in business under a different name and at a different address promot
ing their unscrupulous schemes. The bill also would amend the False Representa
tion Act to permit the Postal Service to assess civil penalties for willful violations of 
existing false representation orders after affording the subject of those orders an op
portunity to be heard on the record. The bill also would give the Postal Inspector 
subpoena authority with respect to those suspected of mail fraud. 

The enforcement authority granted by this bill is in no way different from that, 
now exercised by Inspectors General and other government officials, and the proce
dures provided for in the bill comply in every respect with due process protections. 

This legislation is supported by the Postal Service and the Office of Management 
and Budget. I also want to point out, for the benefit of all of my budget conscious 
colleagues, enactment of this legislation will result in no significant cost to the fed
eral government. 

The bill is legislation which is in the public interest. I hope this Committee and 
the House act on it expeditiously. 

Mr. LELAND. The Chair will now recognize Mr. David Affeldt. 

STATEMENT OF DAVID AFFELDT; AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF 
RETIRED PERSONS AND THE NATIONAL RETIRED TEACHERS 
ASSOCIATION 
Mr. AFFELDT. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and members 

of the subcommittee. The National Retired Teachers Association 
and the American Association of Retired Persons very much appre
ciate the opportunity to testify at your hearing on legislation to 
give the Chief Postal Inspector subpena power to crack down on 
mail frauds. 

Older Americans are tempting prey for the perpetrators of these 
scams. This point has been made emphatically during hearings con
ducted by the House Committee on Aging on "Frauds Against the 
Elderly." Our associations have also received a vast amount of mail 
from elderly victims who have been swindled by fast-talking con 
artists. 

It is against this backdrop that Congressman Pepper developed 
H.R. 3973, which is designed to protect consumers from mail 
frauds. Each year the American public loses hundreds. of millions 
of dollars through mail frauds and misrepresentations of products, 
services, and investments. In 1979, Postmaster General William 
Bolger said that Americans were swindled Ol,lt of $0.5 billion: a year 
for the 5 preceding years through a wide variety of mail-order 
schemes. This figure is quite likely a very conservative estimate. 
The evidence is clear, though, that mail frauds are widespread and 
appear to be a growing problem. 

Older Americans are among the chief victims. They are especial
ly vulnerable and susceptible to this white-collar crime for the fol-
lowing reasons: l 

First, a greater proportion of the elderly are more'lonely and iso
lated than is the case for younger persons. More than one-half of 
all women 65 years or older are widowed. Con artists will often
times exploit their loneliness or bereavement after the loss of a 
loved one. These schemes c;an take many forms: Lifetime dance les
sons, computerized dating, and lonely hearts clubs, but they usual
ly cost the elderly dearly, as Congresswoman Oakar pointed out, 
not only monetarily but also psychologically. 

Second, limited income in retirement may make older Americans 
vulnerable to get-rich-quick . schemes such as .bogus-land deals~ 
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worthless work-at-home schemes, fraudulant offerings in precious 
metals, and phony distributorships. . 

Third, failing health .and fear of dying may make the ~}derly .m
viting targets for medIcal-quackery cures and modern medICIne 
man" techniques. 

Fourth older persons have a tendency to be more trusting than 
people u~der 65. They were raised at a time when crime was not as 
serious a problem as it is now and in a less complex and more 
trusting society. . ' 

The comprehensive study of the House CommIttee on AgIng pro-
vides very clear and conyincing evid~nce that the elderl~ have been 
singled out by con artlsts conductlng fraudulent mall schemes. 
About 60 percent of all medical ~uackery perpetrated through the 
mails is focused on older AmerIcans. Work-at-home schemes and 
land fraud scams are directed to a very large degree at the aged. 
Overall people 65 or older account for 11 percent of our total popu
lation, but they file 30 percent of all fraud complaints received by 
State offices of consumer affairs. 

A clear-cut need exists to modernize existing machinery to 
combat white-collar mail fraud especially in an era of computer 
technology. Our associations believe that the Postal Service has 
done a commendable job, given its limited resources. However, the 
harsh reality is that the Chief Postal Inspector must now operate 
under cumbersome and slow procedures which can all<,>w the fly-by
night con artist to escape before law-enforcement offiCIals arrIve on 
the scene. 

At present, the Postal Service can be manacled because ,it. c~nnot 
examine an allegedly fraudulent product or document untllit IS too 
late. The Postal Service generally must either send away for an 
item in question or otherwise arrange for a purchase. Then the 
product or ~ocumeD:t must be exa.mi.ned to ~e~ermi.ne wh~ther 
there isa prIma faCIe case for a crImInal' or CIVIl actlOn. ThIS, of 
course takes time 7 and sometimes a considerable amount of time. 
It may be enough to let the con artist slip in and slip out un-
scathed. 

We believe that the power to subpena would enable the Postal 
Service to' move swiftly so that more mail fraud schemes can be 
stopped before unwitting persons are victimized. . 

The associations further believe that this is an altogether fittIng 
and proper power for the Chief Postal Inspector. As has been point
ed out during the hearing, Inspectors General for other Federal 
agencies already have this authority. It is a necessary power to pro
tect consumers from being bilked by unscrupulous perSoIls out to 
make a fast dollar. . 

Our examination of H.R. 3973 reveals that the bill is ·a well-bal
anced approach to p~ovidefu~dame?tal too~s fo~ th~ Pos~alService 
to ferret out con artists. Yet, It achIeves thIS obJectlVe wlthout sub
verting protections and other procedural safeguards unde~ our'Co!l
stitution. Appropriate protections are also incorpor~ted In the bIll 
to protect legitimate mail order businesses from beIng ha:r:as~ed. I 
think that it is important to emphaize that the vast majorIty C!f 
mail order businesses are reputable operations. These honest bUSI
nesses should not in any way be tarnished by the misdeeds of the 
few who play it fast and loose. 
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We do, however, recommend that the subcommittee ask an ap
propriate legal authority knowledgeable about procedural due proc
ess to review the bill carefully to make absolutely certain that it 
passes constitutional muster. I think that Congressman Ford raised 
some valid points. Our associations want to stop fraudulent 
schemes quickly and decisively but consistent with the bill of rights 
and other constitutional safeguards. 

We believe that the bill's civil penalties are sufficiently stiff to 
deter would-be violators from pursuing illegal conduct. At the same 
time, the courts are given enough flexibility to determine the 
amount of civil penalties for those who flaunt the law. 

H.R. 3973, though, can in our judgment be improved by including 
authority to expand educational efforts to alert older Americans 
and others about mail-fraud schemes. Our associations have found 
that well-educated and well-informed consumers are less likely to 
be deceived by fast talking hucksters. They are also more apt to 
spot and report swindlers. 

Older Americans and other consumers should be better educated 
and better armed to combat the con men who use the mails. Make 
no mistake about it: Mail fraud is a vicious and lucrative racket 
that must be dealt with squarely, swiftly, and forcefully. 

Community involvement in our opinion is absolutely essential if 
we are to come to grips with this mushrooming problem. Law en
forcement officials and monitoring agencies must have appropriate 
tools, of course, but they will not be able to stamp out white-collar 
fraud alone. They need cooperation from a better informed and 
more vigilant American public. 

The associations believe that language should be written in the 
bill or the committee report to direct the Postal Service to expand 
educational efforts to stop consumer fraud. Our criminal justice 
services program has been in the forefront in working with the 
Postal Service and other Federal agencies to implement this objec
tive during the past decade. We have prepared and distributed sev
eral pUblications, one of which is "How To Spot a Con Artist," and 
others. 

These pUblications are written in easy-to-read language and pro
vide practical advice for elderly consumers. However, there is a 
great need to make this information more readily available. The in
formation can be disseminated through publications, public-infor
mation spots on the air waves, and other appropriate means. In 
short, it can be done without being costly. 

The associations stand ready, willing, and able to work with the 
Postal Service to expand educational activities to protect consum
ers from mail fraud. 

In conclusion, the fear of criminal victimization is one of the 
most serious concerns of older Americans) whether it involved 
crimes against the person or white-collar fraud. In fact, the fear of 
crime was listed as the No. 1 concern of the elderly in a 1974 poll 
by Louis Harris for the National Council on the Aging. It is near 
the top now, also. 

H.R. 3973 represents a constructive and well-balanced approach 
to arm the Chief Postal Inspector with an essential weapon to halt 
the growing mail fraud schemes. 
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The associations support the bill fully, but believe that it can be 
improved by including authority to increase existing educational 
efforts to alert consumers about fraudulent schemes. 

We congratulate the subcommittee for holding prompt hearings 
on this legislation and Representative Pepper for his leadership in 
developing this bill. 

For these reasons, we urge the subcommittee to act promptly and 
favorably on H.R. 3973. 

Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to commend you on a very ef

fective testimony. The Chair would now like to recognize the gen
tleman from New York. 

Mr. GILMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I regret that I am going 
to have to go to another meeting. I certainly want to commend the 
participants in this panel for appearing before us. 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Affeldt, thank you very much for your repre
sentation of the organizations that have been so effectively dealing 
over the years with the problems of senior citizens of our country. I 
have had occasion in the past when I served in the State legisla
ture for 6 years to work with your organization in the area of ge
neric substitution of product selection. Finally, this last year, the 
State legislature of Texas in its wisdom-probably because I was 
gone from there-passed a generic substitution bill finally, the so-
called Leland bill. . 

I am particularly pleased that you would come forward and give 
such substantive testimony. 

Mr. AFFELDT. Thank you very much. It has been a pleasure work
ing with you, too, over the years. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you. 
The Chair would now like to recognize Ms. Sandra Bourbon from 

Georgia who is the chief investigator in the Department of Con
sumer Affairs for the State of Georgia. 

STATEMENT OF SANDRA BOURBON, CHIEF INVESTIGATOR, 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS, STATE OF GEORGIA 

Ms. BOURBON. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my 
name is Sandra Bourbon, and I am responsible for the registration 
of companies offering business opportunities, as well as the investi
gation of business opportunity fraud in the State of Georgia. When 
Georgia legislators passed the Business Opportunity Law in 1980, 
they did so in response to the hundreds of victims who had been 
defrauded in business opportunity schemes such as dealerships, dis
tributorships, et cetera. We all believed that a State law requiring 
registration and disclosure information would give us the ammuni
tion we needed to reduce the incidence of business opportunity 
fraud in Georgia. The law gives us subpena power and provides a 
criminal penalty of 5 years in prison andlor a $50,000 fine. 

It is hard to estimate the effect that this law has had in stem
ming fraud, but we do know of several instances when crooks have 
been pressured to move out or stay out of Georgia due to our ef
forts. 

In implementing the law, we at first believed that the Georgia 
law itself would be a deterrent, but the hardcore crooks have thus 
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far sneered at our attempts to regulate them through letters, infor
mal hearings, and civil suits. We have found that criminal action is 
far more effective. 

Three days ago, after an undercover investigation, we had a 
salesman arrested for violating the Georgia business opportunity 
law. A postal inspector in Philadelphia had numerous complaints 
against the principals of the company, and we decided to send the 
company notice that we mean to enforce the law. Curiously, the 
salesman was an attorney, a graduate of a prestigious law school, 
who should have known better. Regarding the business-opportunity 
laws, he said, "The Government looks around and finds some little 
flaw in society, and makes a major issue of it." He is right in 
saying that governmental agencies are making a major issue of 
business-opportunity fraud, but we are not finding a little flaw in 
society; we are finding a proliferation of this type of white-collar 
crime that strains every resouroe of every governmental agency in
volved. When a fraudulent company closes, four offspring take its 
place. Employees working for criminals start their own fraudulent 
businesses and provide training for others. 

One con man, Claude Blanc, was recently sentenced to 16 years 
to serve on a gem fraud case investigated by the FBI. As there 
were no victims, the scheme having been discovered during the 
course of another investigation, Blanc thought that he would never 
serve time. However, 2 days prior to sentencing, he was indicted on 
26 counts of mail fraud. The testimony of the postal inspector along 
with others in the sentencing hearing on the gem fraud convinced 
the judge to send him away., Postal inspectors, FBI agents, and I 
have coordinated on all aspects of the Blanc cases with astonishing 
results, and we have not finished with Mr. Blanc. 

A cohort of Blanc, Jerry Melton, was recently convicted of bank
ruptcy fraud and gem fraud, both FBI cases, and pled guilty to 
charges of mail fraud and tax evasion. Melton received 5 % years to 
serve with additional sentencing later this month. Again, the FBI 
and the U.S. Postal Service coordinated closely in the investigation 
of these cases. 

I might add that these cases are oftentimes investigated by both 
agencies-both FBI and the Postal-until the U.S. attorney decides 
which agency should have the final jurisdiction in the case. In 
other words, these are the exact same cases. It is determined at 
some point that it will either be fraud by wire or mail fraud. 

These investigations are time consuming and costly. All of us 
working together need every investigative and legislative assist
ance possible. Any delay in any investigation and prosecution of 
fraud, for whatever reason, could result in a greater number of vic
tims and dollars lost. 

We in Georgia support the efforts to strengthen the authority of 
the U.S. Postal Service through subpena power and cease and 
desist orders. 

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to testify today. I 
would be pleased to answer any questions from the committee. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much, Ms. Bourbon. 
Ms. BOURBON. Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. Let me ask you one question. As I heard the testi

mony from the victims of the alleged fraudulent acts, I wondered 
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a~d .1 failed to ask the question if . 
wIthIn their respective States to d In ~act they had any agency 
ahd ~ad they appealed to them I ea~ wIth these special problems 
t D kInd of agency that you repr~se~~ erstand that is more or less 

o you know how rna . '. 
country? ny agenCIes lIke yours exist around the 
. Ms. BOURBON. It depends on the t 
Ing about. My specific area of' . ype. of f~aud that you are talk
fraud. I would say that the greaiunsdlCt~on IS business opportunity 
~ome t~e of business opportunit:~rcen ag~hOf the States now have 
ranchlse laws which can be rath aws on e books, or they have 

ness opportunity frauds' distribert broh?ly construed to COver busi
type of thing. . u ors IpS, dealerships, and that 

Many of the States are passing I . I t' 
~tyears because we all recognize t~~ a 10:: during the last couple 

e reason that we passed these la a we ave the same problem. 
the Postal Service and the FBI ws w~s not ~ecause we felt that 
many of these cases a were IneffectIve. It is just th t 
perpetrated for perhap~e4 ~~t trosecu~ t;tntil the fraud has be! 
door to be able to harass theseyears. e Just wanted a foot in the 
that perhaps we could hold d fra~gulent businesses to the point 
the amount of money that is I 0;vn e number of complaints and 

Mr. LELAND. What about os. 
thM States which, I guess are ~~~~lIle~ protection agencies within 

~. BOURBON. Yes. I ~ork Ii e 0 your responsibility? 
I thInk almost every State ~U~h~h office of ?onsumer affairs, and 
counterpart: An office of cons e ~xceptlOn of one has some 
However, some States are mo~mer affa~rs or consumer protection 
~ome have a larger budget and e iggreSSIVe, naturally, than others' 

orne h.ave very restrictive regui t~rger sthaff to pursue fraud cases: 
complaInts that they receive a IOns on ow they will handle the 

Mr. LELAND. I recall that'· 
that I was there again we In the State of Texas during the time 
~ey'g~neral's office, as ~ matl::~t an aut~ori~ation for the attor
Ing WIth consl!mer affairs. It ha b fact, to InstI~ute a division deal
fduch dealt WIth matters such :s :.;:n ver

h
y actIve, and it has very 

o ay. . ese t at have come before us 
, ~s. ~OURBON. Yes; that is Correct 

r. ELAND. Thank you . 
mony. very much for your very effective testi-tis. BOURBON. Thank you. 

r. LELAND. The Chair wo ld lik 
from Pennsylvania. u e to now recognize Mr. O'Brien 

STATEMENT OF JOHN J O'BRIE 
IN CLASS ACTION VENj)JNG'MA~iEGAL COUNSEL FOR VICTIMS 

Mr. O'BRIEN Th k INE SUIT, PHILADELPHIA PA 
O'B . . an you very h' ' . 
. nen, and I am an attorne e mu~, SIr. My name is John 

CIty of Philadelphia for the fi~m ~If~d In th~ p~actice of law in the 
For over 3 years I have nen & 0 Bnen. 

have lo.st considerable sums ~{resented numerous individuals who 
to conSIderable distress emba money and who have been subjected 

, rrassment, and frustration as a result 
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of the conduct of corporations purportedly engaged in the sale of 
vending-machine distributorships. 

In connection with my activity in representing these victims of 
these frauds, I have conducted fairly extensive investigations to de
termine the manner in which the fraud is perpetrated. 

For this committee's review, I have brought certain documents 
which were used by these corporations in perpetrating the fraud. 
For example, I have pitch books, letters to the consumer, promo
tional material, instructions to the salesmen, and reference sheets. 

In addition, delay is a very important factor in the perpetration 
of this fraud in these cases. The offending corporation will advise 
the buyer that it will be several weeks before the vending ma
chines and the product will be delivered to the individual's home. 
However, several months pass before the articles even arrive. In 
many cases, the representations are never fulfilled. For example, 
the machines do not arrive, the product does not arrive, the locator 
who, it is represented to an individual, will put the machine in a 
prime location often never shows up to locate the machines,' In 
some cases, nothing arrives, and in many cases, telephone calls are 
totally ignored. 

First of all, the victim will respond to a newspaper ad offering 
grand profits to the consumer through vending machine sales. I 
have determined that these ads have appeared in at least 20 States. 

An interesting point is that the most notorious corporation, In
ternational Entertainment Corp., out of Valley Forge, Pa., a suburb 
of Philadelphia, appeared to have never sold any distributorship to 
a citizen in Pennsylvania. 

The schemes are identical in each case. The victim will call the 
number which appears in the ad. He will then be given an appoint
ment in a local motel with the salesman. I will present the pitch to 
you in a few minutes, sir. Once the victim is convinced to buy the 
program, he or she is requested to give the salesman a check for 
$1,500 and to sign a contract for the distributorship. Within a few 
weeks, the victim receives a letter congratulating him on being 
awarded the distributorship in the area and telling him to send the 
balance-a cashier's check, I Inight add-of the $7,000 that is in
volved. Further, he is also advised that he must put an order in for 
the product that is to be used in this machine before a locator will 
be present to locate his machine. If he doesn't buy the product, the 
locator doesn't come, and he is in effect stuck with the machines. 

Then a number of other problems develop. For example, a 
woman found that the machines would not stand upright on the 
base. She wrote and complained about that, and she was advised 
that if you put 200 pounds in the base of the machine, of sand or 
rocks then the machine will stand up, The problem with that was 
the woman was 65 years of age, and she had purchased 10 ma
chines; therefore, she had to purchase a ton of sand. 

Further, the locator never arrived, and for over a year the ma
chines remained in her apartment. She once described them as sol
diers reminding her of her mistakes standing at attention in her 
bedroom. Finally, she was able to sell the machines and the sand at 
a considerable cost to her. By the way, the company never respond
ed to her complaints. 
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In another instance an . d' 'd I'M' . 
phone number for thi~ Pen In IVI l!-a In IS~OUrI w:as given the 
t? have an Illinois area cOd~~YiI:n;:ll~drlhratlOn bhICh happened 
gIV~n. a taped message to calI a b.e num er, and ?-e w:as 
ThIS IS just an example of how quickl~her In south~rn CalIfornIa. 

Often legal action is fruitl Th y ese co.mpanles move. 
it?- t?e States where the indi~~d~alselhr~o~Pda~:~s ~onJ have 0ffic~s 
dICtIOn over them. Further, their losses-' $7 000 ~s i r t tf get JUl"lS-
:~~~e~eople, but in this case, the legal fee' is ju~t ~o~ e~p=s~~~ ~~ 

of Ip~~~~~,a~~.~~~t ~~~s l~~~~~dational Entertainment ~o~P.· of King 
under mail fraud had . t' . t3rough a Federal crImInal action 
they took over $6' miIlio~I~r~r:z:he over 1,?00 people: They believe 
I have learned that there are perh se ps(f_e. From correspondence, 
around the country. aps more of these companies 

I suggest, gentlemen that th b ' 
here, will help combat this cond;ct~U pena power that IS requested 

WIth yo .. 
books. ur permIssIOn, I would like to show you one of the pitch 

th~:":~i~::Ie ~~~n:e~~e Cuburbs t Philadelphia. This is 
are in a suite in the corner Th' . o~h' ,un erneath. Their offices 
The brochure contains i . IS IS e~r . corporate headquart'3rs. 
letters showing how hcorne opportunItIes within the ventures 
liography explaining ~h~t !;:ey ca~ be tmade~ small business bib: 
newpaper articles,. total vOlum:~f~!di~g o;:~~~c:erchandising is, 

Mr. LEL4.ND. WIll you suspend for 'ust .'? 
back to the newspaper articles? A.re th~se v:rdllnute. WIll y~u go 

Mr. O'BRIEN, I beg your pardon, sir? 1 newspaper artICles? 
Mr. L~LAND. Are they valid? 

th~~~~d~n~E~'a~~~~:s'y~~t !ti ~mpressiolnl is thha~ if y~u. invest in 
Mr LELAN I it . 0 as we as t IS IndIVIdual did 

comp~ny. D. see. IS not necessarily referring to the specifi~ 
Mr. O'BRIEN Oh no Th" t th 

to the victim that i me~tio~ed. no e same machine that was sold 
Mr. L~LAND. I understand. 
Mr. 0 BRIEN There is m t . I . 

the victim. I ~ill just read e;Ipa a gIVen hto ~~Le s,alesman to read to 
some unknown r ragrap. et s assume that for 
machines onlv ve~ds15' tfven thoug~ the people are there, that 10 
would be 30 fimes "Evenmell a ~ay. fi They suggest that normally it 
your . ~an obtain a' profit of $585

n! d:~n~h~:Ii7vO~Ome of business, 
your Investment. A good investment? Y At' per year from 
cent of your initial investment N' es.. re urn of over 100 per-

mNllh~;: ~k: li~ti,:~~~rh::!r~Ed~fou th1np~~t.f~1!b~s::as~~ 
read to Mr. and Mrs Smith "Mrs BI k~ sa esman IS supposed to 
if you want-itI ha~e been' . aI~ -,You could put Smith in 
would appreciate it if 0 very candId w~th both of you, and I 
Even though I know y u would now reCIprocate that courtesy 

. you honestly believe £h~~ a~~ somewhat prejudiced in his favor, d~ 
business as I have laid it !ut?~ ~hsbahnd ~s cdap~ble of handling this 

. en e IS a VIsed-there is a little 

'----------------------------------~.~----- .. -. 
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note. that he is given here-to put the wife in the position of being 
between herself and her husband. This is most important part of 
the close, put the wife in her proper place, in the middle, and pro~ 
ceed with the same attitude to develop the second step of the 
close." 

I apologize to my female colleagues. 
[Laughter.] 
Mr. O'BRIEN. The idea is to encourage the sale, of course. 
Here is another paragraph from the application. 
"Occasionally, you will hear"-this is directed to the salesman 

regarding what he will hear from the victim-" 'I am not filling 
out anything until I know who you are and what this is all about.' 
Tell him this as you close your brochure, 'You have ample opportu~ 
nity to check us out. You have a number of other people to see, and 
strict company policy precludes continuing any interview without a 
complete application. Write us again if you are still interested at a 
later date.' You will be amazed at how quickly he reacts and re
tracts the statement and begins to fill out the application." 

I might add regarding references, that in some cases the compa
nies that they are told to call are the same with different names. I 
have included the copies of the references. 

Mr. LELAND. Are you also including copies of the other pieces? 
Mr. O'BRIEN. Oh, yes. I will let you have these. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair would appreciate that. 
Mr. O'BRIEN. There are a lot more that I have left out which are 

really enlightening. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you. 
Mr. O'BRIEN. Included among the exhibits--
Mr. LELAND. The Chair will find that not, only interesting but 

also entertaining, I am sure. ' 
Mr. O'BRIEN. Thank you, sir. I have gotten a hold of some of the 

machines myself, and I have determined some interesting facts. 
One of the patent numbers of the machines was assigned to the 
Wrigley Corp. of Chicago. 

Mr. LELAND. Wrigley? , 
Mr. O'BRIEN. Yes, sir. The candy company. I will give you the 

patent number. Patent No. 3,948,381, April 1976, and the inventor 
is Harry Galin, Willow Grove, Pa., a suburb of Philadelphia; as
signee: William Wrigley, Jr., Co., Chicago, Ill. I know why that was 
assigned, but because I am conducting the investigation I cannot 
tell you why. Someone, in a phone call, told me why. I don't have 
the documentation yet to explain it. 

Mr. LELAND. The Chair has instructed the staff to also look into 
that matter. 

Mr. O'BRIEN. There are two patents to the machine. The second 
patent is numbered 3,982,621; inventor: Harry Galin; assignee: Uni
versal Vendors, Fort Wayne, Wash. You will see that Universal 
Vendors-may I approach the chairman-sells the "profit ma
chine." That is the patented machine. They represent that the ma~ 
chine is designed specifically for Hershey bars, Wrigley gum-yvell, 
I shouldn't say that. I should say that each particular model is de
signed particularly for Hershey, Wrigley, Nabisco cookies, and 
Fruit-of-the-Loom panty hose. It appears that each model is simply 
given a different number. ., . 
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Mr. LELAND. Yes. 0 

Mr. O'BRIEN. Here is another little interesting item. 
Mr. LELAND. Have the companies that you have mentioned been 

involved in any kind of investigation on these matters at all? 
Mr. O'BRIEN. I have asked the Justice Department about that, 

and they can't say. 
Mr. LELAND. They can't say or they won't say? 
Mr. O'BRIEN. They will not comment. 
Mr. LELAND. All right. 
Mr. O'BRIEN. Here is another example of the misuse of names: 

"Fruit of the Loom," something similar to it," America's most pow
erful name in softgoods." This is a "profit machine" that distrib
utes Fruit-of-the-Loom panty hose. 

I have also included letters from customers telling people-for 
example, a woman wrote explaining why it will not stand, and she 
was told: "By the way, just put 200 pounds of sand in it." 

I have a lot more, gentlemen. If you have any questions, I will be 
glad to answer them. 

[The documentation and information which Mr. O'Brien fur
nished the subcommittee in support of his testimony was retained 
in the official hearing file.] 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much for an illustrative presenta
tion. I appreciate it. The Chair would like to thank all of you for 
participating today. I would like to especially acknowledge the sen
sitive issue of the constitutional questions raised by Mr. Affeldt. I 

I certainly appreciate your concern. I think that is the overriding 
concern that Chairman Ford has. If, in fact, we can remedy that 
problem, I would suggest that we can move more swiftly with this 
piece of legislation. 

The Chair would like to thank Senator Moss, especially, for 
coming before us to continue to be a public servant. Thank you 
very much. 

[Whereupon, at 12:31 p.m., the subcommittee recessed, to recon
vene at the call of the Chair.] 
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MAIL FRAUD/FALSE REPRESEN'TATION 

THURSDAY, JUNE 3, 1982 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL 
PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION, COMMITTEE ON POST 
OFFICE AND CIVIL SERVICE, 

Washington, D.C. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:25 a.m., in room 

311, Cannon House Office Building, Hon.MickeY Leland (chairman 
of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Mr. LELAND. Good morning, and welcome to this second hearing 
on H.R. 3973, by Congressman Claude Pepper, and its Senate com
panion, S. 1407 by Senator David Pryor. 

These bills are designed to strengthen the investigatory and en
forcement powers of the Postal Inspection Service. At our first 
hearing on May 20, 1982, Senator Pepper and, Senator Pryor told 
uS,about many of the fraudulent schemes that are being perpetrat-
ed today, especially against senior citizen~. . 

We were also told tl1at the. Postal Inspection· Service does not 
have sufficient authority to effectiv~ly combat these frauds, and 
that even after a promo,ter ,has been ordered to cease, he can mpve 
on to a new' location and the authorities have to begin a new case. 

.We also heard from several victims of these frauds who told us 
about theit personal experiences, and from former Senator Frank 
Moss and representatives· of retired persons. 

. I share the concern expres~ed about the increase of mail fraud in 
recent years and about the devastating effects it has had on many 
of our citizens, especially the elderly. l'hese kinds of crimes are 
among the most shameful an,d despicaple that exist in our society. 
They rob people not only. of their money, but often their health, 
dignity, self-respect a:Qd peace of mind. I agree that it is time for 
the. Congress to add,ress the~~ problems and do all we can to correct 
them. . '. 

However, in dealing with these types of crimes, we have to walk 
a very fine line, between pursuing and punishing the .criminal and 
violating the first amendment· rights and civil liberties of citizens 
who are honestly involved in the mail order business . 

I am apprehensive about several aspects of the, legisla:tion that 
has been proposed because of. the extent of the additional powers 
that would be given to the Postal Service, which is almost totally 
independent of congressional or executive supervision. I have com
mitted to Senator Pepper and Senator Pryor that I will work close
ly with them to frnd,a way to provide .. authorities with sufficient 
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tools to fight and prevent mail fraud and still satisfy the concerns I 
have expressed. I am confident that w~ can do so. . . 

Today we will hear from several wItnesses w~o WIll provIde us 
with more .information on the problem of maIl fraud, but also 
about the legislation itself. We hope to gain some insight ~n wheth~ 
er or not the provisions of the legislation are the appropriate ways 
to deal with the problems. . . 

I would like to say to all of our witnesses today that we wIll In~ 
clude your entire prepared statements in the official record. If you 
can we would appreciate it if you would summarize what your 
statements, however, that is up to you, of course.. . 

Our first witness will be the Honorable Janet SteIger, Chalrper~ 
son of the Postal Rate Commission. Chairman Steiger, will you 
please proceed, and thank you very much for coming to this hear~ 
ing. 

STATEMENT OF HON. JANET STEIGER, CHAIRMAN, POSTAL RATE 
COMMISSION; ACCOMPANIED BY SIMEON BRIGHT, COMMIS~ 
SIONER; HENRY FOLSOM, COMMISSIONER; JOHN CRUTCHER, 
COMMISSIONER; AND DAVID STOVER, ESQ., GENERAL COUN
SEL 

Ms. STEIGER. Good morning, Mr. Chairman. 
It is a particular pleasure to be with you this morning. It allows 

the veteran members of this Commission-and "Simen" Bright is 
with me this morning-the opportunity to formally introdu~e you 
to two new Commission members on the Postal Rate CommIssIOn. 
Commissioner Henry Folsom and Commissioner John Crutcher 
come to the Rate Commission, Mr. Chairman, from distinguished 
careers in both the private s~ctor and in pubpc service, a.n~ the 
quality of their appointments IS, we feel,. a credIt to the admlnlstr~~ 
tion. In their short term we have qUIckly come to value theIr 
common sense, their quick intellects, and their vast experience. We 
are happy to introduce to you two Commissioners whose contribti~ 
tion will, we know, be in the public interest and in the interest of 
the entire postal community. . . . . . 

I am delighted to summarIze the CommISSIOn testImony this 
. morning. We know you have a very heavy schedule. 

Let me start by saying we at the Postal Rate Commission are not 
experts in all phases of this consumer protection measure, Mr. 
Chairman. It does not fall within our official scope. But on the 
basis of our general knowledge of the postal scene, we are sure that 
the Postal Service's support for this legislation represents a careful 
and a reasoned judgment that it is needed. . 
, In one area where our official duties do give U.s claim to speak 

from experience-' that is the area involving the obtaining of infor
mation for administrative procedures-we do think the bill repre~ 
sents a significant improvement over current practice. . 

In brief, section 2, new section 413 of S. 1407-and we take thIS 
bill as our text, Mr. Chairman, on the assumption that, as amend
ed, it will be the vehicle you will base your consi~eratioIis on-So 
1407 would create in the Postal Service a power to Issue reasonable 
demands for the access to books, records, and other objects it be
lieves relate to a matter it is investigating under section 404(a)(7). 

.. 
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~ow, the lack of such authority, it seems to us, must be a fairly 
s~rlous obstacle to the Service in carrying out its statutory duty to 
Hlnv~stiflate postal offenses an~ civil matters relating to the Postal 
ServIce. Senator Pepper, for Instance, who introduced H.R. 3973 
noted the time sensitivity problem with these issues a few week~ 
ago, and you have also alluded to them. 

In addition to this problem, there must be many cases where the 
simple fact that vital information is in the sole possession of some 
?utside party means that .the Service simply cannot proceed with 
ItS case, or perhaps, more Importantly, know whether it has a case. 

Now, as agency members who must decide matters on an eviden
tiary record, and who do so under considerable time pressure, we 
do know how frustrating such obstacles can be. This legislation at
tacks those problems using a well-tried remedy, and we don't see 
any reason why it shouldn't work here as it has elsewhere. 

For example, the mechanism in section 413 is not dissimilar to 
that recently ~et up for the Federal Trade Commission. The FTC 
can also serve "civil investigative demands,H as the act calls them 
on any person it believes possesses documents or information "rele~ 
vant to unfair or decepetive acts or practices in or affecting com
merce." Likewise, under the Antitrust Civil Process Act the Attor
ney General can issue such demands in aid of an antit;ust investi
gation. So there is ample precedent, Mr. Chairman, for the power 
S. 1407 would bestow on the Postal Service. 

Of cou.rse, oJ.?-e c~nnot simp~y assert these days that a new regula
tory or InvestIgatIve power IS needed and expect to escape argu
ment and controve!sy .. This is probably. all to the gooq. We. have 
become used to askIng Immediately whether the new authority im
po~es burdens disproportionate to the good it is expected to do. We 
thInk S. 1407, at least in the area in which we are experts, seems 
to be thoroughly equipped with safeguards for the party served 
with a Postal Service investigative demand. 
. In addit!on to t~e customer requirement of specificity in describ
Ing w~at IS to be In~pected, and the time and place for inspection, 
the bIll flatly forbIds the Service to "impose an unreasonable 
burden upon the party to whom the demand is issued." The recipi
ent of a demand, if he believes it is unreasonable, is guaranteed a 
day in court by subsection (b). -' 

I think we must assume that if a party beiieves the demand to be 
unreasonably. burdensome he can assert that defense· when the 
Postal Service sues to enforce its demand, an enforcement which 
can only be granted by a Federal district court. 
. I note also tha~ the Senate repor~ on ~. 1407 states the expecta

tIOn .of the. com:qllttee tJ'lat the ServIce WIll properly restrict the au
thOrity to Issue InspectIon orders and will see that the orders. them
selves advise the respondent as to his rights. 

It is wor.th noting, I think, Mr. Chairman, that the FTC proce
dure mentIOned above was designed to limit, not to expand the 
FTC's pre complaint investigative powers. The Senate repo;t on 
that measur~ made it cle!ir. that the inyestigative demand proce
dures were Intended to lImIt the practIce of the Commission of 
g~ving a vague descrip~ion of the general subject matter and to pro
VIde a standard by WhICh relevance could be determined. 
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We think by adopting a generally similar procedure S. 1407 
would, in effect, create for the Postal Service an investigative 
power of a type designed to do the necessary job without invading 
private rights needlessly and without allowing "fishing expedi
tions." It seems to us that adopting a procedure similar to that 
which Congress deliberately chose as a due balance between public 
protection and private rights, so far as the FTC was concerned, rep
resents a reasonable guarantee that the Postal Service is not being 
empowered to impose unreasonable burdens on the business com
munity. 

As I noted, of course, Senator Pepper pointed out there is a time 
dimension in these cases. Not only must the Service consider the 
possibility that the operator will fold his tent and quietly steal 
away before the present inadequate machinery can be set in 
motion, it must also manage its own resources efficiently. It seems 
self-evident that Sherlock Holmes methods are a more time con
suming and expensive way of preliminarily establishing facts-and 
that is what we are talking about, a precomplaint investigative 
demand-than would be a properly limited investigative deinand. 

Finally, I do not think that the legislation of the type in S. 1407 
represents a simplistic "consumer versus business" faceoff. Legiti
mate business, legitimate users of the mail-and we must state, 
that this is the overwhelming majority-have a stake in this legis
lation as well. 

Mr. Chairman, the other features of this bill lie outside the area 
of our particular expertise. For the most part they deal with sub
stantive standards and remedies, and on these questions the Com
mission will defer to the accumulated experience of the Postal 
Service and of the Justice Department. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
[The statement of Ms. Steiger follows:] 
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STATEMENT OF JANET D. STEIGER CHAIRMAN 
POSTAL RATE COMMISSI~N ' 

ON THE MAIL ORDER CUSTOMER PROTECTION fu~ENDMENTS OF 1982 

The Mail Order CUstomer Protection Amendments of 1982, 

introduced in th H 
e ouse of Representatives as H.R. 3973 and in 

the Senate as S. 1407, is a precisely d 
esigned remedy for some 

specific problems in the Postal 
Service's consumer protection 

program. We at the Postal Rate C ' 
ommJ.ssion are not experts in all 

phases of this activity, which does not fall wJ.'thJ.'n 
our official 

scope, but on the basis of our general knowledge of the postal 

scene we are sure that the Postal S ' ervJ.ce's support for the 

Legislation represents a careful, 
reasoned judgment that it is 

needed. In one area where our official dutJ.'es do give us a claim 

to speak from experience--involving the obtaJ.'n;ng f' 
... 0 J.nformation 

for administrative proceedings--we think the b~ll 
... represents a 

significant improvement over current practice. 

It is our understanding that S. 1407 
- , qS reported by the 

Senate Committee G 
on overnmental Affairs, is likely to be the 

main vehicle for further consideration of thJ.'s 
legislation. Our 

observations 0 th 1 ' n e egJ.slation will therefore use S. 1407 as a 
text. 

Section 2 of S. 1407 ld wou create in the Postal Service a 

power to issue reasonable demands for 
the access to books, 

records, or other objects it believes 
relate to a matter it is 

investigating under section 404(a) (7). The lack of such 

authority, it seems to us, must b 
e a fairly serious obstacle to 

the Service in carrying out its 
statutory duty to "investigate 
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postal offenses and civil matters relating to the Postal 

Service". For instance, Mr. Pepper--who introduced H.R. 3973-

noted only a few weeks ago [128 Cong Rec. E1961, April 29, 1982J 

that 

..• In the absence of this subpena power, the 
Postal Service must send away for a product of 
questionable merit, wait to receive it, and have 
it evaluated by an expert, a process often 
taking as long as 4 months. Only then, if there 
is a solid case, can the Postal Service urge the 
initiation of criminal proceedings or the 
issuance of a stop order. Illegitimat~ mail 
order firms, well aware of the limitations on 
the authority of the Postal Service, often place 
ads, accept orders for 2 months, and fill all 
orders at one time as they are closing down 
their operations. By the time the Postal 
Service receives the product, it is too late. 

In addition to this problem, there must be many cases where the 

simple fact that vital information is in the sole possession of 

some outside party means that the Service cannot proceed with its 

case--or even, perhaps, know whether it has a case. 

As agency members who must decide matters on an evidentiary 

record, and do so under considerable time pressure, we know how 

frustrating such obstacles can be. This legislation attacks them 

using a well-tri'ed remedy, and we do not see any reason why it 

should not succeed here as it has elsewhere. 

For example, the mechanism established by S. 1407 is not 

dissimilar to that recently set up for the Federal Trade 

Commission [15 U.S.C. § 57b-lJ. The FTC also can serve "civil 

investigative demands", as the FTC Act calls them, on any person 

it believes possesses documents or information "relevant to 

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting 

commerce". Likewise, u~der the Antitrust Civil Process Act, as 
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amended [15 U.S.C. § 1312J, the Attorney General can issue such 

demands in aid of an antitrust investigation. So there is ample 

precedent for the power S. 1407 would bestow on the Postal 

Service. 

Of course, one cannot simply assert, these days, that a new 

regulatory or investigative power is needed and expect to escape 

argument and controversy. We have become used to asking 

immediately whether.the new authority imposes burdens 

disproportionate to the good it is expected to do. S. 1407, in 

this respect, seems to be thoroughly equipped with safeguards for 

the party served with a Postal Service investigative demand. In 

addition to the customary requirement of specificity in 

describing what is to be inspected and the time and place for 

inspection, S. 1407 flatly forbids the Service to "impose an 

unreasonable burden upon the party to whom the demand is 

issued." This is not. just a pious exhortation, because the 

recipient of a demand, if he believes it unreasonable, is 

guaranteed a day in court by subsection (b) .of the new section 

413. I think we must assume that, if a party believes the demand 

to be unreasonably burdensome, he can assert that defense when 

the Postal Service sues to enforce its demand. I note also that 

the Senate report on S. 1407 states the expectation of the 

Committee that the Service will properly restrict the authority 

to issue inspection orders and will see that the orders 

themselves advise the respondent to his rights. [S.Rep. No. 97-

392, p. 5.J 

It is worth noting that the FTC procedure mentioned above 



52 

was designed to limit--not to expand--the FTC's precomplaint 

investigative powers. Senate Report No. 96-500 [1980 U.S. Code 

Congo & Adm. News, at 1125] makes the point that the 

investigative demand procedure 

• is intended to limit the practice of the 
Commission of giving a, vague description of the 
general subject matter of the inquiry and 
provides a standard by which relevance may be 
ctetermined. However, this requirement is not 
intended to be overly strict so as to defeat the 
purpose of the act or to breed litigation and 
encourage parties investigated to challenge the 
sufficiency of the notice. 

By adopting a generally similar procedure, S. 1407 would in 

erfect create for the Postal Service an investigative power of a 

type designed to do the necessary job without invading private 

rights needlessly and without allowing uncheCked "fishing 

expeditions." It seems to us that adopting a procedure similar 

to that which Congress deliberately chose as a due balance 

between public protection and private rights, so far as the FTC 

was concerned, represents a good gUarantee that the Postal 

Service is not being empowered to impose unreasonable burdens on 

the business community. 

Besides, as Mr. Pepper pointed out, there is a time 

dimension in these cases. Not only must the Service consider the 

possibility that the operator will fold his tent and quietly 

steal away before the present inadequate machinery can be set in 

motion; it must also manage its own resources efficiently. It 

seems virtually self-evident that Sherlock Holmes methods are a 

more time-consuming and expensive way of preliminarily 

establishing facts than a properlY-limited investigative 
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demand. 

Mr. Chairman, I promised to keep to the subject of 

administrative procedure, but I would like to step out of that 

path for just a moment to make a slightly broader observation. 

heed not say, of course, that the vast majority of businesses 

I 

operating by mail are not only ethical but fulfill a real need in 

our economy. A recent article in the Legal Times, written by Mr. 

Thomas McGrew, makes an interesting point regarding the interest 

of the businessman who deals fairly in having an efficient 

consumer protection mechanism. He is discussing the FTC, but I 

think his comments apply here too. He says: 

. in a market where the rule "Thou shalt not 
falsely advertise cheap consumer products!" is 
not enforced, no advertiser can merely state the 
case for his product. He has to send two 
distinct messages: (l) My product has several 
desirable characteristics, and (2) I am not one 
of the liars. The second message is the, more 
important because only the consumer who believes 
the second will even consider the first . 

Quite apart from the equitable problem that 
the deceptive advertiser is allowed to impose 
added costs on the honest advertiser and the 
consumer, this kind of market is likely to have 
fewer transactions and less efficient ones 
because at least twice the effort is required 
per 'transaction. 

I do not think that legislation like S. 1407 represents a 

simplistic "consumer 'Is. business" faceoff. Legitimate 

businesses--as I said, the overwhelming majority--have a stake in 

it too. 

The other features of the legislation lie outside the area 

of our particular expertise. They have to do for the most part 

with SUbstantive standards and. remedies, and on these questions 

We would defer to the accumulated experience of the Postal 

Service • 

"-«" .. ---------~ 
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Mr. LELAND. Thank you v~r~ much. And ~e cert~i!lly .want to 
welcome the two new CommisslOners and theIr partICIpatIOn here 

th~o:::~i~~~er) an alternative to the bills ~ef~re us would be to 
create a formal Office of Inspect?r General w.lthln the ~o~tal Se~v
. It would be responsible for Internal audIt and .securIty! whIl~ 
~h~ Justice Department would be primarily responsIble for InvestI
gation of civil and criminal postal offenses. The Inspector CGeneral, 
as in other agencies, would also re1?or; regularly to the ongress. 

Can you comment on this alternatIve.. . t 
Ms. STEIGER. I would be happy to, Mr. Chmrm.an. It IS a two-par 

question and I will take it in that order. th 
The Commission is not really knowledg.eabl~ ~noug~da~ou~ t ~ 

articulars of mail fraud cases to determIne If It wou ~ e rI-
::'ental to the prosecution of these cases to dismantle or to dlsl?~h~e 
the body of expertise that has been developed over the years WI In 
the Postal Service. G I f 

. The mechanism of the appointment ~f I~spector enera, 0 

course, seems to be an establishe~ practIce In mk~ °i~er ia~gi 
a encies. I can see no reason why It would not wor or e os a 
S~rvice as well. I would stress that I'm ~ure th~ prese'it Pd~r.u lni 
section Service does an effective job WIth the Inte,rna . au ! lng. 
~~ould not want to leave the impression ~hat I don t thInk It. d~es. 

But I think the real question p~rhaps .IS whether the InspectIOn 
Service's two functions, internal l!lspectIon and law

d 
en{Vrc~den~ 

should be sharply sep~rated, as thIS proposal wou.ld ? o. OU yo 
lose the body of expertIse on postal fraud prosecutIOn. 

Mr LELAND. Thank you. "f It' th' 
Th~ Direct Mail Marketing Association ~Ill t~stI ~ a er In . IS 

hearing that the subpena authority that thIS leglslatI.on woul~ gIVe 
to the Postal Service should be more c~refully r~st~Icte~ an b SUgci 
gest that the Federal Trade Commission s. authOrIty IS nOL as roa 
as that being proposed for the Postal SerVICe. d' 'th th t 

M uestion is in two parts: Do you agree or. Isagree WI a 
stat:m~nt. and do you think the level of auth?nty that the Fede[: 
Trade Commission possesses would be suffiCIent to overcome e 
problems you describe? th FTC I 

Ms STEIGER. Mr. Chairman, I am not an expert on . e . 
would comment that I think it is clear that.the p!Omulga~I?nlof~ke 
rules that will cover this subpena authOrIty wIll ~e CrItIc!i . e 
promulgation of such rules will allow for extenshI~ekP:I~c J~~
ment including congressional comment. I would t In. a e 
Cong~ess wished to make sure that t~e subpen~ autho:r;Ity was used, 
with detachment, not by people WIth a particular lnterest-.say 
those investigating the case at hand-the Congress ?ould ~ertalIlY 
indicate that an independent member,. let's say, a. ~hIef regI~na th
spector or perhaps someone in the regIOnal counCIl s office, SIgn d 
order or review it. Such safeguards can, of course, be encourage 
simply by the committee report or, no doubt, added to the end of 
new section 413. . th t th FTC 

I note here, as the General Co~nsel rem~n~s J:?e, a e 
can compel testimony. Now, there IS no prOVISIOn In 413 for comPhl
ling testimony. In that sense, I think you would have to say t e 

.. 
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authority is more narrow. Whether it is as specifically drafted, is, I 
think, another question. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much for your testimony. I want to 
welcome the opportunity to visit with you and your new Commis
sioners at some point in the future. 

Ms. STEIGER. Our pleasure at any time, Mr. Chairman. Thank 
you. 

Mr. LELAND. Our next panel is Mr. Ian Volner, representing the 
Association of American Publishers; Mr. Jonah Gitlitz, Sr., vice 
president for public affairs, and Mr. Richard Barton, vice president 
of Government affairs, Direct Mail Marketing Association. 

Mr. Volner will go first. 

STATEMENTS OF IAN D. VOLNER, COUNSEL 'ro THE ASSOCI
ATION OF AMERICAN PUBLISHERS, INC., ACCOMPANIED BY 
RICHARD M. SCHMIDT, JR., SENIOR COUNSEL, AND BRIAN De
BOICE; JONAH GITLITZ, SR., VICE PRESIDENT FOR PUBLIC AF
FAIRS, AND RICHARD BARTON, VICE PRESIDENT OF GOVERN
MENT AFFAIRS, DIRECT MAIL MARKETING ASSOCIATION 
Mr. VOLNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
My name is Ian Volner, and I am here today as counsel and 

spokesperson for the Association of American Publishers. With me 
are Richard M. Schmidt, Jr., who is s~nior counsel to the' associ
ation, and Brian DeBoice, Mr. Schmidt, Mr. DeBoice, and I practice 
with the law firm of Cohn Marks here in Washington. 

Our concern with these bills is simple, if somewhat surprising. 
Over the past two decades, the U.S. Postal Service has attempted 
to suppress books and pUblications that contain, according to the 
Postal Service, "false ideas." We believe the pending bill can be 
made the appropriate vehicle to assure that the Postal Service is 
not an instrument for Suppression of fundamental rights protected 
by the first amendment. 

Mr. Chairman, the AAP has followed the progress of H.R. 3973 
and its companion legislation in the Senate, S. 1407, with some 
care. I want to make it very clear that the AAP is in full sympathy 
wit.h the goal of these bills. We have heard, as has this subcommit
tee, how individual lives have been virtually shatter~d, and h()w 
the savings of lifetimes have been wiped out overnight, by a 
moment of misplaced trust in the lies and worthless promises of 
those who use the mails to defraud. We have also heard the esti
mates given to this subcommittee regarding the present magnitude 
of mail fraud in dollars per year and in victims swindled. No re
sponsible citizen or constituent group could remain unmoved by 
this testimony.. 

At the same time, the natural desire to alleviate human suffer
ing and economic waste must not blind us to the very real dangers 
that arise 'whenever it is proposed that increased police powers be 
conferred upon any governmental or quasi-governmental agency .. 
Those dangers are particularly acute when police powers are given 
to the Postal Service, whose primary business should be the provi
sion of services, not law enforcement .. Perhaps because the publish
ing industry earns its living by the practice of free 'speech through 
the means of a free press, we possess a degree of sensitivity for the 
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preservation of civil liberties that may exceed the norm. In any 
case we share the concerns so well expressed in the opening ses
sion' of hearings on this b~ll by Congre~sman ~o:d of ry.t:ichigan, 
chairman of the full commIttee, The chairman vIVldly pOinted out 
how the increased police power.s which these bills .would confe:r on 
the Postal Service-powers whICh the Postal SerVIce affirmatively 
seeks-could be subverted into effective instruments for the sup
pression of civil liberties. The powers proposed to be conferred 
upon the Postal Service-I am referring most especially to the sub
pena power, the expanded :'stop mail" authority, the c~vil p~nalty 
authority, and the authorIty to .se:ek contempt sanctIOns In the 
event of a resumption of the prohIbIted conduct through the use of 
any instrumentality of interstate commerce, would be extremely 
powerful tools to place in the hands of the Postal Service, as the 
chairman has observed. If those powers are necessary, then the leg
islation granting them must be drawn with as much care as possi
ble to assure that the potential for abuse by the Postal Service is 
avoided wherever foreseeable, and that the fundamental purpose of 
the mails, to encourage and permit the free flow of information 
and ideas, is preserved. . 

Our position on the specific language of the bIll parallels that of 
the Direct Mail Marketing Association from which you will next 
hear. We believe that the DMMA's comments and suggestions are 
both supportive of civil liberties and conducive to the attainment of 
the legitimate ends toward which this legislation aims. 

But our concern is that the bills, as drafted, are deficient in one 
further and very major respect. In extending the powers of the 
Postal Service to combat mail fraud, the bills totally ignore the fact 
that the Postal Service has, during the past 20 years, employed its 
present and more limited powers to suppress free speech. We be
lieve it is imperative that no increase in Postal Service powers be 
granted by Congress without a correl:;ttiye requirement th~t nei
ther those increased powers nor the eXIstIng powers be used In the 
future by the Postal Service to perpetuate what has become an un
fortunate tradition of suppression. 

The Postal Service has, since "at least 1959, sought to suppress a 
variety of books and publications. It has done this, in essence, b.e
cause its investigative officials have believed that the books !n 
question contained fB;lse ideas 0; false i~formation and t~at the dl~
semination of these Ideas and InformatIOn to the American publIc 
would cause harm. We have no idea exactly now many books have 
been effectively suppressed by the Postal Service. Postal Service 
records and information available to the AAP indicate that roughly 
20 books have been banned from the mails. This figure is certainly 
low because the records we could consult reflect only those Postal 
Ser~ice proceedings aga.inst books that proceeded. all the .w~y to. is
suance of a "mail stop" order by a Postal SerVIce admInIstratIve 
law judge. The number of books suppressed merely by the threat of 
Postal Service proceedings is probably much higher. That number 
is also unknown, as are the contents of all those books that never 
reached an audience because the Postal Service stepped in and said 
they contained "false" information, "false ideas." 

The methods the Postal Service uses in its suppression of books 
are uncomplicated, if somewhat Orwellian. To sell a book by mail, 
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you hav~ to advertise it. The ideas, the beliefs, and the theories ex
bressed In the. bc;>oks are restated in the ads in order to describe the 

ooks. And thIS IS ,where the Postal Service steps in. 
th T~ Pkstal SerVICe purports to disavow any intention to suppress 

e 00 s themselves because the first amendment protects the 
gook. But the Posta~ Se~vice claims that the advertisements for the 
l~ks are not constItutIOnally protected. The advertisements they 

c aim, are false, and misleading, not because they misdescribe the 
bfo~, but precIsely b~cause they accurately describe the contents 
o t e.books .by repeating th~ allegedly false ideas that are in them. 
By thIS verSIOn of dc;>ubl~-thIT.l.k, . the Postal Service uses the ads to 
§et ~t t~e books. USIng ItS e~nstIng stop mail authority, the Postal 

erVICe Intercepts orders placed by consumers for these books and 
returns the orders to the consumer under a stamp which brands 
the book" the ad, the author and all as a fraudulent undertaking 
~here IS .an alternat~ve which the Postal Service will allow' 

wh~ch permIts bO?ks whIch it finds objectionable to go through th~ 
mall.. The adve;tIsement must contain a disclaimer of a size and 
Ph'0mInence satIsfactory to the Postal Service that States in effect 
~h at b most doctors or most experts do not believe that the ideas i~ 

e. ook. are true. The author is thus left to choose between not 
~el~hg hIS book at all, or selling it with an advertisement that says 
bOlo e reahder."J:'ou. may buy this book and read it, but you may not 

e Ieve w at IS In It." 
Mr. Cha~rma?,. this subcommittee has heard the stories of unfor

tunate senIOr CItIzens who have been victimized by mail fraud We 
have pres~nted in our testimony another story which we beiieve 
f?e ·fommhlttee should pay close attention to before it decides what 
Imi s oug t best be placed on the Postal Service's powers 

A m.an named Robert Ford of Pascagoula, Miss., had a;' idea that 
he belIeved ~as true. He wrote a book about his idea, published it 
and offered It for sale t~rough the mails. It was a simple little book II at~ 50 pages carrYIng the unpretentious title "Stale Food vs 

res ~o~." It co~t about $4. In this book, Robert Ford told th~ 
reader hIS Id~a, whICh was: If you eat only fresh foods and no stale 
foods, the bUIldul? of fat deposits in your arteries can be reduced by 
a natur~l cleanSIng proces~. Ford believed this was true. He fol
lowed. hIS o~n fresh f~od dIet and believed that he had personally 
experIenced ItS benefiCIal results. 

The Pos~al ~ervice, on the other hand, disbelieved Ford's idea It 
t~refore InstI~uted proce~dings charging Ford with conducting a 
s~ eme to obtain money Via the mails by means of false representa
a~ns'd ~he false, representations were said to be the statements in 

e a or Ford s book that accurately described Ford's idea in the 
process o~ accurately describing Ford's book. 

A .h~arIn~ was he~d here in Washington before a Postal Service 
admInIstratIVe law Judg~ .. Ford ca1l?e to the hearing and tried to 
?efend hIS book by: examInIng the WItness himself. The Postal Serv
ICe presented testImony by a young doctor to the effect that th 
current consensus. of medical opinion was that Ford was wron -..: 
that fresh ~oods wIll not help cleanse the arteries of fat. Ford p~e
sen ted te:stlmony from an older doctor, Dr. Charles Warren J r 
ffhd tes,tIfied that he believed Ford's idea was true-that fresh 
00 s WIll help to cleanse the arteries. Dr. Warren also testified 

~-'--'---""'-'-'-"'- .~. ~-~ 
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that he followed Ford's diet himself and re~ommended it to h~s P!l
tients. He said he had observed the beneficIal effects of the .dIe~ In 
his patients and in his own experience. He admitted that hIS VIew 
and Ford's view was a minority view in the medical profession, but 
he noted that it had received published support, and he observed 
that it was not wrong just because it was a minority view. At the 
hearing, Ford apparently tried t~ introduce certain m~dical. article.s 
in support of his view, but he faIled to get them admItted Into eVI
dence, perhaps because he was not a lawyer and didn't know how 
to go about it. 

The administrative law judge who heard the case found, and I 
quote, "Mr. Ford is a knowledge~ble an~ sil}?ere p~rson who thinks 
that he is performing a beneficIal serVIce. The Judge also found 
Ford's idea to be, and I quote again, "contrary to the weight of in
formed medical and scientific opinion." I'd like. to pause for a 
moment to emphasize that last word. That word was "opinion." 
Ford's book was found to be contrary to the weight of opinion. Be
cause Ford's book was found contrary to the weight of opinion, a 
mail stop order was issued against Ford. He could no longer sell his 
book through the mails. This decision was affirmed, and the mail 
stop order was made final, by a Postal Service appeals judge on 
February 11, 1982. The appeals judge said that the first amend
ment was not involved in the case. 

That was the end of Robert Ford's book. Mr. Chairman, in all of 
this, the odd thing is that th~ Postal Service au~horities probably 
did not want to suppress Ford s book. They may, Indeed, have been 
somewhat sympathetic to the ideas in the book. What tl;le P?stal 
Service authorities really wanted was for Robert Ford to ~IsclaIm
to disavow-in his advertisements the thing that he belIeved and 
wrote in his book. But Ford refused. All the Postal Service authori
ties were seeking, they would doubtlessly tell you, is candor .. 

Candor, they claim, requires a statement in the advertIsement 
that the content of the book fails to conform to the consensus of 
informed medical opinion. Of course, the Postal Service there?y 
gives itself the right to decide not only what the con~ensu.s of OpIn
ion is but also what opinion is informed and what IS unInformed. 
The e;sence of the Postal Service's view is that neither the publish
er nor the author are terribly hurt and the public is benefited by 
what the Postal Service calls candor, but what we believe amounts 
to, in fact, enforced orthodoxy. 

We can't accept the Postal Service's view. Today's truths and 
today's informed opinion .are often tomorrc;>w's quai1:1t and some
times amusing and sometImes not s.o amUSIng. fal~~ Ide~s .. At one 
time the consensus of informed medIcal and SCIentIfIC opInIOn held 
that bleeding people with leeches was healthy. If I had written a 
book at that time which rejected the value of bleeding people, then 
under the Postal Service's policy of enforced candor, I could sell my 
book through the mails only if I were willing to tell my readers 
that the ideas did not accord with the informed consensus of those 
experts whose long study had led them to believe that health could 
be restored by the leech. 

The fundamental pro~lem with the Postal Se!vic.e's d~mand f~r 
candor in the advertiSIng of books and publIcatIOns IS that It 
cannot be reconciled with our Constitution. Under the first amend-
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ment, there is no such thing as a false idea. Although the Postal 
Service may not intend it, the direct result of its actions is the sup
pression of ideas. 

Mr. Chairman, we have prepared and submitted with our state
ment a memorandum that explains in greater detail this pattern of 
Postal Service suppression of publications. Most importantly, the 
memorandum contains a proposed amendment which would, we be
lieve, halt these unlawful suppressions without curtailing in any 
measure the legitimate enforcement activities of the Postal Service. 
Our proposed amendment is essentially a codification of what is 
commonly called the mirror image doctrine, a doctrine that the 
Federal Trade Commission has followed successfully for many 
years. As embodied in our proposed amendment, the essential ob
jective of the mirror image doctrine is to deprive the Postal Service 
of the authority to decide the truth or falsity of ideas expressed in 
books and other pUblications. The doctrine holds that if the adver
tisement accurately depicts the contents of the book or pUblication, 
and identifies the book or pUblication as the source of the state
ments, then there can be no mail fraud proceedings brought 
against the advertisement or the book. Rather than attempting to 
explain in detail our proposed amendment, we have submitted it as 
a part of our full statement. 

To conclude, Mr. Chairman, the record the Postal Service has es
tablished in its treatment of books is the poorest sort of recommen
dation for a grant of increased police power. If such an increase in 
authority is found necessary to combat the evils of mail fraud, we 
urge the subcommittee to temper that grant of power with statu
tory provisions which prevent the Postal Service from suppressing 
pUblications because of a belief that they contain false ideas. After 
all, the Postal Service is principally in the business of facilitating 
the free flow of ideas, not in determining their truth or falsity. In 
the words of Mr . Justice Holmes, "the best test"-and we believe 
the only test-"of truth is the power of the thought to get itself ac
cepted in the competition of the market." 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
[The memorandum proposing the amendment to S. 1407 referred 

to by Mr. Volner, follows. The documentation regarding the case of 
Charles W. Ford versus the Postal Service Office of Administrative 
Law Judges is not reprinted.] 
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COHN AND MARKS 

MEMOAANDUM PROPOSING AN Al>lENDMENT TO 
S. 1407 TO PREVENT POSTAL SERVICE 

ABUSE OF FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS 

ostensibly employing-its power under 39 U.S.C. §3005 

to prevent schemes or devices nfor obtaining money or property 

through the mail by means of false representations,· the 

postal Service has, for over two decades, attempted to judge 
.' ,~ 

the truth or falsity of the content of a wide variety of 

'I ~ it has acted to publications sold through the ma~ s, any 

suppress those publications that it deems to contain false 

, , Although the postal Service has sometimes ideas or oplnlons. 

claimed that it is concerned only with the truth or falsity of 

advertisements for the publicaiions in question, the main 

, h often be'en to adJ'udicate and sup-thrust of its actlons as 

press as nfalse n ideas or opinions presented in publications 

and only incidentally repeated in advertisements for those 

publications. 

This memorandum will first explain the nature of 

these postal ser~~e abuses, will then demonstrate that such 

abuses plainly violate well-settled First Amendment law, 

and will, lastly, propose a simple addition to S. 1407 that 

would make applicable to the postal Service a policy that 'the 

Federal Trade Commission has followed in this area for years. 

Codification in S. 1407 of this FTC policy, which is commonly 

termed the "mirror imagen doctrine, would prevent the Postal 

Service from acting as a censor without restricting its 
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ability to engage in legitimate, constitutional enforcement 

measures under 39 U.S.C. §300S. 

I. The Nature of Postal Service Abuses 

Postal Service proceedings against books a~d publi

cations gener . .ally follow a common pattern: Initially, an 
.. :~

advertisement offering the book or publication for 'sale via 

the mails will come to the attention of a Postal Service 

inspector. Oft~n, the inspector will simply noticl the ad in 

a newspaper or magazine or will receive it in his or her 

personal mail. The advertisement typically describes the 

publication offered for sale ~nd, in so doing, recites state

ments or opinions that are contained in the publication. When 

the statements or opinions thus recited are unorthodox or 

contrary to commonly accepted views, the postal service 
/"' 

inspector often believes them to be false. When this occurs, 

Postal Service proceedings are instigated under §3005 to force 

the purveyor of tt;e publica.tion to cease selling it through 

the mails. 

In these proceedings, th~ Postal Service generally 

secks to prove that the statements or opinions recited in the 

advertisement and contained in the pUblication offered for 
, 

sale are false. This is done through testimony by witnesses 

with expertise in the area in question. If the Postal Ser"vice 

succeeds in establishing a prima facie case of false state

ment, the purveyor of the pUblication may seek to rebut the 

98-546 0-82--5 
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showing by proof that the statements or opinions. a:t'e t:t'ue. If 

this effo:t't is unsuccessful, as it usually is in cases of 

uno:t'thodox views, a finding will be made that the advertise

ment seeks to obtain money via the mails by means of false 

statements in violation of 39 U.S.C. S3005, "and an o:t'de:t' 

will be ente:t'ed p:t'ohi.Q..i ting sale of the :puplication via the 
~ .. ." "~i '" . 

mails. The effect of this o:t'de:t' is to prevent virtuaily all 

dissemination of the publication in question, because the only 

effective method of ma:t'keting most of the publications in 

question is via the mails. 

The most :t'ecent case of sUPP:t'ession of a book by the 

Postal Service occur:t'ed in Februat:y of 1982; it involved a 

book that advocated the consumption of f:t'esh vegetables and 

othe:t' f:t'esh £oOOs on the theory that a f:t'esh food diet can 

prevent and even :t'everse the build-up of fat in the a:t'te:t'ies. 

In its hearing on. the question, the Postal Service p:t'esented 

an expe:t't medical witness who testified that the cu:t'rent 

concensus of me~al opinion was that fat build-up in the 

a:t'teries cannot be reve:t'sed by eating f:t'esh foods. The 

book's author presented testimony by his own expe:t't witness, a 

physician, who testified that the:t'e is and has been fo:t' some 

time a minority view that such fat build-up can indeed be 

reversed and, fU:t'ther, that a fresh food diet had, ~n the 

witness' expe:t'ience, beneficially affected the 'condition of 

arterial fat build-up in patients he had Personally treated. 
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An Administrative Law Judge concluded that the "current 

consenSuS of medical opinion" was that opinions expressed in 

the book and :t'epeated in the advertisement for the book 

respecting the question of reversal of fat build-up we:t'e 

false. The Administrative Law Judge the:t'efore found them to 

be false, and an order was ultiriiately entered p:t'osc:t'ibing the 

sa·Ie of the book via the mails. Attached hereto are the 

Postal Service opinions in the case, styled Magnolia Lab, P.S. 
!. 

Docket No. 10/123, together with a column by coltlmnist James 

Kilpat:t'ick conce:t'ning the case. 

The Magnolia Lab case vividly illust:t'ates that the 

Postal Se:t'vice has set itself up as the a:t'bite:t' of t:t'uth and 

falsity in the :t'ealm of opin'ion and has, mO:t'eover, pronounced 

wi th assurance that the cu:t':t'ent consensus, no less, of "sr.i-

entific" opinion is "true"; ergo, all other views and opinions 

touching the subject a:t'e false. The logical p:t'emises and 

consequences of this theory of Postal Service power and -"scientific'" infallibility are, of course, di:t'ectly contrat:y 

to evet:ything for which the Fi:t'st Amendment stands. 

Other examples of Postal Service efforts to suppress 

publications can be cited. The Postal Service has attacked at 

least seventeen books and publications out:t'ight, and has , 

proceeded against nllIlierous others. Books dealing with diet, 

weight loss, the martial arts, foot ~eflexology, supernatural 

powers, magic, vitamin E, and various medical problems, among 
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others, have been proceeded against, and the sale of many 

other books via the mails has been interrupted by proceedings 

that ended in settlement or capitulation by the publisher -

thus leaving little written record of the nature of the book 

or of the complaint against it.. Although some of these cases 

involved advertisements that actuall~ misrepresented the 

contents of the book in question, many were like the Magnolia 

~ case and invol·red ads that merely recited or accurately 

depicted the contents of the book. In these latteJ cases, the 

Postal Service effectively suppressed books on the basis of 

their allegedly -false" content. 

II. The Mirror Image Doctrine and Its Constitutional Basis 

The Federal Tra~e CO~Sion has, for more than 10 

years, adhered to a stat7 .. Of. Policy (The "Mirror-Image" 

Doctrine) pursuant to !lf~l.Ch that agency will refrain from 

proceeding against advertisements which accurately depict the .... 
contents of books and other publications protected by the 

First Amendment. The FTC policy states: 

Advertising in Books Enforcement Policy 

Notice is hereby given that the Federal 
Trade Commission announced the following 
enforcement policy in regard to adVertis
ing which promotes the sale of books and 
other publications, and which involves 
issues arising under the First Amendment 
of the Constitution. 
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The Commission, as a matter of policy, 
ordinarily will not proceed against 
advertising claims which promote the sale 
of books and other publications: Pro
vided, the advertising only purports to 
express the opinion of the author or to 
quote the ccnten.ts of the publication; the 
advertising discloses the source of 
statements quoted or derived from the 
con~nts of the publication; and the .. 
advertising discloses the author to be Ehe 
source of opinions expressed about the 
publication. Whether the advice being 
offered by the publication will achieve, 
in fact, the results claimed for it in the 
advertising will not be controlling if it 
appropriate 1isclosures have been made. • 
This policy does not apply, however, if 
the publication, or its advertising, is 
used to promote the sale of some other 
product as part of a commercial scheme. 

36 Fed. Reg. 13414 (July 21, J.971}s 

This FTC policy apparently arose out of First 

Amendment concerns first ~xpresaed by former FTC Commissioner 

Elman in a 1967 case and echoed by Judge Robinson in the 

review of that case by. the United States court of Appeals for 

the District of Columbia' Circuit. .2.~..!. Rodale pres~r Inc., 71 

F.T.C. 1184 (ALJ),~ aff'd 71 F.T.C. 1222 (1967), remanded, 407 

F. 2d ~252 (D.C. Cir~}r dismissed, 74 F.T.C. 1429 (1968); 71 

F.T.C. at 1247··1256 (Commissioner EIJllan, dissenting); 407 F. 

2d at 1258 (Robinson, J. I concurring). 

stated: 

Commissioner Elman 

For every hope, dream and fear, a book has 
been written showing the way to salvation. 
Undoubtedly, many are pure rubbish. But 
one thing is clear, t,o me at least: It is 
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not ~he.function of the Federal Trade 
Comm~ss~o~ or any other agency of govern
ment to.s7t as a board of review examining 
the val~d~ty or worth of ideas opinions 
beliefs and theories expressed'in bOOks' 
and othe7" pUblications offered for sale to 
the publ~c. ' 

Rodale Press, Inc., supra 71 FTC t 1249 , • • • a . (Commissioner 

Elman, dissenting),,!,?"'i, Fortunately, the FTC listened to Com-
o • .!i':'~~: 

m~ss ~oner Elman. :Unfortunately, the Postal Service has 

refused to listen, although the FTC Statement of Policy 

pressed upon the Postal Service in a number of the proceedings 

in which the Postal Service ha- sought to 
~ suppress books. 

It is well settled that nthe use of the mails is 

almost as much a part of free speech as the right to use Our 

tongues. n Lamont v. Postmaster General, 381 U.S. 301,305 

(1965) (qu~ting United States ex reI. Milwaukee Social 

Democratic Publishing Co. V. Burleson, 255 U.S. 407,437 

(1921) (Holmes, J., dissent;ng». M b - oreover, ooks, pamphlets, 
leaflets and n eQ'~ry sort of publication which affords a 

vehicle of information and opinion n are protected by the 

Firs,t Amendment, _see, e. a ., Lovell V. C't f . 
~ ~ y 0 Gr~ffin, 303 

U.S. 444, 452 (1938), as is the right to distribute and 

circulate such Publ'ications, 'd ~.; ~, ~, Winters v. 

New York, 333 U.S. 507, 509 (1948). Most importantly, 'in the 

present context, nThe constitutional protection does not turn 

upon the truth, popularity or social utility of the iaeas and 
.. 
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beliefs which are offered. n New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 

376 u.s. 254, 271 (1964) (quoting NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 

415, 445 (1963». In both the great and the petty areas of 

human discourse, members of society have the right nto im-

part and acquire information about their common interests, n 

Grosjean v. American Press Co., 297 U.S. 233, 243 (1936); ~ 

Winters v. New York, supra, 333 U.S. at 510; ide at 528 

(Frankfurter, J. dissenting); Thomas V. Collins, 323 U.S. 516, 
, 1 

531 (1945). Government cannot "contract the spectrum of 

available knowledge." Griswold V. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 

482 (1965). 

These and similar propositions have been repeatedly 

affirmed because they are essential to the central goal of the 

First Amendment: "an uninhibited marketplace of ideas in which 

truth will ultimately prevail." ged Lion Broadcasting Co. V. 

E££, 395 U.S. 367, 390 (1969). Equally important to that goal 

is the freedom to publish advertisements by which the public -learns of the availability of a book, a publication or, 

indeed, any other product. Thus, First Amendment law states 

that advertisements which are not false, misleading or related 

to illegal activity are protected by the First Amendment and 

can be regulated only if a substantial state interest wquld be 

directly advanced thereby and could not be so advanced by 

means less restrictive of speech. Central Hudson Gas Co. V. 

Public Service Commission, 100 S. Ct. 2343, 2350 (1981); ~, 
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~, Virginia State Board of Pharmacy v. Virginia Citizen 

Consumers Council, 425U.5. ~4a (1976);.Bigelow v. Virginia, 

421 U.S. 828 (1975). 

The Postal Service I s persistent atta~ks on adver

tisements that recite the contents of books and publica-

tions on the ground that the recitation is "false and mis

leading" cannot be reconciled with these basic principles of 

free speech. Quite simply, the Postal Servi~ has used . 
Section 3005 to suppress books when, in its self-proclaimed 

wisdom, it determines that the pUblicat.ion contains "false" 

ideas or opinions. Although the Postal Service has sometimes 

claimed that it does not ban books, but only bans the soli-

citation and receipt of purchase orders for books, this claim 

is an obvious eva&ion: Where the advertisement solely and 

accurately depicts the content of the book, an attack on the 

content of the advertisement is necessar.ily an attack on the 

content of the book. In contrast to the restraint which the -
FTC has exercised, and in what amounts to flat defiance of the 

First Amendment, the Postal Service has set itself up -- in 

the words of Commissioner Elman -- as a "board of review 

examining the validity or worth of ideas, opinions, beliefs 

and theories expressed in books and other pUblications offered 

for sale to the public." "If there is any fixed star in our 

constitutional constellation, it is that no official, high 

or petty, can prescribe what shall be orthodox in politics, 

nationalism, religion or other matters of opinion •••• " West 

,. 
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Virginian,State Board of Education v. Barnette, 319 U.S. 624, 

642 (1943) (Opinion for the Court of Jackson J.). 

III. Proposed Addition to s. l40~ and Explanation 

We propose that S. 1407 be amenir~ti to add a new 

subsection (C) to S3005(a} (2). 
,> 

The proposed subsection 
3005(a}(2)(C) would read as follows: 

(2) Nothing contained in this SUbsection shall 
prohibit the mailing of--

(A). • • 

., or 
(B). • • 

. . .; or 

(C) .a b<?ok, magazine,. newspaper, pamphlet or 
other publ~cat10n offered for sale via the mails and 
not classified as nonmailable matter by section 3001 
of this title, or a solicitation to purchase, or a 
purchase order for, any such publication, where 

(i) the advertisement or advertise
ment:s offering such publication for. sale are 
not materially false or misleading in their 
description of the publication; and 

(ii) the advertisement or advertisements 
o~fering such publication for sale accurately 
d~sclose the source of any statements quoted or 
derived from the publication and any opinions 
expressed about the publication; and 

(iii) neither the publication nor any 
advertisement offering it for sale via the 
mails is designed to promote the sale of some. 
other product as part of a commercial scheme. 
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The proposed subsection (Cl would in effect codify 

the FTC's mirror image doctrine and make it applicable to the 

Postal Service. It is drafted to allow the Postal Service to 

proceed against advertisements for books when they materially 

misdescribe the publication that is offered for sale (subsec

tion (C) (i» and are therefore false. It would also narrowly 

circumscribe the license that an advertisement could take in 

repeating statements or opinions taken from or made about the 
It . 

publication. Any such statements or opinions in an adver-

tisement would have to be coupled with an accurate dis-

closure of the source of the statement or opini.on (subsection 

(C){ii». Finally, the provision would not be applicable to 

commercial schemes that promote products other than publica-

tions, whether by advertisement or by the content of the 

pUblication itself. 

The foregoing proposal does not seek to codify the 

full scope of First Amendment protection that is applicable -to circumstances that may arise in Postal Service proceedings 

against publications. It is believed, however, that the pro-

vision will prove effective in curbing the most serious 

Postal Service abuses of free speech and will also provide 

needed guidance to those who advertise publications fqr sale 

via the mails by specifying the standards such persons must 

meet in their advertisements. 
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It is" we believe, especially appropriate for 
Congress to act on the 

matter at hand because a judicial 
remedy for Postal Service b • 

a uses is pragmatically difficult to 
obtain. Large publishers 

often bow to Postal Service pressure 
and settle cases to avoid the at! . 

gma of. having orders for 
their publications 

returned to the Sender stamped as :1n 
violation of S3005's f 

alse representation proscription 
publishers and authors h • Small 

ave not the resources to PUrsue 
lengfhy and expensive litigation ~ 

to vindicate their First 
Amendment rights. I 

n many cases, their income is 
h • cut off When 

t e sale of their publication via the mails . 
~s halted -- thus 

the Postal Service order suppresses both 
the book and the 

economic means by which th . 
e· suppressl.on migh.t be contested. 

Onder these circumstances C 
, ongress shOUld act to halt Pos'tal 

Service infringement of free speech. 

Ian D. Volner 
J. Brian DeBoice 

April 7, 1982 
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lVlr. LELAND. Thank you very much. 
Before we move on to the other panelists, let me ask you a few 

questions. 
In the Senate committee's report on S. 1407, it is stated that pub

lishers are entitled to expect that the Postal Service will act con
sistently with the "mirror image" doctrine. 

Do you believe that the inclusion of this language in the commit
tee report is unsatisfactory in addressing the concerns you have ex
pressed to us in your testimony, and if so, why? 

Mr. VOLNER. Unfortunately, we believe the statement in the 
Senate report, although it is helpful because it is the first time the 
Postal Service has been told explicitly, it is not quite sufficient. The 
problem. is that the Postal Service has its own interpretation of the 
mirror image doctrine under which they compel the sort of disclo
sures that I was addressing in my testimony. 

Weare afraid that, absent a specific statutory provision, they 
will continue to do what we believe is an abuse of their power and 
attack books because they don't like the ideas that are in them. 

Mr. LELAND. Are you telling us you don't believe the Postal Serv
ice will adhere to this mirror image doctrine as you see it? 

Mr. VOLNER. We don't believe the Postal Service has adhered to 
the mirror image doctrine as the Trade Commission has formulat
ed it, and I am afraid that the statement is not sufficient to induce 
them to do so. 

Mr. LELAND. I understand. 
I have been made aware that a consent agreement was reached 

recently between the Postal Service and Mr. Robert Ford, whom 
you mentioned at length in your testimony. 

Do you think it represents any change in Postal Service policy 
from what you described in your testimony? 

Mr. VOLNER. No. The Postal Service has almost always beeIll will
ing, in my experience, to enter into consent agreements. The prob
lem is that the consent agreement requires the publisher or' the 
author to send to all persons who have ordered the book a further 
statement, and in that statement there must be this disclaimer. 
And having negotiated those consent agreements, I can tell you 
that the task is arduous. 

The Postal Service specifies the location on the page of the dis
claimer. You get into interminable arguments about the print size, 
and then you get into arguments about what must be in the dis
claimer. In one case, for example, the Postal Service was insisting 
that we put in a disclaimer that the opinions expressed in the book 
do not accord with the consensus of medical opinion. I refused, on 
behalf of my client, to make that statement because I wasn't will
ing to assume the responsibility of deciding what is the consensus 
of medical opinion. 

After about 2 weeks of interminable negotiation, the Postal Serv
ice finally allowed us to say that it may not accord with the con
sensus of medical opinion. But what they are essentially doing is 
forcing publishers and authors to say to their readers, as we said in 
our testimony, "You may buy the book, and you may read it, but 
you had better not believe it." 

l 
i 

73 

MI". LELAND. In the Sen t . 
lowing language appears c~:: co~mltte~ re:port o.n S. 1407 the fol
quote from the report: Cernlng thIS mIrror Image doctrine-I 

The Committ~e is concerned that an atte '. 
:~~~~i~~d of hth1s . doctrine ~n s~itable legisla~~~ ~;r:dI~c~~IObn ~f one, particular 

. c angmg fact SItuatIOns as d t" mIg e mflexible to suit b'lre to depend instead on the ability ot ther 
ISIng practices change. We think it 

a ance has been struck i h f e courts to assure that an . 
:~~~!ltfn~:~tthe Postal Sen~C:a~d;int~~~~i~~s~~ t~~~f~u~ontinued legi~i~1~~P~~~: 

. e comports WIth Congres-

~~~ ~~~leaslehcomment further on this matter? 
t · ER. ave two comments 'I'h f' t' . lcal one. There is some rna 't . e _Irs IS an Intensely prac-
that we are dealing with i~~~l!~st~h S~na:e's notion that the issue 
a matter for the courts. But the .1 t~ lIs amend~en~ and that is 
Postal Service gets a tem ora prac Ica . P!oblem IS thIS: When the 
which a small publisher co~ld JYh~estra.lnlng ?rder, the funds by 
cas~ of large publishers they! ,tr : Imm~dIat~ly cut off. In the 
WhICh says "you have ~n ~n want the stIgma of a starn 
result is these cases are ei~~:!el~ ~ifflal~ulent eI?-terprise." Th~ 
~nd contest in the Courts Als .leu to get Into the Courts 
tIme-c<;msUJ;ning, and terribly co °h thE ckrt p~oc~edir:gs are long, 
profit. Industry. s y. 00 publIshIng IS not a high-

So It is not sufficent to sim I tI 

amendment and therefore it 1 y say w~ll, this involves the first 
~~endment that we have ro oS approprI~te f?r the courts." The 
IC In terms that, without afte~p~~d ~e be~~ve IS sufficiently gener
amen~ment, it provides clear lng 0 C? Ify tJ:1e ~hole of the first 
Pos~al Service and to the pUblistnd preCIse gUI?elInes to both the 
I thl1~k the language is sufficientler :8 to what IS ~xpe~ted of them. 
practICes cha~ge, those guideline; ~lleral t?at, even If a~vertising 
wants to publIsh a book that h' remaIn and a publIsher who 
refer to the statute and say "~h~~ ~onc~ned about will be able to 
what I may not do if I want to av I~d _s w atd.I must do and this is 

So we think it can b I' 01 . procee Ings." 
posed it. e eglslated In the frame that we have pro-

Mr. LELAND. Thank you ver much M . 
you have an early pla.ne to c t h ,r .. Volner. I understand 
and you are excused whenev:r ~;u 'X e j:pfrecIate your participation 

Mr. VOLNER. Thank you Mr Ch . ee 1 necessary to leave. 
.Mr. LELAND. I would like to' n aIrman. . 

DIrect Mail Marketing Associatio ow MnteJrtam t~e ~estimony of the 
Mr. GITLITZ. Thank you M Chn,. r. onah Glthtz. 
Mr Ch . . ,r. aIrman 
. . aIrman, In view of Dick' 1 . . 

thIS committee, I am going to k ~. ong-sta:r:dlng association with 
ment. as 1m to dalIver the DIVrrv.1A state-

Mr. LELAND. Fine. Mr. Barton. 

STATEMENT OF RICHARD BARTON 
Mr. BARTON. Good morning M Ch' 

here. today. I would like to add r. aIrman. It i~ a pleasure to be 
presIdent for public affairs a d' too, ~hat Jonah IS our senior vice 
IS a very well-developed ethicn done °t! the departments under him 

s epar ment. I would like to discu~ 

--~--- ~- --- ------ -- ~-- -~ --~ -.-~ _______________ --'--.0 •• _._~. ____ _ 
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with you a little bit today our position in the industry with regard 
to ethical practices. 

The DMlVIA is the oldest and the largest trade association in the 
direct-response marketing and .mail advertising industry .. We have 
approximately 2,900 members In 46 States and 3!3 countrIes, rang
ing in size from the largest Fortune 500 companIes down to small 
"mom and pop" operations. . . 

The association provides the means for Improved ~arke:tIng edu
cation and information in an effort to help achIeve Increased 
knowledge and effectiveness for t~e industry. It eng.ages in posit!ve 
efforts to communicate and explain the values of dIrect marketing 
to government agencies and other public bodies, and fosters i~dus
try-consumer relationships in an attempt to improve the enVIron
ment in which direct marketers operate. 

Ever since we were founded in 1917, we have maintained a very 
deep interest in the ethics of the industry and in prom~ting a?-d 
enforcing these ethical practices. We developed an extenslV~ serIes 
of ethical guidelines for all forms of direct-response marketing and 
in particular for direct mail marketing. We will give you a copy of 
these guidelines to include in the record.. .. 

We also offer services such as our mall preference servIce whIch 
gives people an opportunity to have their names re:mo~ed fr,?m 
mailing lists if they desire, and we promote. the serVIce .u~ maJor 
national magazines, newspapers, and on radIO and teleVISIOn sta-
tions. . 

In addition our mail order action line is the principal consumer 
complaint re~olution mechanism that the association has estab
lished for the benefit of the direct-response industry. Most of the 
consumer complaints that we receive are resolved by offici~ls of 
our association contacting the company involved and reachIng a 
mutually satisfactory arrangement. 

We have a fully staffed and professional ethics department. It is 
headed by a director of ethical practices who is responsible for pro
viding liaison with the Postal Inspection Service, the Federal Trade 
Commission, the Council of Better Business Bureaus, and any other 
agencies and consumer organizations throughout the count~y th~t 
are involved in terminating the use of false representatIOns In 
direct-response marketing. This director conducts investigations of 
alleged unethical practices and uses his offices and the offices of 
DMMA to attempt to resolve complaints before they are formally 
submitted to DMMA's committee on ethical practices. 

This committee consists of 15 DMMA members and meets ap
proximately eight times a ye~r. Its main function is to inyestigate 
and attempt to resolve perSIstent and repeated complaInts that 
cannot be immediately satisfied by DMMA staff. Where a legal as 
well as an ethical violation occurs and can't be resolved, the com
mittee will refer its entire investigatory file to the appropriate gov
ernmental agency, generally the Federal Trade Commission or the 
Postal Inspection Service. . 

Within the last 2 years, DMMA has also establIshed a second 
committee in this area, the ethics policy committee, consisting of 
seven members. They meet six times a year, and they are responsi
ble for developing general ethical practices for the association and 
for the industry at large. 
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Recently, an interestin~ ~evelopment, we have cosponsored, with 
the. Feder~l T~ade CommIssIOn, a consumer education program fea
tUrI,ng gUld~lInes for. shoppin&" by mail which include warnings 
agaInst speCIfic unethICal practICes and a list of legal rights in mail 
?rder ~ransactions. A. pamphlet, "Make Knowledge Your Partner 
In Mall Order ShoPPIng," has been published and is available to 
you and to anyone on request. 

These are just a few of the activities that we engage in in an 
effor~ to pr0!l1ote ~thical business practices among our members 
an~, I~ fact, In the Industry as a whole. We just recite them to you 
to IndICat~ very strongly our intense interest in the area which you 
are studYIng today. 

The DMMA ~upports the. general purposes and objectives of S. 
1407. Ou!, deep Involvement In promoting ethical practices through
out the Industry ha~ led us to suppor~ the Postal Service request 
for enhanced authOrIty to act more qUIckly and effectively to pre
vent.blatant false representation. But it is very important that the 
publIc need b~ bala~ced by a healthy respect for the rights of busi
ness engaged .In mall ord~r sales. In our opinion, S. 1407 goes some
what too f~r In the granting of broad powers without accepted safe
guards agaInst the abuse of power. 

The versio~ of S. 1407 :vhich. pa.ssed the ~enate and is the subject 
of. y~)Ur h~arIngs tod~y IS a SIgnIficantly 1m proved version of the 
orIginal bIll. MaI,lY.-In ~act, most of the serious questions that we 
had about the. orIgInal bIll were resolved in markup in the Senate, 
and we cert~Inly want to commend Senator Pryor, Senator Ste
vens, and theIr staff~ for a very workmanlike and excellent job. 
Rath~r than det~II our comments on the original S. 1407, we 

~vould lIke to sul;>mIt the original statement for the record and will 
Just comment b,rlefly ,?n the bill,a~ currently written. 
~s we mentIOned I~ our OrIginal statement, properly circum

SCrIbed subp~na autJ:1orIty could actually be beneficial to mailers in 
some ~ases In .that. It could lead to a quicker resolution of differ
ences .If a maIle~ IS not ~uilty of false representation. However, 
ther~ IS a potentIal for mIsuse. a~d we ~o not believe that this po
tential has been completely elImInated In the Senate version of S 
1407. . 
Improve.me~ts over the original version include the provision 

that the dIstrICt court rather than the Postal Service will enforce a 
subpena and will,determine if there is probable cause to believe the 
false representatIOn ~tatute may be violated if the subpena is ig
nored, and t~e requIrem~nt that the Postal Service publish pro
posed regulatIons governIng the use of subpena power for notice 
an,d comment. We agree with those, iI?pl'ovements, though we do 
thInk the:re nee:ds to ~e more restrICtIOns on the use of subpena 
power WrItten dIrectly Into the law. 

SpeCifically, the restrictio~s t~at we would suggest, or the l'ules 
we suggest you look at puttIng In the law itself, are those which 
govern the. Federal Trade ~ommission.1s civil investigative de
ma~ds, wh~ch y:ou ha~e dIscussed brIefly with Commissioner 
SteIger earher thIS mornIng, 
. :t:0~ exar~lPle! while the Federal Trade Commission may serve a 

c~VlIInvestIg~tIve d«:mand u:pon a person it believes to be in posses
SIon of materIal or InformatIOn relevant to a legal violation within 
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the meaning of the FTC Act, the demand, however, must, among 
other safeguards, state the nature of the conduct constituting the 
alleged violation under investigation; describe the documentary 
material with such definiteness and certainty as to permit it to be 
fairly identified; prescribe a return date or dates which will provide 
a reasonable period of time within which the demanded material 
may be assembled and made available; identify to whom such ma
terial shall be made available; and the demand can be served only 
in one of the prescribed manners, each designed to assure receipt 
by the person upon whom the demand is made, and followed by a 
verified return by the individual who served the demand. 

Also, the FTC demand must have a specific time period within 
which to oppose it, and outline the procedure with which a person 
can oppose the demand, and a Commissioner's signature is re
quired before the demand can be issued. 

I don't know whether everyone of the provisions of the FTC law 
would apply to the Postal Service, but I think they ought to be seri
ously looked at. We believe more specific requirements need to be 
written into the law before the Postal Service can issue a subpena. 

Postal law now permits the Postal Service to issue an order stop
ping mail that is in response to a scheme or device to obtain money 
by false representations fl'om being delivered to any person en
gaged in such an activity. The Service's jurisdiction and control are 
over the delivery of mail novV'. Under the bill's proposal, the Postal 
Service would have the power to issue an order requiring a person 
to cease and disist from engaging in such activity. This shift in ju
risdiction from "in rem" to "in personam" is a major expansion of 
postal power and one that should have a demonstrated acute need 
before enactment of the bill. Weare not necessarily opposed to that 
provision, but we think it ought to be very carefully looked at and 
you should be comfortable with it before you enact the bill. 

Also, the bill would not limit the cease and desist order to the 
enjoined person's use of the mail, but would consider as contempt 
the resumption of the activity if carried out through the use of 
/tany instrumentality of interstate commerce." We believe that the 
Postal Service is somewhat overstepping the boundaries of the 
enpowering legislation that authorized its very existence if this 
provision were enacted. 

While the bill is perhaps not inherently legally infirm for this 
reason, we think that this should also be closely scrutinized before 
such a material extension of Postal Service authority is enacted. 
DMMA does not feel there is a need for establishing in .the Postal 
Service what could be tantamount to a general law enforcement 
agency. 

Weare also pleased that the Senate bill removed the authority 
to level civil penalties from the Postal Service to the courts. We do 
not oppose the concept of civil penalties. We do feel, however, the 
penalty of $10,000 for each violation is somewhat steep and consid
eration should be given to reducing those penalties. 

DMMA would also like to go on the record in support of the testi
mony offered by the Association of American Publishers in connec
tion with the advertisement of books. The Postal Service is tread
ing on very dangerous ground when it does not agree with the con
tent of the book. The first amendment was designed to allow the 

.. 
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free dissemination of ideas regardless of their content. As long as 
an advertisement reflects accurately the content of a book that ad
vertisement should not be subject to false representation statutes. 

So, in conclusion, Mr. Chairman, we agr~a with the thrust of 
S. 1407. We agree that the Postal Service needs some increased au
thority, but we think the subpena power under the new section 413 
should be subject to more precise definitions; that S. 1407 should 
apply only to the use of the mail, that the amount of civil penalties 
should be reduced, and that language requiring the Postal Service 
to abide by the mirror image doctrine with regard to advertising 
for books should be added. 

Thank .you v~ry much. We appreciate the oPP?rtunity to testify. 
W. e. certaInly will be happy to answer any questIons and will work 
wIth the staff on anything you would like us to. 

[The statement on S. 1407, referred to by Mr. Barton, along with 
the pamphlet entitled "Ethical Business Practices," which were 
submitted fOl' the record, follow:] 

98-546 0-82--6 
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Comments by the 

Direct Mail/Marketing Association Inc. 

Re: S. 1407 

STATEMENT OF DIRECT MAIL/MARKETING ASSOCIATION 

The Direct Mail/Marketing Association (DMMA) submits this testimony 

to the Subcommittee on Civil Service, Post Office and General Services of 

the Committee 1n Government Affairs, U.S. Senate, for use on the occasion 

of the Subcommittee's review of S. 1407 to amend Title 39, United States 

Code. 

Description of DMMA 

DMMA, a New York Not-For-Profit Corporation, is the lat'gest and oldest 

national trade association serving the vast community involved in direct-to

the-consumer marketing and mail advertising. Its membership totals more than 

2,600 firms located in 46 states and 36 foreign countries. Members range in 

size from "Fortune 500" companies to sole practitioners and represent every 

functional level of industry -- manufacturing, wholesale and retail. 

The Association provides the means for improved marketing education and 

information in an effort to help achieve incre~sed knowledge and effectiveness 

for the industry. It engages in positive efforts to communicate and explain 

the values of direct marketing to government agencip.s and other public bodies, 

and fosters industry-consumer relationships in an attempt to improve the environ

ment in which direct marketers operate. 

Founded in 1911~ DMMA has consistently maintained an interest in promoting 

and enforcing ethical practices in the industry. It has developed a compre

hensive set of ethical guidelines for all forms of direct response marketing, 

including mail order. A copy of those guidelines is ",ttached at the end of 

this testimony. 
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DMMA also offers its Mail Preference Service which provides consumers the 

opportunity to have their names removed from mailing lists if they wish to stop 

receiving unsolicited advertisements. The Association promotes this service 

in major national magazines and newspapers and on radio and television stations. 

DMMA's Mail Order Action line is the consumer complaint resolution mech

anism that the Association has established for the benefit of the direct response 

industry. Most of the consumer complaints are resolved by DMMA's contacting the 

company involved and reaching a mutually satisfactory arrangement. 

DMMA also has a fully-staffed, professional Ethics Department. It is headed 

by a Director of Ethical Practices who is responsible for providing liaison with 

the Postal Inspection Service, the Federal Trade Commission, the Council of 

Better Busi ness Bureaus and other agencies and consumer organ; zations that are 

intimately involved in terminating the use of fa1se representations in direct 

response marketing. The Director conducts preliminary investigations of alleged 

unethical practices and uses his offices to attempt to resolve complaints before 

they are formally submitted to OMMA's Committee on Ethical Business Practices. 

DMMA's Ethics Committee consists of fifteen DMMA members and meets approx

imately eight times a year. Its main function is to investigate and attempt to 

resolve persistent and repeated complaints that cannot be immediately satisfied 

by DMMA's staff. t4here a legal, as well as ethical, violation occurs, and 

cannot be resolved, the Committee refers its entire investigatory file to, the 

appropriate governmental agency, typically the Federal Trade Commission or the 

Postal Inspection Service. 

Within the last two years, DMMA has established an Ethics ·Policy Committee 

consisting of seven members who meet six times a Y6;r, This Committee develops 

general ethical policies for the Association and for the industry at large. 
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Recently, DMMA has developed with tne Federal Trade Commission a series 

of consumer guidelines for shopping by mail which include warnings against 

specific unethical practices, and a list of "legal rights" in mail ol"der trans

a~tions. A pamphlet. "Make Knowledge Your Partner in Mail Order Shopping," 

will be promoted in magazines, newspapers and radio, and will be available on 

request. 

The above are only some of the activities that DMMA underta~es in its 

effort to promote ethical business practices in the direct response marketing 

area. DMMA would be pleased to provide additional information on these pro

grams and activities. 

Surrrnary of S. 1407 

DM1>1A supports the general objectives and purposes of S. 1407 and the efforts 

of the Postal Service to deal with practices that utilize the mail to make false 

representations in the sale of goods and services. At the same time. DMMA has 

serious misgivings with regard to the granting of broad powers without legally 

accepted procedures to serve as safeguards .against abuse. 

S. 1407 would give the Postal Service subpoena power, the authority to issue 

a cease and desist order against a person conducting a scheme for obtaining 

money through the mail by means of false representations and the additional 

authority to demand any article or service that a person offers for sale by 

mail. Any person's unreasonable failure to comply with such a demand or a 

subpoena would constitute probable cause to believe that the law pertaining to 

false I"epresentations has been violated, and would oermit the Postal Service to 

apply to a federal district court for a temporary restraining order or a pre

liminary injunction directing the detention of that person's incoming tnail. 
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Under the existing statute, which remains in effect, if the Postal 

Service determines upon satisfactory evidence that a person has, in fact, 

violated the law, it may issue an order which dir~cts the postmaster of the 

post office at which mail arrives. addressed to such a person or to h~s 

representative, to return such mail to the sender approp:iate1y marked as 

in violation of the law. The mailer, or his representative, must first be 

notified and given l~asonable opportunity to be present at the receiving 

post office to survey the mail before the postmaster returns it to the con-

sumer. 

S. ,1407 further provides that any person who evades or attempts to evade 

the effect of an order issued pursuant to the section pertaining to false re

presentations and who engage5 in the conduct which warranted iss~ance of the 

order shall be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each day 

the violative conduct continues. Any such civil pena1ty shall be assessed 

by the Postal Service. 

§413. Inspection Authority 

Were S. 1407 enacted without Postal Service subpoena power, the Postal 

Service might claim an inability to fulfill. its enforcement obligation with

out the means fully to explore and investigate potential violations. Under 

those circumstances unnecessary legal proceedings might be triggered un~er 

§3005(a} that a prior subpoena and investigation could have helped to avoid. 

That is, if the Postal Service were granted subpoena power, a subpoenaed 

person, before litigation. would have an opportunity to demonstrate that he 

had not violated the law. If he succeeds, presumably no complaint I"ould 

issue and unnecessar,y litigation would not ensue. (Since there currently is 

, 
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no requirement that the Postal Service inform a person that he is under 

investigation. the use of a subpoena would bring a matter into the open 

in its incipiency and might provide the opportunity to avoid the issuance 

of a formal complaint.) 

Another possible result of granting the Postal Service subpoena power. 

however, and perhaps the more ominous one, is the potential for misuse, 

harassment and abuse of process that might follow, with the corresponding 

disruption of business routine. These two conflicting possibilities should 
be weighed. 

The proposed subpoena authority, if enacted, should be better defined 

so as to avoid unnecessary legal skirmishes relating to legal sufficiency, 

undue breadth. proper service, time to oppose, and the like. 

By contrast, while the Federal Trade Commission may issue a civil in

vestigative demand upon a person it believes may be ~n possession of material 

or information relevant to a legal violation within the meaning of the oper

ative section of the FTC Act, the FTC demand must, among other safeguards. 

(1) state the "nature of the conduct" constituting the alleged violation under 

investigation, with reference to the applicable law, (2) describe the doc

umentary material with such "definiteness and certainty" as to permit it to 

be fairly identified, (3) prescribe a return date or dates which will provide 

a "reasonable period of time" within which the demanded material may be 

assembled and made available, (4) identify the custodian to whom such material 

shall be made available. and (5) be served only in one of the prescribed 

manners -- each designed to assure receipt by the person Upon whom the demand 

is made (e.g., personal service, registered or certified mail. return receipt 

requested), followed by a verified return by the individual serving the demand. 
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Beyond that. the FTC provisions set forth the time period within which 

to Oppose a demand, and the proceJure to be followed. It also requires a 

commissioner's signature before a demand may issue, and establishes an elaborate 

mechanism to maintain the confidentiality of the documents the Commission 

receives. S. 1407 is deficient in these respects and takes the unnecessary and 

. overreaching step of establishing a statutory presumption of wrongdoing that 

attaches for unreasonable failure to comply. This will be more fully discussed 

below. DMMA would endorse the grant of reasonable subpoena power to the Postal 

Service, if the-subpoena power were more clearly circumscribed as it is, for 

example. with the FTC's civil investigative demand authority, and if the 

statutory presumption for failure to comply were eliminated. 

§3005. Faili.]epresentati ons; Lotteries 

There is little, if any. legal distinction between a Postal Service demand 

for documents (§413) and its demand for an article or service (§3005). Of 

course, in the latter case it will first tender the adVertised price before 

expecting compliance with the demand. Accordingly; our comments with respect 

to subpoena power apply equally to this second type of demand. Critical here 

as well, as it was in the subpoena section, is the proposal to construe, by 

statutory presumption, the unreasonable failure (not refusal) to provide the 

demanded article or service as the equivalent of probable cause to believe 

that a false representation violation has occurred .. This, then. would ~ ~Il 
allow the Postal Service to issue a postal stop order 0'1", as discussed next, 

a cease and desist order. The statute itself would pro'/ide the potential for 

shortcircuiting the due process safeguards of notice ~nd an opportunity to 

be heard. DMMA opposes the establishment of such a statutory presumption. 
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The postal laws now pennit the Postal Service to issue an order stopping 

mail that is in response to a scheme or device to obtain money by false repre

sentations from being delivered to any person engaged in such an activity. The 

Service's jurisdiction and control are over the delivery of mail. Under the 

bill's proposal, the Postal Service would have the power to issue an order re

quiring a person to cease and desist from engaging in such an activity. This 

shift in jurisdiction from in ~ to in personam is a major expansion of Postal 

Service power and one that'should have a demonstrated acute need and sound 

basis before enactment. 

Moreover, the bill would not limit the cease and desist order to the en

joined person's use of the mail, but would consider as contempt the resumption 

of the activity if carried out through the use of "any instrumentality of inter

state corrmerce". The Postal Service seems to be overstepping the boundaries of 

the empowering legislation that authorized its verY existence. While perhaps 

the bill is not inherently legally infinn for that reason, it should be closely 

scrutinized before such a material extension of Postal Service authority is 

enacted. DMMA does not feel there is a need for establishing in the Postal 

Service what would be tantamount to a general law enforcement agency. 

§3012. Civil Penalities 

DMMA favors the deterrence of fraudulent mail order operators. Assisting 

the Postal Service to help bring a halt to the use of schemes and devices used 

by illicit marketers for obtaining money through the mail by means of false 

representations has long been and continues to be a primary function of its 

Ethics Committee. Thus, DMMA could wholeheartedly support legislation that 

imposes civil penalties upon such wrongdoers. 
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The one difficulty DMMA has, however, is endorsing legislation that 

grants the power to assess such penalties to the Postal Service. While 

endorsing the concept of civil penalties under appropriate circumstances, 

DMMA seriously questions the ne~d for the suthority to do so to reside with 

the Postal Service rather than with a federal court of competent jurisdiction. 

Anyone in privity with a person who evades or attempts to evade the 

effect of an order and who with actual knowledge of the order engages in 

conduct which assists in such actual or attempted evasion is also to be sub

ject to a civil penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each~ay the violative con

duct continues', Once again, the Postal Service is empowered to assess any 

civil penalties. 

Although these provisions arl~ conceptually favored by DMMA. it again 

seri ous ly questi ons the appropri ateness for the assessment to be made by the 

Postal Service. 

Another secti on of the bi 11 pi'ovi des for II due process" to be followed 

in detennining the amount of any penalty. DMMA favors this aspect of the 

legislation and. indeed, could not support a final version which would fail 

to provide for notice anc! a fair ht~aring before penalties were assessed. 

Subsections (b)(l) and (2) are ones that DMMA fully endorses and believes are 

necessary to any acceptable legislation in this area. 

It should be noted that any deci5ion by the Postal Service to assess a 

civil penalty, following the notice, Pl'oposal and hearing provisions of (b)(l). 

shall be final unless appealed w'ithin thirty days from the date the order 

making the assessment was issued, without any assurance that the person re

quired to p~ the penalty actually received the notice. 

__ --.-.L--L---------~-~---
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The appeals procedure of subsection (c) appears to be acceptable, 

although the finality of a Postal Service decision (to assess) must again 

be questioned on the need for the Postal Service, rather than a court, to 

impose a civil penalty. 

By its terms, subsection (d) raises another serious issue. It removes 

the fact finding function from the judiciary and places it with the Postal 

Service (" . . . the validity, amount and appropriateness of such penalty 

shall not be subject to review. "). This shift does not appear to be necessary 

to the Postal Service's ability to carry out the law effectively. We see no 

reason why a federal court should not retain the opportunity to review the 

underlying supportive facts as well as the decision rendered by the Postal 

Service. 

Conclusion 

While DMMA endorses the spirit and intention of S. 1407, it cannot fully 

agree with its letter. DMMA recommends that changes be made to the Bill in 

accordance with the above comments and the questions raised by them. 

Specifically, DMMA recommends that S. 1407 be amended to provide the 

following: 

1. The subpoena power under the new section §413 arXFbhe.~ 

to demand goods and services under the new secticn §30dS'be 

subject to more preCise de~~~itions, procedures and safe

guards. 

2. The elimination of provisions under which a failure to submit 

to a Postal Service subpoena or demand constitute "probable 

cause" to helieve that the false representation laws have 

been violated. Federal courts should have the authority to 

enforce a subpoena or demand. 
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3. If the cease and desist authority were demonstrated to be 

necessary, such orders should apply only to the use of the 

. mail. S. 1407 extends the authority to the use of "any 

instrumentality of interstate commerce." 

4. Civil penalties should be assessed by a federal court and 

not unilaterally by the Postal Service. 

5. Full review authority of the facts as well as the law should 

remain with a reviewing federal court with respect to assess-

ment of pehalties. 

Association representatives would be pleased to work with staff in an effort 

to overcome some of the difficulties DMMA has with the Bill in order to arrive 

at suitable language. 

Respectfully submitted, 

DIRECT MAIL/MARKETING ASSOCIATION 

.BY~~ 
Richard A.i3ar1;on 
Vice President 

Government Affairs 
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T he Direct MaillMarketing Association's 
Guidelines for Ethical Business Prac
tices are intended to provide individu

als and organizations involved in direct mail and 
direct marketing with principles of conduct that 
are generally accepted nationally and interna
tionally. These Guidelines .eflect DMMA's 
long-standing policy of high levels of ethics and 
the responsibility of the Association and direct 
marketers to the consumer and the community 
-a relationship that must be based on fair and 
ethical principles. 

W hat distinguishes the Guidelines, 
. which are self-regulatory in na

ture, is tha t all are urged to sup
port them in spirit and not to treat their provi
sions as obstacles to be circumvented by legal 
ingenuity. The Guidelines are intended to be 
honored in the light of their aims and principles. 

T hese Guidelines are also part of the 
DMMA's general philosophy that 

- self-regulatory measures are prefera
ble to governmental mandates whenever pos
sible. Self-regulatory actions are more readily 
adaptable to changing techniques, economic 
and social conditions, and they encourage 
widespread use of sound business practices. 

ecause it is believed that dishonest, 
misleading, immoral, salacious or of
fensiv(;: communications make 

enemies for all advertising/marketing including 
direct response marketing, observance of these 
Guidelines by all concerned is recommended. 
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The Terms 
of the 

5 

Offer __________ __ 
Honesty 
Article #1 
All offers should be clear, honest and com
plete so that the consumer may know the 
exact nature of wha t is being offered, the 
price, the terms of payment (including all 
extra charges), and the commitment involved 
in the placing of an order. Before publication 
of an offer, direct marketers should be pre
pared to substantiate any claims or offers 
made. Advertisements or specific clqims 
which are untrue, misleading, deceptive, 
fraudulent or unjustly disparaging of com
petitors should not be used. 

CIaritt) 
Article #2 
A simple statement of all the essential points of 
the offer should be clearly displayed in the pro
motional material. When an offer illustrates 
goods which are not included or cost extra, 
these facts should be made clear. 

Print Size 
Article #3 
Print which by its ;:;mall size, placement or 
other visual characteristics is likely to substan
tially affect the legibility of the offer, or excep
tions to it should not be used. 

Actual Conditions 
Article #4 
All descriptions and promises should be in ac
cordance with actual conditions, situations and 
circumstances existing at the time of the promo
tion. Claims regarding any limitations (such as 
time or quantity) should be legitimate. 

Disparagement 
Article #5 
Disparagement of any person or group on 
grounds of race, color, religilln, national origin, 
sex, marital status or age is unacceptable. 
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Standards 
Article #6 
Solicitations should not contain vulgar im
moral, profane, or offensive matter nor prdmote 
the sale of pornographic material or other matter 
not acceptable for. advertising on moral 
grounds. 

Advertising to Children 
Article #7 
Offers suitable for adults only should not be 
made to children. 

Photographs and Art Work 
Article #8 
Photographs, illustrations, artwork and the 
situations they represent, should b~ accurate 
portrayals and current reproductions of the 
~rodllct, service, or other subject in all par
ticulars. 

Sponsor and Intent 
Article #9 

All direct marketing contacts should disclose 
the name of the sponsor and each purpose of 
the contact. No one should make offers or 
solicitations in the guise of research or a sur
vey when the real intent is to sell products or 
services or to raise funds. 

Identity of Seller 
Article #10 
~ve~ offer and shipment should sufficiently 
I~entify the full name and street address of the 
direct marketer so that the' consumer may con~ 
tact the individual or company by mail or 
phone. 

Solicitation in the 
Guise of an Invoice 
Article #11 
~ffe:s that are likely 'to be mi~taken for bills or 
inVOICes should not be used. 

Postage and Handling Charges 
Article #12 
Postage or shipping charges and handling 
char&es, if any, should reflect as accurately as 
pracl1cable actual costs incurred. 
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. Specia I 
Offers _____ _ 

u.se . of the Word "Free" and other 
SImIlar Representations 
Article #13 
A product or service which is offered without 
cost or obligation to the recipient may be unqual
ifiedly described as "free", 

If a ~roduct or service is offered as "free", for a 
nominal cost .or at a gr~atly reduced price and 
the offer reqUIres the reCipient to purchase some 
~ther product or service, all terms and condi
tions shoul? be clearly and conspicuously dis
closed and In close conjunction with the use of 
the term "free" or other similar phrase. 

When, the term "free" or other similar repre
se~tations are made (for example, 2-for-1, half 
pnce. or 1-cent offers), the product or service,. 
required to be purchased should not be in-' 
~~~sed in price or decreased in quality or quan-

Ne¥ative Option Selling 
Article #14 
All direct m?rketers should comply with the 
FTC regulation governing Negative Option 
Plans. Some of the major requirements of this 
regulation are listed below: 

Off~rs which require the consumer to return a 
nO.tice sent by the. seller ~e:ore each periodic 
shipment to, avo~d recelvmg merchandise 
should Con tam all Important conditions of the 
plan including: , 
a. A full description of the obligation to 

purchase a. minimum number of items 
and all the charges involved and, 

b. the procedures by which the consumer' 
receives the announcements of selecti'orts 
and a statement of their frequency· how 
the consumer rejects unwanted items 
an~ h~w to cancel after completing the 
obhgation, 
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Negative Option Selling (Continued) 

The consumer should be given advance 
notice of the periodic selection so that 
the consumer may have a minimur.l of 
ten days to exercise a timely choice, 

Because of the nature of this kind of 
offer, special attention should be given to 
the clarity, completeness and prominent 
placement of the terms in the initial of
fering. 

Szvee.Pstakes } 
Article #15 J 
All direct ~ar~eters should abide by the 
DMMA GUldehnes for Self-Regulation of 
Sweepstakes Promotions. Articles #16 
through #18 (below) contain the basic pre
cepts of these Guidelines, 

Clear and Conspicuous 
Disclosure of Rules 
Article #16 
~1I terms 'and conditions of the sweepstakes, 
mcluding entry procedures, the number and 

. tyl?es of prizes, the closing dates, eligibility re
qUirements, and the fact that no purchase is 
required should be disclosed in a clear and con
spicuous manner in the promotion. 

Devices, check boxes, reply envelopes and the 
like used for entering the sweepstakes only 
should be as conspicuous as those utilized for 
ordering the product or service and entering the 
sweepstakes. ) 

Prizes I 
Article #17 
All prizes advertised should be awarded. Win
ners should be selected in a manner that ensures 
fair application of the laws of chance. 

Chances of Winning 
Article #18 
No sweepstakes promotion, or any of its parts, 
should state or imply that a recipient has won a 
prize or overstate the chances of Winning, 
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Price Comparisons· 
Article #19 
Price comparisons may be marie in two ways: 

a. between one's price and a former, future or 
suggested price or !I 

b. between one's price and tile price of a com-
petitor's comparable proc{utt, 

In ~ll price comparisons, the;' compared price 
against which the comparison 1s made must be 
fair and accurate. 

I'n each case of comparison to a former, 
supgested or c?mpetitor's comparable product 
pnce, substantial sales should have been made 
at that price in the recent past. 

For comparisons with a future price, there 
should be a reasonable expectation that the fu
ture pr:e will be charged in the foreseeable fu
ture. 

Guarantees 
Article #20 
If a product or service is oi; ... red with ~ "guaran
tee" or a "warranty", the terms and conditions 
should either be set forth in full in the promo
tion, or the promotion should state how the 
consumer may obtain a copy. The guarantee 
should clearly state the name and address of the 
guarantor and the duration of the guarantee. 

Any requests for repair, replacement or refund 
under the terms of a "guarantee" or "warranty" 
should be honored promptly. In an unqualified 
offer ~f refund, repair or replacement, the cus
tomer s preference shall prevail. 

Special 
Claims __________ __ 
Use of Test or Survey Data 
Article #21 
All test or survey data referred to in advertising 
should be competent and reliable as to source 
and methodology, and should support the spe
cific claim for which it is cited. Advertising 
claims should not distort the test or survey re
sults nor take them out of context. 



Testimonials and Endorsements 
Article #22 
Testimonials and endorsements should be 
used only if they are: 

a. Authorized by the pers~>n quoted, 
b. Genuine and related to the experience of 

the person giving them .and 
c. Not taken out of context so as to distort 

the endorser's opinion or experience 
with the product. 

The 
Product ___________ _ 

Product Safety 
Article #23 
Products should be safe in normal use and be 
free of defects likely to cause injury. To that end, 
they should meet or exceed current, recognized 
health and safety norms and be adequately 
tested, where applicable. Information provided 
with the product should include proper direc
tions for use and full instructions covering as
sembly and safety warnings, whenever neces
sary. 

Product Distribution Safety 
Article #24 
Products should be distributed only in a manner 
that will provide reasonable safeguards against 
possibilities of injury. 

Product AvailabilihJ 
Article #25 
Direct marketers should only offer merchandise 
when it is on hand or when there is a reasonable 
expectation .of its receipt. 

Direct marketers should not engage in dry test
ing unless the special nature of that offer is dis
closed in the promotion. 
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Fulfillment ___ _ 

Unordered Merchandise 
Article #26 
Merchandise should not be shipped without 
having first received a customer's permission. 
The exceptions are samples or gifts clearly 
marked as such, and merchandise mailed by a 
charitable organization soliciting contributions, 
as long as all items are sent with a clear and 
conspicuous statement informing the recipient 
of an un1ualified right to treat the product as a 
gift and to do with it as the recipient sees fit, at 
no cost or obligation to the recipient. 

Shipments 
Article #27 
Direct marketers are reminded that they should 
abide by the FTC regulation regarding the 
prompt shipment of prepaid merchandise, the 
Mail Order Merchandise (30 Pay) Rule. 

Beyond this regulation, direct marketers are 
urged to ship alI orders as soon as possible. 

Credit and 
Debt Collection 

Equal Credit Opportunity 
Article #28 . 
A creditor should not discriminate on the basis 
of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, 
marital status or age. If the individual is rejected 
for credit, the creditor should be prepared to 
give reasons why. 

Debt Collection 
Article #29 
Unfair, misleading, deceptive or abusive 
methods should not be used for collecting 
money. The direct marketer should take reason
able steps to assure that those collecting on the 
direct marketer's behalf comply with this 
guideline. 
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Use of 
Mailing Lists ___ _ 

List Rental Practices 
Article #30 
Every list owner who sells, exchanges, or rents 
lists should see to it that each individual on the 
list is informed of those practices, and should 
offer an option to have the individual's name 
deleted when rentals or purcha~es are made. 
The list owner should remove names from the 
owner's customer or donor lists when requested 
directly by the individual, and by use of the 
DMMA Mail Preference Service name removal 
list. 

List brokers and compilers should take reason
able steps to assure that the list owners follow 
these list practices. 

Personal Infonnation 
Article #31 
All list owners, brokers and compilers should be 
protective of the consumer's right to privacy ~nd 
sensitive to the information colIected on lIsts 
and· subsequently considered for transfer. 

Information supplied by consumers such as, but 
not limited to, medical, financial, insurance or 
court data should not be included on lists that 
are rented or exchanged when there is a reason
able expectation by the consu.mer ~hat the in
formation would be kept confidential. 

List Usage Agreements 
Article #32 
List owners, brokers, compilers and users 
should make every attempt to establi1lh the exact 
nature of the list's intended usage prior to the 
sale or rental of the list. Owners, brokers and 
compilers should not permit the sale or rental of 
their lists for an offer that is in violation of any of 
the Ethical Guidelines of DMMA. Promotions 
should be directed to those segments of the 
public most likely to be interested in their causes 
or to have a use for their products or services. 

98-546 0-82--7 
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. List Abuse 
Article #33 
No list or list data should be used in violation of 
the lawful rights of the list owner nor of the 
agreement between the parties; any such mis
use should be brought to the attention of the 
lawful owner. 

Telephone Marketing_ 

(See Articles #9 and #27) 
Reasonable Hours 
Article #34 
All telephone contacts should be made during 
reasonable hours. 

Disclosure and Tactics 
4rticle #35 
All telephone solicitations should disclose to the 
buyer during the conversation the cost of the 
merchandise, all terms, conditions and the 
payment plan and whether there will be postage 
and handling charges. At no time should "high 
pressure" tactics be utilized. 

Use of Automatic 
Electronic Equipment 
Article #36 
No telephone marketer should solicit sales 
using automatic electronic dialing equipment 
unless the telephone immediately disconnects 
when the called person hangs up. 

Taping of Conversation 
Article #37. 
Taping of telephone conversations should not 
be conducted wi thou t notice to the person called 
and that person's consent, as well as the use of a 
beeping device. 



Telephone Name Removal! 
Restricted Contacts 
Article #38 - . 
Telephone marketers should remove the name 
of any contact from their telephone lists when 
requested to do so, 

Telep~one marketers should not call telephone 
subscnbers who have unlisted or unpublished 
tel,ephone numbers unless a prior relationship 
eXists, 

Fund 
Raising~ ____ _ 

(See Article #26) 
Commission Prohibition! 
Au~henticity of Organization 
Article #39 
Fund ,ra~sers should make no percentage or 
co~mlsslO~ ~rrangements whereby any person 
?r fIrm, a7sls~ng or participating in a fund rais
Ing activ!ty IS paid a fee proportionate to the 
fund~ raised, nor should they solicit for non
functioning organizations, 

Laws, Codes, 
and Regulations __ 
Article #40 
D~rect marketers should operate in accordance 
with t~~ Better Business Bureau's Code of 
Advertising and be cognizant of and adhere 
to laws and regulations of the United States 
~ostal Service, the Federal Trade Commis
slOn~ the Federal Reserve Board, and other 
ap~hcable Fe~e:al, state ax;d local laws gov
errung adver,tisIng, marketing practices, and 
the transactIOn of business by mail, tele
phone, and the print and broadcast media, 

94 

DMNIA Ethics 
Department 

In it~ contin,uing efforts to improve the public 
~onfIdence In direct mail and direct market
IEngh~ DMMA sponsQrs several activities in its 

tiCS Department. 

Eth,ica~ Guid~lines are maintained, updated 
penodlcally and distributed to the field, 

A C?mmittee on Ethical Business Practices 
morutors the mails and direct offerings to the 

br
consumer. and investigates complaints 

ought to ItS attention, 

An Ethics Policy Committee initiates ro -
gra~s an~ pro~ects directed toward im r~v(;)d 
ethical activity In the direct marketi p '. ng area, 
MOAL (~ail Order Action Line) handles Con
sumer mall order complaints and MPS (M 'I 
Pr~{erence Service) offers mail flow reducti~~ 
or Increased specialized mail to consumers, 

A~I ethics activities are directed by a full-time 
Director of Ethical Practices, 

For addit~onal in/onnation or to report 
questIonable practices contact: 

~ohn M. Cavanaugh 
Director, Ethical Practices 

Revised 3110181 
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Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much, Mr. Barton. 
You told us you would prefer the language in the law governing 

the FTC's subpena authority to the language in Senate bill 1407. 
Can you tell us what you feel are the essential differences and how 
the language in S. 1407 could lead to the legal skirmishes you 
warned us were a possibility? 

Mr. BARTON. There is very little specific~lly written into S. 1407 
on subpena power right now. The Postal Service can issue a sub
pena virtually for almost any reason if they have reason to believe 
there are false representations. The Senate bill did add an improve
ment by requiring t;he Postal Service, before it exercises its sub
pena authority, toh\ublish rules and regulations in the Federal 
Register for notice and comment, giving any interested party an 
opportunity to work with the Postal Service to develop more clear 
rules in the issuing of subpenas. 

-It is Quite conceivable the rules that the Postal Service itself de
velops could look a lot like the Federal Trade Commission rules, 
and that would be fine with us. But we would rather have that 
written into the law because we think that provides ,more safe
guards and narrows the scope of the subpena authority but still 
gives the Postal Service a very good opportunity to do what they 
need to do. 

,Mr. LELAND. You said that the civil pem~lties suggested in the 
bill are somewhat steep. What do you think would be a more ap
propriate penalty? 

Mr. BARTON. I hesitate-[laughter]. We were discussing this yes
terday in the office and I can't really say that $1,000 is better than 
$10,000. I think you could probably talk about something in the 
range of $1,000 to $5,000. I think it would be less frightening to le
gitimate mailers. 

Mr. GITLITZ. These penalties are based on a daily penalty for a 
violation. . 

Mr. LELAND. OK. 
Can you give us an explanation of why you think S. 1407 should 

apply only to the mail and not to any instrumentality of interstate 
commerce? 

Mr. BARTON. We all love the Postal Service and think it's a won
derful institution. But, as a matter of fact, I think just from a legal 
viewpoint a very serious question arises as to whether the Postal 
Service's police authority, which is already very broad with mail 
fraud statutes as they stand, should in fact apply to anything out
side the mail. It is just sort of a basic, I guess, civil liberty stand on 
the part of the association. I think we would say the same thing 
about the Department of Agriculture. We wouldn't want the In
spector General in the Department of Agriculture investigating the 
mail. 

On the other hand, I think you should be really very seriously 
interested with the fact that the Postal Service could go in and, for 
example, move against a company because it was using television 
and telephones. Other peorle ought to enforce that. We really don't 
believe the Postal Service s authority should extend beyond postal 
matters. 

Mr. LELAND. You told us you cosponsored a consumer education 
program with the .Federal Tr~de Commission. Do you have any-
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thing similar with the Postal Service, or is anything similar being 
discussed or considered? . 

Mr. GITLITZ. That's a very good question, Mr. Ch.alrman. We 
have given some thought to that, but nothing has developed as ~et. 
But we have had some chats with them about. greater co.operatlOn 
in consumer education efforts that they are Interested In and so 
are we. . h 

You might be interested to know that thIS l?ro~ra~ we ~ve now 
undertaken with the Federal Trade CommIssIon. IS ~redlted ~y 
Chairman Jim Miller to have reduced apparently, Just In the brIef 
period of time it has been in place, abou.t 7 months, the volume of 
mail order complaints that they are gettIng. The firs~ qu~rter co~
plaints that the Federal Trade Commi~sion ,has receIved In 1982 IS 
about 25 percent less than they recewed ~n the first quarter of 
1981, a drop from about 6,OOO-plus co~pl~lDts to 4,OOO-plus c~m
plaints. We would like to undertake a slml1a.r consumer educatlOn 
program with the Postal Service as well. . 

Mr. LELAND. It is highly commendable. I w(;>uld !;tope t~at you 
would keep us informed about your future dlscusslOns wIth the 
Postal Service. 

Mr. GITLITZ. We will, Mr. Chairman. Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. An alternative to the bills b~fo~e us would be to 

create a formal Office of Inspector General WithIn the Po~tal Se~v
ice. It would be responsible for internal audit and .securIty! whIl~ 
the Justice Department would be primarily responsIble for Investi
gation of civil an~ criminal postal offenses. The Inspector ?eneral, 
as in other agencIes would also report regularly to the Congress. 

Can we have your ~omments on this, either of you or both? 
Mr. BARTON. We really haven't studied the issue and I w<?uld 

prefer to go back to our lawyers an~ to our Government RelatIOns 
Committee to take a careful look at It. . ' 

Again, without even criticizing the Postal ServIce,. I thInk. th~y 
have used the authority very well. The Postal InspectlOn ServICe IS, 
I think, the largest Federal police force we have, or at le~st ~he 
second largest. I'm not sure how it compares to ~he FBI. 1 thInk 
just the simple provision of Inspectors General In other depart
ments having to report to Congress probably would be a pretty 
good thing. 

I am not really clear about the diff~rences other th~n tha~. I 
think we could probably study that a lIttle more and give you a 
more formal opinion than that. ., 

Mr. LELAND. If you will, I certainly would appreclat~, 'Yithout 
any objection, that you would comment by letter on thIs Issue. I 
would really appreciate that. 

Mr. BARTON. I woul? ~e glad to. I • 1 
Mr. LELAND. Mr. Glthtz, I understand that you have an alrp.:.ane 

to catch, too. 
Mr. GITLITZ. Yes, I do, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. BARTON. Everybody is lefl;ving. town. [Laughter.]. 
Mr. LELAND. Well, with what s gOIng on here today In Congress, I 

would suggest that everybody do leave town, maybe even the coun-

tr~r. BARTON. Well, I'm going to Roanoke tomorrow to try to pull 
the fat out of the fire. 
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Mr. LELAND. I thank both of you for coming to participate today. 
Mr. GITLITZ. Thank you very much. 
Mr. LELAND. I would like to ask our next panel to come forward, 

if you will. MI'. Art Sackler, general counsel for the National News
paper Association; Mr. Stephen Jones, director, Industry Standards 
Division, Council of Better Business Bureaus; and Mr. John Mar
aney, president, National Star Route Mail Carriers Association. 

I thank you gentlemen for joining us and for your participation 
today. Mr. Sackler, will you proceed. first, please? 

STATEMENTS OF ARTHUR B. SACKLER, GENERAL COUNSEL, NA
TIONAL NEWSPAPER ASSOCIATION; STEPHEN JONES, DIREC
TOR, INDUSTRY STANDARDS DIVISION,. COUNCIL OF BETTER 
BUSINESS BUREAUS, INC.; AND JOHN MARANEY, EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR, NATIONAL STAR ROUTE MAIL CONTRACTORS ASSO
CIATION, ACCOMPANIED BY JOSEPH DETTMAR, LEGAL COUN
SEL TO THE ASSOCIATION 

Mr. SACKLER. Thank you, Mr. tJhairman. I would like to thank 
you for entering our statement in the record, and I will summarize 
briefly what we want to say. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much. 
Mr. SACKLER. The Inembers of the National Newspaper Associ

ation are as concerned as anyone with mail fraud and false repre
sentations through the mail. We cel ~ainly would wish to see great
er protection for those who are 01':" may be cheated or swindled, but 
we don't want to see it at the expense of any fundamental rights. 
We think that despite the good work done by Senator Pryor and 
his people on the Senate side, we think there is still some real po
tential for abuse under S. 1407 in terms of chilling first amend
ment rights, possibly some due process problems. 'We think the bill 
needs stronger safeguards so that the rights of all consumers, pur
veyors and advertisers and third parties are all protected.. 

LeI; me give you a couple of specific suggestions. We are quite 
concerned from the third party aspect with the fact that there is 
no exclusion of third parties from the written demand procedure. 
We think that from our standpoint there is considerable potential 
for disruption, for expenditure of large sums of money dispropor
tionate to the resources of the, in our case, particular newspaper 
involved to try and combat any kind of demand that they think is 
unjustified. We would prefer to see a third p~n·ty exclusion in the 
statute rather than going through the administrative rules process. 

'Ne also think there has been a fair amount of discussion about 
the FTC-CID procedure as a model for the written demand. As far 
as the entire CID process goes, I'm not sure we're in a position to 
say whether that would be superior to what S. 1407 has or what 
the Postal Service ITtay come up with in terms of rules and regula
tions. But one particular aspect we think is quite beneficial in the 
FTC statute is the provision for quashing of demands at the admin
istrative level. We think that that or something like it is essential 
for due process, so that someone served with a demand has a 
chance to have it quashed before any damage is done, if it unlawful 
or issued on insufficient grounds, something like that. 

\·fl l~_~==---_-_----------~'~~iJ ~-----~.~-~""",,,,,-f-~"""~_'-,,-,,,-.'-" .' 
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We also would join with the Association of American Publishers 
and the Direct Mail Marketing Association in urging you to adopt 
some version of the "Mirror Image Doctrine," and we also would 
like to see some kind of third party protection for newspapers and 
others who would not be considered to be agents or representatives 
of advertisers if the advertiser of a particular type of product or 
scheme or what have you the Postal Service may be investigating 
simply says to return requests for that product or service to a box 
at a newspaper or another pUblication. We would like to see that 
specifically not to be a representative or an agent because that is 
an innocent involvement. 

We also have some concern with the followup to the cease and 
desist order, where any resumption through any instrumentality of 
interstate commerce would be considered resumption of the prac
tice. We think that this is an expansion of the Postal Service juris
diction that we are not sure is appropriate. We think it is more ap
propriate to involve the Department of Justice or the Federal 
Trade Commission when you're cutting across all instrumentalities 
of interstate commerce. 

That's about it in terms of summarizing our comments. I would 
be glad to answer a~y questions you might have. 

Thank you. 
[The statement of Mr. Sackler follows:] 
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STAT.EM:Nr OF 

ARl'Hl.lR B. SACKLER 

GENERAL OOUNSEL 

NATIOOAL NEWSPAPER. ASSOCIATIOO' 

Good tIDnU.ng, Mt'. Chairman. The National Newspaper Association appreciates 

this opportunity to testify on the Postal Service Amendments of 1981, S. 1407 

and H.R. 3973. Inasmuch as you have a~ed that a version of S. 1407 will be 

:introduced in the House, our ccmmnts will focus on that bill. My name is Arthur 

B. Sackler and I am General Counsel to the Association. 

As you know, NNA. is a non-profit trade association representing nearly 

5500 weekly and daily ccmm.tnity newspapers located throughout the United 

States. Mt'. Chairman, the members of NNA. share the concern of HaIDers of Congress 

and American citizens across the nation over schanes that defraud or mislead 

many who are not perpetually skeptical. cheating nunerous people. particularly 

the vulnerable elderly. of frequently their lives' savings. Therefore, we 

believe that those who would "con" should and lDlSt be stopped. We applaud the 

Postal Inspection Service for the job it has done up until now canbatting those 

engaging :in such unscrupulous practices. We also note. however, tha~ the vast 

majority of those advertising and generally conducting mail order bus:inesses 

~e legitimate and honest. They neither defraud nor intentionally mislead con-

sumers. 

NNA. is particularly aware of the problems flCM.ing fran these schemes. Al,l 

too frequently our members are faced with the question of whether to accept 

advertisements for enterprises or goods that are of dubious quality 01= efficacy, 

if not apparently fraudulent. While recognizing that they have no legal liability 

for such ads, our members typically feel a high degree of responsibility to their 

CC111l1ln:i.ties and take it upon themselves to evaluate such ads before exercising 

their absolute right to accept or rej ect than. Such evaluaticn usually takes 

the form of an inquiry to an appropriate office of a State, such as the Secreeary 

of State or the Attorney General, or to the local Better Bus:iness Bureau. Of 
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course, because many of our mailers mail so heavily, they have long been cog

nizant of the Postal Service I s central role in dealing with :infonnation, 

:including advertisem:nts, concerning fraUdulent or intent.ioruilly rirLsleacling 

schems. NNA certainly does not oppos~ the concept of strengthening the 

ability of the Postal Inspection Service to deal with fraudulent or -operUy 

misleading schemes. We do, however, have some problens with the legislation 

as drafted. These problens all revolve around the belief that there IlIlSt be 

an adequate system of checks upon the authority conferred to prevent abuses 

of basic constitutional rights, including due process and First Amendment. 

Our first problem is that we do not see in S. 1407 any dist:inct.i.on between 

those under investigation and third parties. We believe that newspapers and 

other periodical publications, as well as others, should be specifically ex

cluded frem being subject to investigative denands when they are third parties 

to any scheme, enterprise, operation, etc., under investigation by the Postal 

Service. We note the lar.::,>uage at page 5 of the Ser.;3.te r~ on S. lll07 (No. 

97-392) that the Postal Service "contemplates proposing rules ... which w:mld 

differentiate. . . between. . . targets of investigations and third parties. II 

'This goes in the right direction, but the language is nonspecific and does 

not necessarily cormote an exclusion. . We believe SCIDe ~licit statutory dir

e:::tion in this area is necessary. 

NNA nenber newspapers deal with large !II.lIl'bers of advertisements in each 

i.ssue that they publish. Chief Postal Inspector Kenneth H. Fletcher testified 

last October before the Sa1ate Goverrnoontal Affairs Subcc:mnitt'.e on Civil 

Service, Post Office, and General Services that the Inspection Service re

ceived rore than 200,000 canplaints of mail fraud yearly and, just in th~ 

I' 
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period from October 1980 to June 1981, initiated 2100 mail fraud investigations. 

With that level of alleged incidence, the large numbers of advertisements for 

enterprises or goods later showed to be fraudulent or misleading which find 

their way into newspapers despite screening, and the resulting severe work-

load problens for the Inspection Service, we believe that there is a 

significant potential for use of the investigative demand authority provided 

in section 2 (a) of S. 1407 in a way that will create shortcuts. The mst 

obvious shortcut is to demand to see the records of newspapers or other per

iodical publications with respect to any such enterprise or good under 

investigation. 

While such. a shortcut is perhaps understandable frem the perspective of 

the Inspection Service, it would play havoc ~.ti.th newspapers which are made 

subj ect to the investigative denands. Disruption of work schedules and staff 

time expended in responding to potentially a number of these ea.ch year w:m1d 

not only handicap newspapers, especially the smaller ones represented by NNA, 

in trying to meet deadlines and,efficiently do their job, but it would also 

effectively impress those newspapers into service as an enforcem:nt ann of 

the Inspection Service. To a certa:in extent, investigative demands could in 

and of thenselves cast a "chill" upon publications by impeding their production 

process. 

We 'NOUld urge you, Mr. Chairman, to create an express exaIption for news

papers and other periodical publications from the scope of the demand authority. 

In this, you would be tracking the approach taken in current 39 U.S.C. §3007(b) 

and the new section 3012(a)(3). of title 39 as proposed at section 4(a) of S. 1407. 

This exclusion,in our view, VlOUld apply only when newspapers and other periodical 
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publications would be third parties to an investigation by the Inspection 

Service. It VIOUld not apply if such publications were themselves directly 

implicated in arrJ allegedly fraudulent or misleading sc1'l.elm. 

In the alternative, we would urge you to follow the examples of nUIDerOUS 

coutts which have had to decide! whether to enforce subpoenas against news-

papers as third partie.co in civil litigation. Virt1,Jally fNer'J court has held 

that a three-part test must be applied to determine whether a subpoena will 

be enforted. Those seek:!ng enforcement must dem:mstrate to the court that 

the infonnation they are seeking is relevant to their case, that all alter-

native sources of infonnation have been exhausted, and that there is a compelling 

need for the infonnation. Zerilli v. Smith, 31 F.R. Servo 2d 1572 (D.C. Cir. 1981) j 

Carey v. ~, 492 F. 2d (D.C. Cir.), ~. dismissed, 412 U.S. 938 (1974) j 

Riley v. City of Chester, 612 F. 2d 708 (3d Cir. 1979) j Silkwood v. Kerr-McGee 

f2EE.., 563 F. 2d 533 (10th Cir. 1978): Cervantes v. Tima ·Inc .• 464 F. 2d 986 

(8th Cir. 1972). See also Dem:Jcratic National Coomittee v. McCord 356 F. Supp. 

l394 (D. D. C. 1973) j Gulliver's Periodicals Limited v. Charles Levy Circulating 

Company. 455 F. Supp. 1197 (N.D. Ill. 1978) j and Altaoose Constr'.lCtion Company 

v. Building and Construction Trades Council of Philadelphia. 443 F. Supp. 49 (E.D. 

Pa.~.19m). As a second choice, this test should be expressly included in 

new section 413 (a) of title 39 as proposed at Section 2 (a) of S. 1407. 

Another concern NN..I\ has with the investigative demand section is that 

there is no express authority for the parties served to lIXWe to have the demand 

quashed at the administrative level. Since the Postal Service under this 

section will in all probability be obtaining the written demands on an ~ £.arte 

basis. sane method to check its authority must be provided. This will help 
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prevent any abuses of this process, either inadvertent or intentional by 

Postal Service personnel. The power to issue such demands is a potent one 

and constitutes a grave intrusion into the affairs of those businesses and 

individuals upon whcm it is served. When one is issued on insufficient or 

unlawful grounds, due process would demand that some way be provided to rec

tify the situation before there is any damage to the party served. Providing 

an opportunity to quash would seem the appropriate a:nswer. 

We believe that the civil investigative demand authority granted for the 

Federal Trade Cannission at 15 U.S.C. §57(b)-1 provides a pertinent exan:ple 

of the appropriate balance of authority. Subsection (f) sets up a procedure 

for quashing of C.I.D. 's by the Coomission itself. Our preference. of course. 

would be t:o have such direction included in::the statute similar to that 

provided to the Fl'C. P....wever, it may be sufficient to explicitly note in 

report language that the Postal Service is expected to include such an op

portunity in the regulations it will prarulgate to implem:nt this section .. 

Perhaps to prevent arrJ change :in the situation pending resolution of Br).Y mtion 

to quash, sane authority could be granted to temporarily prohibit the destruction 

or concealment of any records or infonnation sought under the demand. 

On a mre general level, we would urge that the so-called ''Mirror Image 

Doctrine," 36 F.R. 13, 414 (1971), devised and adopted by the Federal Trade 

Camrl.ssion, be made part of S. 1407. Advertising. whether through the mails 

or otherwise, enjoys significant protection under the First .A!renclroent. See, 

~., Bigelow v. Virginia, 421 U.S. 809 (1975); Virginia State Pharmacy v. 

Virginia Citizens Consumer Council, 425 U.S. 748 (1976) j Bates v. State Bar 

of Arizona. 433 U.S. 350 (1979) j Central Hudson Gas and Electric Corporation 

v. Public Service Coami.ssion of New York, 477 U.S. 557 (1980); and In Re R.M.J . 
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50 U.S.L.W. 4185, __ U.S. __ (1982). These cases have stood for the 

proposition that cannercial speech cannot be restrained except if it,~ is 

clearly unlawful or misleading. A problem arises when the case is of a 

borderline nature; the underlying activity is neither clearly lzwful nor 

unlawful and the advertising thereof is but a faithful reflection of that 

activity. In such cases, the Mirror Image Doctrine strikes, as the Senate 

report on S. 1407 states (p. 8), a reasonable balance between protecting 

the rights of consurers and of advertisers. 

Again, we are pleased to note that the Postal Service advised the Senate 

subccmni.ttee that in practice it confonned to the Mirror Image Doctrine 

and would continue to do so (Sp..e Report No. 97-392 at 8). However, we 

believe that the rights at stake are of such a magnitude that explicit 

statutory direction is necessary here, too. A Mirror Image-type prescription 

would ensure that First P.mendment rights, as ~'ell as those of consumers, 'WOUld 

be taken into account in every situation. 

Turning to the questions which form the foci of your consideration of S. 

1407, we have no specific information to offer with ~espect to question 1 

other than the general positicn of the trelIibers of the Association provided 

at the outset of this testinxmy. We have also exp~essed our concern with 

section 2 of S. 1407. 

With respect to your third qtlC;Stion, we believe that again sc:m: distinction 

mlSt be drawn between tbose who are subject to the orders, and those, such 

as newspapers, wt>ich are only third parties to the false or misleading claims 

about schemes. We also have a specific concern with section 3 and that is with 

proposed subsection (c)· 1 of Section 3005. We would simply want it clarified 

that when an advertiser under investigation by the Inspection Service has 

provided that payment may be made care of a box at the newspaper when the 

newspaper is not a knowing parti.cipant in the scheme, that that newspaper 
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(or other periodical publication) is not an agent or representative of the 

advertiser. 

We have no specific concerns with 1he civil penalties section, Section 

4 of S. 1407. 

We also have no problan with considering it a viola-don of a cease and 

desist order if there is a resumption of the activity through "any instru

mentality of interstate ~ce." It would seem a logical and necessary 

corollary of any cease and desist order. We 'WOUld raise the question, 

however, of whether it is appropriate to confer on the Postal Service 

coru:.1.lIOOr protection authority which exceeds the scope ~f its custanary 

and conventional jurisdiction. Perhaps it might be IOOre appropriate to 

expand the scope of the original cease and desist order through cooper

ation with either the Department of Justice or the Federal Trade Ccmni.ssion. 

Those agencies sean roore suitably equipped to deal with questions cutting 

across the breadth of interstate COIIIllerce. 

Mr. ChaiJ:man, thank you for considering our ccmDents. I will be happy 

to try and answer any questions you might have. 

j !I 
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Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much. 
You indicated that the language on page 5 of the ~enate report 

of S. 1407 goes in the right direction but is not sufficIent. Why do 
you believe that explicit statutory direction is necessary? 

Mr. SACKLER. Well, first of all, the language th:at is in ~he report 
is a little bit vague. It is not sufficiently and sp~clfically dlrected-I 
think that it is possible that rules and regulatIons that may come 
out of the process could be protective enough, but we t~ink that 
the rights involved here are important enough to ~equlre .s0ID;e 
kind of explicit statutory direction to have an exclUSIOn, WhICh IS 
what we would prefer. 

Mr. LELAND. Do you not believe that the Postal Service would 
propose that third parties be exempt? .. . 

Mr. SACKLER. Well, we think that they probably WIll. It IS saId 
that that's the case in the report. But we still think that guidance 
from the Congress, specific guidance, is necessary. 

Mr. LELAND. You expressed a fear that the Inspection Service 
would take short cuts in their investigations by demanding to see 
the records of newspapers. Is there anything in your past experi
ences or observations of the Postal Service that cause this concern? 

Mr. SACKLER. I have not had a chance really to see if anything 
specific from the Postal Service has happened of that nature, and I 
am not sure that it has. But it has happened in other contexts, par
ticularly in civil litigational contexts, and sometimes in ~he cri~i
nal context. What I am saying is not that the Postal SerVIce has, In 
fact, done this, but that the potential for it to happen would be 
there. 

Mr. LELAND. You said that investigative demands could cast a 
chill on publications by impeding their production proc~ss. ~an you 
explain further why you believe that and how you thInk It would 
happen? ... . 

Mr. SACKLER. Well, if the InspectIOn SerVIce were trYIng to Inves
tigate some fraudulent or allegedly fraudulent .operation that had 
advertised through a newspaper, and we!e tr~f1~g to tu~n ';lp. any 
kind of evidence whatsoever in terms of IdentifYIng the IndIVIdual 
or organization involved, in terms of trying to track them down or 
see what information might have been given to the newspaper, I 
think there is a possibility there that, rather than go~ng thro~gh 
some alternative way, directly trying to fit:ld out the InformatIOn 
about the individual, the newspaper, as has happened on numerous 
occasions in the civil context, could be levied with a demand to 
turn over whatever information it might have. 

If that is the case, particularly in the case of a sma.n operation, 
which is what is typically the type of newspaper that IS a member 
of the National Newspaper Association, you have got to devote an 
extraordinary amount of staff time t? try and dig up ,what~ver r~c
ords you might have, extraordinary In ter:r~s of what s avaIlable I? 
total staff. It might not be the same case WIth a larger news organ~
zation. And when you have a situation where the same person IS 
the editor and the advertising director, for example, and perhaps 
even the publisher, all rolled up into one, it is going to considerably 
disrupt the schedule. I think in that sense it impedes the produc
tion process. 

.. 
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. Mr. LE.LAND. To follow up on that, do you believe the free flow of 
InformatIOn would be impeded? 

Mr .. SACKLER. From the standpoint of disrupted schedules missed 
deadlInes and that kind of thing, yes, the potential for' that is there. 

Mr; LELA~D. Can. you just comment on what you believe about 
the bIll that IS pendIng in the Senate, on the first amendment prob
lems? 

Mr. SACKL~R. I think t~at was our primary concern, that there 
would b~ an Impact on beIng able to freely provide information as 
you put It. Ther~ would be some kind of impact on the production 
process from havIng to devote staff time! that kind of thing. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much. 
Mr .. Stephen Jones, director of the industry standards division 

Co.uncil of Better Business Bureaus. ' 

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN JONES 
Mr. JONES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I am Stephen Jones, director of the industry standards division 

of the Council of Better Business Bureaus. I appreciate your invita
tion to comment on our experience with the mail order problems of 
consumers. 

My . comments are based on the experiences of the National 
CounCIl of Better Business Bureaus and its 154 bureaus and 
branc~es around t~e country. 
. ~hIl~ the <;ouncil of Better Business Bureaus does not take a po

~It~on elth~r In Support of or opposition to this proposed legislation 
emg. consIdered. by this subcommittee, we are pleased to present 

our VIews o~ mall o~der problems in hopes that they will provide 
some useful Inf<?rmatIOn for your consideration. 
. O~e of the ,PI'lmary services of Better Business Bureaus is provid
I~g Info~matIOn to consumers and resolving problems they have 
WIth b~sInesses. In 1981 there were nearly 7 million inquiries and 
co~plaInts handle~ by BBB's across the country about a variety of 
bUSInesses, a?d thIS represented an increase of about 5 percent 
over the prevIOUS year. 

Doing business by mail has a long and proud history in this 
Aunt!y. Undoubtedly it serves the needs and desires of millions of 

merIcans for the .most part in a legitimate and fair way. Never
theless, . better bUSIness bureau experience has shown, from the 
standpOInt of consumers, that there are serious problems in this in
dustry, problems that, despite the best efforts of the better business 
b?reaus, .the U.S,. Postal Service and other law enforcement agen
CIes, perSIst year In and year out. 

In 1981, a~ in years past, complaints about mail order companies 
topped the .lIst of B~B complaint categories. Over 20 percent of all 
the complaInts receIved by better business Bureaus dealt with mail 
order. And to the total of over 76,000 mail order complaints can be 
ad~ed another 10,000-plus complaints about magazines ordered by mall. 
Th~ bulk of these complaints did not allege what is usually char

acterIzed as fraud or misrepresentation. Over 80 percent of them 

._~J ~j "-'-'---------------------------------~:a==:=~ __ ____.1i!...L_~ _______________ ._~ ______ _ 
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involved nondelivery, ,delivery delays, or problems with billings and 
refunds. 

To give a more realis~ic picture, here. is a sU?lmary of the t:ypes 
of complaints about mail order companIes receIved from AmerIcan 
consumers during 1981: 
Type of complaint: Percent 

Delivery-delay/damage....................................................................................... 59.3 
Credit/billing........................................................................................................... 16.1 
Failure to provide refund .......... :........................................................................... 12.0 
Unsatisfactory service 1 ......................................................................................... 7.1 
Product quality/performance............................................................................... 1.9 
Selling practices...................................................................................................... 1.5 
Advertising practices ............................................................................................. .7 
Guarantee/warranty.............................................................................................. .5 
Discontinued business............................................................................................ .5 
Unsatisfactory repair............................................................................................. .4 

1 Unrelated to repair. 

These findings are further buttressed by a study that we are now 
making with our new cOlnputer capah..1ity of the mail order prob
lems. Preliminary statistics gathered from 22 better business bu
reaus so far this year again show the large majority of mail order 
complaints, 71 percent of them, concerned late or nondelivery of or
dered merchandise. 

Now, I don't mean by these statistics to minimize the problem. 
Recently one better business bureau was receiving complaints on a 
mail order company in California at the rate of over 500 a month. 
Complainants were just not getting what they had ordered and the 
delays were very late, if at all. 

Not receiving an adequate response from the company, the better 
business bureau had no choice but to refer the complainants to the 
Federal Trade Commission, which is charged with enforcing regula
tions requiring timely delivery of mail order goods. But soon the 
BBB's started hearing again from complainants who had received 
form letters from the FTC telling them that it does not handle indi
vidual complaints and offering faint hope of eventual recovery of 
lost money if the FTC does decide to sue the company. Better busi
ness bureaus have had similar experiences with at least three 
other west coast mail order firms this year. 

This recitation is not meant to suggest there are not problems of 
outright fraud and misrepresentation through the mails. Rather, 
we are suggesting that the problem encompasses more than fraud, 
and therefore the solution should relate to more than mail fraud. 

Certainly mail fraud through the mails is a serious problem, and 
hard economic conditions seem to spawn more unscrupulous 
schemes designed to take money frorn those who can least afford to 
lose it. 

In 1980 the better business bureau completed a study of what are 
commonly called work at home schemes. These plans are usually 
advertised in magazines and newspapers. They promise hundreds 
of dollars a month for only a few hours of work a week at home, 
stuffing envelopes or engaged in some similar activity. 

The study of 55 such promotions showed not one actually offered 
employment. They were mostly lures to s~ll infQrmation on ho~ to 
set up one's own business, or to conduct the same scheme Lhat 
bilked the consumer in the first place. ThoEle who answered the ads 
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aJmost always had to put up their own money for more informa
tIon/ envelopes, stamps and placing their own advertising. The 
cJ:1ances of making money from participation in these schemes were 
nIl. 

While individual losses are not great by some standards, the ag
gregate losses a~e huge. The Postal Service recently charged that 
four men runnIng several envelope-stuffing schemes had taken 
over $650,000 from more than 50,000 victims. Moreover, those who 
are prey to these promotions are generally on fixed incomes or are 
out of work and can ill afford to throw money away. 

Better business bureaus did make considerable efforts to publi
cize the results of our study of these work-at-home schemes. We 
sent bulletins to the media warning them of what to look out for in 
these promotions, and each of the 154 bureaus made efforts on 
their own to alert the public to the danger of these schemes. Per
haps as a result of this effort and the aggressive actions of the 
Postal~ervice, our 1981 statistics show a 50-percent reduction in 
complaInts about work-at-home schemes. It is below the 1980 level 
which was a record level. ' 

Another example of fraud that is tailored to fit hard times in
volyes companies that advertise bogus offers of jobs, and even relo
catIOn expenses. But after the jobseeker has sent a fee for "process
ing" or some other type of activity, they deliver little or nothing. 
Th~ Dallas Be~te~ Bu~iness Bureau, for example, received com
plaInts from MIchIgan Jobseekers who had sent resumes and fees to 
a Plano, Tex., job service and never did hear from it. Mail subse
quently sent by the better business bureau to the company was re
turned marked "moved-left no address." 

Small businesses are also prey to this. Companies advertise 
themselves as loan brokers and require advance fees for loans sup
posedl:y from $50,000 to a million dollars. They have promised re
funds If the loans are not forthcoming. After giving the money to 
one such company, a Texas consumer trying to borrow money to 
buy a dairy farm became uneasy, called both Dallas and the 
Omaha offices of the loan broker, and found the phones were dis
connected and the people had disappeared. 

The Detroit Better Business Bureau has unearthed another mail 
, offer aime~ at tho~sa~d~ of unemployed auto workers. The compa

ny advertIsed for IndIvIduals to assemble at home prefabricated 
auto parts, supposedly for a Japanese auto manufacturer. There 
was a $21 fee for an interview. The Japanese auto maker when 
contact~d, disc~aime~ any knowl~dge of the company or th~ plan. 

O:r;te I.n~erestlng P?Int a~out thIS last example is that apparently 
the IndIvIdual runnIng thIS so-caned employment service was also 
known to have operated an envelope-stuffing scheme. This is not 
unusual. No one who has worked for a better business bureau for 
an~ length ?f time has not been frustrated by the repeated resur
facIng of sWIndlers thought to be put out of business. No sooner is a 
Postal Service stop orde.r issued against a promotion for a hair 
g~ower or some other mIracle cure than a new offer of a slightly 
dIfferent pr~duct, from a, new .. post <?ffice, appea.rs, bearing the signs 
of the prevIOUS p.romotl()n. ~xperlenced BBB personnel and, no 
doubt, Postal ServIce employees, can often tell who is behind a pro-
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motion merely by the typeface used in the ads or the style of the 
copy. 

As I stated earlier, better business bureaus handle tens of thou
sands of complaints dealing with mail order every year. But over 
70 percent of these are resolved. The better business bureau is not 
a D"overnment agency; it cannot prosecute criminals. Our high suc
ce~s rate in resolving consumer complaints is evidence that most of 
the companies we receive complaints about are honest, conscien
tious, and anxious to have good customer relations by correcting 
any mistakes they have made. 

When I once asked a hardware salesman if the padlock he was 
selling me was thief proof, he told me that no lock was completelx 
safe because "locks are made to protect you from honest people. ' 
The'same is true for the role of the better business bureau. When 
we get evidence of fraud or misrepresentation, we must and do 
work closely with Postal Service inspectors and other law enforce
ment people, with whom we have had excellent relations over the 
years. Our national advertising division, which hears challenges to 
the truth and accuracy of advertising on a national scale, regularly 
refers to the Postal Service advertising for clearly worthless prod
ucts, such as miracle weight reduction pills and body developers, 
knowing from experience that the sellers of these bogus goods are. 
not amenable to self-regulation. When we find evidence that the 
same principals who have been stopped in one phony scheme have 
moved on to another, we turn it over to the postal inspectors, who 
have been efficient, professional, and cooperative. We believe they 
should be given every reasonable opportunity to stop fraud more 
expeditiously than they can now. 

One final point. During 1981 better business bureaus received in
quiries about mail order offers from 147,000 consumers. Many of 
the problems consumers do have with mail order, or with any 
other type of business for that matter, could easily be avoided by 
calling the BBB before doing business. 

Thank you again for the opportunity to be here. Please be as
sured of our full cooperation. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much, Mr. Jones. 
In our first hearing we had several witnesses who were victims 

of mail fraud. One of them told us she had contacted the better 
business bureau in her area before doing business with a firm that 
turned out to be fraudulent. 

Can you explain to us how a situation like that can occur and if 
there is anything that can be done to prevent it? 

Mr. JONES. Well, better business bureaus develop information as 
a result of inquiries or their own investigations. 'It may have hap
pened that we had received no complaints and had no notice that 
the company that was fraudulent was, indeed, engaged in an oper
ation like that. 

We do have limited resources; yet we try very hard to keep on 
top of these matters. I don't know how one could avoid, on occa
sion, there being scams or schemes that avoid our notice. The 
people move in and out of different things very quickly and we 
have to be very conscious of our liability to suit from people who 
are wrongly identified as being a particularly bad business. But we 
try very hard to keep on top of this thing. 
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Mr. LELAND. You told us you believe postal inspectors should be 
given every reasonable opportunity to stop fraud more expeditious
ly than they do now. Are you saying the present situation is inad
equate? 

Mr. JONES. I think we believe that, because of the repeated resur
facing of people after mail stop orders, that there does seem to be a 
problem, that recidivist mail order fraud people are not stopped as 
well as we think they should be. 

We are not proposing any specific legislation or any laws one 
way or the other on that. But it is a continuing problem that we 
see through the diligent efforts of the Postal Service, that a compa
ny will be put out of business presumably and within a matter of 
weeks be peddling the same goods. 

Mr. LELAND. In recent years have complaints about mail order 
businesses risen more rapidly than complaints about other types of 
businesses? 

Mr. JONES. They have stayed at a high leveL They have not risen 
much in the last 2 or 3 years. They had risen precipitously in years 
before that. 

Mr. LELAND. Then the issue must be coming more to the fore
front as opposed to in the past. If you are saying that the number 
of cases coming before you have not significantly increased, it 
seems that the issue is more dramatic today than before. 

Would you agree with that? 
Mr. JONES. That the issue is more dramatic? 
Mr. LELAND. Yes. In other words, people are becoming more 

aware. 
Mr . JONES. Yes, I think they are. I think, through our efforts, 

through DMMA's efforts with FTC, and the FTC's own regulations, 
it has made people more aware of these things. 

However, there is still a very high level of complaints, a multiple 
of the next level. 

Mr. LELAND. You told us you are able to resolve 70 percent of the 
consumer complaints dealing with mail orders, and that this is evi
dence that most of these companies are honest. 

What steps do you take when you find a company that is appar
ently dishonest? 

Mr. JONES. Well, the way the better business bureau works with 
mail order companies, they often will contact the company and 
present the complaint to the company, and the company will pre
sumably respond. Sometimes it becomes evident quite quickly that 
a company is not responding to complaints and the complaints 
start to pile up. When we see this happen, we will contact either 
the Federal Trade Commission at times or the local better business 
bureau may contact the State authorities. There are State laws 
about delivery of products through the mail-, or the Postal Service. 
Because if it becomes evident a mail order company is not amena
ble to self-regulation, as I pointed out here, there is nothing more 
that the better business bureau can do, since it depends on the 
goodwill of the companies involved. 

Mr. LELAND. Is there any kind of publication that you might pro
duce, other than the decertification of the company by way of con-
tacting the FTC? . 
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Mr. JONES. Better business bureaus maintain ~eports on compa
nies. Any consumer can call up the better busIness bureau and 
obtain a report on the company. If the compa~y ha~ a record of 
complaints and not delivering the goods, tha~ wIll be I.n the .report. 
It presumably forewarns the consumer agaInst dealIng wIth the, 
company if it indeed, has a bad record. 

Mr. LELAN~. What about a current victim ~ho might ~ave been 
abused by this company, and Y0.u find that thIS compan!, IS fr~u?u
lent is there any means by whICh the person who IS beIng vIctIm-
ized' can indeed get h.formation at that point? , .. 

I understand your publication, but the problem I m havIng IS
and maybe this is not your responsibilit~-that when you find t~at 
a company is fraudulent, tJ:e pers0l1:s beIng abu~ed at th~t partI~u
lar time when you make thIS find WIll not have InformatIOn avaIla-

ble. f b]' d' Is there any way you might notify people by way 0 pu .1C me Ia 

or whatever? ., h 
Mr. JONES. Yes. Better business bureaus WIll, .on o~caslOn, w en 

they come upon a company that i~ very clearly vlO.lating the ~aw or 
not providing what they are offenng, or the offer IS bogus; WIll, ~e
sides notifying the appropri~te law enforcer.llent people, WIll publIc
ly release a statement saying that the c0Il:sumer ~hould be ~ware 
that someone is in the area or someone IS offenng by. mall any 
given product that is worthless or ~hat the ~eople are ben~g taken. 

Once the fraud has taken place, It really IS a matter for lawen
forcement authorities. We cannot go after and prosecute people for 
that. 

Mr. LELAND. I understand that. v 
The other thing, you noted that yO? c?ntact the .).~ ederal Trade 

Commission and then the last organIzatIOn you sald you contact 
would be the Postal Service. I know you didn't mean that necessar
ily in that order. 

Mr. JONES. No. 
Mr. LELAND. Is it in that order in reality? 
Mr. JONES. No. It is usually in the other ord~r. . . ? 
Mr. LELAND. You do contact the Postal ServIce Immedla~ely. 
Mr. JONES. If it is a matter of people simply not gettIng what 

they ordered, we may contact the FTC because they h~ve the rules 
on that. But if it's a matter of something th~t lo?ks lIke or smells 
like a fraud, we would talk to the Po~tal SerVIce. nght away. .. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much. I apprecIate your partIcIpa
tion here today. 

Mr. JONES. Thank you. . 1 S 
Mr. LELAND. Mr. Maraney, the president of the NatIOna tar 

Route Mail Contractors Association. 

STATEMENT OF JOHN MARANEY 

Mr. MARANEY. I have a short stateme~t, Mr. Chairman. It will 
only take me a couple of minutes to read It. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you. 
Mr. MARANEY. With me today is Joseph Dettmar, of the law firI? 

of Garvey, Schubert, Adams, and Barer, legal counsel to the aSSOCI
ation. 
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The National Star Route Mail Contractors Association is a na
tional trade association ultimately representing approximately 
13,000 companies and individuals who contract with the Postal 
Service to transport the mail over the road. Historically, the routes 
on which mail was transported by independent contractors were 
knoVlln as star route; hence our association's name. 

The facilities of the U.S. Postal Service are linked together by a 
transportation network extending over millions of miles. With the 
decline of railroad transportation and cutbacks in air transporta
tion, surface transportation by highway contractors has become the 
most significant aspect of this transportation network. More than 
90 percent of all highway transportation for the Postal Service is 
conducted by independent contractors. In rural areas, a significant 
portion of the mail is delivered by independent contractors. 

More than 99 percent of the star route carriers are small busi
nessmen as defined by the Small Business Administration. Ap
proximately 98 percent of these businessmen are engaged exclu
sively in star route contracting. 

The Star Route Association has no dispute with the purpose of 
this legislation. The Congress ought to be concerned about attempts 
to defraud the elderly through various uses of the mail. 

To carry out this bill, the Postal Service is given broad powers, 
including sweeping inspection authority, to enforce the provisions 
of the act. We offer no comment as to whether these broad powers 
are necessary. The proposed legislation is of great concern to us, 
however, since the broad police po:wers given to the Postal Service 
would encompass the purely commercial transactions between our 
members and the Postal Service. 

H.R. 3973 gives the Postal Service access to all "books, records, 
documents or other objects that the Postal Service has reason to 
believe relate to any matter under investigation by the Postal Serv
ice pursuant to its authority under section 404(a)(7) of this title." 

Section 404(a)(7) gives the Postal Service the power "to, investi
gate postal offenses and civil matters relating to the Postlil Serv
ice." Thus, H.R. 3973 would give the Postal Service the power to 
give any employee the authority to demand and receive total access 
to the records of any person or group in order to investigate any 
"civil matters" relating to the Postal Seryice. 

These broad powers contrast with the relatively narrow purpose 
of this legislation. In his statement introducing this bill, Repre
sentative Pepper stated that its purpose was "to strengthen the en
forcement powers of the U.S. Postal Service to deal with schemes 
perpetrated through the mails which involve the obtaining of 
money by means of false representation." 

If that is the intent of the legislation, the scope of the powers 
conferred upon the Postal Service should be limited accordingly. 

The star route contractors are particularly sensitive to this issue 
because, as small businessmen contracting with the Postal Service, 
our members are particularly vulnerable to the authority exercised 
by the Postal Service. When the Office of Postmaster General was 
eliminated and the new Postal Service was created, the Congress 
expressed the intention that the new Service would be an inde
pendent enterprise operated in a businesslike manner. The Postal 
Service has certainly followed that. mandate in its dealings with 
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the star route contractors concerning contracts to provide transpor
tation and delivery service. The Postal Service is a hard-nosed busi
nessman, and has earned a reputation for driving hard bargains in 
its contractual and other business dealings with our members. 

We do not object to that behavior, for we believe that the people 
who use mail service deserve their money's worth. But we become 
very concerned when a commercial purchaser of our members' 
services acquires broad police power to subpoena their records, sub
ject to no review whatever. Such authority in the hands of the 
Postal Service undermines the basis of a healthy and equitable con
tractual relationship between the Service and the star route con
tractors. It gives the Postal Service a commercial advantage that 
would not be tolerated in any normal business relationship. 

The Congress must prevent the misuse of police power for com
mercial advantage. It can do so here simply by limiting the author
ity conferred by this bill to the purposes which it is intended to 
serve. We recommend that section 2 of the bill be amended at line 
16 to delete the words "section 404(a)(7) of this title" and insert in 
lieu thereof, "section 3005 of this title." 

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify before this 
subcommittee, and I will be glad to answer any questions or work 
with the committee staff in any way. 

Mr. LELAND. We certainly want to thank you for giving us your 
testimony. 

You are telling us you're opposed to the Postal Servi.ce having 
access to your books and records because they could obtain infor
mation about your members' costs, profits and so on, and thus gain 
an unfair advantage when negotiating contracts. 

Is that correct? 
Mr. MARANEY: No, sir. They already have authority now to have 

access to records and books involving transactions between the con
tractors and the Postal Service. Clause 20 of the general provisions, 
which all the contractors sign, gives them that access. 

Mr. LELAND. Do you believe that the third party exemption that 
was advocated by the National Newspaper Association would allevi
ate your concerns? 

Mr. MARANEY. I would like to defer to counsel on that. 
Mr. DETTMAR. Mr. Chairman, we think not. That seems to be a 

protection designed to protect against the kind of innocent third 
parties involved in mail transactions and mail fraud. Here this 
would be one party, the Postal Service dealing with the second 
party, the star route contractor. Third party protection would not 
prevent the kind of abuse that we're concerned about here. 

Mr. LELAND. I want to thank you very much for your testimony, 
all of you. 

This is our last panel today. The Chair will now recess the sub
committee, subject to the call of the chair. 

Thank you very much. 
[Whereupon, at 11:50 a.m., the subcommittee was adjourned, sub

ject to the call of the chair.] 
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MAIL FRAUD/FALSE REPRESENTATION 

THURSDAY, JULY 15, 1982 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL 
PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION, COMMITTEE ON POST 
OFFICE AND CIVIL SERVICE, 

Washington, D.C. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room 

311, Cannon House Office Building, Hon. Mickey Leland (chairman 
of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Mr. LELAND. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. 
Welcome to this third hearing of the Subcommittee on Postal 

Personnel and Modernization on H.R. 3973 and its companion 
Senate resolution, S. 1407, which are intended to strengthen the 
U.S. Postal Service's investigatory and enforcement powers to help 
prevent mail fraud. 

Today we will hear from Mr. Clinton Miller of the National 
Health Federation; Mrs. Gertrude Engel of the Health Victory 
Group and Mr. Joel Amkraut of the Council on Postal Suppression. 

Mr .. Miller, if you will, I would appreciate it if you would come 
forward now. 

STATEMENT OF CLIN'I'ON RAY MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
AND LEGISLATIVE ADVOCATE OF THE NATIONAL HEALTH 
FEDERATION AND MAUREEN SALAMAN, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL 
HEALTH FEDERATION 

Mr. MILLER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
I appreciate having this opportunity to testify. It is refreshing 

compared to the lack of opportunity we had when this bill was 
speeding through the Senate. 

My name is Clinton Ray Miller. I am executive director and lleg
islative advocate of the National Health Federation. With me today 
to my right is Maureen Salaman, president of the National Health 
Federation. 

The National Health Federation is a 28-year-old national con
sumer organization of 20,000 aware and well-informed members 
who vigorously defend health freedom and oppose every form of 
health tyranny. We believe health freedom is as important as reli
gious freedom. We insist we have the, constitutional right to read 
and write, buy or sell health books, magazines, and pamphlets 
without censorship, harassment, or investigation from the police 
arm of the UB. Postal Service or any other governmental agency, 
so long as in the exercise of that freedom we are not a threat or 
hazard to someone else exerc~sing an equal freedom. 

(llf:) 
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We have targeted H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 as amended recently by 
the Senate as bills to kill. . . 

H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 are a giant step in the wrong dIrectIon at 
the wrong time for the wrong reaso:r;s wIth the wrong agency. 

At this time, if I may, I would lIke .t~ have Mall:reen S~laman, 
with your permission, Mr. Chairman, d~vlde our testImony Into two 
parts. We would like to have our presIdent present her stateme?t 
at this time and then I will emphasize a fe'Y parts about o~r exhIb
its and summarize my written testimony, If that meets wIth your 
~pproval. . 

Mr. LELAND. You may proceed as you wIsh. 

STATEMENT OF MAUREEN SALAMAN 

Ms. SALAMAN. My name is Maureen Salaman. I am pre~~dent of 
the National Health Federation. I. am hostess .of the. Totally 
Yours" radio talk show in San FranCISco and associate edJtor of the 
National Healtn Federation's journ~l, Health ~reedor:n News. 

I deeply appreciate the opportunIty .to testIf;v agaInst H.R .. 3973 
and S. 1407 because I s~ncerely believe these bIlls sh,oul~ b~ kIlled. 

There is perhaps no sIngle aspect of George Orwell s c~ass~c novel 
"1984" more chilling than the idea of the thought polIce, gover?-
ment agents in the s~rvice of "B~g Broth~r" whose sole purpose In 
life was to suppress Ideas or pOInts of VIew contrary to the estb-
lished party line. 

And as we draw closer to that ominous date, we cannot, help but 
be conscious of the fact that many of the p.rops for qrwell s scenar
io are already in place. Now co~es the clIncher. WIll the thought 
police actually become a fact of lIfe? . J." ., 

N ow pending before this subcommlt"ee IS 8: ple~e of leglsl.atIOn 
that we shall call simply the P.O. thought polIce bIll. It was Intro
duced in the House by Representative Claude Pepper as H.R. 3973 
and in the Senate by Senator David Pryor as S. 1407 .a:r;d ha~ r~
ceived the stamp of approval from the Reagan admInIstratIon s 
Office of Management and Budget.~\, . 

S. 1407 has already been passed by t~~~ Senate, af~er a smgle 
day's field hearings in Little Rock, Ark. ~f1~ch wa~ chaIred by Sen
ator David Pryor. Fortunately, H.R. 3973 wIll receIve more exhaus-
tive hearings by your subcommittee. . . . . . 

Ostensibly this proposed new law IS aImed at curbIng nlaIl frau~, 
a noble purpose, which has caused it to attract 300 cosponsors In 
the House of Representatives. . 

The post office bill would grant to the U.S. Postal ServIce ~road 
new powers to regulate not only what is sent through the mall but 
what may be transported by any other means. 

How, you may ask, does a,move against mail ~raud constitute the 
establishment of a big brother-style thought polIce? " 

Even under present law, the Pos~al ~ervice. has a~su~ed t~e 
power to interfere in the free dissemInatIOn of Innovat~ve Ide::,-s In 
health care. All that is necessary is t~at t~e Post::,-l ServICe d~Clde a 
person is guilty of false representa~IOn In offerIJ?-g somet~Ing. for 
sale by mail. Once the Postal ServIce makes thIS .determ~natIOn, 
they may impose a mail stoJ? on that person, haltIng ~ehvery of 
mail to the accused and sendIng all mall addressed to hIm back to 
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the sender, marked to indicate the addressee has been determined 
guilty of false representation. 

The full extent to which this power can be, and is, abused was 
shown last year in a decision by a Federal administrative law 
judge, Edwin Bernstein. Berstein's dangerous, precedent-setting de
cision came in the case of a man who had written a booklet advo
cating a diet of natural vegetables as a way to keep your arteries 
clean. 

rr~e man was offering the booklet for sale by mail. He was not 
sellIng drugs. He was not even selling health food or vitamins. He 
w~ offering a book for sale. In short, he was attempting to market 
an Idea. 

But the Postal Service decided it did not like the idea. So it ac
cused the author of false representation and imposed a mail stop 
on his mail. 

Judge Bernstein upheld that decision. In so doing, he declared "I 
found the representatic\l.1s in (the) booklet to be unproven and don
trary to the weight of'informed medical and scientific opinion." 
Thus, said the judge; the booklet contained false representations
and its sale through the mail was banned. 
Thin~ about it. ~. b~ok ad:ro~ating an idea contrary t<? the weight 

of medIcal and sCIentIfic opInIon can now be banned In America. 
John Stuart Mills in his book on Liberty once wrote that all new 

ideas have always come from the realm of unorthodoxy. When you 
suppress the unorthodox and new ideas, that society will eventual-
ly atrophy and die. . 

Now when we are talking then in terms of the weight of medical 
and scientific opinion, what if it turns out later that the weight of 
scientific and medical opinion is wrong? 

rroo bad. Big Brother has spoken. You shall not contradict him. 
Welcome to the new dark ages. Get ready for 1984. 

But the above action took place under existing law. The Post 
Office bill would increase its authority to invade privacy and en
force its orthodox opinions 10,000 fold. 

The new law, as amended by the Senate would: 
Authorize a $10,000 per day penalty against any person who con

tinues to write or distribute a pamphlet, newspaper, magazine or 
book after being issued a Postal Service order to cease and desist 
from such activity. 

Authorize the Postal Service to designate any or all of its more 
than 600,000 post office employees to demand access without a 
search warrant to any home, business, private libra.ry, files, bank 
vaults or safes to inspect and copy books, records, documents or 
other objects that the Postal Service has reason to believe relate to 
any matter under investigation. \, 

Forbid the shipment or transportation of a banned book not only 
by mail but any other instrumentality of interstate commerce in
cluding airlines, parcel service, buses, trucks or your own auto
mobile. 

This new proposal violates freedom of speech, freedom of the 
press and freedom of thought in general. When you hear that 
gentle rapping on your door, when the postman rings your bell but 
has no mail to deliver to you, as!c not for whom the thought police 
come, they come for you. 
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Those of us who are concerned with developing new, innovative, 
and poison-free approaches to health care do so knowing that the 
present day weight of scientific and medical opinion sees things dif
ferently. Judged by men such as Bernstein, we stand to be found 
guilty of false representation. 

The weight of informed medical and scientific opinion once held 
that the Earth was flat, that the Sun revolved around the Earth, 
that bleeding a sick person was a cure for illness, that touching the 
hand of the king could cure certain illnesses, that the blood did not 
circulate in the body and that a person thrown into water was a 
witch if he could float. 

Up until about a centul'y ago, informed medical and scientific 
opinion scoffed at the idea that germs could cause disease, and rep
utable surgeons did not bother to wash their hands before perform
ing operations. 

The history of medicine and health care shows that nearly all 
progress has started with unorthodox ideas which were opposed to 
the weight of informed medical and scientific opinion. Where new 
ideas have been suppressed, the growth of human knowledge has 
stagnated. Where free inquiry has been encouraged progress has 
been made in years rather than centuries. 

Historically, dictatorships seldom come about by the would-be 
dictator convincing people that tyranny is a good idea. Dictators 
make themselves appear acceptable by offering themselves and 
their political systems as the solutions to problems, real or imag
ined, perceived by the people in general. They may promise agrar
ian reform so the peasants can own the land they work. Or they 
may promise to alleviate unemployment, so the poor will not go 
hungry. And now, it would appear, they would promise an end to 
mail fraud. 

But when they speak of their noble motives, they do not tell 
their unsuspecting victims of the full extent to which they can and 
will use the new powers given to them to solve the problems they 
publicly attack. 

The threat to our constitutional freedoms embodied in the new 
Post Office bill is very real. With bipartisan support in Congress 
and approval from the Reagan administration's OMB, this bill 
stands a very good chance of becoming law this year unless killed 
by your subcommittee. And once it does, any voice contradicting 
the weight of informed medical and scientific opinion in America 
may be snuffed out in the name of protecting the public from false 
representations. 

The National Health Federation considers the bill so potentially 
dangerous that we are re-opening our Washington office, to be 
headed by Clinton Miller, NHF's experienced legislative advocate, 
to lobby in opposition to this bill. 

Mr. Chairman, I brought a copy of Robert Ford's banned booklet 
for each member of the subcommittee. I urge you to defeat H.R. 
3973 and in its place to enact legislation which will assure the 
Postal Service will never ban a book again. 

Thank you. 
Mr. MILLER. Now, Mr. Chairman, for decades-and I am talking 

about over 30 years-the Postal Service has demonstrated again 
and again and again that it can be depended upon for Olle thing. 
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We can depend upon the Post Office Department to abuse and 
misuse any police authority that this Congress gives it .. 

Maybe it is the uniform that it can't handle, but the National 
Health Federation is unalterably opposed to legislation which gives 
the Post Office Department any scintilla of new inspection authori
ty or stiff penalties for violation of their arbitrary orders or de
mands. 

We wholeheartedly endorse and support the testimony and the 
mirror image amendment offered by the Association of American 
Publishers at the last hearing. However, we wish to make it clear 
that this amendment would not make the bill acceptable nor 
remove our objections to the many other tyranical provisions of the 
bill. 

Senator Pryor told this subcommittee that about 100 years ago 
the Postal Service was given authority to prosecute fraud. If Con
gress made about 100 years ago a foolish mistake and gave the 
Postal Department responsibility to investigate and prosecute mail 
fraud in addition to its main and what we think should be its only 
responsibility, to deliver the mail, Congress did so in error. 

We do not think that it is a proper thing for this Congress to am
plify this error by continuing to go down an obviously wrong street. 
We believe that the suggestion made by the chairman of the full 
committee, William Ford, is a far better idea. We believe Ford has 
a better idea and we completely support his revolutionary common
sense proposal to get the Post Office completely out of the police 
business and back into the business of delivering the mail prompt
ly, efficiently, and inexpensively. 

Chairman Ford was 100 percent right when he recently told Sen
ator David Pryor, who is the chief Senate sponsor of S. 1407, before 
this subcommittee that we already have a Department of Justice in 
this country, we have a Federal police force and a Federal prosecu
torial force and a Federal judiciary that are designed to protect ev
eryone's interests out there. 

I might point out the Department of Justice knows the difference 
between fraud and false and misleading. 

I predict that Ford's following statements will be widely quoted 
in the history books and the law books of the future, to remind us 
that at one time we were silly enough to think that governmental 
employees can play cops and robbers and Post Office at the same 
time. 

Now here is Ford's better idea. It is 200 years old. 
My own view is that the U.S. Postal Service-in the spirit of Benjamin Franklin 

who devised the system-has a duty to carry anything in the mails that isn't going 
to explode or cause a fire. It is none of our business what people put in there. It is· 
between the person who mails it and the person who receives it. 

Now, Mr. Chairman, since I heard this statement by Mr. Ford I 
have tried his idea out on several conventions. I have yet to find a 
consumer that doesn't want the Post Office Department to stop 
playing this censorship role and that was not totally outraged at 
the role that it is now playing as a policeman. 

Now I have an apology to make to this subcommittee that I do 
not have an entirely new bill prepared at this time to offer as a 
substitute bill for H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 to do what Chairman Ford 
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has proposed. We are working 't d'l . 
mittee record the moment it is ~~~ i~ d WI 1 submIt it for the com-

Now we want to make it clear th:t ~h N . 
ation is deeply concerned with il f d atlOnal H~alth Feder-
and. in many instances goes unp~:ish:du 'd We knbw. Ie is serious 

~~~IrOffi~e ItD~~!~:~n~el~~r~elY un~u~sh:d b~ d~~i:~d~ ~ 
Pepper and with the 300' H gree .:Wlth .Representative Claude 
bill that legislation is neededUb~t~ll-kntent~oned 2 cosponsors of the 
eD:c~ wit~ prostituted Federai agenc~es ~fk: [l:.::F 7learJ of experi
~Inistra~lOn and the once evil agency th F dOlo Tan Drug !~d
SlOn, WhICh is a born-' , e e era rade Commls-
3973 and S. 1407 will n~rd~ th!j~b: as of recent years, that H.R. 

Idn1fact, t~e proposed legislation would make the proble" 
an mean tar worse. m Worse 

14Mai~!r!~t ~~s:!~d ~~ ~~1:~e!%' Jt~~le.m is .H.~. 3973 and S. 
Now I am not a law" er It to k e I~aglnatlOn. 

my head that when tI!e Post O~fic:~ a lo~g time to get i~ through 
fraud they didn't even mean fraud T epar ment was t~lklng about 
t~rms as civil fraud, mixing the tw~ t he~ usel Wuch. mlnd-bo~g~ing 
tlOn so those of us who are not 1 ermo a:q urrIng the distInc-
be.tween a noncriminal civil -off~~::ersdcan 1: know t~e difference 
CrIme has been committed. an a raud WhICh means a 

Now to convict a person of f d d . 
burden of proof is as it should r:1 ,usb In the proper sense the 
prove a person is guilty of intent~~~f d e, o~. the

t 
Government, to 

person to give up property: or some lawfule~fPh~~~ 0 cause another 
The key word Mr Chalrm " t g 

understand that: Without int:::t ~s ~n eI?-t ahd we. lay people don't 
out intent a person has not com::' ecelve ~ ere IS no fraud, with
prosecuted or convicted and I f ~t~d a CrIme and should not be 
before this subcommittee that th~ b'f t~~ Post Office testimony 
they are synonymous. y ur e two terms as though 

Now we believe that fraud h ld b 
crime. It is a terrible crime ~hu ~ prosecuted vigorously as a 
a!-l~ not civil penalties. The proce:dlunls~meldt bshou!d .be criminal 
cIvil or administrative The a . ngs S ou e crImInal and not 
criminal statute by a~ Ch . ccused should be prosecuted under the 
of Justice. With, in~identali~r~llnt~ord Stugf~sted, the Department 
person is charged with a cri~I'nal .eIPrt? ec IOns that come when a 

N thi ' VIO a IOn ow s IS the one and I G . 
be ~he Federal police force o~~ch overnr:t~nt agency. which should 
deSIgned to protect everyone's inter!~~or ~ntt to ChaIrman Ford is 

Then the NHF and the bl' . au ere. 
single Federal police forcePu IC and the Congress must watch that 
Fe~eral police department. very, very carefully when it is the only 
~~w look carefully at the bill Th b" . . . 

crImInal penalties. It is asking t' . e III IS. ~ot asking to Increase 
much? From zero which it haso bncrea:he CIVIl ~enalties. And how 
could charge an :D •• een, e maXImum amount we 
200 years. They ~~~t ~~ a cn7~1 offense. was zero dollars for the last 
per day or $3 million a y:a;~ Increase It to an asttonomical $10,000 
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Now one adviser tells me this can be $20,000 per day and over $6 
million a year under page 16, lines 6 to 11 of S. 1407 as amended 
out of the Senate. 

Mr. Chairman, these penalties are 10 times as high as penalties 
for a criminal violation of postal statutes. That means that I would 
be guilty of privity, for just walking up to you and saying, "I would 
like to sell you this banned book for 35 cents," and you give me 35 
cents, I would be subject to a higher penalty by tenfold than if a 
person were to send a,bomb to every Member of Congress that ex
ploded on their desk and killed the Congressman. The Post Office 
Department regards the thoughts or the ideas in this booklet as far 
more dangerous than any bomb that would be sent to a President 

, or a rv.rember of Congress. 
Now when you have civil penalties that are 10 times as high as 

the penalties for criminal violation of postal statutes, suggested in 
a piece of legislation, one has to wonder about the motives behind 
the people who say civil offenses have now become this horrendous. 

It is NHF's position that for some 200 years zero cents has been 
properly the maximum civil penalty and for the next 2,000 or 2 
million years that should be the maximum civil penalty for a 
person who is not even charged, let alone tried and convicted of a 
crime. 

Now we believe that the Post Office Department has conned the 
Congress. We believe they have done a beautiful job. We believe 
back in 1967 the Post Office Department was able to trick Congress 
as they are trying to trick it now into enacting a horrible bill. The 
bill then was H.R. 1411 using the same misleading propaganda and 
deception they have used to get massive congressional support for 
these two bills. 

The Post Office lied at that time to Congress that it was too hard 
for its inspectors to get evidence of intent in fraud cases. The ma
jority of Congress and the majority of the Postal Committee at this 
time swallowed that lie and voted for H.R. 1411. 

At that time, to his everlasting credit Ford dissented and I think 
they may be building monuments to this man in Michigan, because 
of it. Representative William Ford was not then chairman of the 
full House Post Office Committ€e but his minority views at that 
time were so prophetically true and they fit the present time and 
the bill so well that we respectfully request his minority view be 
included as part of our testimony. I have hicJuded it as exhibit 1. 

For more than 20 years now the Postal Service has patiently won 
incredible precedents in the courts and concessions from Congress 
which now allow them to win virtually all of the criminal cases 
they take to court. I am talking about. a success rate of 98 to 99 
percent. 

The Post Office wins 98 to 99 percent convictions. At least they 
report this to Congress. In 1980 the Postal Service boasted a total 
of 9,057 convictions with convictions obtained in 99 percent of all 
criminal cases brought to trial.' 

In 1981 the convictions dropped in half to a total of 5,410. Now 
for some curious reason the Post Office Department cut the cases 
in half at tl:le time the bill was pending before this committee in 
1981 although they were still winning 98 percent of the cases they 
tried. 
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I submit, Mr. Chairman, this committee should ask some very 
hard questions of the Post Office when they appear before you and 
ask why if, as they have claimed that fraud is rampant, they cut in 
half the number of prosecutions that they brought when they were 
winning prosecutions virtually in all their cases. 

Now in view of this, Senator Pryor appeared before this commit
tee and he testified before Claude Pepper's committee and the term 
that he used is that the Post Office Department is helpless. With a 
99 percent conviction rate the Post Office Department has to lie to 
convince Congress that it is powerless and impotent to enforce the 
law against real criminals. 

Why? So that Congress will grant the Post Office Department 
unlimited and even broader police powers. 

Senator David Pryor apparently believed the \ost Office lie ~e
cause he testified before Chairman Claude Pepper s Select CommIt
tee on Aging as follows and here is his exact quote: 

The fact that our current law is powerless >I< * *. 
Notice the choice of words-

Powerless to prevent companies faced with discovery and prosecution from merely 
closing their doors and opening up a new shop across the State line is one of the 
primary reasons legislation to reform this state of affairs is so desperately needed. 
The lOO-year-old statute under which the Postal Service inspector is forced to oper
ate simply leaves him helpless * * >I< and I emphasize that beautiful word helpless, 
helpless to do anything in many cases. 

Now if you will at this time turn to page 14 of my printed testi
mony, I would like to show how sometimes people who make these 
kinds of statements get caught up in their own dissembling. 

At the bottom of the page, the second paragraph up, notice that I 
state that Kenneth H" Fletcher, the Chief U.S. Postal Inspector, 
made my point quite well when he testified before the Senate Post 
Office Subcommittee on October 13, 1981. 

Now this was before Senator Pryor's hearing down in Arkansas. 
This points out, I think, the extreme reluctance of the Post Office 
Department to prosecute real mail fraud under the criminal stat
utes which they have. 

Now here is Fletcher's quote: 
We had a long series of investigations of an individual who peddled phony aphro

disiacs by mail. In the course of his activities Qver the years, he used about 55 differ
ent names and addresses. At least 25 administrative actions were filed. After each 
filing he simply moved on to new addresses, reestablishing the promotion under dif
ferent names. He was put out of business only after he was finally convicted for 
mail fraud under the criminal statute. 

Finally it occurred to them that they had a criminal statute and 
he was finally put out of business only after he was finally convict
ed for mail fraud under the criminal statute. 

Now, how in commonsense does its take 25 times going unsuc
cessfully after a criminal with civil proceedings for the Postal Serv
ice to finally get it through their head that when you do what this 
man was doing it is a fraud and it is a crime. They should have 
gone after him the first time with criminal proceedings. 

Now helpless? Nonsense. The Post Office Department is now the 
most despised, the most feared and by far the most powerful 
agency in the United States. Surpassing the CIA and FBI and 
every other Government agency. 
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Helpless indeed. 
With the enactment of H.R. 1411, over the minority objections of 

wise legislators like William D. Ford and Jerome Waldie, the 
Postal Service inspector could now burn books without fire. 

Now there are certain powers, when you run a Government 
agency, that are marvelous. When you have learned how to ban a 
book this is the ball game. The Food and Drug Administration 
tried for years to ban books. They would walk into health food 
stores and they would seize books on cider vinegar, if you can imag
ine. They claimed that the books were false and misleading labels 
for products. FDA spent millions of tax dollars trying to convince 
Congress that what Congress and the people wanted them to do 
was to ban books. 

The Federal Trade Commission went after Rodale Press. They 
thought, "Boy, we are going to go after their publications" and 
they unsuccessfully spent millions of dollars to convict Rodale 
Press. The Post Office Department is the only agency that has done 
it and got away with it. 

In my exhibit 2, you will find 12 books that the Post Office now 
boast they have banned. They list them publicly. Before 1967 when 
they would ban books-it was just by a threat and they would only 
go after little publishers. This book is entitled "The Miracle of 
Fasting," and they banned this book, or threatened to. 

The next one is "Better Eyesight," in which it is suggested that 
there are some normal little exercises that can prevent, perhaps, 
our eyes from going bad. And this one is "Bragg's Apple Cider Vin
egar Book." The Post Office Department, prior to the 1967 enact
ment of H.R. 1411, was going after books three at a time. You will 
find in my exhibit 3, an undated Post Office Department notice of 
fraud for three books that were published at that time by a Califor
nia company, "The l'Airacle of Fasting," they seemed to have a real 
problem with fasting; the "Secret of Facial Rejuvenation" and "Re_ 
moving Facial Wrinkles," They charged that the ads were in viola
tion of law. 

When we went over and talked to the Postal Service at that 
time, they told Mr. Bragg-and his daughter Patricia, "We find the 
title of the book is false and misleading." 

She said, "What if we don't even run any ad at all?" 
The postal inspector said, "That wouldn't do because even the 

title, 'The Miracle of Fasting' is misleading and illegal, you can't 
even list the title of the booklet." . 

Now this agency-and I am talking about a despised agency
now has the power to ban books and is bragging about it. Before 
H.R. 1411, the Post Office Department had to prove fraud to ban a 
book and the Supreme Court 20 years before then had told the Post 
Office Department that if it ever went after a book with false and 
misleading claims it had to prove a fraudulent intent by the pub-
lisher. .. 

Now I would like to encourage the chairman to invite Patricia 
~ragg to test~fy. Patricia Bragg may h~ve written some false things 
In here. I thInk most people who Write books may not write the 
~ruth as all o~ us see it, but they could never prove that she had 'an 
Intent to deceIve. Because if I have ever seen a person who believes 
in what she wrote-she was a believer, she really believed that 

1 i 
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. miracle. And this book has been used. by Conrad 
.~~~~;, b;s C~nt Eastwo?d,. by Dic~ Grego[~,. b\ 'blact!:{lYri:h~l; 
Hollywood person who I~ Into. fastIng as elr 1 e, , 

or wr:n~:ii!~:y ~el~e:ith ~t:f~nsity that exceeds th.e reli~ous 
fe;!rYof people who were fighting for religl

h
' oushfrcied0l1:1 f P:~~IOcf: 

a es The POD they could never prove t ey a. an In en 
~. ~ But they came in and convinced this CommIttee and COl}gress 

i~lr9()7 that it should take away t~e need for. the POD ~ )ro'~t dt~r~ 
to deceive to ban a book and that IS 'Yhy Chairman Fo[ p ea e WI 
this committee not to take~ away thIS burden of proo., . . 

N ow history' -has proven Congress made a hoo:-rlble mIstake ~n 
1967 when it enacted H.R. 1411 and that should be repealed In 
place of the bill that is before us. 'th t fl 

The interesting thing is they caln
d 

nOk bUrI\ bOfk:h:~ a~d b~~~ 
When Hitler banned books he wou ma e a pI eo. d th 
them out in the square and .then everybody would see It an ey 
said that was as bad as burnIng people.:. . d ? 

How many books has the Post Office burned .or banned hto ~tet 
We have no way of knowing because they only h~t 16. We ave JUs 
two firms in California that have contacted us SInce they ~eh we 
were opposing this bill and have listed ove~ a dozen t ey ave 
banned that were not even listed on the POD lIst. d 

Startin in 1968 the Post Office Department ~as noW ma e 
public a :owing list of banned publications be~au~e It ca~ no~ P1e
tend-and it is pretending-that it believes It IS bann,lng 00 rs 
with full congressional knowledge and approval folloWIng enact-
ment of H.R. 1411 in 1967. . ('. b k t 

Prior to 1968, however, the Postal ServIce was ~O!Clng 00 s ?U 
of the marketplace three at a time, simply by ldn~n\ th~ti~t:~I~f
letters to small publi~hers who

h
, when i~e~ cdu ut c th~ir fees would 

torney here at WashIngton, t ey wou In? fi t 
exce~d per day what some of them were shOWing In net pro 1 per 
year See exhibit 3 on that one. ., 11 d' 

The Post Office Department has prosecuted InCldentf:! Y a Who-
ortionate number of health book auth?rs and p~bhshers. en 

~ou go down this list of 12 of them I think ~ou Will find out that 
8 of the 12 are clearly health books. Now W~y. . f 

Mr Chairman I have tried to explain this earher to a couple 0 
staff ~embers ~ho are here covering the bill ~nd n.o C~n.~essrna~ 
can understand why the Post Office is b~havlng. hke It IS ~.unles~ 
they get and read the proceedings of the FIrst ~ atlOnal Congl. eSh Id 
Medical Quackery of October 6 and 7, 1~61. This Congress w~ e _ 
over at the Sheraton Park Hotel and l~ ~as packed. At thI~ Con 

which the American Medical AssocIatlOn cosponsored, ?11th the U.s.s 
Food and Drug Administrati~n and ~hree oth7r agenCIes, the~ 

planned an open conspiracy to drIve theIr competItors out of ~usd 
ness They were so arrogant at that ti~e .that ~hey openly conspIre . 
Her~ they had the Food and Drug AdmlnIstratlOn, the ,Federal Trade 
Commission and the Post Office Dep~rtment at that time represent
ed by the Hon. J. Edward Day, the Postmaster 9'eneral. . . 

The bottom line was that the American Medical AssoClatIOn ,cap
tured these three agencies and they told them: Your purpose 18 to 
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enforce the law as we see it. When we say this is quackery you are 
to go after it as quackery. 

They told the Food and Drug Administration they were to go 
after vitamins and minerals and the Food and Drug Administra
tion like a puppet went after vitamins and minerals and said: We 
are going to ban all vitamins and minerals except those that have 
a very limited potency and combination and they issued a pro
posal to do exactly that. It would have taken 90 percent of the 
Vitamins and minerals then on the market and would have put 
them under RX, which would have put them under control of the 
American Medical Association. Fortunately Congress enacted what 
was then known as the Proxmire vitamin bill. It stated to the Food 
and Drug Administration, "We are not about to limit people's 
vitamins and minerals," Congress enacted that bill unanimously. 
There wasn't an opposing vote in the Senate or in the House. 

Then the AMA went to the Federal Trade Commission and said, 
"We would like you to ban books on vitamins." 

So it sicced the Federal Trade Commission on to Rodale Press. 
Fortunately the Federal Trade Commission has changed for the 
better. Fortunately for~ we the people, but unfortunately for the 
Federal Trade Commission because when you don't do what the 
Al'~IA says whether you are a Congressman or an agency they are out 
to destroy you as they are now attempting to destroy the Federal 

I Trade Commission. As you know there is legislation now pending in 
Congress with 200 cosponsors to take the AMA doctors completely 
out from jurisdiction of the Federal Trade Commission. The AMA 
has told the Federal Trade Commission, "We either run you and you 
do what we tell you or we will make sure you don't even touch us." 
There are 200 cosponsors on that bill at the present time. 

Weare also deeply concerned about the attack of the Post Office 
Department against chiropractors. We frnd that the Post Office De
partment has lined up with the AMA to destroy chiropractors. And 
they did it publicly, back in 1961. We have tried under the Free
dom of Infor~ation Act to find out how health books are targeted 
by the Post Office Department. The Post Office Department has 
consistently refused-and I haven't even added it as an exhibit be
cause it would take 50 pages-every request we have made under 
the Freedom of Information Act for a copy of its policy manual 
which sets out the basis by which cases are selected for prosecu
tion. 

Now, Mr. Chairman, I think you are the only one in the world 
who can find this out from the Post Office Department because in 
addition to being a police department, it is a secret police depart
ment, and they are not telling any Congressman why they targeted 
this particular book by Robert Ford. 

We have asked them: "How many complaints were made against 
this book?" They admit to receiving thousands and tens of thou
sands and hundreds of thousands of complaints against real fraud. 
Is there any correlatiop. at all between the number of complaints 
they receive against a person committing real fraud and the cases 
they select for prosecution? They refuse to answer that question. 

Now it seems to me this policy should be open to the public so if 
we frnd 50,000 complaints against a person doing a certain really 
fraudulent promotion, that we should be able to ask: And how long 
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did it take to go after them as criminals? In this particular case 
they won't even answer a question. They won't tell who filed the 
complaint against this book. Vole believe it may be the American 
Medical Association because the theories and contents of this book, 
if true and widely understood, would remove the need for heart 
bypass surgery, at $25,000 to $50,000 a shot. If you want to find 
something that is bankrupting this country and that would do 
more toward balancing the budget than anything else, check out 
the cost of heart bypass surgery which the American Medical Asso
ciation is convinced that any person must have who has clogged ar
teries. 

The Postal Service is becoming a secret police that will not open 
its consumer files to the public or Congress so we may see if it is 
going after the real criminals and my point is that they are not. 
The post office refuses to reveal who complained or how many com
plained or indeed if anybody complained against Ford's famous 
booklet. 

The U.S. Postal Service is out to destroy chiropractors because 
AMA has targeted it. As a police officer,' the Postal Service has 
chosen sides in the marketplace battle between medical doctors 
and chiropractors. The National Health Federation doesn't take 
sides in that battle. 

We have some medical doctors in the National Health Feder
ation as well as some chiropractors. But the medical doctors who 
join the National Health Federation don't feel threatened because 
they have some competition out there. They are not one bit wor
ried because somebody has an alternative approach to health. 

For more than 20 years the American Medical Association has 
openly conspired with the U.S. Postal Service to try to destroy 
chiropractors, which is the second largest healing profession. In 
1961, the American Medical Association engineered the first Na
tional Congress on Medical Quackery here in Washington, D.C. 

The purpose, of course, was to stop-the stated purpose was to 
stop medical quackery which was misdefined exactly as fraud has 
been misdefined in an attempt to get this committee to act. 

Quite simply, any professional-and here is the AMA's definition 
of quackery-that doesn't pay dues to or is not controlled by the 
AMA is a quack. . 

The Federal agencies which joined the AMA in cosponsoring this 
infamous meeting were the FDA, the Department of Justice, the 
Federal Trade Commission, and the Post Office Department. 

Oliver Field defined the enemy and set the stage in his speech: 
"The AMA's fight against the quack." He had an interesting title
because the AMA likes to play at cops and robbers, too-he called 
himself the director of the Department of Investigation of the 
American Medical Association, and he acted and behaved as 
though this was some kind of a quasi-official title. Here is what he 
said. 

The medical profession 

Now remember he is talking to the P.O. and other Government 
agencies that Congress funds 

The medical profession needs help in stemming the tide of such things a.s chiro
pratic. The campaign then should be positive in that it should seek to dissuade and 
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d.iscourage youngs~ers from following a fraudulent course by enrolliing in chiroprac
tIC schools. AttentIOn should be given to high schools, academies, or junior colleges. 
No one can expect or hope to keep all people from being lured into such a fraudu
lent system of healing, but as long as the minimum is achieved, chiropractic will 
dry up for want of nourishment to its roots; namely, matriculance to its schools. 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Miller, may I stop you for just a second. The 
H?use is in sessi?n now and I am sure that we will be interrupted 
":Ith .some vot~s In the near future. We have been very generous in 
YIeldIng you tIme. I would hope that you can summarize the rest of 
your statement so that we can expedite our proceedings, if you will. 

Mr. MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I will summarize 
simply by saying that I have just received from Patricia Bragg, the 
person whose books the Postal Service attempted to ban by threats, 
a sta~eI?ent too late. to include ~s 0I?-e of my exhibits. With your 
permISSIOn, I would lIke to submIt thIS to the staff for inclusion in 
the committee record. 

Mr. LELAND. Without objection. 
Mr. MILLER. Yie would like to thank you at this time very, very 

much for allOWIng us to appear before this committee. We feel that 
~his is the proper way. The Senate should have held similar hear
Ings. 

Thank you. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you, Mr. Miller and thank you Ms. Salaman. 

The remainder of your statement will be made part of the record 
at this time. 

[Tho remainder of Mr. Miller's statement follows. Exhibits which 
were r~ferred to are not included in this record.] 
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The code word of the AMA engineered and controlled 1961, 

Medical Quackery Congress was "Quackery." Oliver Field, the AMA 

spokesman, didn't mince any words when he explained that when the 

AMA said "Quackery" it meant Chiropractic. Thereafter all other 

agency heads could use the code word and everyone else understood 

that the enemy was Quackery, i.e. Chiropractic. 

J. Edward Day, who 'was then the Postmaster General, 

explained to the Quackery Congress how the Post Office would attack 

Quackery (Chiropracti~) or any other AMA enemies in its Administra-
, 

ti ve Courts. He desc:dbed how three of the four government agencies 

\.,ould work with the AMA to prosecute "Quackery" not crimes. The 

role of the Department of Justice was downplayed because, of course, 

the AMA, PO, FDA, FTC Quackery Congress was not to protect us from 

multimillion dollar medical crimes. The new target was to be 

medical "quackery" as defined by the 1I..MA to be Chiropractic. 

Said Mr. Day: 

"An excellent working agreement exists between 
the Food and Drug Administration the Federal 
Trade Commission and the Post Office Department, 
to pr~ven~ ov~rlapping and to maintain good 
coord~nat~on ~n the exchange of information. 

"Under this agreement the Post Office Department 
handles cases where use of the mails is an 
integral part of any suspect promotion. Food 
and Drug is concerned with ingredients and labeling. 
Federal Trade has jurisdiction in all cases of 
questionable advertising, but gives the Post Office 
Department primary jurisdiction when, use of the 
mails is involved. 

"The Post Office Department has a workinq agreement 
under which it contributes to the salary-and expenses 
of doctors and chemists employed by the Food and Druq 
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Administration for the purpose of analyzing submitted 
samples of suspect remedies and cures. 

"If tests conducted by these scientists indicate that 
formal action should be undertaken, a complaint setting 
forth charges of fraudulent misrepresentation is filed
with the Post Office Department's·Chief Hearing Examiner. 

"The promoter is named respondent, and arrangements 
are made for him to appear with his attorneys at a 
formal hearing at which both sides of the case are 
heard on the record. 

"If the fraud charges are proven, a fraud order is 
issued for the Postmaster General by the Post Office 
Department's Judicial Officer. When such an order 
is issued, a promoter can receive no funds through 
the mail, and for all practical purposes, his opera
tions are shut off. All mail sent to him is returned 
to the sender marked "Fraudulent" except that which, 
on its face, is clearly not connected with the unlawful 
enterprise." (Proceedings p. 30) 

To its everlasting credit, after the 1961 Quackery Congress, 

the FTC started cleaning up its act at the same time the Postal Ser

vice got progressively meaner and dirtier. The FTC learned from its 

case against Rodale Press, Inc. that the dissenting opinion of FTC 

Commissioner Elman was the will of millions of health freedom minded 

people, their Congress and the apella~e court. Instead of sulking, 

FTC, without a mandate from Congress, gave birth to the Elman or 

"mirror image doctrine" which has kept that agency out of hot water 

with first amendment citizen's ever since. 

Not only that, FTC, once a pu~pet of the AMA, responded 

properly to a request by Congressman John Moss and carefully investi

gated monopoly charges against the AMA. When FTC foUnd the charges 

to be true, it prosecuted, and has now found that the AMA is its most 

vicious enemy. The AMA position is that.if it can't control the FTC 

like it now controls the postal service, it most certainly will not 

be regulated by it. 

-------------,~--
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P.O. "TRUTH" IS THE "CONSENSUS OF MEDICAL OPINION" 

J. Edward Day, the. Postmaster General, made it clear 

that the post Office had sought for and won powerful legal 

precedents for the AMA/PO contention tha,t the "consensus of 

medical opinion" was to be court enforceable truth in the U. S, 

after 1961. Any health opinions 1n conflict with that medical 

opinion could be and have been successfully prosecuted at the 

whim of the P.O. since that time. 

Tne Postmaster General boasted: 

"The role and weight to be accorded medical 
testimony in Administrative hearings before 
the Post Office Department was established 
by two recent United States Circuit Court 
decisions--OWens Laboratories, Inc. versus 
Schroeder, and the U. S. Health Club versus 
Major. 

"These deCisions enunciate a rule that informed 
medical consensus and the 'universality of 
scientific belief' may be established through 
the testimony of a medical doctor. 

"The rule greatly strengthens the Department's 
position in medical fraud cases." 

I should saY'it did! It made it so that one single 

medical doctor chosen by the Post Offioe as an expert witness 

can establish court enforceable scientific truth for the entire 

U. S. 

Tnis is precisely what happened in the Magnolia Lab 

case referred to by Ian D. Volner in bis June 3 testimony before 

this Subcommittee. 

One single medical doctor estaolished a prima facia case 
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that the opinions expressed in a booklet were false, Oh, I know 

that the Post Office has tried to m~slead you and all other members 

of Congress by telling your stafts that they didn't go after Mr. 

Ford's booklet, but only after a false and misleading advert~se-

ment for the booklet in the National, Eng:uirer. The bottom line 

is that tne Post Office has lied to you and your staffs and con

tinues to lie to the press and the public about this case to this 

very moment. 

The Post Office went after the opinions in the booklet! 

Here is the Orwellian decision rendered by tne Post 

Otfice's Administ:.:at~ve "Judge" wh~ch, believe it or ~ot, was 

upheld on appeal~ 

.' 

"Although I found that the booklet contained 
some helpful suggestions and its author, Mr. 
Robert Ford is a knowledgeable and sincere 
person who thinks that he is performing a 
beneficial service, I found tne representations 
in the Respondent's booklet to be unproven and 
contrary to the weight of informed medical and 
scientific opinion. As indicated by Dr. Murray, 
a danger of this publication is that it will 
deceive people who have arteriosclerotic 
problems into believing tnat they can cure these 
problems by diet alone instead of seeking medical 
help. (Emphasis added) 

"Because the advertisements and this booklet 
contain materially false .representations, they 
violate the provisions of 39 U.S. Code Sec. 3005. 
Therefore, Respondents' motion to dismiss is 
denied and a mail stop order, SUbstantially in the 
form attache'd shoula be ~ssued aga~nst: Respondents." 

Signed 

Edwin S. Bernstein 

Aaminist:rat~ve Law Judge 
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"PRIVITY" THE SUPER CRIME AGAINST THF SUPER STATE 

NHF is unalterably opposed to the bill'.s $10,000 

daily civil penalities against persons who act in "privity" 

with others who are struggling to keep a book in circulation 

after the P. O. has won a stop or cease and desist order. 

It is one thing to harbour a criminal. It is quite 

another to give comfort and support even to buying and selling 

the books of a pamphleteer or publisher whose publication has 

been banned by the P. O. 

P. O. POLICE IGNORES CRIMINAL POSTAL FRAUD 

One thing becomes increasingly clear as we scrutinize 

H.R. 3973/S.1407 against the enforcement pattern of the Post 

Office. The P. O. Police want nothing to do with real postal 

fraud. They don't want to investigate postal fraud. They 

don't want to prosecute it. In fact they want and have allowed 

postal fraud to flourish for then they can come whimpering to 

Congress year after year, that they are powerless and "helpless" 

and ask for more and more civil authority to control every book 

we read, product we buy, and thought we think. 

If the present trend continues, long before 1984 the 

Postal Service will not be prosecuting a single mail fraud case 

and their entire secret police force will be concentratinq on 

controllinq the civil aspects of our lives. The Pryor-Pepper 

bill will give them a congressional mandate to do so. 

r 
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Here are the figures published by the Postal Service 

for fiscal years 1980 and 1981: 

CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS AND CONVICTIONS 

1980 1981 
l. Total criminal investigations 

completed 189,474 29,018 2. Total convictions obtained 9,576 5,410 3. Per cent of ccnvictions 
obtained of all cases brought 
to trial: 99% 98% 

CIVIL ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS 

1980 1981 
l. Cases presented to the USPS 

Law Department 226 371 2. False Representation Orders issued 72 169 3. Consent Agreements entered 67 177 4. Temporary Restraining Orders 43 59 

If mail fraud is suddenly running rampant in the United 

States could it be possible it is being carefully orchestrated 

that way? Is it possible a super agency is attempting to 

manipulate Congress by making sure there is an epidemic of. 

mail fraud raging at precisely the same time Congress, by some 

fortunate timing, is debating a bill to give the P. O. more 

authority? 

Kenneth H. Fletcher, Chief U.S. Postal Inspector made my 

point quite well when he testified before the Senate Post Office 

Subcommittee on Oct. 13, 1981, as follows: 

"We had a long series of investigations of an 
individual who peddled phony aphrodisiacs by 
mail. In the course of his activities over the 
years, he used about 55 different nam~s and 
addresses. At least 25 administrative actions 
were filed. After each filing he simply moved 
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on to new addresses, reestablishinq the 
promotion under different names. He was 
put out of business only after he was 
finall¥ convicted for mail fraud under 
the cr1minal statute." (Emphasis is mine) 

The question one might naturally ask is why it took 

25 unsuccessful administrative actions before someone at the 

P. O. finally decided to prosecute the individual cited by 

Mr. Fletcher "for mail fraud under the criminal statute." 

"REBELLION TO TYRANTS IS OBEDIENCE TO GOD" 
Thomas Jefferson 

Rebellion to tyrants may be obedience to God but 

under Pepper's bill it could also be "privity" with a $10,000 

daily fine. 

I must confess, Mr. Chairman, that I am now daily 

committing what would be the unpardonable oflcense of "privity" 

under Pepper's bill. I have used another "instrumentality of 

interstate commerce" than the U~IS. Postal Service to get a 

supply of Robert Ford's banned booklets so I could redistribute 

them to NHF members and Congress. 

The bill says: (p. 16 lines 11-15) 

"The resumption through the use of any instrumentality 
of interstate commerce of any activ'ity with respect 
to which a cease and desist order has been issued 
shall • . • be considered to be a failure to comply 
with such order." 

Any person who fails to comply with any order or who 

has actual knowledge of such order is in "privity" with the 

person against whom the order was issued and is liable to the 

United States for a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed 

$10,000 for each day of such conduct. 
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IN SUMMARY 

The National Health Federation is opposed to the 

Pryor-Pepper Mail Fraud Bill because: 

(1) It will not accomplish what ~ts .... cosponsors 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

intend. It' t . 1S no a ma11 fraud bill. 

Chairman William Ford is right. Any new 

legislation should put the P. o. out of the 

police business. 

H.R. 1411 enacted in 1~67 should be repealed 

before any ne,w au'thor~ty' , . .... 1S g1ven the P. O. 

The P. o. has a shameful h' 1story of banning 16 

publications in the past 14 years under its 

present authority. 

The P. o. has tried to mislead Congress by 

claiming it only went after the false adver,tising-

of the Ford booklet: when the f" ' acts 1n the hear-

ing record prove otherwise. 

The P. o. has tried to m~slead C .... ongress into 

believing- it is 'ihelpless" when I ;n .... fact it wins 

convictions in 98 - 99% of " cr1m1nal cases brought 
to trial. 

The P. O. has unfairly joined with the American 

Medical Association to harass and prosecute 

Chiropractors by holding- that the "consensus of 

medical opinion" was to be court enforceable truth. 
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Mr. LELAND. I would yield to my colleague from California, Mr. 
Dannemeyer. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. I would like to ask these witnesses, for my edi
fication, before 1967, what tool did the Post Office Department 
have to prosecute mail fraud at that time? 

Mr. MILLER. They had the same power they have now. It is just 
that the burden of proof required them to always prove there was 
an intent to deceive. 

The bill H.R. 1411 made a simple three-word change in the law. 
It took the word "fraud" out and put "false and misleading" in, so 
that no longer does the Post Office Department have to prove there 
was a fraudulent intent in any author's mind when they wrote a 
book in order to ban it. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Based on yOlJ.l' knowledge, are there cases 
before 1967 when the Post Office prosecuted people successfully for 
mail fraud? 

Mr. MILLER. I don't have a record from the Post Office. I just 
have the people who complained to us that they were caving in to 
threats by the Post Office Department, and the answer is "Yes." 

Health Research Publishing Co. in California-I believe you are 
from California, Mr. Dannemeyer-up in Mokelumne Hills, sent 
me documents on how they successfully banned many of his books. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. This was before 1967? 
Mr. MILLER. Yes. After 1967 they left him alone. They went after 

some new precedents that they had been trying to establish in 
other areas, and you can follow a pattern of precedent setting here, 
but the Health Research Co. was a little publishing company which 
would reprint health and esoteric books of all kinds. The Post 
Office would give him list after list of books they wouldn't let him 
advertise or sell. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Before 1967? 
Mr. MILLER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. On the grounds they were fraudulent? 
Mr. MILLER. Yes, and they had to prove fraud. He employed a 

Washington attorney on three of them, and the attorney agreed 
with them that they would change their advertising if the Post 
Office Department would let the books continue to be sold. I would 
like to put a copy of the list and his statement in the record at this 
time so you can know how they were misusing the authority they 
had before 1967. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. I find it interesting by way of contrast that 
our system will preclude the distribution through mailing a book 
by an author that apparently advocates fasting, in terms of what 
we eat, the physical food we ingest into our mouths, and by the 
same token we will tolerate the distribution of pornographic mate
rial that speaks to a different psyche, not our stomach but our 
minds, in terms of inciting lust, which our U.S. Supreme Court, in 
spite of its efforts, says it cannot really come to grips with in terms 
of what is or what is not pornographic. 

We can incite ourselves to lust beyond man's imagination so we 
perform like animals, through the distribution of pornography, but 
at the same time we preclude the distribution of materials that 
~uggest there is a better way to acquire good health, through fast
Ing. 
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I find it interesting, that a culture would acquit itself in such a 
way. 

Mr. MILLER. I couldn't state it better. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. You are suggesting, and I sense what you are 

saying is that the action Congress should take would be to repeal 
what we did in 1967. 

Mr. MILLER. And 100 years ago. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. What was done 100 years ago? 
Mr. MILLER. I am not a historian, but evidently Pryor had done 

his homework. He said about 100 years ago Congress gave the 
Postal Service the right to check fraud in the mail. They shouldn't 
have even done that. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. How about the gentleman who developed this 
aphrodisiac? You know, the world has been looking for an aphro
disiac from the beginning of time. 

Mr. LELAND. Have you checked the history on that? 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Poets have spoken of it, the Bible speaks of it. 

Apparently this gentleman has been moving about and seeking to 
distribute his book notwithstanding accusations of fraud. Shouldn't 
our system permit the prosecution of that kind of person for fraud? 
If the Post Office can prove beyond a reasonable doubt an intent to 
deceive, don't you think the Post Office should be permitted to do 
that? 

Mr. MILLER. The answer is a qualified "Yes." The system should, 
but the system should not be the present system. We agree with 
Chairman Ford's suggestion and Benjamin Franklin's suggestion, if 
you find somebody-let's take a real good example. 

Let's say instead of an aphrodisiac, you have something that will 
hurt a person's sexual life, make them impotent and hurt them for
ever. It is a dangerous, horrible product that should be banned, and 
he should be put in jail for it. 

Those of us who make the complaint, should write to the Depart
ment of rJustice because that is the proper Federal police force, and 
say, "This should be investigated." The Post Office Department 
shouldn't e'V'Jn worry about it. If I put a package in the mail with a 
stamp on it, the only thing the Post Office should worry about is 
how fast they can get it to the party it is mailed to. That is all they 
should be concerned with. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. I guess what you are saying, Mr. Miller, is you 
think our system should give the Justice Department the privilege 
and the duty of pursuing prosecution under criminal fraud rather 
than the Post· Office Department. 

Mr. MILLER. Precisely. And then it shouldn't be messing around 
with books. Even the Justice Department should never do this. We 
should then watch the Justice Department very carefully. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. This is news to me, and like any citizen, I try 
to stay up on what is happening in our country. 

I am appalled, frankly, as a citizen, let alone a Member of Con
gress, to find out there has been an agency of Government, which I 
serve, that has banned a book that speaks to the topic 9f fasting as 
a means of improving health. I am just appalled that our system 
will tolerate that. 
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. h in the world, but that is 
It may be the b~ggest, ?h~nIW~ s~ i~n:he world is the Post Office 

what free speech IS all a o~ . a ok and an author of that type? 
Department doing :prosecu~ng a go ou know, that if you fast for-

I suppose. the c~nd cTh te i~:r;~.YThat is harmful to health, to 
ever you Will be ea. a d or 4 da s-Moses fasted for 40 
fast forever, b':lt to fast for 2 aY: sed b dod as an instrument of 
da;ys ~nd 40 ~I~tf,' an~ t~nw:; Wester~ civilization. It didn't seem 
brIngIng fort t e oun a 
to hurt him. 

Thank you very much. l'~ . 
M L I thank the gentleman from Ca 1 ornla. . 

r. ELAND. d Y have made some very seriOUS 
Mr. ~iller, I am cOheern~ ilO\~~d with scrutiny the t~stimony 

allegatIOns, and you av~ 0 d' this matter 
before today in these hearIngs [~g~~i~:or image" a~endment that 

Can you comment to us on m:rican publishers Ass?ciation and 
has been proposet by the A before us who are particularly con-
some others who ave come . bout? 
cerned about ju~ w~ir:v~uth~e ~~;~~1~age ~mendment is the ~ig-

Mr. MILLER. ~ e. " a ency has ever taken. I thInk 
gest step in the rlg~ ddecgon ar:Sio~ upon their own initiative, 
when the Feder~l la 1 e . lti~n adopted the mirror image doc-
without congressIOna egIS a e~ted that agency to do. 
trine it was exa~tly wha} we eX~ibits I think it is exhibit 7, I have 

For example, In one 0 my ex . b kl t because whenever any-
included the advertisement ~ffj thIS nd s:id "Is this book really 
body has called the Post ICe a ent ~fter an advertisement 
banned?" The Post Office says no, 1e ~ok at the advertisement to 
on the book. We only hav~ our ,Peop efalse about it 
see if there is anything mIsleadIng or could write Many people 

It was as fair an ad as any persf~k at the ad' in our exhibit 
could write a differ~nt ad, but ~ou 0 '11 find the book is exactly 
side by side with this booklet an you WI 

what is described. ., f American publishers and Ian 
We agree with the. Assoc~atIOn ~ t don't think it is the Post 

Volner who gave theIr testimony. u dwe t' . g of books , t' d t t monitor aver ISIn '. . 
Office Departmen s 1 uT

y d C mission that handles advertISlng, 
We have a Federa r!1 e om th are born again. I mean, 

and it does a very goodi~;Th th~~id ~rLook, the AMA can't mo-
they are now af~er the. II' ey·s what FTC is for. 
nopolize health In Amerlc~. T~nt 1 t make the Post Office Depart-

The mirror image doctrIne we ~o inly we will support it. If we 
ment a well behaved agency. e! a ort that amendment. We 
can't get anything better, we WIll su~p entleman from West Vir-
w:i1~ support .a.n ,:cmelt~e~~ fu~t~kl an gamendment that says th~t , 
glnIa who sal, o~ n back guarantee and performs It 
any person who gIves a mone.y: f the Post Office law?" 
would be exempt fronl any 1ioVlf:o::ybody offers anything through 

That seems to be reasona e. t nd in fact keep 
th~ mail and th~y offer a money-bac~ ~~::an t~e:e that the Post 
the guarantee, lIke ~eald Ro~buc:~ be worried about whether or 
Office Department s o£ no ythlng as long ~s I can get a money-
not I waste my money or an 

\ 
back guarantee. 
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We can amend this monster as often as we want, but I think all 
we are doing is rearranging the scar tissue. 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Miller, in all of our deliberations regarding this 
matter, we have heard testimony that the problem has reached 
such proportions that something absolutely has to be done in 
regard to this very devastating problem to people we have heard ' 
from who have been victimized by fraudulent mail, and advertis
ing. ' 

Don't you consider that the problem is indeed serious, and to 
such a degree that it is considered to be epidemic? 

Mr. MILLER. I believe that if the epidemic is there, the infectious 
agent is the Post Office Department. 

Mr. LELAND. The implication there is that it is the Post Office 
that is the culprit in the matter. 

Mr. MILLER. Look at the record. How can you justify dropping 
from 10,000 cases to 5,000 cases in 1 year? If it is epidemic, why 
haven't they come before you to say they don't have budget. They 
went from 10,000 prosecutions to 5,000 between 1980 and 1981. 

We submit it was nicely timed with the enactment of this bill so 
when they came and said, "Hey, there is a lot of fraud out there," 
there would be a lot of fraud out there. 

They are not without weapons. All they have to do is go through 
their complaint file and say, "OK. Let's go after real fraud." 

I think this case Fletcher pointed out is typical of what they are 
doing. Why on earth would they go after a case 25 times under 
civil procedures? A second-grade student would know on the second 
time around, if you don't get him on civil procedure you get him 
the second time with a criminal charge. 

They are not enforcing the law against criminals right now. They 
won't reveal their files. You call them up. Maybe you will get 
better answers than we, bu.t we call and say, "Show us the relation
ship between these real frauds you are talking about and your in
ability to get them under the criminal statutes," and they refuse 
totally even to talk to you. 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Miller, I am concerned when you say the Post 
Office is the culprit. I am concerned that there have been other 
people who have suggested that the people who have produced 
some of the alleged fraudulent and misleading materials through 
the mail have really hurt a lot of people; namely, Senator Pryor 
and Congressman Pepper. 

I am concerned that they feel that the matter is so prevalent and 
so pressing that indeed they would come and push this legislation 
with all of their resources and influence. 

Are you saying that, in fact, they are just altogether wrong; that 
the Post Office should have no role in this matter of trying to curb 
the problems that we see in dealing with mail fraud? 

Mr: MILLER. It seems to me, Mr. Chairman, that if you will check 
the figures in .my testimony, the Post Office Department is deliber
ately restraining its enforcement against true fraud. Nothing else 
can come out of those figures. . 

Let me make an analogy. Here in Washington, D.C., if the police 
wanted to have an increased appropriation for the vice squad, it 
would try to show that prostitution is running rampant, so they 
pull off all the cops and they let prostitutes invade the nice resi-
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dential areas so people will begin to call in and say, "We don't 
want these prostitutes out on the corner with our schoolchildren," 
and then they would come before you and say, "Mr. Congressman, 
we can't handle the problem. We have to have more money. We 
have to have more authority," and suddenly they get it and they do 
that which they already had the authority to do, only they do it 
afterward. 

This is the oldest con game in history. Any person who has ever 
read the newspapers knows when agencies need more power or 
more money they deliberately contrive a situation to appear help
less. 

Now, I am not saying, and I hope that I have emphasized this, 
that the problem is not serious, but I am saying they ought to pros
ecute it with the power they now have or better yet, turn it over to 
the Department of Justice. The post office should prepare their 
cases properly, not like they did in Kansas City. 

My exhibits 4, 5, and 6 point out over in Kansas City the Post 
Office went after 16 white-collar professionals. After they destroyed 
the reputations of these people and destroyed their businesses, they 
had eight people they couldn't even convict. One judge overturned 
a jury conviction of an attorney that was unjustly caught up in this 
white-collar scandal. 

I have included his full statement in my testimony, but he said 
that the investigatory abuses of the Postal Service shocked the con
science of the court. 

The Postal Service doesn't know how to even run a decent inves
tigation. The Justice Department does, and we think that the 
proper thing for us to do now is to have Congress say, "Obviously 
here is an agency that is having an awfully hard time even deliver
ing mail. Let's get mail censorship out of the Post Office Depart
ment. Let's make it so when a complaint comes in on fraud, we 
give it to the Justice Department and then make sure we watch 
the Justice Department." 

Then we don't run roughshod over people who are absolutely in
nocent. Eight of those people in Kansas City were innocent. When 
they were through, the newspaper account which I have included 
points out that the Postal investigators said, "Sure, we ruined their 
businesses, we destroyed their reputations, we have destroyed them 
financially, but a 50-percent record is not bad." 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Miller, thank you very much, and I thank you 
and your associate for your testimony. 

Let me assure you we are carefully considering this matter, and 
we are trying to take into account all concerns. We have been as 
comprehensive, I think, as any subcommittee could be in regard to 
this matter because we do feel that it is a very important issue and 
a very complicated issue, particularly with regard to the first 
amendment rights. Please understand that we have heard your 
grievance and we will consider what you have said. 

Mr. MILLER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Ms. SALAMAN. Thank you very much for allowing me to appear 

before you today. 
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STATEMENT OF GERTRUDE ENGEL, ACCOMPANIED BY VICTOR 
EARL IRONS 

Ms. ENGEL. Mr. Chairman, my name is Gertrude Engel, and I 
brought with me one of the giants in America, Mr. Victor Earl 
Irons, who is 87 years old. He is absolutely alert, has a marvelous 
mind, and is looking for freedom. We call him our Uncle Sam as 
the health person in America. 

Mr. LELAND. We certainly welcome you to our ilearing. 
Ms. ENGEL. We thank you for the honor and privilege of appear

ing before you today. 
We speak in behalf of the Health Victory Group, St. lves Labora

tories, Natural Food Associates, American Health Education Foun
dation, which issues 636,000 "Pathways to Living" every month 
that are circulated throughout the country, and Victor Earl Irons 
is our "Mr. America for Health." 

We wish to extend kindness accolades to key staff members initi
ating proceedings re: S. 1407 and H.R. 3973 for their wisdom and 
understanding, namely: Val Halamandaris, Ed Jayne, Wayne 
Schley, Knox Walkup, George Davis and Louis Delgado, for their 
allowances of friendly, frank and fair discussions requesting consid
erations for hearings and amendment changes. We have 100 Sena
tors, and 99 are my very best friends. 

We realize that S. 1407 passed and they asked for three changes. 
We met with these marvelously skilled people and talked about 
three changes we wanted, and they believed in us and cooperated. 
We suggested written investigator demands instead of subpena to 
seek access to any books, records, documents or other related mat
ters. 

The reason we made this suggestion is because during my 12 
years working in Washington, D.C., and with most of the agencies 
and with the post office based on experience. Incidentally we were 
in Mr. William Bolger's office on Monday. Absolutely supreme. Mr. 
Bolger is one of the most dedicated Postmasters General we have 
ever had in Government. He is not only handsome but he is smart, 
too, and I was so glad to have the opportunity to meet that remark
able man and several people here today were with me at the time 
we went to see the Postmaster General. 

Our second request was for appropriate district court determina
tion instead of an administrative law judge. 

I have found in past proceedings where I have appeared as a wit
ness with the Food and Drug Administration that if they didn't 
like the way I wore my dress or my personal appearance, to be 
very factual about it, they might say, 'Well, no, we are not for 
you," so, therefore, I felt that anything we did should not be ad
ministered by an administrative law clerk; it should go to the 
court. Let the judge make the decision. He is the smartest one on 
the bench. 

Our third one was status for a penalty of up to $10,000 a day for 
those who evade the order. 

We were against that. In my experience-I have had 29 years of 
it in public relations, in research, in lecturing, traveling around 
the country-I find that $10,000 a day may be in excess of any poor 
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person who couldn't afford to pay it, and maybe the judge would 
allow him or her to have probation. 

We don't know the psychological demeanor of people, why they 
do the things they do. Maybe they do it because they feel inad
equate. There are all kinds of reasons and we have to deal with an 
individual on a psychological basis, and I happen to be a psycholo
gy major. 

We are dealing with a highly sensitive issue, and we note the 
mail fraud statute under title 39, United States Code, section 3005, 
has been in effect for a long time and it has accomplished miracles. 

I have had a bleeding heart when I attend a formal hearing here 
and listen to these people who were bilked out of $65,000, $25,000, 
victimized by con artists, and I know what those con artists are 
like because just the other day I had someone call me on the tele
phone who used a fictitious name and wanted to involve me in 
something that I had no use for whatsoever, but he was very cun
ning, very smart, and I said, "No, thank you," and I hung up. 

I think that we are not against, totally against, this bill. I am for 
what Mr. Irons believes in. He believes in freedom. Now, the word 
"freedom" takes on a lot of connotations: how you use your free
dom, where you are giving your freedom, when and why. 

We have wonderful Congressmen here, I believe, and I am sorry 
to know that in November some of th(~m will be defeated. That is 
because of misunderstandings and the situations that exist in the 
country today. 

I feel just as does James Kilpatrick, who spelled out new powers 
for the Postal Service when he wrote that in cases of palpable 
fraud, of course, the Postal Service should have power to act, but 
where the sums of money are small and. the supposed benefits are 
subjective, I submit that the power, might and majesty of the U.S. 
Government ought to be put to better use, and the right to spend 
our own money embraces a right to waste if we choose. 

Now, can the Postal Service evaluate health information? I am 
told we have 17 regional investigators, or postal agents. Scientists 
are all experts, yet no two agree. I have talked to many of them 
and making judgments with regard to advertisements an4 claims 
for health products and services is not easy. 

I understand through the Postal Service that these people get an 
education 011 who they believe is using the mails for fraud, but 
they are not educated in psychology and science. It takes educa
tion. It takes people who are aware of what is going on to be able 
to ascertain who should be convicted for mail fraud, who should be 
charged with things that are not common, and this is the way it 
should go. 

We have to temper our mercy with justice, and we have to be 
able to have some questioning in the evaluation of health products 
and services. 

Now, does the Postal authority know this? Do they lead one to 
self-diagnosis and self-medication? Are services being sold on the 
basis of personal testimonials? If research findings are quoted, who 
did the research? Were they done by qualified and unbiased 
people? 

If authorities are quoted, who are they? If literature is presented, 
is it acceptable to medical, dental and public health professionals? 
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Does the sales appeal play on fears or superstitious belief? Is the 
sponsor of the product or services a recognized, bona fide organiza
tIon? Is the product offered as a cure-all or as a sure-cure for 
cancer, arthritis, or heart disease? 

When doubt exists with regard to health products and services 
they should be checked out with the family doctor, the local health 
department, the Better Business Bureau or the school or college 
heal~h e?ucator. We!l-recogni:;ed ?rganizations occasionally put out 
publIcatIOns evaluatIng certain kInds of health information that is 
of value to the consumer. 
" Mr .. Kenneth ;Flet,cher, who is the Chief ;Po~t~l Inspector, said, 
The ldeal solutIOn IS, of course, to prevent IndIVIduals from being 

victi~ized in the first place." With that we all agree. He suggests 
publIc awareness. 

Radio announcements-and I don't know whether Mr. Chair
man, you heard them recentlr-say, "If you suspect'mail fraud 
contact your Postal Inspector.' It merely takes a telephone call t~ 
do that and keep them aware of what is going on. 

W ~ suggest valuation assistance from newspapers and magazine 
publIshers. Now, ~he rea~on I say that, Mr. Chairman, did you see 
Newsweek. magaZIne? DId you ever see anything more horrible 
~han. the fIgure of t~e bosom of a wo~an? I really think if anybody 
IS gOIng to do anythIng at all, they mIght talk with the Newsweek 
authority. . 

~ think they owe an .apology to womanhood. Now, to go on to 
thIS. If you s~spect ~aII fraud contact your postal inspector. We 
sug~est valuatIOn assistanc~. We respectfully request your reconsid
e,ratIOn for delay. Mr .. Chairman, I would like to see, and I would 
lIke to offer my serVIces as a volunteer, and a chance to digest 
more of wh~t the Sup:eme Court just had in their opinion on the 
book SItuatIOn. Here IS the Supreme Court situation which just 
ca~ne up and this is what they recommended because there was 
qUIte a controversy on whether school systems should ban certain 
pornographic books, certain other kinds of literature from the 
schools and do ~ou"know, Mr. Chairman, what happened? The Su
preme Court saId: No board member of any school system is edu
cated enough to ban a book from a child who wants to read it, or 
from a student." And I thought it was a tremendous opinion. 
Therefore, we are going to carryon, we are covered at least by the 
Supreme Court decision which is already in effect and I think it is 
great. I was going to suggest a task force, if I may, please, and I 
will work with you as a volunteer. 
Beca~se of the interfer~l1ce. with .FTC, FDA, Just~ce Department, 

and polIce and others, thIS WIll be In the record. I Just wanted you 
to reconsider a delay of this bill so we can do more research com
pile more literature, and I am willing to conduct it myself h~re in 
Washington. I am used to it. 

Mr. LELAND. I would advise that you work very closely with the 
staff of my subcommittee. 

Ms. ENGEL. You have some marvelous staff members and I want 
to congratulate them for their courtesy and kindness. 

May I have the opportunity of discussing this with them so we 
can consider more research on this. 

Mr. LELAND. You have the right to ask anyone. 

_________ L ______ '"'- _____ ----':....' _____ - __ 
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Ms. ENGEL. We appreciate it. 
Mr. LELAND. Did the gentleman have something to say? 
Ms. ENGEL. No, he just wa.nts to extend his wishes today for suc

cess in our endeavors. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Joel Amkraut is the next witness. 

STATEMENT OF JOEL AMKRAUT, PRESIDENT, COUNCIL ON 
POSTAL SUPPRESSION 

Mr. AMKRAUT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I have prepared some notes, I have summarized the testimony 

and I will submit the written testimony for the record with your 
permission. 

My name is .Joel Amkraut and I am the spokesman for the Coun
cil on Postal Suppression which is an organization recently formed 
to monitor and hopefully oppose postal service violations of free 
speech and other abuses of their power. 

I would like to put this whole matter of the bill in perspective. 
'We have heard a lot about various abuses of the Post Office against 
free speech and against the holistic health field as a matter of 
course but I think Mr. Ford asked the real question which is 
whether the Postal Service should be in the law enforcement busi
ness at all. Maybe it should simply stick to the mail and let the 
Justice Department enforce the laws. 

'Jlhe Post Office might only concern itself with handling the mail 
rather than being interested in what is being mailed. I would also 
like to point out, since the Post Office has tried to make it seem 
that this bill is an outgrowth of a supposed epidemic of mail fraud, 
this bill doesn't really respond to any new revelations. 

Many of the same powers in the bill were found in H.R. 6307 of 
the 96th Congress and the Post Office seems to have used Mr. Pep
per's fraud hearings simply as a vehicle to resume its search for 
more power. 

I would also like to clarify a few other matters about the present 
state of the law which have been somewhat muddied and confused 
by the Post Office in lobbying for this bill. 

First off, I would like to clarify the distinction between criminal 
and civil law. Under title 18, United States Code, section 1314, that 
is the Postal Service-criminal mail fraud provision. It has the 
usual procedure in criminal cases with the appropriate due process 
procedures. The bill though, in lobbying for the bill the Postal 
Service has presented victims of criminal fraud and yet this bill 
deals primarily with the so-called false representation statute, title 
39 United States Code, section 3005 which is an entirely separate 
matter. So, the Postal Service has paraded before Congress victims 
of genuine mail fraud and then by some sort of ledger domain tried 
to make it seem if things would be improved if they got more 
power for the false representation statutes. Except for the inspec
tion provisions of this H.R. 3973, the entire bill deals with false 
representation statutes, not with genuine criminal mail fraud. 

There has also been a few confusing points in testimony. The 
Post Office has attempted to make it, seem that the present limited 
sanctions of the false representation statutes hamper enforcement 
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of the criminal statute, which is true. They have also tried to give 
the impression that the normal due process procedures present in 
the criminal law hamper, or exist under the false representation 
procedures, which also is not true. 

I would like to comment on some of the abuses that already exist 
under the present false representation statute, section 3005. First I 
would like to point out that the criminal law, section 1314, that is, 
is already extremely broad and even without the inspection provi
sions present in this bill it has allowed the Post Office more or less 
to go through the country and jump into any case it desires. Many 
of these cases, as Mr. Miller Pointed out, have to do with chiroprac
tors or other aspects of nonorthodox or holistic health but since 
this bill deals with false representation statutes I am going to con
centrate on present abuses. 

Now, this is just under the present law. The Post Office is able to 
do the following. The problems with section 3005 are several but I 
would say they stem from the overbroad authority and lack of 
genuine due process in these proceedings. I hate to use the phrase 
"kangaroo courts" to describe section 3005 proceeding but I have 
talked to a number of attorneys who have litigated these matters, I 
have talked to a number of respondents and the phrase "kangaroo 
court" just keeps recurring and in our own opinion I know of no 
other term to describe these proceedings. 

What you have here is a captive in-house Postal Service court. I 
use "court" in quotation marks. The respondent in these cases is in 
a Postal Service hearing room before a Postal Service judge and 
jury. The Postal Service Act is the appellate court and of course 
there is a Postal Service prosecutor and the whole matter is taking 
place under Postal Service rules of procedure and relying on Postal 
Service precedents and case law. . 

In such a situation it is perhaps not surprising that the Post 
Office prevails in about 99 percent of such cases. I don't know of a 
sjngle health-related case under section 3005 where the respndent 
won at the hearing level. Perhaps the Post Office could name one 
but I couldn't find one and none of the attorneys I spoke to could 
tell me of one. 

The cases th81t actually reached the hearing stage under section 
3005, are only the tip of the iceberg because for every case which 
does go that far there are countless cases which the respondent 
simply threw in the towel and refused to waste money 011 w'hat 
really was a preordained conclusion. 

One of the problems there is that essentially there is very little 
accountability. The Post Office can render a decision on what 
amounts to an ipsi disit basis essentially answering to no one. They 
do not have to bring their case to a jury or judge. For several prac
tical reasons appeal is not available to the respondent. First off, 
most of the victims of Postal Service prosecution are small firms 
with little legal sophistication or resources for legal counsel. Now, 
even· if such a firm would decide to context the 3005 matter at the 
hearing, it is expensive. The decision is at the hearing for all prac
tical purposes to be considered to have been made in advance and 
once the decision goes against you at the hearing level you have a 
second layer of Postal Service administrative process. You have to 
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appeal to the judicial officer, which again entails considerable legal 
expense which probably is not available. 

Only after that can you appeal up to the Federal courts and even 
at that point you are not entitled to a trial de novo. The Federal 
court will basically only look to see that the procedure has been 
followed and it won't question the findings of fact. Essentially 
when the Post Office makes a decision, it is made. 

Of course the standard of so-called proof in 3005 proceedings are 
considerably less than in criminal proceedings. The Post Office 
doesn't have to show any criminal intent or intent to defraud. They 
have no need to actUally prove injury to anyone. In fact, under the 
present law even if you are offering the refund guarantee and hon
oring it, it doesn't make any difference. 

Also, of course, the' evidence standard is the so-called preponder
ance of evidence of administrative law which as you probably know 
is considerably less than the beyond a reasonable doubt standard of 
criminal law. 

One of the present problems under the law that really upsets me 
comes in under the companion statutes, section 3007, of which very 
little has been said at these hearings. 

Now title 39, United States Code, 3007 allows impoundmellt of 
the respondent's mail pending an administrative proceeding. Even 
before the administrative proceeding is begun the Post Office may 
seek permission to impound the mail. The Post Office, thank 
heaven, has to go to a district court to get this injunction or tempo
rary restraining order and injunction. However, the section 3007 is 
quite restrictively written. It says the judge shall grant the injunc
tion, not may grant the injunction~ if probable cause is shown. The 
probable cause has been interpreted sometimes as meaning that 
the Post Office has the prima facie case just for starting the case so 
essentially they are saying if the Post Office is not blatantly in 
error even in prosecuting a case it'is entitled to impound the mail 
until the administration procedure has run its course. 

Now, obviously for a mail order business when you shut off the 
incoming mail it is equivalent to padlocking the door. I can think 
of very few businesses that could survive with their income cut off 
for more than perhaps a week or a couple of weeks and these ad
ministrative proceedings may go on for months or even years. This 
has been pointed out to the Post Office and the Post Office has in
dicated it is their policy that they will make no special effort to 
expedite proceedings when an injunction is in effect. The Post 
Office apparently would prefer to bleed the respondent to death 
rather than letting a conclusion at law be the actual deciding 
factor. 

The present abusive statutory setup and lack of due process lead 
to a number of violations. As Ian Volher pretty substantially de
scr~bed in his testimony at the last hearing, there has been a long 
serIes of book suppressions and suppressions of periodicals and 
other ideas. This has been well documented. I won't waste your 
time now going over it in detail. The latest case is the , .. suppression 
of the Nutritional Bulk Book put out by Magnolia Laboratories. It 
is essentially dietressing when, contrasted with the Postal Service's 
duty to disseminate ideas, not decide to suppress them or judge 
what is worthy of being distributed. 
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The other aspect of abuse under the present law which hasn't 
been much described is suppression of products. The Postal Office 
uses its already overbroad authority to suppress various products. 
A prime victim of this sort of action is the entire holistic health 
field. Under Postal Service created precedents and case law, the 
Post Office has reached the point where it has stretched its already 
broad authority like taffy to the point where it has decided that if 
a product, or what you say about it, is not in consensus with the 
majority of informed medical and scientific opinion, then that prod
uct is false and misleading. 

In other words, a majority viewpoint in the field of science or 
health is, per se, wrong and therefore the Post Office can impose a 
stop order. Again cases under section 3005 deal with holistic 
health. Mr. Miller documented what appears to be a long-term pat
tern of Postal Service abuse against the holistic health field rang
ing from chiropractors and other aspects. That was several decades 
ago but things haven't changed as the recent Magnolia Lab case 
indicates. 

It appears that the Post office has taken up the sword for the 
medical establishment and almost acts as an arm of the FDA at 
times. The Post Office has refused our Freedom of Information Act 
requests seeking to 'clarify such liaisons and insists on maintaining 
its own secret guidelines for choosing cases, prosecuting them or 
settling them. 

As an organization considerably concerned with Postal Service 
abuses we are continually distressed by their insistence on their 
own body of what we would call secret law in contravention of the 
spirit and probably the letter of the Freedom of Information Act 
and the spirit of openness in government. 

I would like to summarize H.R. 3973 and show how abuses would 
come about. Postal Service power is shown in several areas. The in
spection authority expands the Postal Service general investigatory 
powers. It affects any matter under investigation by the Post 
Office. The rest of the bill deals with section 3005, of title 39, 
United States Code. 

Dealing with the inspection authority first we have to consider 
that this authority would be granted in the context of the already 
extremely broad authority granted to the Postal Service under 180 
se 1313, the Criminal Mail Fraud Statutes. The 1314 section is ex
tremely broad. Essentially the Post Office can jump in anywhere, 
where the use of mails is part of a supposed scheme. 

Now, this would mean, for instance, a chiropractor being perse
cuted by FDA or anyone else, the Post Office could jump in, the 
thought being that he presumably mails out bills to patients, or 
medicare billing or any other use of the mails. Essentially they 
have a mandate to involve themselves in almost any Federal case 
almost anywhere at will. . 

We also object, in addition to the section 3005 being questionable 
in itself, there is a presupposition of wrongdoing. If someone gets a 
demand, from the Post Office and resists that up to the court level 
he is presumed to be guilty of whatever the matter in question is. 
This would allow the Postal Service to impose a stop order immedi
ately. 
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We also object to the apparent extension of this inspection au
thority to involve third parties. There is apparently nothing in this 
section that would prevent the Post Office from serving its de
mands on third parties. For example, if it was chasing a mail order 
company it could go out to anyone it suspected of buying from that 
company and demand to see the person's checkbook. It could go on 
similar fishing expeditions almost at will. 

There is an obvious ability to intimidate there because even 
though the Postal Service has to back up its inspection authority 
with an order from the court, when two Postal Inspectors with 
guns come to an average small business or a home or a church 
with all the majesty of the U.S. Government behind them, with an 
official log document in hand, the recipient is going to be extreme
ly intimidated, to say the least, and I would suspect very likely 
would turn over the documents at that point. 

So, we object to the inspection authority on principle and we 
think if any is granted it should be extremely limited as to breadth 
and cause. There should be procedures for watching it at an agency 
level, and other procedures which I cover in more detail in my 
written testimony. 

The rest of the bill of course deals with section 3005. It adds 
more power to the Postal Service false representation statutes. 

Now the first objection we have deals with the product demand 
authority. This is essentially the same as the search subpena in
spection authority except of course that the Postal Service has to 
pay for the product they are demanding. We do not think that sup
posed failure to provide the product on demand should be proof, 
per se, of guilt, as it is in the present proposed law. Obviously as 
with inspection authority, any resistance to demand should be en
tirely separate from legal factfmding and conclusion at law. We do 
not believe in short circuiting even the scant safeguard of a Postal 
Service in-house hearing. We don't think resistance to the demands 
or failure should have any implication of guilt. 

The next major power here that comes to mind is the cease and 
desist authority. We consider this an extremely dangerous and un
justified expansion of Postal Service authority from over the mails 
to over the persons. I remind you that this cease and desist author
ity would be granted not to a U.S. court but to a lawyer, what ap
pears to be a kangaroo court. It would be in addition to the present 
power to issue stop orders, so you are basically investing a biased 
court with still more power. 

I would like to point out in passing an apparent contradiction be
tween Postal Service lobbying and statements for this bill and the 
state of the law. 

In connection with requesting and justifying cease and desist au
thority the Postal Service has indicated that a person with a stop 
order against him can simply move from place to place and use a 
new address and thereby evade the stop orders and for the Post 
Office to institute new proceedings. I believe there was a case cited 
today where the Post Office supposedly did 25 administrative pro
ceedings in a matter involving an aphrodisiac. Well, these state
ments are completely contrary to title 39, Code of Federal Regula
tions part 952 which is the rules of practice in proceedings under 
title 39, United States Code section 3005. Section 952.29 of these 
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rules of practice allow the Post Office to simply modify the existing 
stop orders to apply to a new address, if someone is trying to get 
around a stop order. 

So, apparently this is a blatant misrepresentation of the state of 
the present law. 

We do not feel the Post Office has justified cease and desist 
power for itself. Aside from that rationalization I haven't seen any
thing in the evidence that would justify such power, or a need for 
such power. 

We also object to the expansion of Postal Service authority to 
cover any means of interstate commerce. It would appear as the 
DMMA's testimony pointed out that this would overstep the Postal 
Service's very mandate for existence. We were so surprised at this 
section of the bill that it almost seemed as if it was something in
tended to be thrown away as a supposed concession to opponents. 
We are astonished that the phone company or United Parcel Serv
ice has not yet brought this matter up but at any: rate we do .not 
feel the Postal Service should have any authorIty over UnIted 
Parcel Service, over courier services, over phone calls, over door-to
door sales or for this matter if I want to load a bunch of books in 
my car and go through the country State by State, they shouldn't 
have authority over that either. Their present authority that is 
somewhat questionable should be limited only to the mails. 

Another very dangerous part of this bill is the in privity clause, 
which allows the Post Office to not only hang a sword over a 
person against whom it has instituted a case but over anyone sup
posedly in privity with him. Now, we have to consider this privity 
clause in the context of the cease and desist order and the inter
state commerce clause and as a detail in the context of the massive 
civil fines. If you, Mr. Chairman, for example, were selling a vita
min supplement or let's say amino acid supplement because there 
have been several such cases recently, and the Postal Service kan
garoo court ruled against you, and if they had this power, they 
would probably issue a vague cease and desist forbidding you from 
ever again making supposed false representations about the value 
of amino acids or other nutritional supplements. 

With that hanging over your head, at any time the Postal Serv
ice could come down on you with a request for $20,000 a day in 
fines because it would be $10,000 for trying to get around a stop 
order and $10,000 for trying to get around a cease and desist order. 

The average person in this situation would probably be intimi
dated out of the entire supplement fielq knowing that such a sword 
hung over his head, at this time. . 

Furthermore, in the context of the in privity _clause, other per
sons would be extremely reluctant to be involved in business with 
you because if you sold anything in the food supplement area they 
could be accused of being in privity with your attempt to get 
around this restriction and the fines could be imposed on them 
also. 

It seems to us, Mr. Chairman, such a clause in combination with 
the other clauses in the expansion to cover all means of interstate 
commerce could mean that any person once prosecuted by the Post 
Office, could almost be branded as an untouchable in his area of 
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business and people would be afraid to become involved with him 
as partners, or even suppliers. . 

I would like to remind you that all these powers contemplat~d In 
what we feel is a very ill-advised bill, would enforce not ~he Judg
ments of a Federal court but what has been termed wIth good 
reason as a kangaroo court.. .. 

Just touching on the fines, we do thInk ~20,OOO a ~a:y IS excessIve 
to say the least, especi!llly whe~ you consIder that It . IS. not ~nforc
ing an outside court, Just the Judgments of an admInIstrative so-
called court. . 

We feel, Mr. Chairman, that the real task before you IS not to 
give the Postal Service more power but to remedy the abuses that 
stem from defects in the present law: . 

Now the National Health FederatIOn hs not yet prepared .ItS sug
gested amendments to the bill and the ACLU presumably will have 
some comments about the present state. of the l~w and ab~ut the 
bill under consideration but I would lIke to briefly explaIn two 
amendments I have and then I would be glad to answer any ques-
tions you have, sir. .... 

The first amendment I propose, whIch IS' of course In my wrItten 
testimony would to a small degree help remedy some of the more 
glaring la'cks of due process in the present section 3005 statutory 
scheme. .. th 

We propose that there be an addition that, for convICtIOn ere 
has to be an intent to defraud. 

We also propose that any such orders. issued by the Po~tal Serv
ice shall be subject to a trial de novo In Federal court If the re
spondent wants and that if he prevails the Post Office shall be 
liable for double the damages done by the action under 3005. 

Now, the other amendment I propose as to title 39 U.S.~., 3005, 
the impoundment statute. Basically what I have done here IS leave 
the remedy open in extreme cases where such an extreme r~medy 
is justified and yet I tried to restrict it so the p.ost Office. wIll not 
be able to impose the impoundment as an adjunct punIshment. 
And I say the restraining order or injunction should be s~ught. or 
granted only in extraordinary circumstance~ w~ere th~re IS major 
public financial harm or where a product IS dIrectly, Itself, phys-
ically dangerous or harmful. '. 

I also say that if an impoundmen~ ~s in. effec~ the Post ~ffice 
should expedite matters so that t~e InJun~tI?n wI~1 not substitute 
for a conclusion of law by destroYIng the bUSIness Itself. I say that 
the Post Office should also make arrangements to set up an escrow 
or other arrangement so that the injunction itself won't cause irre-
pairable harm to the company. . 

Also that the impoundment should only prevent the dehvery of 
actual money to the respondent because I know in. a number C?f 
cases the Postal Service has used the impoundment, Interpreted It 
themselves, and prevent communication from customers to the 
company in question. 

Mr. Chairman, we emphasize that these amend~ents are offered 
only to try to ameliorate a very bad bill and only If the rest of the 
bill were discarded. 

I would be honored to answer any questions you have. 
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Mr. LELAND. I have no questions. You have been most explicit 
and I certainly appreciate your cogent arguments against what vou 
feel to be a bad bill. I would suggest to you as I have suggested ;ar
lier, that we are really trying to resolve a problem that is most 
severe, and damaging to thousands of people in this country. We 
have heard testimony from them and from their institutions and 
we are directly concerned with that. 

We are not trying to jam anything down anybody's throat. It is 
not our purpose to enhance the police powers of the Postal Service 
but rather to look at options, look at avenues by which we can're
solve this problem. If it follows that it is the case that we have to 
do that with the Post Office, then so be it. We take into considera
tion the objections made by you and other witnesses who' have ob
jected to what they consider to be alleged abuse of powers that 
might be rendered to the Post Office. 

Mr. AMKRAuT. Mr. Chairman, the Post Office has brought before 
this committee some very sad stories of persons and especially 
senior citizens damaged by mail fraud. I would like to point out 
that the really bad cases deal not with the section 3005 that are 
blatant criminal mail fraud. In this case we give more power under 
the false representation statutes. I think a criminal should be pros
ecuted as a criminal and criminal mail fraud be prosecuted as 
crimi~al mail fraud but I think that many of the cases under 3005, 
espeCIally the health-related ones, are little more than the Postal 
Service enfo,rcing its own version of orthodoxy and judging that 
that person IS correct and branding anyone else as liars and scoun
drels. . 

Mr. LELAND. I understand. 
T~ank you very much for your testimony. We certainly appreci

ate It. 
Mr. AMKRAUT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair will now adjourn this session of this sub

committee. The next hearing will be JUly 20. Thank you. 
[Whereupon at 12:55 p.m. the subcommittee adjourned.] 
[The prepared statement submitted by Mr. Amkraut follows:] 
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STATEMENT OF JOEL AMKRAUT, President 

Council On Postal Suppression (COPS) 

My name is Joel Amkraut, and I am here today as President 

and spokesman for the Council On Postal Suppression (C.O.P.S.), 

a "watchdog" organization concerned with Postal Service 

powers and actions. COPS is a new organization, formed in 

response to a continuing pattern of Postal Service abuses 

against businesses and individuals. I myself have an extensive 

background in mailorder/ direct mail advertising and marketing, 

and have monitored and studied Postal Service police activities 

for several years, with mounting dismay. 

On behalf of COPS, I thank the Subcommittee for this 

chance to testify on HR.3973. We are very concerned about 

this bill, because it vests tremendous new powers in an 

already abusive agency and an already ab~sive statutory 

scheme, without doing anything to remedy present abuses 

and inequities. 

Postal Service Lobbying For HR.3973 

HR.3973, The Postal Service Amendments of 1981, supposedly 

arose from Mr. Claude Peppers' series of fraud hearings, 

conducted by his committee on the aging. Actually, the Pestal 

Service has for some time sought additional powers for itself, 

and many of the provisions of HR.3973 were present in HR.6307 

of the 96th congress. HR.3973 is not a response to new revelations 

or need; rather the USPS used the fraud hearings as a vehicle 

to again seek new powers. 

USPS lobbying for HR.3973 has been characterized by 

emotion rather than fact. COPS is in sympathy with victims 

of genuine mail fraud, but we are disappointed that the 

USPS has chosen to ignore factual issues in favor of emotion 

in rationalizing its desire for new powers. It also seems 

that the USPS has confused issues by parading victims of 
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actual mail fraud (18 USC §1341) even. though this bill deals 

primarily with "False Representations" statutes (39 USC 

§3005), an entirely separate matter. Also confusing the 

issue, the USPS has implied that the due process procedures 

of the §1341 criminal statute hamper enforcement of §3005 

(not correct) and that the lesser powers of the civil statute 

limit enforcement of the criminal statute (also untrue). 

Most strikingly, the Postal Service has downplayed the 

startling extent of its present administrative police powers: 

as we shall detail, under present law, the USPS can, limited 

merely by bureaucrat1c whim and inertia, destroy mailorder 

firms, without the victim having a fair and impartial "day 

in court." Because the USPS has so muddled the facts of 

its present powers, our first task is to put HR.3973 into 

the perspective of the present law, before we detail the 
problems with this bill. 

Present Postal Service Fraud and "False Representation" Statutes 

The Postal Service has two avenues against mail fraud 

or supposed false representations. USPS may ac~ under either, 
or both. 

18 USC §1341 is the criminal mail fraud statute. USPS 

can, (acting through the U.S. Attorney) seek penalties of 

5 years and/or $1,000 per violation. The accused is entitled 

to normal due process safeguards. The USPS's conviction 

rate under §1341 ranged from 98% to 99% during the last 

four years, according to USPS Postal Inspection Division 
annual reports. 

39 USC §3005' is th,e "false representation" statute. 

Under 3005, the USPS can impose punishment without the defendant 

being entitled to a "day in court" or to a trial by his 

peers. 3005 Lets the USPS issue a "stop order", returning 

the Respondent's mail to senders, rubberstamped with the 

,. 
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uncomplimentary message, "Return To Sender: Order Issued 

Against Addressee For Violation Of False Representation 

Law." 
Before issuing such a stop order, the postal Service 

must follow a few administrative procedures and offer the 

respondent an opportunity for a "hearing." The respondent 

does not have a right to a judge or jury trial, or to subpoena 

witnesses, and the standards of proof are far lesser than 

in a real court proceeding. 
After exhausting "administrative remedies" at a second 

administrative "cou,rt" level, the respondent may appeal 
to a u.s. court. For procedural and practical reasons, such 

a step is generally fruitless and unavailable as a practical 

consideration. As a practical matter the agency "decision" 

is an ipse dixit, without review or redress available. 
If it wishes, the 'USPS may often impound mail even before 

the §3005 hearing(s). The companion statute to 3005, §3007, 

allows the USPS to seek a restraining order/injunction and 

impound mail during or even before administrative proceedings 

are started. using §3007 the postal Service can and has 

stopped businesses in a matter of hours. For a mailorder 

business, impounding mail is equivalant to padlocking the 

door; the impoundment makes any eventual conclusion at law 

moot, and preempts the legal process by financially destroying 

the firm and removing its means to appeal any injustice. 

COPS wishes to emphasize that the s~bject bill (except 

for the broad "inspection authority" provision) deals with 

the USPS's powers lllder §3005, not under the criminal statute 

§1341. 
Our testimony, therefore, will deal with §3005 and 

the bill's effects on §3005. 

Present Abuses Under "False Representation" Statute 39 USC §3005 

Postal Service violations of free speech and due process 
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stem from its existing over-broad powers and lack of due 

process safegua'rds. While COPS hesitates to characterize 

§3005 proceedings as "kangaroo courts", that phrase continually 

recurs in conversations with experienced attorneys and we 

know of no other term to accurately convey the essence of 

the 3005 scheme. Why are'these proceedings termed a "stacked 

deck?" How does the USPS abuse business and the public under 

§3005? What is the nature of the abuses? 

Captive "courts": §3005 Respondents face a USPS "judge"/ 

"jury", USPS rules of evidence, USPS prosecutor, and must 

rely on equally-biased USPS-created precedents and case 

law during the proceeding(s) in a USPS hearing room under 

USPS rules of procedure. Not surprisingly, despite the apparent 

weakness of many cases, the USPS "wins" about 98% of such 

hearings, and approximately 100% of healthrelated §3005 

cases. (COPS has not been able to find a health-related 

§3005 case where respondent prevailed in the USPS hearing). 

Also note that many §3005 cases are concluded without 

hearings, since respondents simply abandon their defense, 

logically considering the hearing only an expensive (for 

them) pro forma procedure to lend surface legitimacy to 

a preordained conclusion. So the actual "decisions" from 

§3005 cases that reach the hearing state is only the tip 

of the iceberg; for every case where decisions are rendered 

there are others that end with capitulation in the face 

of an impossible situation. 

Lack of Qutside jury or judge: The most glaring feature 

is the denial of "trial by peers." Coupled with the effective 

non-availabilitY,of judicial review, this lack means that 

the USPS may impose punishment on an ipse dixit basis answerable 

to no one and limited only by bU~eaucratic whim and scheduling, 
and occasional public outrage. 
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Lax standards of "proof.": The USPS need not show intent 

to deceive, nor even that anyone ~ deceived or injured. 
Also, the standard of "proof" is the "preponderance of evidence" 

standard, a much lesser requirement than the "beyond a reasonable 

doubt" of criminal procedures. 
punishment before hearings: Under companion statute 

39 USC §3007, the USPS may obtain court permission to impound 

mail even before any complaint has been issued. Impounding 

stops normal business income, and makes any conclusion at 

law moot, the injunction itself destroying the business 
as well as its resources to seek redress. As a stated policy, 

the USPS \-:i11 not expedite proceedings when an impoundment 

is in effect, preferring to "bleed" its victim to death. 

While such an impoundment should in fairness be limited 

to extraordinary cases, the USPS seems to employ it more 

and more as a substitute for due process and as an adjunct 

punishment (not contemplated by the legislature) in civil 

and/or criminal cases. §3007 Is restrictively written, and 

leaves the judge little leeway, saying the court "shall" 

(not "may") grant thE' injunction if probable cause (for 

filing a complaint) is shown. 
We observe, as an indication, of USPS arrogancI'.l, that 

no matter how minor the supposed false representation in 

a §3005 matter, the USPS will not contact the company and 
offer to discuss or negotiate the matter: rather the companies' 

first wa'rning of any trouble or supposed wrongdoing is a 

formal complaint or, if the USPS uses the §3007 "punishment 

before hearing" route, perhaps a phone call that a restraining 

order against his, mail is being sought! 
As we've explained, the USPS can, and does, through 

its §3005 kangaroo courts, impose pun~shment and destroy 

mai10rder businesses as it chooses. Using §3007, it can 

destroy the businesses without a conclusion even from its 

own biased hearings. And these powers are all in addition 
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to its extremely broad existing powers to seek strong criminal 

sanctions under 18 USC §134l, whenever it so desires. 

Violations of free speech: As free speech, free intercourse 

of commerce and ideas through the mails should only be struck 

down for the most powerful justification. Yet, the USPS 

interferes on minor, or even specious pretexts. Even if, 

arguendo, commercial fr~e speech is "less equal" than other 

free speech, there remains the matter of book suppression. 

As the Association of American Publishers so ably documented 

in June 3 testimony before this subcommittee, the USPS has 

recklessly trampled the first amendment, engaging in a sordid 

history of suppression of ideas. It is ironic that the most 

recent such suppression, of a nUtrition booklet (USPS vs 

Magnolia Labs, USPS Case No.lO/123) was in progress even 

as the USPS sought, through this bill, still more powers. 

The continual suppression of ideas and enforcement of 

USPS-approve~ orthodoxy is especially startling when contrasted 

with the USPS's supposedly diametrically-opposed duty; to 

facilitate, not discourage, the free flow and exchange of 

ideas. 
Suppression of products: USPS u~es its present powers 

to suppress products as well as ideas. The Postal Service 

has twisted its already broad authority like taffy, reaching 

the point where it now says a product (or book) which disagrees 

with the prevailing majority scientific and/or medical opinion 

is automatically, per se "wrong'." While the boilerplate 

phrase, "Not in accordance with the consensus of informed 

medical and scientific opinion." pops up in USPS "decision" 

after "decision", a simpler way of putting the matter would 

be to say that if your opinion is not in the majority, the 

Postal Service has decided you're wrong. The USPS has taken 

it upon itself to decide not only what the current "consensus" 

might be, but has also in its majesty ruled that the current 

98-546 0-82--11 
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consensus is the "right" one. 
Product suppression is also 1st amendment suppression 

since the public is prevented from receiving the information 

about products or information being sold. 
The "majority is right" attitude is especially evident 

in the USPS's energetic persecution of wholistic health 

products and boqks. A high percentage of §3005 actions are 

against wholistic health products such as vitamins and other 

nutritional supplements. The most recent major "book suppression" 

concerned a booklet on nutrition, and the USPS has recently 

forced from the marketplace a number of excellent ,amino 

acid food supplement products, essentially because less 

than a majority of doctors use them. The bottom line in 

all those cases, when all was said and done, is that minority 

scientific opinions are automatically wrong. 
The presence of the National Health Federation at this 

hearing is especially appropriate, since the wholistic health 

field has suffered so. much from Postal Service persecution. 

We note that the Postal Service has admitted working 

closely with the FDA. Unfortunately, the USPS has thumbed 

its nose at our repeated Freedom Of Information Act requests, 

refusing to clarify such liaisons, to explain FDA and other 

influence on its decision-making, or to make its prosecutorial 

guidelines public. We are continually distressed by the 

USPS's undemocratic insi.stence on maintaining its own "secret 

law" in contravention of the spirit and letter of the Freedom 

Of Information Act, and the spirit of openness and due process 

in government. 
Ian D. Volner, representing the Association of American 

Publishers, offered the "mirror image" amendment, which 

would codify guidelines for book advertising, and help protect 

against future USPS violations of the first amendment in 

the area of book suppression. If this bill does become law 
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(we hope not!) there should be amendments to at least add 

~ semblence of protection to products as well as books. 

We respectfully suggest that a key element in protecting 

against abuses would be to add due process to the presently 
abusive §3005/3007 scheme. 

Summary ~f Postal Service Am~ndmen-ts of 1981, HR. 3973. 

HR.3973 expands USPS powers and jurisdiction but does 

nothing to limit abuse of present powers. Except for the 

§413 ("Inspection Autl;"!ority") which gives investigatory 

quasi search/subpoena powers for any matter the USPS chooses 

to investigate, the entire bill is designed to provide more 

police powers in §3005 investigations and persecutions. 

§413 "Inspection Authori~y" would give quasi search/subpoena 

power, allowing the USPS to demand access to home or office 

to " ... inspect or copy any books, records, documents, or 

other objects .•. ",it thinks relate to an investigation. 

The demand is enforceable via the U.S. Court with commensurate 

penalties, and refusal also would constitute "probable cause" 

to assume guilt and allow immediate imposition of· stop .orders 

and the newly-empowered cease and desist orders. 

§~005 Amendments would give USPS new authority to issue 

cease & desist orders in addition to the existing power 

to issue stop orders. The U~PS wQuld also get a "product 

demand" power, essentially subpoena power to make a purchpse, 

with "unreasonable failure" constituting "probable cause" 

of guilt, and, as with the inspection demand, allowing i.mmediate 

imposition of stop orders and cease and desist orders. 

§3012 of 39 USC Would be amended to provide stiff penalties. 

Attempting to evade a stop order or cease & desist order 

could bring fines of $10,000 per day on ~ supposed evasion; 

total of $20,000 per day, The fine also applies to anyone 
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"acting in privity" with such evasion. Postal Service jurisdict

ion is also expanded to apply the stop orders / cease & 
desist orders to cover any means of interestate commerce. 

Comments on HR.3973 

§413 Inspection Authority: This broadly-drawn authority 

has frightening potential for abuse of process with corresponding 

disruption of personal and business routine. HR.3973 would 

leave the Postal Service to fill in the details of these 

powers, and we may be s~re they will not strive to circumscribe 
their powers! 

Any such authorities should be clearly restricted and 

defined as far as proper service, time to oppose, legal 

requirements, and the like are concerned. There should also 

be an opportunity to quash the demand at the agency level, 

as well as at the district court level. 

COPS opposes, as unnecessary, quasi search/subpoena 

authority for the USPS. If any is given, the FTC scheme 

is an appropriate model. The FTC must (1) State the alleged 

specific violation, (2) specifically describe the material 

sought, (3) prescribe a date allowing a "reasonable period 

of time", (4) identify the responsible custodian, (5) service 

the demand in a prescribed manner to guarantee actual receipt. 

The FTC also gives a time perioq, ,and procedure to oppose 

the demand, requires a co~~issioner's signature for the 

demand, and establishes a mechanism to maintain the confid

entiality of materials received. The USPS's scheme under 

§413 is cle'arly deficient and based"'on past experience, 

the USPS cannot be trusted to "fill in the details" fairly. 

Even with safeguards, tremendous abusive potential exists, 

ranging from loss of business's, employee's, and customer's 

privacy, to 1.oss of trade secrets and great potential for 

intimidation by armed postal employees. 
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We also object to the presumption of wrongdoing attached 

to "unreasonable" non-compliance. This provision would allow 

the USPS to shortcut even the scant safeguard of its own 

pseudo-hearing. COPS feels that non-compliance should be 

separate from any legal fact-finding, and resistance to 

(possibly unreasonable) demands should not constitute evidence 

of, any guilt. 

We also note that the proposed powers would allow harassment 

of third parties. The USPS could harass customers, potential 

customers of its victims, or even take it upon itself to 

abuse competitors such as United Parcel Serv'ice or various 

courier services. 

Since the USPS has pointed to other agencies having 

similar authorities, lowering the tenor of its lobbying 

to an agency equivalent of "keeping up with the Joneses", 

we would point out in passing that agencies such as the 

FTC were designed aS,regulatory agencies, while the Postal 

Service is presumably in the process of distributing communic

ations. (even though it seeks to arrogate to itself the 

functions of a police agency.) 

§3005 (False representations, lotteries: 39 USC §3005 

would be rewritten incorporating new powers and authority. 

Product demand authori.ty is similar to the document 

demands (§413) with the addition of paying the purchase 

price. We object to the statutory presumption of wrongdoing 

for supposed "failure" (not "refusal") to comply. Such presumption 

would allow circumvention of hearings and any due process 

and conclusion at law. Other than that, COPS does not find 

any intrinsic harm in the product demand provision; the 

only harm is indirect in that any new powers to the USPS 

encourage its traditional pattern of abuses. 

The addition of cease & desist authority to the present 

stop order authority is a far more dangerous matter. Under 

I 1 
, ~ 
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I th ity is over mail delivery present §3005, the USPS's so e au or 

and the cashing of postal money orders; the USPS is not 

presently a general law enforcement agency, 

have power to issue orders against persons. 

and does not 

This is a startling 

expansion of power from over the mails to over the person(s). 

The USPS's present §3005 power has enabled a sad history 

of abuses, but they are as nothing compared to what we could 

same age_ncy had cease & desist powers. Raising expect if the 

the USPS to a level of U.S. courts is a tremendously reckless 

t . I t J'ust;f;ed by any evidence in the records. step, cer a~n y no ~ ~ 

The stop order power and new cease & desist power would 

be expanded to apply to any means of interstate commerce. 

In seeking to raise itself to a level of a general federal 

law enforcement agency (conveniently incorporating its own 

"judicial" system), the USPS is apparently overstepping 

its very mandate for existence. The USPS sho~lld not have 

anything to say about door-to-door sales, telephone advertising, 

or other non-mail communications or selling. 

Coupled with the new cease & desist power (and the penalty 

section, §3012) is the expanded scope to cover persons supposedly 

"in privity with" anyone trying to get around .a stop order 

or cease & desist order. This vague provision, when coupled 

with vaguely-worded cease & desist orders and the startling 

fines, would be a powerful sword hanging over not only the 

principal of any respondent firm, but over employees, agents, 

suppliers, ad agencies, or even attorneys or anyone contemplating 

business ventures with the victim. It could impute "guilt 

by association" and mean that a one-time victim of Postal 

Service persecution might be branded an "untouchable" and 

thereby isolated from the business and social communittee. 

We respectfully remind you to keep all these provisions 

in context, by remembering that they enforce and empower 

judgements, not of a real court, but of a biased, in-house 

"kangaroo court." 
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§3012 Civil Penalties: Fines for Supposed violations 

of stop orders or cease & desist orders could be up to $20,000 

per day. Tied to vaguely-worded orders, and coupled with-

the sword hanging over anyone "in privity with" respondents, 

they help ensure substantial potential for abuse and long-term 

intimidation of free speech and other freedoms, not only 

for respondents but for non-involved persons. 

The "in privity" expansion of jurisdiction is recklessly 

overbroad, and especially objectionable when considered 

in the light of the interstate commerce clause and the massive 
civil penalties. 

Summary 

While the Postal Service's pattern and tradition of 

abuses have been well-documented, there is not justification 

for the powers in HR.3973. This bill contains vast potential 

for abuse of free speech and other bureaucratic mischief, 

while being of questionable value in deterring genuine mail 

fraud. The new powers proposed are especially shocking when 

considered in light of the recipient's long tradition of 

arrogant violations of free speech and due process violations. 

It is noteworthy and indicative of the USPS's arrogance 

and lack of respect for normal due process,that it actively 

sought and advocated, in"'the original versions of this bill, 

to put itself on the level of real courts, and in many ways 

remove itself from judicial review. 

COPS feels that the real need is to remedy present abuses 

and violations by the Postal Service. Only after measures 

have been taken to remedy abuses, should congress consider 

proposing any new authorities. Two of the problems which 

scream for attention are the kangaroo courts under §3005, 

and the "punishment before trial" scheme of the §3007 companion 

statute. (We discuss that to a greater degree in our proposed 
amendments) 

COPS feels that any measure to confer new powers on 

the Postal Service should be stopped. The only Postal Service 

bill we can in good conscience support, would be one expressly 

designed to ~ USPS power and thereby limit its abuses. 

Our amendments are offered only to ameliorate an ill-conceived, 

very bad bill which should !!2.! pass, and we want to be absolutely 

clear; we feel that HR.3973 should end, here and now. If 

our amendments were substituted for the text of the present 

HR.3973 we would urge passage, but short of that, let there 

be no doubt; we oppose with all our heart, more powers for 
the' Postal Service. 



164 

Proposed Amendments to HR.3973 

Proposed amendment dealing with 39 USC §3005 

Discussion/explanation: This amendment would help remedy 

some of the more glaring lacks of due process and resultant 

abuses, by restoring some semblence of due process to the 

present §3005 statutory scheme. The allowance of a trial 

de novo would, in particular, help assure that the Postal 

Service might be answerable to other authority. 

We propose that HR.3973 be amended to add the following 

to §3005 (a)(l)(A). The proposed addition is underlined. 

(A) is engaged in conducting a scheme or device for 

obtaining money or property through the mail by means of 

false representations, including the mailing of matter which 

is nonmailable under section 3001(d) of this title; with 

intent to defraud; or 

(If the remainder of Sec. 3 of HR.3973 is deleted, this 

change would of course directly amend §3005 (a) of 39 USC.) 

We propose that HR.3973 be amended to add the following 

new section (3) to §3005 (b): 

(3) Any such orders issued by the Postal Service shall 

be subject to a trial de novo if desired by the respondent, 

such trial to take place in the district court where the 

respondent does business or desires to pursue such a remedy. 

If respondent prevails in such a trial de novo, the USPS 

shall be liable for double damages for the damage done to 

respondent by the USPS action under §3005. 
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Proposed A~endments To 39 USC §3007 

Discussion/explanation: This amendment would help restore 

some reason and fairness to 'the §3007, which permits "punishment 

before hearing" by allowing impoundment of mail before or 

during administrative proceedings. It would still leave 

this action open, when circumstances actually warrant. 

We propose that HR.3973 be amended to add the following 

new section 6 to the bill: 

Sec. 6. Section 3007 of title 39, United States code, 

is amended by changing the word "shall" ( ... grant the temporary 

restraining order and preliminary injunction) to "may" (grant 

the temporary restraining order and injunction) §3007 is 

also amended by adding the following new paragraph (c) to 

the present text: 

(c) The restraining order and preliminary injunction 

shall be sought or granted only in extraordinary circumstances, 

where a mail order promotion entails major public financial 

loss, or where a product being sold is directly and intrinsically 

physically harmful to the buyer. If a restraining order/injunction 

is granted, the Postal Service shall expedite administrative 

procedure to the fullest extent desired by the respondent. 

The Postal Service shall also, if the restraining order/injunction 

is granted, take all possible measures in good faith to 

set up an escrow or other arrangement for the funds sent 

to the respondent, so that the impoundment scheme does not 

in itself impose financial hardship to an unnecessary degree. 

The impoundment under §3007 shall restrict only delivery 

of actual checks, cash, or ~oney orders, and nothing in 

this section shall empower the withholding of any other 

materials sent to the respondent, nor shall anything prohibit 

the respondent from taking recorded notes on the material 

withheld. If the impoundment is granted and the respondent 

prevails in statutory proceedings, the USPS shall be, liable 

for double damages causes by the impoundment. 

We emphasize that these amendments are offered only 
I' 

as attempts! to amel:i.orate a very bad bill. Only if the rest 
',' 

of the bill was discarded, such that the amendments constituted 

the bill, would we favor passage of HR.3973. 
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MAIL FRAUD/FALSE REPRESENTATION 

TUESDAY JULY 20, 1982 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL 
PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION, COMMITTEE ON POST • OFFICE AND CIVIL SERVICE, 

Washington, D. C. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m., in room 

311, Cannon House Office Building, Hon. Mickey Leland, presiding. 
Mr. LELAND. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. Welcome to 

the fourth public hearing of the Subcommittee on Postal Personnel 
and Modernization on H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 which seek to increase 
the U.S. Postal Service's investigatory and enforcement powers to 
augment the prevention of mail fraud. 

A final public hearing is scheduled for Thursday of this week. 
Today we will hear from Mr. David Minton of the Magazine Pub-

lishers Association and Mr. John Shattuck, a representative of the 
American Civil Liberties Union. We certainly want to welcome par-
ticularly Mr. David Minton, who has made an invaluable contribu-
tion of course to all of us here in setting the real foundation of 
what it is that this Post Office and Civil Service Committee repre-
sents. 

Mr. Minton, will you come forward and please be our first wit-
ness. 

STATEMENT OF DAVID MINTON, WASHINGTON COUNSEL
1 

MAGAZINE PUBLISHERS ASSOCIATION 

Mr. MINTON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
My name is David Minton, and I am the Washington Counsel for 

the Magazine Publishers--
Mr. LELAND. Will you hold on just a second. 
[At this point, several spectators left the hearing room.] 
Mr. MINTON. I expected no less. 

~ The two most significant contributions that I personally claim 
for the time that I served this committee was that I am the person 
who flew that paper airplane up there (indicating]; and the second 
is I am the person who filled 1Pim May's water glass with 100 proof .. 
vodka when he was testifying before the committee, so r was not 
surprised at my former colleagues. I think that the last official 
thing I did was to deny most of them a pay increase a couple of 
years ago, so it is no surprise to me that they would behave as they 
have just behaved. 

I look forward to the questions which your noted staff is pre-
pared to ask. If any of them have to do with the practice of law, I 
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will respectfully request permission to enter material in the record 
at a later date. 

In behalf of my client, the Magazine Publishers Association, I 
would like to express our views on the bills S. 1407 and H.R. 3973, 
which are designed to curtail mail fraud abuses in the U.S. Postal 
System. 

Mr. Chairman, I have a prepared statement which I would ask to 
have inserted in the record. 

Mr. LELAND. That will be done. 
Mr. MINTON. Upon reflection, we have no doubt that there is a 

serious problem of mail fraud and that remedies are necessary to 
increase the authority of the Postal Service to handle the problem, 
but we believe that the kind of "nuclear attack" which is included 
in S. 1407 is a remedy far out of proportion to the problems. 

This bill effectively allows a postal inspector to enter upon the 
premises of any citizen, any person, or any business enterprise 
without a search warrant and seize and copy any object that he de
termines is within the purview of an investigation that he has de
cided, on his own volition, to undertake. Because it is described 
under section 404(7) of title 39, the postal laws, to be a criminal of
fense against the Postal Service, or a civil matter within the pur
view of the Postal Service. 

Civil matters include a whole list of activities. It is a civil matter. 
to deliver letters; it is a civil matter to have a postage permit for a 
political action committee, or a labor union, a church, a benevolent 
society, or the brotherhood of electricians. 

So, with this authority, it would truly be "Katy bar the door" on 
any activity that any postal inspector on his own volition decided 
to investigate. 

Now for the past 200 years we have had a requirement in the 
laws of the United States, and the several States, that if a police 
officer wants to go into somebody's house or business establishment 
and search it and seize papers in conducting any kind of investiga
tion for bank robbery, arson, murder, rape, pillage, treason, what
ever it may be, he goes to a judge and he says, "Judge, I think this 
man has committed a crime and here's why I think so." And the 
judge, who is, at least allegedly, a dispassionate third party, consid
ers the validity of the evidence and determines whether under the 
fourth amendment there is probable cause to issue a warrant. . 

Well, that isn't the case in this bill; in this bill the postal inspec
tor shows up at the door with a piece of paper and says, "I demand 
that you let me in the door to investigate and see if you are en
gaged in mail fraud," or whatever else he may be investigating. 
The average American citizen, who doesn't know the fourth 
amendment from Ebbet.ts Field, is going to admit that postal in
spector and surrender his rights to that allegation of police power. 

Granted, it would be easier if you could throw people in jail and 
clap them in irons and do a lot of other things that would further 
the cause of law and order without restrictions upon the police 
powers, but until the law changed-that precious heritage of not 
allowing the police to enter upon your property and sieze your 
goods and copy your documents-until that law is changed, by con
stitutionaLamendment, it would seem to us that this kind of legis
lation is unconstitutional. And if it isn't unconstitutional, it is at 
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least very bad law and we recommend most strongly that this sub
committee recommend against the enactment of that search and 
seizure power. 

Another provision of the bill would allow the Postal Service to 
demand across-the-counter sale of a commodity. Although we do 
not think that is the best idea we have ever heard of, we recognize 
that in many cases it is virtually impossible for the Postal Service 
to complete a transaction by sending in a response to an advertise
ment and getting the merchandise that has been ordered. 

By the time all that is done the businessman has frequently 
picked up and moved to another post office box ·)r another county 
or another State and that kind of scheme cannot be captured. So 
the demand clause is not nearly the kind of terrible legislation that 
the search and seizure clause is. 

We do have some reservations about the presumption of guilt, 
that if an individual refuses to make the sale, then it is probable 
cause to believe that he is engaged in some kind of scheme. That 
reverses the burden of proof, in essence. It doesn't say so. No lan
guage in this bill really says what it does, but aside from the eu
phemistic phrasing, it does reverse the burden of proof and put the 
burden upon the citizen to explain to the judge why it was he 
didn't want to make the sale. 

We think that is bad, but we are otherwise not opposed to that 
part of section 3 which would permit the across-the-counter 
demand. 

Finally, we think the fines envisioned in this, of $10,000 a day, is 
extreme and although there are some mitigating clauses in the leg
islation, well, if I may say so, I have observed that mitigating 
clauses in legislation that do not include the word, "not" don't 
have much effect on executive branch behavior or guidance for law 
enforcement agencies generally. So we think that lowering the fine, 
from $10,000 to something less than that, and eliminating, or con
fining, the Post Office jurisdiction the restriction against any re
sumption through the mails rather than through any means of in
terstate commerce, would be appropriate. 

We have a basic problem, overall. Perhaps it is a step behind all 
of that. That is, what's the Post Office doing in this business 
anyway? I can see that a postal inspector ought to be out appre
hending wrongdoers who steal out of the mail or who commit 
crimes by assaulting letter carriers when they are delivering their 
social security checks or by apprehending postal employees who 
are stealing things out of the post offices. That is the basic function 
of a postal inspector. 

But to transfer his powers into what's pretty much a field 
beyond the Post Office, the delivery of mail, to the apprehension of 
wrongdoers who are under the jurisdiction of State and Federal in
vestigatory agencies, and the Federal Trade Commission, which has 
concurrent jurisdiction over fraudulent and misleading advertising, 
is an investment of power that we think is really misplaced. 

I realize it is already there and the postal inspectors do this and 
they issue press releases quite frequently pointing out how many 
people were convicted last year, but I think you might think, is this 
really where this police power belongs? Does it belong here or does 
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it belong. 'Yith the FBI or the Secret Service, which investi ates 
connterfeltlng, or some other law enforcement agency or the hC 
. 0 we really want to say to this almost unknown force of 2000 
Inspectm:s that '~You ar!3 g~ing to be able to go this far afield f~om 
Y?tur bfathslc fUD;ctlOn, whIch IS to protect the mails protect the secu-
rI y 0 e malls"? ' 
b.}[taif'1.repea~ that is.a little.beyond the scope of the cur~ent 

1 u 1 IS an .Issue whICh I thInk this subcommittee should re
flectlu~oln; ~ertaInly before you recommend to the full committee 
any egIS atlOn. 

No man i~ the House is a greater champion of the rights of 
people, particularly the rights of elderly people than CI d 
~e1{er .. He was defeat.ed for reelection to the Senat~ in 1950 b;~h: 
r!g t w~ng, and cer~~nly ?e deserves all of the accolades of civil 
lIbIfr\ahads for a distIngl.!-Ished career over the past half century. 

. a to guess, I mIght guess that Senator Pepper has n t 
fh~el t~el ct~reful ~ons~deration to the civil libertarian issues th~t 

IS egIs. a IOn raIses In allowing the Postal Service to ac uire a 
brfiad polIce power ~n this bill. We hope that the subcommitfee wHl 
rho eb\lPob tfat, .wIll consult with Senator Pepper, and will ame~d 
co~s~i~utfo~:l ~i:h~~l~f t~e~~l;~ct what we view as abuses of basic 

Wlhth thaIt, I will quit, and attempt to answer any questions you 
may ave. am at your pleasure. 
. Mr. LELAND. Let m~ thank you, Mr. Minton. We certainl -

clate you.r very .experIe~ced testimony. yappre 
. Mr. MInton, In the lIght of the opposition of the Magazine Pub 

lIsh{db to the legislation in its. pre~ent f~) do you feel the bili 
cou e amended as ~ou have ImplIed in such a way that it could 
all0:'d i~e Potstal. ServIce to more effectively combat mail fraud vet 
avOl e po entIal problems you have laid out before us? ., 

to ~~t~~N3~~t!~~ ~:;!{l~e~~~op!tWOffi~: ~~t dt~~~~ :~~~~~-~h~ 
d~~~rth:fe:h w. e J.h~ndk tlh~t is .an effective means of getting the 
d ~, In .IVI ua . IS trYing to sell-when a doctor sells a 
rug an~ says T,hIS drug IS going to cure everything ou have ot 

wrong :'Vlth you, the Post Office sends in its $9.95 ana never h!ar 
y~m h~m. T~ey nev:er. have an opportunity to test that drug and 

cl
eaI!3rm

t
in
h
e

t
w etherdlt cIS ~ood or bad; whether it meets any of the 

ms a are ma e lor It. 
In I?ost cases, the drugs are fraudulent. They don't amount to 

anf?~hng; they are placebos, but the people lose their money 
ey could g? to that ~an's office and say "Sell it' to us" 

d~man~ that; get It and test It and then determine the validit of 
h~s claIm, that would be a weapon in their effort to curtail ~his 
kInd of fraudulent p;ractice. that I know the Postal Service has ad
roctacted heretofore, In earlIer legislation, which did not pass the 
as ongress or the Congress before it. 
The~ wanted that authority; they never got it It seems of th 

re1et.es ~roPdosed in this bill, that that comes the closest to bein: 
a ,egi I~a e emand. I find it difficult to say that a businessman 
can [d~ona~tr refuse to sell a product to a postal inspector that he 
~ou f e WI lng to sell to others. It seems to be a legitimate exer
CIse 0 government power. 
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We would support the enactment of that provision and some pen
alty provisions. You have got to discourage people from engaging in 
this and you can't just say, "Well, it is a dollar a day." It has to be 
a sufficient financial penalty to discourage or prevent the crime or 
the false business but $10,000 a day is perhaps too much. 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Minton, you have had a lot of experience with 
this issue when you were working with this committee. Can you 
just share with us your views about mail fraud in general and 
what it is that we can do, aside from some of the things you have 
already referred to? 

Mr. MINTON. Philosophically speaking, to get people to think 
more about what they read and send their money for, which is a 
part of the overall scheme ~f educating the American people. But 
beyond that, I don't know of any effective remedy. People who are 
dying of incurable diseases will probably grasp at any straw that 
they possibly can, whether it's laetrile treatments in Mexico or 
miracle cures they find advertised on the back of comic books. 

I suppose that you would write that down as human nature. 
Other people are going to be engaged in the manufacture of com
modities that mayor may not work, that mayor may not have any 
value and use. Laetrile is the most controversial drug of the time 
and you find a great many people who say it works and a great 
many people, including the American Medical Association, that say 
it doesn't work. 

I think that is just one of the problems that we have, that people 
will do damned near anything to make money and law enforce
ment has to follow along trying its best, within reason, within the 
bounds of the law. You are not dealing with treason, you are not 
dealing with murder; you are dealing with scams and charlatans 
and knaves who are stealing money from the unwary and the un
lettered. 

I bought a set of miracle spark plugs-I was thinking on the way 
up here-I bought these spark plugs about 20 years ago, that were 
going to double my gasoline consumption. I sent in about $18, 
which was a lot of money to me 20 years ago. I got the plugs but 
they weren't any better than any other set of spark plugs. I tried 
not to write myself off as the unlettered and the unwary at that 
time, but it, obviously, was a scam, like some other schemes. 

I think, like many other social problems, we have to soldier 
along trying to resolve it without saying that a postal inspector can 
walk in your house and take everything you have and put it on a 
Xerox machine and have you show up in court. 

Mr. LELAND. The Postal Service is pu.shing hard for this legisla
tion. 

In your experience again, you know in the past that they have 
pushed hard. Do you have any ideas about why it is that they 
would push so hard? Given your testimony today? 

Mr. MINTON. Given my opposition to this bill how could the Post
master General continue to pursue such a course of folly? No, Mr. 
Chairman, I can't understand that and I am shocked. It follows a 
long pattern on the part of several Postmasters General, however. 

Mr. LELAND. Let the record show the Chair did not pose the ques
tion in such a manner. 
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Mr. MINTON. I am sure it is according to which side of the table 
you sit on. If I were the chief postal inspector I might be much 
more concerned with the prevalence of the problem and much less 
concerned with what evils might result from it. 

I think if you give-I say in my formal statement here that the 
Postal Service, and this Postmaster General in particular, who is 
universally pr@claimed as a fine man would say: Well, we are not 
going to do anything wrong and we are not going to bust into any
body's houses. We are looking only for bad guys who need to be 
convicted of crimes. 

That is well and good, but experience of the last 5,000 or 6,000 
years indicates that when you vest this kind of police power in 
people, they will abuse it. That is why we have the fourth amend
ment, because of the abuses of search and seizure. In a democracy 
you just have to balance the powers of the government versus the 
rights of the people. 

As our President stated on the steps of the Capitol yesterday, we 
have to fight hard to preserve the individual rights of the people 
against the powers of government, which I suppose is his hint of a 
veto message on this bill. 

I am sure that faced with hundreds or thousands of scams that 
come to the attention of the Postmaster General and his able offi
cers every day, that this is a real problem and I do not in any way 
attempt to diminish the scope and nature of the problem, but it is, 
at its worst, made up of schemes that defraud people of relatively 
small amounts of money. 

If it's major crime it doesn't belong to the Post Office; it belongs 
to the FBI, or some other law enforcement agency. For that reason, 
regardless of the merit of the proposal, we think that vesting this 
power in this agency is not the appropriate remedy. 

Mr. LELAND. But you do believe that within reason, given the 
consideration that something has to be done and in fact by some 
inkling the Postal Service might truly be concerned about mail 
fraud and want to do something about it, you feel that this legisla
tion can be amended to at least approach being a remedy for the 
problem. 

Mr. MINTON. We are opposed to section 2, period. We are not op
posed to section 3. If you want to demand an across-the-counter 
sales and enforce it, we agree. If you want to pass a law which has 
very serious constitutional implications, and in addition to that is 
in our view a very bad piece of legislation, we are opposed. 

There isn't any way that I know of that I would recommend that 
my client favor the enactment of section 2. I don't believe in the 
police walking in anybody's business enterprise to investigate any
thing without a search warrant issued by a judge, period. It is just 
bad law. 

That is why we have the fourth amendment, to protect people 
from that kind of abuse of their rights, whether they are engaged 
in scams or not. If the~ are engaged in a scam the judge can deter
ine it and say, "Here s a search warrant, go get him"; and they 
can. What they want to do is go get him on their own volition, 
their own judgment, their own determination. 

Mr. Chairman, without dwelling on the issue the postal inspec
tion service heretofore has gone and gotten them, in cooperation 



\ 

172 

with the Central Intelligence Agency. It has engaged in search and 
seizure without search warrants in the past. It has engaged in the 
conduct of mail covers on a nationwide scale for a long period of 
time in cooperation with State and local law enforcement officers, 
down to the assistant deputy sheriff level for the last 25 or 30 
years. Now, some of those problems have been cleaned up. 

In closed hearings before this committee 5 or 6 years ago the 
problem of the CIA opening mail at the post office in New York 
was aired before some members of the committee. It is police 
power, and when you grant police power you have to-if you are at 
all enlightened as a citizen, you have to realize people with this 
police power, people who carry a gun, are a little tougher than 
people who don't. We are opposed to that in civil matters before 
the post office. 

Vest power, lawfully, in the FBI, the Secret Service, the sheriff, 
or marshals, but not the Postal Service. We don't think it is the 
appropriate agency to exercise that kind of a police power. 

Regardless of how section 2 might stay in the bill, we would not 
favor its enactment in any form without a judge issuing a warrant. 

Mr. LELAND. The bill allows the Postal Service jurisdiction over 
any instrumentality of interstate comm\~rce for the purpose of pur
suing persons who have already been ordered to cease using the 
mails. How do you feel about that issue? 

Mr. MINTON. Well, I am trying to think about any instrumentali
ty of interstate commerce other than the post office these people 
would engage in and I don't know how they would do that. Again, 
it would seem to some other law enforcement agency or some other 
civil agency should be appropriately involved. Maybe if they are 
going to go to radio advertisements, or have it all shipped by 
United Parcel so that it doesn't have anything to do with the post 
office, well then my question is; why does the post office have any
thing to do about it? Why shouldn't the Federal Communications 
Commission or some other agency be concerned? 

Again, it is an issue of jurisdiction and I think you have a very 
elementary threshold issue here of jurisdiction, at all. What's the 
post office doing in this business? 

Mr. LELAND. We certainly appreciate all of your testimony. I 
would like to just comment on the earlier comment you made 
about Senator Pepper and his concerns and your concerns about 
his regard for the civil libertarian ideals. He has commented to us 
on record that their bill that we have is but an instrument to intro
duce the idea of how we remedy mail fraud and he very definitely 
is willing to deal with the amendment process and wants to work 
with us. 

Senator Pryor also indicated this to us. What we are trying to do 
is come up with an instrument by which we present to the full 
House a bill that is constitutionally clean and with other consider
ations that you and other witnesses have given us so we are very 
definitely working on trying to develop a bill that would give us 
something that we cannot only be prnud of but that would protect 
the civil liberties of all people. 

Mr. MINTON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
[The statement of Mr. Minton follows:] 
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STATEMENT BY DAVID MINTON, 
WASHINGTON COUNSEL, MAGAZINE PUBLISHERS ASSOCIATION, 

ON S. 1407 AND RELATED LEGISLATION BEFORE 
THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION 

The Magazine P'ablishers Association is an organization 

representing the interests of nearly 200 publishing firms which 

publish consumer-oriented periodicals. Time, Better Homes and 

Gardens, and The Reader's Digest are among the more widely 

'circulated, but hundreds of other periodicals, appealing to 

a wide va:dety of interest and avocations, are MPA members. 

The Atlantic, ~prperls, Foreign Affairs, Bon Appetit, Fly 

Fisherman, Essence, Scientific American, and Southwest Art 

(of Houston, Texas), for instance, are among MPA's nearly 

800 member magazines. 

MFA has testified before congressional committees on 

issues of importance to the nation and the publishing industry 

for more than half a century and we hope that our contribution 

has been helpful. The Postal Service is a vital partner of 

the publishing industry, because without the effective means 

for a nationwide, reasonably-priced distribution system, the 

public -- which now has convenient access to magazine reading 

every where in the nation -- would not continue to enjoy that 

blessing of a marvelous public service. Nearly 250 million 

copies of each issue of MPA magazines are bought and read by 

the public. We value the service, and we strongly support 

its continuation. 

98-546 0-82-12 
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It is with some reluctance, therefore, that we oppose 

the Postal Service's request for the enactment of S. 1407 or 

H.R. 3973 in their present form. We use the word "reluctance" 

because generally we support the Postal Service in its legislative 

and administrative programs, and we certainly support the goal 

of curtailing fraudulent or false representations through the 

mail, and the scams and con games by those who prey upon the 

unwary. No member of CongLess is better known as a champion 

of the rights and needs of elderly citizens -- who are frequently 

the victims of these schemes - than Congressman Claude ~epperi 

no government agency has been more dedicated to wipe out these 

frauds than the Postal Inspection Service. But we question 

whether the sponsors of these bills have given sufficient 

consideration to the scope of the power they intend to give 

the Postal Inspection Service, or the real issue at hand. 

Because we believe the fundamental question to be decided is 

whether the Government should be permitted to infringe further 

upon the right of citizens to be secure in their possessions. 

and pap~rs by allowing the Postal Inspection Service the police 

power of subpoena, search, and seizure herein euphemistically 

described as "access at reasonable times." We believe that 

the citizens' rights should prevail. 

~ 

~ I 

I 
L 

.. I 
I 
l 
i 
1 
! 
\ 
l' 
I 
t 
1 

i 
l-
r 

f 

f r 

f~ 
d 

i: 
r 
t! 
ji 
i~ 
H 

r 
\\ 
i' 
! , 
I. 
t 
r 
!' 

f }-j 
;' ,-

175 

Section 2 of S. 1407 says: 

The Postal Service may require, pursuant 
to a written demand made under this section, 
that any officer or employee designated 
by the Postal Service be given access at 
reasonable times to inspect or copy any 
books, records, documents, or other objects 
that the Postal Service has reason to 
believe relate to any matter (except 
a matter pertaining to chapter 6 of this 
title or to the provisions of title 18 
concerning the carriage of letters by 
private express) under investigation by 
the Postal Service pursuant to its authority 
under section 404(a) (7) of this title. 

~xcept for the exclusion of matters relating to the private 

express, this power of search and seizure is virtually unlimited. 

This sentence contains the word "any" three times 

any designated employees of the Postal 
Service may inspect and COPYi 

any books, records, documents, "or other 
'objects," are subject to inspection and copy; 

~n~ matter under investigation by the 
Postal Service is subject to this power 
to inspect and copy. 

Section 404(a) (7) of title 39, United States Code, authorizes 

the Postal Service to investigate "postal offenses and civil 

matters." The issuance of a third class nonprofit Mailing 

permit is a "civil matter;" the determination of whether a 

magazine publisher complies with various provisions of the 

Postal Manual is a "civil matter;" the conduct of mail classifi-

cation and postal rate proceedings before the Postal Rate 

commission is a "civil matter," and the discovery of evidence 

and data relating to proceedings in those cases are "civil matters." 



r-'---~~- - --- ~- --- - - - --~'---- ---------------

176 

Under section 2 of S. 1407, a postal inspector could 

walk in upon any citizen or business enterprise in the United 

States which uses the mail and demand to inspect and copy books 

and records. There are several hundred thousand religious, 

educational, scientific, philanthropic, labor and other organizations 

authorized by law to mail second and third class mail matter 

at preferred rates. This language would permit a postal inspector 

to demand to inspect and copy any named object in the possession 

of that church, or foundation, or society, or labor union on 

the grounds that the demand was pursuant to a civil investigation 

of the qualifications of the organization .to mail at nonprofit 

rates or some other "civil matter" investigation related to 

the post office. The little Bible churches and evangelical 

groups who today enjoy absolute protection against the prying 

eyes of the Government would be subject to having their books 

opened, their membership examined, and further difficulties 

imposed upon them by the Government. That may be legitimate 

government investigation to ascertain the validity of mail 

permit holders who benefit from public subsidies, but it would 

represent a very radical departure from pre~ious policy, and 

should be carefully weighed by the Congress before the risks 

of such impositions are undertaken. 

Now, we recognize that the Postmaster General may,scoff 

at these suggestions and reply "We would never do that." 
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And perhaps the Postal Service never would. But nothing in 

this proposed legislation ensures that they never would. And 

there may be some present here today ,.,ho recall earlier "never 

woulds": The misuse of the "mail cover," wherein postal officials 

all across the nation, in cooperatiop with Federal, sta'te and 

local police officials and under no guidelines and virtually 

no central controL detained mail and supplied the names and 

addresses of the senders of mail, unbeknownst to the recipients. 

That "never would" led to extensive congressional investigation 

and subsequent reform. Others may recall the allegations of 

illegal search and seizure involved in the postal investigation 

of the mail robbery at Ply~outh# Massachusetts. More recently, 

the Post Office Department shared the limelight in allegations 

of illegal detention and opening of mail by the Central Intelligence 

Agency. Perhaps all of those can accurately be described as 

one time and never-to-be-repeated "never woulds." But to enact 

legislation to open the door even wider to the possibility of 

abuse at the expense of the citizen's constitutional right to 

be secure in his papers is to assume an unreasonable risk. The 

bulwark against the temptation for abuse is that historic and 

precious requirement that a judge determine in advance whether 

the citizen's dOQr is opened. 
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Fifteen years ago, when this committee reported H.R. 1411, 

removing the requirement to prove criminal intent in mail 

fraud cases, four members of this committee, including the 

present chairman and ranking Republican member, dissented. In 

his dissenting views, Representative William D. Ford said, 

"I do not believe the Post Office Department 
is the proper agemcy to concern itself with 
the content of mail and I believe that measures 
of this type, dealing with the sensitive de
terminations as to mail content, should never 
be placed for administration in the hands of 
the Post Office Department." 

Edward J. Derwinski, in his individual views, said, 

"I suggest that the desirability or undesirability 
of this legislation is not an issue, but 
whether it is necessary to the functioning 
of the Post Office Department, and I believe 
it is not." 

We believe those views are as relevant and applicable 

today as they were in 1967. 

We find the police powers in this legislation to be inherently 

objectionable and antithetical to the fundamental duty of the 

Postal Service to deliver mail. If subpoena powers, searches, 

and seizures are necessary to apprehend and prosecute mail 

fraud, we believe other agencies of the Government, the FBI, 

the Secret Service, or even the Federal Trade Commission in 

exercising its investigatory and quasi-judicial powers, are 

appropriate agencies to exercise thos~ powers, under the watchful 
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eye of the courts, the Congress, and the Chief Executive. But 

granting police powers to an "independent establishment" in 

the Executive Bran\~:h of the Government would be unique departure 

from previous practice. At the very least, it is an issue 

for extremely careful consid~ration by the appropriate cOlrumittees 

of the Congress and the law enforcement agencies of the Executive 

Branch. 

The second major change proposed in S. 1407 is contained 

in section 3, which would authorize the Postal Service to demand 

the sale of any article or service offered for sale by mail. 

We understand that the Postal Service seeks this new authority 

because it is difficult, and sometime impossible, to investigate 

exclusively by use of the mails: By the time the Postal Service 

has sent in its order, the con artists have packed up and moved 

away. This new authority would permit the Postal Service to 

demand sale on the spot. If the individual refuses to make 

the sale, and if a united States district court determines that 

the refusal is unreasonable, the refusal constitutes "probable 

cause" to believe that the person is enga,ged in a false representa

tion mail order scheme. That finding may lead to the detention 

of the individual's mail in order to prevent defrauding the 

public. This new prc.wision also authorizes an "unreasonable 

refusal" test in the case of an individual who refus~!;l to permit 

inspection and copying of papers. The unreasonable refusal is 

"probable cause" to believe that the individual is engaged in 

mail fraud. 
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We recognize that the Postal Service encounters difficulties 

in attempting to secure advertised goods and services exclusively 

by mail, and for that reason we support the demand sale provision 

of section 3. But we believe the committee should carefully 

weigh the advisability of revers~_ng the burden of proof, by putting 

the burden to prove innocence upon the businessman to demonstrate 

this his refusal to sell is in good faith. The Common Law has 

placed the burden of proof upon the prosecution for several 

hundred years in the united States and Great Britain, and we 

believe that t.his committee should consider very carefully 

whether the circllin~tances in this instance justify changing that 

historic legal requirement. 

Mr. Chairman, MFA would like to express its support for 

the proposal submitted by the Association of American Publishers, 

who have proposed that the "Mirror Image Doctrine" protecting 

advertising be incorporated into this legislation. That is a 

doctrine of long-standing recognition at the Federal Trade 

Commission and one which we firmly support. We view this as 

a clear First Amendment issue and one of great importance. We 

are alarmed by the Postal Service's attack upon controversial 

books and the recent conviction for false representation by 

mail of the author of a book whose medical theories were 

controversial. The post office is no place to ban books; 

it is a place to deliver books and magazines and newspapers 

to the American people. 

We appreciate the opportunity to testify and will be happy 

to attempt to answer any questions the subcommittee may have. 
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Mr. LELAND. Mr. Minton, before you leave there are a couple 
other. questions we might have for you. We will keep the record 
open and submit them. Thank you very much for your testimony. 

We now have Mr. John Shattuck, representing the American 
Civil Liberties Union. We appreciate his coming forward today and 
welcome his testimony. 

STATEMENT OF JOHN SHATTUCK, DIRECTOR, AMERICAN CIVIL 
LIBERTIES UNION, WASHINGTON OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY 
MICHELE CHANDLER, LEGISLATIVE ASSOCIATE 

Mr. SHATTUCK. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am very 
pleased to be here, particularly before you, Mr. Chairman. Your 
civil liberties views on many matters are well known to us and we 
salute you as always for your defense of civil liberties. 

I am the national legislative director of the American Civil Lib
erties Union and accompanying me today is Ms. Michele Chandler, 
a legislative associate in my office. I have a' relatively lengthy 
statement which I would like to summarize orally. 

We share the concerns expressed in these hearings for victims of 
unscrupulous entrepreneurs who use the mail to engage in fraudu
lont ""mmc."'cl· n 1 ,"" ... "'''tI· "es 'Ou .... T"'e "''''e "'s Y"u c ........ -1'm"'gI'ne 1\11" ... .LV.L.L ,",V.L.L .L.Lv.L a.L.I:'.L a..... .... • ~ ~ Vy a.J., a. v a.J..L • a. ,.lV.i.L • 

Chairman, equally concerned that efforts to deal with this problem 
be consistent with the Constitution. 

The Postal Service, I think we should put in perspective, is the 
principal. artery through which the business, social and personal af
fairs of the Nation are conducted and it is the preeminent vehicle 
for all of the people to use in exercising their freedom of communi
cation protected by the First Amendment. 

It is also a monopoly which is enforced by the absence of other 
authorized means to exercise first amendment rights in that way, 
so the Postal Service is as unique as it is extraordinary and it is a 
shining example of what the Government can do to facilitate the 
exercise of constitutional rights, particularly the most important 
right that we have, which is freedom of expre~sion. 

The Service is neither intended to be nor equipped to act as a 
general law enforcement agency nor as a judicial body. The power 
of the Service to police mail fraud activities arises from its general 
mandate to superintend postal business and execute postal laws. 
But this power, like all other powers under the Constitution, is sub
ject to the limitations of the Bill of Rights. 

We oppose the legislation pending before this subcommittee be
cause it provides for a range of new enforcement procedures which 
may create serious constitutional problems under the fifth and 
fourth amendments, and beyond that in light of what I have just 
said about the origins of th~ Postal Service and its facilitation of 
first amendment rights, we also oppose the legislation because the 
record of the Service in its current investigations of mail fraud 
cases we think raises serious first amendment problems. 

Let me turn right away to some of the particular provisions in 
the bill that concern us. At the top of the list is the broad search 
powers that this legislation in the current form would grant to the 
Postal Service. I think before I get into the specifics of that I would 
like to underscore something that the last witness said. I spent 
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many hours a number of years ago litigating a case against the 
Central Intelligence Agency for its activities in connection with the 
Postal Service in opening the mail matter of millions of Am~ricans 
without a search warrant. I also spent many hours workIng on 
cases involving mail covers instituted on the mail matter of l!.S. 
citizens who were engaged in what courts later held to be pure fIrst 
amendment activities. 

So I think when we look at this search authority we really have 
to bear very clearly in mind what t~e not-so-distB;nt pa~t has sh~wn 
with respect to the use of the malls for broad IntrusIOns on fIrst 
and fourth amendment rights of American citizens, both by the 
Postal Service and by other agencies of the Government, particu
lar ly the CIA. 

Now section 413 of the bill would authorize the Service to in
spect "any books, records, documents or other objects that the 
Postal Service has reason to believe relate to any 
matter * * * under investigation." Any matter; not just matters 
involving mail fraud, but any matter which the Service is investi
gating and presumably which it may be investigating in connection 
with a request coming from another agency such as the CIA. 

The bill does not provide for any form of prior hearing before a 
neutral officer to determine if there is a sufficient evidentiary basis 
to justify the search, and it thus creates almost unbridled discre
tion for Postal Service officials out in the field, not in the hierar
chy, to initiate searches when they feel that it is appropriate. 

Now the Constitution is pretty clear on this subject. The target 
of an administrative search is generally entitled to full fourth 
amendment protection. Particularly in the area of industries or ac
tivities like the Postal Service that are not heavily regulated. 
When you are in a very self-regulated industry maybe the search 
powers of the Government can be a little bit broader but certainly 
not with respect to the mail activities of American citizens. 

Persons who engage in mail transactions d'ST't give up their le
gitimate expectation of privacy-not just their expectation of priva
cy with respect to things they put in the mail but moreover, mate
rials that they don't put in the mail, that they hold in their homes 
or in their businesses which may not have anything but indirect 
relationship to how they use the mails. 

Now because the Postal Service already has broad authority to 
continue both civil and criminal mail fraud investigations, a person 
who is initially a target of a civil investigation may subsequently 
become the subject of a criminal prosecution based on documents 
and materials that could be seized by this new power that would be 
created by section 413 of the bill. That would raise even more con
stitutional problems. 

The Supreme Court has been very clear on this, most recently in 
Marshall v. Barlow, and has established that the warrant clause of 
the fourth amendment requires that prior to a search a neutral 
and detached magistrate should ascertain that the legal standard 
established under the fourth amendment is met. 

This means except in emergency circumstances when you think 
the suspect is going to flee or the material is going to be destroyed 
and you can show that in a particular case a judicial warrant has 
to be obtained before any particular document can be seized. 
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Now, the kinds of questions that have to be answered before a 
search warrant is issued are whether the proposed search is rele
vant, reasonable, and necessary to the particular investigation, 
whether there exists administrative authority to make the search, 
whether the material bears a reasonable relationship to the kinds 
of information required to ascertain possible violations and wheth
er the scope of the proposed search is too broad, for the investiga
tion. 

Now there is no mechanism in the bill as it is currently drafted 
for answering or even asking these questions before the Postal 
Service makes an inspection demand for books, records, documents 
or other materials in the possession of private parties. So there are 
really a series of major fourth amendment and first amendment 
problems that that section presents and as currently drafted, I 
don't think there can be much dispute-certainly in my mind there 
isn't-that it violates those constitutional provisions . 

Now, the next section which concerns us is the amendment to 
section 3005 in existing law involving the new cease and desist au
thority for the Postal Service. This section raises an additional 
kind of constitutional problem under the fifth amendment due 
process clause. 

Every person in the United States has a property right in the 
u~e of the mails for lawful purposes which cannot be taken away 
wIthout due process of law. But the new power to restrain people 
from engaging in particular kinds of activities, which is created by 
section 3005, goes right to the heart of that constitutional right. 

It is not any accident that under current law the Postal Service 
is really limited as to what it can do in terms of issuing orders is 
stop particular lr..inds of activities, because all it can do is stop, the 
mail. 
. Bu~ under this amendme~t to se~tion 3005, what is being prom
lse~ IS that the Post.al ServIce be gIven new authority, not to stop 
maIl but to go out and stop people from engaging in particular 
kinds of activities which mayor may not have any direct relation
ship to the mail. 

That goes way beyond what's permissible under the fifth amend
ment. The 3005 proceeding as contemplated under the bill is a sum
mary pr<?ceeding without the due process that would be required 
for stopplng people from engaging in particular kinds of activities. 

For example, if the Government wanted to go out and get a prior 
restraint against the publication of certain books, which it has 
sought to do from time to time, much too much for my taste and I 
am sure for yours, Mr. Chairman, it has to go through all kinds of 
procedural hoops to t.ry to get that type of prior restraint order. 
Under 3005 there is none of that due process, yet the Postal Serv
ice under the bill would be given new cease and desist authority to 
stop all kinds of activity beyond use of the mails. 

This brings me to a third set of problems in the bill and that is 
the statutory presumptions of wrongdoing which are attached to 
certa~n of the requirements in section 3005 by the new language in 
the bIll. These presumptions fail to meet the constitutional stand
ards that there be some rational connection between the fact 
proved and the ultimate fact presumed. 
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When a presumption of intentional wrongdoing is inferred from 
the mere fact that someone is not in compliance with certain regu
latory requirements, in most cases the Supreme Court and the 
lower courts have held that that violates due process of law. 

So where people are presumed to be intending to engage in mail 
fraud by the fact that they don't comply with certain regulatory re
quirements of the Postal Service really goes well beyond existing 
requirements of due process. VVe think those presumptions should 
be eliminated from the bill. 

The final area in the bill that I wanted to address involves the 
proposed expansion of the Postal Service's power to reach any in
strumentality of interstate commerce, the question that you raised 
with the last witness. 

Now, the current authority of the service to protect the mail is 
derived from the power of the United States to designate by legisla
tion what may be carried in the mail, and the specific power of the 
Postal Service to police mail fraud activities arises from this gener
al mandate. As we read this new jurisdictional provision it would 
appear to us to authorize the Postal Service to go beyond the regu
lation of mail activity and instead to monitor such things as door 
to door sales, telephone advertising and a wide variety of other ac
tivities which have from time to time been held by the courts to 
fall within the interstate commerce jurisdiction, particularly the 
use of telephone advertising. 

I think there have been good reasons in the past, basically. to 
limit the Postal Service to the regulation of the use of the mails for 
particular purposes and we question whether this broad new inter
state commerce authority is appropriate. 

Now let me before I conclude my opening statement, Mr. Chair
man, step back from the specific provisions of the bill and for a 
moment look at an additional reason why we think Congress 
should be very, very cautious before expanding the police powers of 
the Postal Service, and that is the Service's mail fraud record 
which I know has been brought out by other witnesses and I won't 
dwell on it at length except to discuss the constitutionality of it. 

In making a determination as to whether an advertisement for 
mail order merchandise is fraudulent the Postal Service has been 
depicted by some of the critics as setting itself up as a board of 
review examining the validity or worth of ideas, opinions, beliefs, 
and theories expressed in books and other publications offered for 
sale to the public. 

To the extent this is true-and we obviously don't sit t -:::fore you, 
Mr. Chairman, as an expert on whether or not it is true, but there 
is plenty of evidence that it appears to be-to the extent that criti
cism is true there is a very serious first amendment question as to 
how the Postal Service is using its existing authority. 

I would like to just mention two recent cases, one of which has 
been extensively discussed and I won't go into it in detail and an
other which I will cite because I don't believe other witnesses 
have-the recent cases of Health Purifiers, Incorporated, Public 
Docket 678, in 1979, and the Magnolia Lab case, which I know 
others have discussed, which both graphically illustrate what can 
happen in an overbroad Postal Service fraud investigation. 
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Both of these actions were brought by the Service pursuant to 
title 39 of the United States Code, section 3005. The Health Purifi
ers case, in that case the Service alleged respondent misrepresented 
opinion in its advertisements for a report concerning a proposed 
treatment for prostate discomfort. 

The Postal Service offered the testimony of one medical expert to 
prove that the medical opinions expressed in the booklet that was 
being advertised through the mails were false. And relying solely 
on the testimony of that one witness, an administrative law judge 
in that case held that ideas and opinions expressed in the booklet 
were contrary to "current informed consensus." And would not 
achieve the claimed result. 

The judge concluded that: 
Even though an advertisement correctly describes the booklet, if the r~sults repre

sented in the booklet cannot be achieved by following the procedures outlined in the 
booklet, the advertiser is in violation of section 3005. 

Now with all due respect to that administrative law judge, Mr. 
Chairman, who I think is very similar to thejudge in the Magnolia 
Lab case, the analysis engaged in in that case, as well as the Mag
nolia Lab case, is contrary to the first amendment. 

As has been interpreted by the Supreme Court, the first amend
ment mandates that speech restrictions on commercial advertising 
be very narrowly drawn and the authority to regulate advertising 
extends only to the authority to regulate fraud; in fact, actual 
fraud and not opinions. 

So where the advertisement falsely depicts the content of a book, 
the Postal Service does have the authority to ban it. There is no 
question about it. If I advertise that I am going to put out a book 
that will tell you certain medical things that the book has no infor
mation about whatsoever and I send through the mails to get that 
book, or someone sends through the mails to get that book and it 
turns out that the information I sent forth in my advertisement is 
not in the book, there is 110 question the Postal Service has the au
thority to stop the mails and ban that book as far as the mails are 
concerned because it misleads the public. 

But if the Service makes a determination that an advertisement, 
although not false, nevertheless has the potential to deceive or con
fuse the public, it can't go so far as to actually ban the publication. 
It can do certain other things. It can place restrictions on the ads, 
so long as they are no broader than reasonably required to prevent 
deception. 

I think you have heard already from other witnesses about a 
statement of this policy by the Federal Trade Commission, the so
called mirror image doctrine, which I think accurately and reason
ably reflects what the first amendment requires, and what should 
be done by the Postal Service. 

What that doctrine says is, it allows the regulation of advertising 
to require that the advertising state that it only expresses the opin
ion of the author, or that it is only quoting the contents of the pub
lication, that the advertising disclose the source of the statements 
quoted and the advertiser disclose the author to be the source of 
the opinions. 
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In other words, putting the public on not~ce that, "~h.ese are ~ust 
my views and they don't necessarily constItute prevailIng m~dical 
opinion but I am going to put them into a book and I am gOIng to 
sell them to you and if you want to buy them and try them out, 
that is fine." . b k 

That is a perfectly reasonable regulation, but bannIng that 00 . 

violates the first amendment. . d thO 
It is very clear, I think, that the Postal ServIce goes bey<?n IS 

reasonable examination of the truthfu.lness of a~ a~vertIsement 
and investigates the opinions expressed .I~ the pubhcatI?n

d
. . 

In the Magnolia Lab case the admInIstratIVe law JU ge maIn
tained that: "It is essential to explore the tru~hfulnes$ <?f the 
claims made in the booklet 'which relate to the claI~s mad~ In the 
advertisement in order to determine if the ~dvertIsed clalIDs

b 
ark 

true or false"-and in other words to determIne whether the 00 

ought to be banned. . . d 
That just isn't sound first amendment law a~d .It IS very anger

ous Where the ideas purport to be only the opInIon of the author, 
the' Supreme Court has held, "There is no exact standard, of abso
lute truth by which the Government can prove the assertIon false 
and a fraud." . . h' t t fi st 

I think this point is consistent WIth anot er Impor. an Ir 
amendment principle and that is one involving the rejectIOn of the 
view that the Government has complete power to regulate com~e:
cial speech. It doesn't. In a celebrated 1975 case the Court saId It 
much better than I possibly could... . 'f 

The Court said, "People will perceIve theIr own best Interests 1 

only they are well enough informed and the best means to that ind 
is to open the channels of communication rather than to c ose 
them", . 'th Th~t is why the kind of regulation that the FTC enga~es In WI 
respect to the mirror ffi:1age rul~ is p.erfectly reasonable In contrast 
to what the Postal SerVIce does In thIS area... . 

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, as I have saId agam and agB;In, 
here we are concerned about the broad new powers that these bIlls 
wouid give to the Postal Service. We understand the pr?blem that 
you are addressing but when we put that· problem ~eslde !he au
thority that the Postal Service now has, the authOrIty whIch the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation and U.S. attorneys aro~nd the 
country have with respect to the enforcement ?f the mall fra;d 
statutes which are on the books, we honestly do~ t see' t~e n~ed or 
this legislation and we see very serious dangers In :purSUIng It, par
ticularly in the light of the record which the SerVI?e has unfort:u
nately established, both with respect to the regulatIOn. of ~dvertIs
ing and the even more unfortunate record I stated ear:her. In terms 
of the cooperation with other law enforcement agenCIes In . a dark 
period in our investigative past where the C~A was a~le. to pe:
suade the Postal Service to perform the openIng' of mall In large 
numbers. t' b £ ceed I think Congress ought to be very, very cau IOUS e10re pro -
ing any further here. As always, Mr. Cha~rman, we stand ready ~o 
help your subcommittee and other commIttees of !he Congress:~p 
trying to grapple with this proposal. We are not trYIng to be uncon-
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structive and we certainly are prepared to assist you in pursuing 
and drafting amendments if thait is the course you choose to take. 

But frankly, our recommendation would be: Think twice, three 
times, four times before you even start walking down this path in 
terms of the kind of authority that is being created here. 

Thank you very much. 
Mr. LELAND. We certainly appreciate your testimony. This chair

man is 'very much concerned about the issues that you have raised 
pertaining to the specific issue of mail fraud. 

Mr. Shattuck, one of the arguments I have heard most often in 
support of this bill is that it only gives the Postal Service powers 
that inspectors generally have in other agencies. Would you please 
comment on that? 

Mr. SHATTUCK. Well, the inspector general authority with respect 
to inspection of documents and materials contemplated by section 
413 of this bill is generally limited to an inspector general authori
ty to police the activities of that agency internally. Inspectors gen
eral are watching for internal fraud and abuse by employees of a 
particular agency. 

When you get into an area such as very sensitive records, like 
records of private parties who are using the mails, I think a more 
appropriate analogy is the sensitive records held by the Internal 
Revenue Service. The Internal Revenue Service under current law 
has to follow a court ordered procedure very analogous to the one I 
was outlining in my testimony when it provides tax records to the 
Justice Department or to the other agencies of the Government en
gaged in investigations that don't involve the tax laws. 

While there is no question that an inspector general would be an 
improvement over a Postal Service agent out in the field when it 
comes to deternlining when to initiate an inspection or search, I 
don't think the inspector general approach would solve the fourth 
amendment problems that I am outlining here and those problems 
have been encountered by the Congress before in other legislation, 
notably the Tax Reform Act of 1976, and when Congress saw that 
one it said, 'We'd better go the court-ordered route, or we will find 
o1.ltselves in constitutional difficulty.' 

Mr. LELAND. Db you think we could use the approach of estab
lishing an inspector general office in the Post Office Department to 
alleviate some of the concerns you have expressed? . 

Mr. SHATTUCK. I think an inspector general.· would be an im
provement over a Postal .agent out in the field deciding to initiate a 
search but an inspector general would not be the same as a court 
making a determination that all of the -requirements of the fourth 
amendment are met, that the search will not be overbroad, that it 
is relevant and es~ential to a particular inv(~stigative purpose. 

I don't want to sayan inspector general is as problematic as a 
Postal agent but I don't think it is a sUQstantial kind of improve
ment. It would be some improvement., 

Let me stress the fact, as I understand it, that inspectors general 
most often have the administrative search powers when the agency 
is engaged in internal investigations, to make sure that its employ-
ees are not engaged in fraud and abuse. , 

,And here we are talking about regulating the activities of the 
entire American public. I question whether a~ inspector general 
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sitting in Washington or anywhere else is really competent to start 
issuing a lot of search orders for general members of the public 
who are not employed by or participating in the activities of the 
agency. 

I would be glad to study the matter further, but I am afraid I 
don't see that as a solution to the problem that I have outlined. 

:Mr. LELAND. We would like, if you would, to have your comments 
on a further study of what you feel would be more appropriate, or 
further criticism if you have that. 

Iv.1r. SHATTUCK. Before we leave that point, Mr. Chairman, could I 
underscore, I do not think it would be either burdensome or com
plicated or expensive to initiate the kind of court order procedure 
that I am talking about. It works in other areas. It works in the 
area of of Internal Revenue Service records. It does not involve 
hiring new inspectors general and it provides much more protec
tion for fourth amendment rights. 

At the same time, it would provide the Postal Service with a rea
sonable way of conducting its mail fraud investigation. 

Mr. LELAND. Given that, Mr. Shattuck, and given the fact that 
you are an expert in civil liberties, you made a comment earlier 
that this legislation is not necessary. What would be your approach 
to solving the problem of mail fraud? 

Mr. SHATTUCK. The first thing, I guess, I would do, is to put that 
mirror image principle right into statutory form, so it is clear to 
the Postal Service what it can and cannot do with respect to inves
tigation of mail and issuance of orders prohibiting mail fraud activ
ity. 

Now, that is what should be done in terms of setting up a proce
dure for the Postal Service to follow in regulating mail matter that 
may be fraudulent. When you get to the investigative level-I con
fess I have not reviewed anything more than the record before 
your subcommittee, but that seems to be quite extensive at this 
level-I do not see a very compelling case for additional investigc:::
tive power for the Postal Service. 

I think they have adequate investigative power and I think that 
to the extent there is a criminal violation of mail fraud statutes, 
there are warrant procedures right now that are available through 
U.S. attorneys offices and there is no question that mail fraud in
vestigations can continue. 

As a personal reflection, I served as a law clerk to a U.S. Federal 
district judge for a year, and there were plenty of mail fraud cases 
that were brought before the court and in many instances, I 
became familiar with the warrants, judicial warrants that were 
used to get access to materials that were necessary to make out a 
genuine case of criminal mail fraud. 

So I do not have any doubt that if there is a very serious crimi
nal. fraud problem that is going on, the Postal Service can get at it. 
Vlhat I am concerned about is, what they really want to do is 
engage in a much broader kind of regulation. Certainly the two 
cases that I have cited and others that have been cited by other 
witnesses would bear that out. 

For that reason, I do not think any additional investigative 
power is necessary. . 
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Mr. LELAND. Do you think in li ht f 
th~t th~ Postal Service h~lds Ie iti

g 
to your statement just now, 

thIS pOInt, or do you think that ~o ma ~ ~h reasona~le authority at 
too overbearing? me 0 e authOrIty they have is 

Mr. SHATTUCK. Well I am t 'tt' 
existing authority. I a~ not u~~· SI Ing ~ehre to comment on their 
nesses have, to cut back on Ing you, a ~ oug~ I know other wit-
fraud. I am addressing this bilital a~.thlrItlY WIth respect to mail 
the Senate, which I know ou a' par I?U ar y the bill that passed 
bill creates new power wI!ere i{~ con~lderIng most ~eriously. That 
area of the inspection searches Id ~h needed, partIC~larly in the 
and the legislative presumptionsa~at let ciksci ahd deSIst authority, 

Mr: LELAND. Let me ask ou a v a e a o~t. 
questIon if I may. SomethingYthat h eb, very serI~)us and critical 
out this whole hearing process on th~S e~~ b?th~rIng me through-
~ome people say in the realm f 'p~r ICU ar ISSU~ .. 

thIng to get something and we °h polItIcs one has to gIve up some-
about th~ ravaging of s~nior citizen~vb bren lalrticularly concerned 

Do we at any point give u an y rau u ent s.c~en;tes. 
the purpose of protecting thtint!re~easfre ~f ou~ .cIVIl lIberties for 

Mr. SHATTUCK Well it ' . so senIOr CItIzens. 
ously, and I kno~ that is ~ ~u~~~~ous t~U~stio~ and I treat it seri
your mind and Senator Pe er' ,l?n a welgh~ most heavily on 
are concerned about this. pp s mInd and the mInds of others who 

I ?annot help but conclude th t 'f . 
matIon that the opinions expre:sed peop~ akre gIVen proper infor
the author alone and do not In a 00 are the opinions of 
opinion, that that kind of info~ur~?rt toilrb the prevailing medical 
t? decide, including senior citi:~ IOn w e enough for the public 
rIsk on a particular publication s, whether they want to take a 

Now I think there are plenty' of e I' , 
who ~ould be very upset if the p dJ ej InclU~lng senior citizens, 
are beIng taken off the mark t y Seiden y. realIzed that materials 
tion which they would like to ~aken a riskertIsenwnts out of publica-
W~~t you have to do I think M Ch .on. d. 

by gIVIng them enough-make ~ur~' th alrma~,\,;ts to 'protect people 
that they can aSSess that . k . d thY g~t enough Information so 
mirror image rule makes sorIS , an at IS why I think the FTC 
Postal Service to do or themFT~ s~nd' ~ecause 'Yhat it allows the 
Postal S~rvicein thi;, is: 0 0 In that Instance and the 

Here Is .. a book and it i . 'tt b . 
who has thed that idea ou~ =d thn t ~ sonhleone who has an idea 
maybe for a few other eo I· Mal ea as worked for him and 
is I?:ot claiming it is anP id~a ethaf~be ~or many other people, b~t he 
or IS the prevailing opinion of all thOmlnd~es lthe me~ICal profession 

That should be enou h fi' .~ e me lca professIOn. 
idea to go forward it i; oie: ~eople. If we do not allow that kind of 
much progress in 'the a;ea ~f 0 bci,p.retty hard, (AJ, For there to be 
for consumers includin . me .l~lne or any other area, and (BJ 
jUdgments abo~t what t~e;e~~~t ~lhzensh to really make informed 

When. I go to a grocer 0 purc ase. 
~ant to be told is, HYoJc~t;:.~~tr sOhe other p~ac~, the last thing I 
In the government have determk~d thS~ ~etr~aln Items because we 
purchase them." a 1 IS not good for you to 
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Now there are some very dangerous substances that fall into 
that category and I think they properly fall into that category. 
Very dangerous drugs may be banned from the market because ev
eryone agrees that they are dangerous. 

But that is not the case with this mail fraud business and as I 
understand it, what is being investigated in most of these instances 
by the Postal Service is the kind of information that was contained 
in those two books in the Magnolia case, and the Health Purifier 
case. 

Mr. LELAND. Let me ask you another very serious question- not 
that one is less serious than another. Is this legislation salvageable 
or is the idea of the legislation salvageable, or do you advocate kill
ing the legislation outright? 

Mr. SHATTUCK. As always, that is a judgment that you in the 
Congress are better able to exercise than we on the outside, but I 
win say that if this legislation contains any of the four problems 
that I identified, I think it should be killed. 

If on the other hand it were scaled down so that the authority of 
the Postal Service to require that the mirror image doctrine be fol
lowed, and clear information be stated about the origin of certain 
ideas that are put into books and other things that are being adver
tised, then I think it would be salvageable. I do not have any real 
objection under current law to the Postal Service engaging in the 
kinds of reu.Bonable investigations that comport with the first 
amendment, assuming you adopt the mirror image doctrine. 

But if any of this other stuff stays in there, I am afraid there 
really is no real compromise with such issues as the fourth and 
fifth amendments. 

Mr. LELAND. You made a statement on page 6 of your testimony: 
This expansion of jurisdiction to control persons as well as mail matter is particu

larly objectibnable because section 3005 appears to authorize the Postal Service to 
conduct summary and ex parte proceedings. 

Can you expand on that for me? 
Mr. SHATTUCK. What I meant by that was the proceedings that 

the Postal Service can conduct u.nder section 3005 in the bill would 
appear to be less than a full kind of evidentiary' proceeding, given 
all these legislative presumptions. 

You are suddenly before the Postal Service and you are pre
sumed guilty before you are put on trial. Some of the proceedings 
might even take place before you or be brought before the Postal 
Service. That is what I meant by ex parte. 

The fact that these ar~ summary, in that they do not involve the 
full evidentiary hearing on the basic underlying issue of mail fraud 
but they m;:iy basically determine whether or not someone should 
be presumed to be guilty because they have not followed the regu
latory scheme is a summary and ex parte proceeding, which raises 
due process questions. 

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Shattuck, we want to thank you very much for 
coming forward and giving your testimony. Please be available if 
you can for possible further comment if we pursue this matter any 
further. 

Thank you very much. 
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T~e Chair would like to announce our last hearing will be this 
comIng Thursday at 1:30 p.m. 

[Whereupon, at 11:15 a.m., the subcommittee was adjourned to 
reconvene on Thursday, JUly 22, 1982, at 1:30 p.m.] , 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Shattuck follows:] 
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STATEMENT OF JOHN SHATrUCK 

DIRECTOR. AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION 

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: 

I am pleased to appear before you to offer the comments of 

the American Civil Liberties Union on H.R. 3973 and its companion 

bill, s. 1407. The ACLU is a nationwide non-partisan organization 

of more than 250,000 members whose sole purpose is the protection 

of individual rights and freedoms under our Constitution. In 

this regard, the ACLU is concerned about legislative efforts to 

enlarge the investigatory and enforcement powers of the United 

States Postal Service in the regulation of mail fraud activities. 

Introduction 

The ACLU shares the concerns expressed in the course of 

these hearings for victims of unscrupulous entrepreneurs who use 

the mail to engage in fraudulent commercial practices. The 

impact of this type of insidious activity on the elderly popula

tion is especially disturbing. However, we are equally concerned 

that legislative efforts to deal with this problem be consistent 

with the Constitution. In order to safeguard the protections 

afforded to individuals under the Constitution, it is necessary 

to insure that the societal interest in effective law enforce

ment not be advanced a.t the expense of constitutional guarantees. 

The U.S. Postal. Service is a principal artery through which 

the business, social and personal affairs of the nation are 

conducted. In this respect it is a preeminent vehicle for the 

exercise of freettom of communication protected by the First 

Amendment,which all Americans enjoy •.. It is also a monopoly 
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which is enforced by the absence of other authorizeq means to 

convey mail matter. The Postal Service w~s created to fulfill 

as its "basic function the obligation to provide postal services 

to bind the nation together through the personal, educational, 

literary, and business correspondence of the people." Title 39, 

United States Code, Section 101. It was neither intended to be, 

nor equipped to act, as a general law enforcement agency, nor as a 

judicial body. The power of the Postal Service to police mail fraud 

activities arises from its general mandate to superintend postal 

business and execute postal laws. It is clear, however, that the power 

of Congress over' the Postal Service "like all other powers, is 

subject to the limitations of the Bill o~ Rights." United States 

ex reI. S.D. Pub. Co. v. Burleson, 255 U.S. 704, 717 (1920) 

(dissenting opinion of Justice Brandeis). 

The ACLU opposes H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 because they 

~ provide for a range of new enforcement procedures which may create 

serious constitutional problems under the Fourth and Fifth Amend

ments. Moreover, because the Postal Service's current practices in 

enforcing mail fraud laws in cases involving advertising of 

li~erature pose a serious threat to First Amendment rights, the 

bill's broad grant of power will only serve to strengthen the 

Service's ability to engage in such constitutionally questionable 

enforcement activities • Accordingly, the First Amendment impiica

tions of the bill will also be discussed in our testimony. 
I 

Following is a detailed analysis of the constitutional defects 

in H.R. 3973 and S. 1407. 

I, 
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Inspection Authority 

Section 413 of the bill ~lould authorize the Postal Service 

to inspect "any books, records, documents or other objects 

that the Postal Service has reason 'to believe relate to any 

matter ••• under. investigation." The bill does not provide 

for any form of prior hearing before a neutral officer to 

determine if there is a sufficient evidentiary basis to 

justify a search and inspection, and to insure that the 

inspection complies with the "reasonableness" standard set 

forth in subsection (a). The absence of such a provision 

creates almost unbridled discretion for postal service 

officials, particularly those in the field, as to when to 

search. 

"The essen~ial p';lrpose <;>f the prohibition of the Fourth 
Amendment ~s to ~mpose a standard of 'reasonableness' 
';lpon the exercise of discretion by government officials--
7n ~r~er to saf7guard the privacy and security of . 
~nd~v~duals aga~nst arbitrary invasions." Delaware v. 
Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 (1979). 

The target of a federal administrative search is generally 

entitled to full Fourth Amendment protection. Persons who 

engage in mail transactions do not relinquish their legitimate 

expectation of privacy as to the sanctity of their personal 

and business belongings. Serious negative repercussions may 

be suffered by persons whose objects and documents are inspected 

by the Postal Service, including loss of 'customer privacy, loss 

of financial privacy, and loss of trade secrets. Moreover, 
'.\ 

because the postal Service already has the authority to 

conduct both civil and criminal mail fraud investigations, 

an individual who is initially a target of a civil investigation 

f 
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may subsequently be subject to criminal prosecution based on 

documents inspected under the new authority of the bill. 

The judicial enforcement provisions of Section 413(b) are 

no substitute for a judicial warrant procedure. The Supreme 

Court has establish~d ~hat the warrant clause of the Fourth· 

Amendment generally requires that prior to a_search a. neutral 

and detached magistrate shOUld ascertain that the legal 

standard'established unaer the Fourth Amendment is met. Terry 

v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 20-21 (1968). See also Marshall v. Barlow's, 

Inc., 436 U.S. 307 (1978). In the absence of emergency circumstances, 

a warrantless search is generally unreasonable. Id.A search 

warrant requires at a minimum, that the facts upon which the 

intrusion is based be capable of measurement against an objective 

standard, whether probable cause or a less stringent test. Id. 

In making a determination of whether a document inspection should 

be allowed, a neutral officer would be in the best position t~ 

determine whether the inspection is relevant, reasonable and 

necessary; ,whether there exists administrative authority to 

make the inspect~on; whether the material bears a reasonable 

relationship to the kinds of information required to ascertain 

possible violations; and whe·ther the scope ?f the proposed 

inspection is overbroad. 

These well-established constitutional safeg.uards apply to 

intrusions during civil as well as criminal investigations; to 

commercial buildings as well as homef!. See v. Seattle, 387 U.S'. 
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541 (1967). See also Camara v. Municipal Court, 387 U.S. 523, 

528-529 (1967). 

A warrant provides assurances from a neutral officer that 

the inspection is reasonable under the Constitution, is author

ized by statute, and is pursuant to an administrative plan con

taining specific neutral criteria. Of equal importance, a 

warrant would advise the owner of the items to be inspected of 

the scope and objects of the search, beyond which limits the 

Postal Service representative is not permitted to proceed. 

Marshall v. Barlow's Inc., supra at 323. In the absence of 

emergency circumstances, the Postal Service would have adequate 

opportunity to obtain a search warrant once it has probable 

cause to believe that illegal mail activities are taking place. 

Finally, the inspection provisions fail to establish 

procedures for proper service of the inspection demand or to 

provide an adequate time to oppose the proposed search. 

.i Stop Mail" and "Cease and Desist" Authority 

The stop mail and cease and desist authority in Section 3005 

of the bill raises constitutional implications under the Fifth 

Amendment Due Process Clause. Every person in the United States 

has a property right in the use of the mail for lawful purposes 

of which he or she cannot be deprived of without due process of 

law. See B'urleson, supra at 712 (dissenting opinion of Justice 

Brandei,sl. The cease and desist powers created by Section 3005 

represent a major expansion in Postal Service authority. Under 

current law, the Postal Service has j\~risdiction to monitor and 

lit' 
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control mail matter through the issuance of a stop mail order. 

The authority to issue cease and desist orders, however, goes 

far beyond control of mail matter and allows the Postal Service' 

to issue orders forbidding persons from continuing to use the 

mails to engage in activity which the Service believes'is illegal. 

This expansion of jurisdiction to control persons as' well as 

mail matter is particularly objectionable because Section 3005 

appears to authorize the Postal Service to conduct summary and 

~ parte proceedings. Such proceedings would deprive individuals 

of the requisite notice and opportunity to be heard mandated by 

the Fifth Amendment when legitimate property and privacy interests 

are at stake. 

Legislative Presumptions 

The statutory presumptions of wrongdoing attached to 

"unreasonable" noncompliance with certain of the requirements 

in Section 3005 fail to meet the constitutional standard that 

there be some rational connection between the fact proved and 

the ultimate fact presumed. Leary v. United States, 395 U.S. 6, 

35 (1969). See also Mobile, J &' K.C.R. Co. vo;; Turnipseed, 219 

U.S. 35 (1910). A presumption of intentional wrongdoing inferred 

from the mere fact that there was a judicial determination on the 

narrow issue of non-compliance is a purely arbitrary mandate. 

The effect of these provisions is to circumvent the safe

guards of notice and oppor ;U11ity to be heard mandated by the 
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Fifth Amendment. They are vaguely drawn, and fail to establish 

sufficient nO.tice as to what conduct may constitute an 

"unreasonable failure" to comply with a Postal Service demand. 

. Moreover, the judicial hearing on the issue of I1;0n-compliance 

will not giv.e the party believed to be conducting fraudulent 

activities, or the court, an opportunity to engage in an 

evidentiary review of the Postal Service's claim of mail fraud. 

Yet, the procedural effect of the presumption will place a 

burden on the party against whom it is imposed to introduce 

evidence to rebut the presumption that he or she is engaging in 

mail fraud. A presumption which will have such a substantial 

impact on the outcome of the formal adjudication of the claim 

of fraudulent activities is procedurally defective. 

Interstate Commerce 

The expansion of the Postal Service's power to "any 

instrumentality of interstate commerce" is an overbroad 

delegation of legislative power. The authority of the Postal 

Service in the protection ~fthemail derives from the power 

of the United States to designate by legislation wh~t may be 

carried in the mail and what must be excluded. The specific 

power of the Postal Service to police,mai~ fraud activities arises 

from this general mandate. Section 3012 would appear to go far 

"beY6>OO this. .however, by authori"zing the Postal Service to monitor 

door-to-door sales, telephone advertising, and a panoply of 

other activities which employ instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce but are not connected with the mail. 

',,-:, " 
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Under current law the Postal 
Service properly lacks 

jurisdiction to police activities which ar.e 
with the mail. 

not ,connected 
Whethe,r the Service requir.es the powers of a 

general law enforcement agency . 
to effectively police mail 

fraud activities should 
be a subject of close ~crutiny of' this 

congressional inquiry. 

First Amendment Issues 

The expansion of Postal Service 
and police authority in H 

S. 1407 is part' .R. 
, ~cularly objectionable in light 

Serv1ce's reco d of the 
r of constitutionally questionable enforcement 

activities affecting First Amendment 

3973 

rights u d ' n er 1ts exist4ng 
authority. I . k' ... n rna ~ng a determination 

as to whether an advertise-
ment is fraudulent in nature, 

the Postal Service has been 
depicted as settlng itself up as a nho d ar of review examining 
the ~alidi ty or WOl:'th of ideas, opinions, be14efs ... and theories 
expressed in books and other publications 
th 

offered for sale to 
e public." ( Rodale Press Inc 71 

71 F T ' ., F.T.C. 1184 (ALJ), aff'd 
•• C. 1222 (1967) , remanded, 407 F .2d 1252 ( , 

dismissed D. C. C~r.) 
, 74 F.T.C. 1429 (1968); . 

71 F.T.C. at 1247-1256 
(COmmiSSioner Elman d' , , 1ssent1ng).) 

The recent cases of Health Purif' 
/ 1ers, Inc., P.S. Docket 

6 78 (1979), and Magnolia Lab d No. 
, an Magnolia Laboratory, P.S. 

Docket No. 10/1232 (1981)' , 
. ' graph1Cally illustrate how the Postal 

Services's 1 regu ation of advertisin 
,- 9 

suppressic>Ji"Of iit~;atur' , e. 
ship and 

may result in the censor

Both actions were b rought 

I'~ .1 

I 
!_-, 
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by the Postal Service pursuant to Title 39, United States 

Code, § 3005. In Health Purifiers, Inc., the Postal Service 

alleged that the respondent falsely represented the opinion in 

its advertisements "that the information in the documents 

identified as Dr. Morrison's confidential report, 'Natural Aids 

F~r the Prostate Gland', would enable the reader within 4 to 6 weeks 

to eliminate or substantially reduce a burning and painful 

urination, incontinence and frequent voiding of the bladder." 

The Postal Service offered the testimony of one medical expert 

to prove that the medical opinions expre~sed in the documents 

were raIse. Relying solely on the testimony of this witness, 

the Administrative Law Judge in that case held that the ideas 

and opinions expressed in the booklet were contrary to "current 

informed consensus", and would not achieve the claimed results. 

The Judge concluded that "even though an advertisement correctly 

describes a booklet, if the results represented in the booklet 

cannot be achieved by following the procedures outlined in the 

booklet, the advertiser is in violation of 39 U.S.C. § 3005." 

The most recent case where the Postal Service has effectively 

been able to ban literature was in Magnolia Lab, which has been 

widely commented on by witnesses during the course of these 

hearings. In Magnolia' :Gab, the Postal Service alleged that the 

respondent, a publishing company, had made a false repr17sentation 

in a book advertisement that "the dietary regimen set forth in 

the book, Stale Food vs. 'Fresh Food, will effectively cleanse and 

clear blocked arteries." The book, by Robert S. Ford, presented 

-- --------
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the author's opinion on the causes and cure of arteriosclerQses. 

The gist of Mr. Ford's thesis was that "arteries can cleanse 

themselves without surgery by diet alone." 

The Administrative Judge in that case upheld the Postal 

Service's complaint, holding that: 

Although I"found that the booklet contained some 
helpful suggestions and its author, Mr. Ford, is 
a knowledgeable and sincere, person who thinks tha't 
he is performing a beneficial service, I found 
that the representations in respondent's booklet 
~o be unproven and contrary to the weight, of 
Lnformed medical and scientific opinion. 

The analysis engaged in by the Postal Service and the 

Administrative Law Judge in Magnolia Lab and Health Purifiers, Inc. 

is plainly contrary to the First Amendment. The First Amendment 

mandates that speech restrictions of commercial advertising be 

narrowly drawn. Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation v. 

Public Service Commission of New York, 447 U.S. 557 (1980). 

Authority to regulate commercial advertising extends only to 

cases of actual fraud in fact. In an analogous situation, the 

Supreme Court has established that a state bar rule regulating 

lawyers' advertising was Violative of the First Amendment, absent 

proof that the regulated material was factually and materially 

inaccurate. In the Matter of R.M.J., 71 L.Ed 2d 64,73-74 (1982). 

Where the advertisement falsely depicts the content of a book, 

the Postal Service has the authority to ban it, since the 

advertisement misleads the public. Central Hudson Gas & Electric 

Corporation, supra at 349. 

111 

h 

J 
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If the Postal Service makes the determinat~on that .an 

advertisement, altbough not false, neverthelesS has the pptential 

to deceive or,confuse the public, it may place restrictions 

upon such advertising so long as they are nO broader than 

reasonably necessary to prevent the deception •. Id .• , .A statement 

of policy (The "Mirror-Image" doctrine) adopted by the Federal 

Trade Commission, appears to be in accordance with these 

constitutional principles. It allows the Ii'.T.C. to regulate 
\ .... ~ 

advertising only in a narrow set of circ:urnstances. The F.T.C. 

may require that the advertising state that it only expresses 

the opinion of the author or that it is only quoting the contents 

of the publication; that the advertising disclose the source 

of the statements quoted or derived from the contents of the 

publication; and that the advertising disclose the author to 

be the source of opinions expressed about the publication. 

36 Fed. Reg. 13414 (July 21, 1971).' 

P::\';!sently, the l'ostal Service goes be.:tond this examination 

of the truthfulness of the advertisement and investigates'bhe 

opinions expressed in the publication being advertised.' The 

Administrative La\V' Judge in Magnolia Lab maintained that '~it is 

essential to explore the truthfulness of th.e claims' made in the 

booklet which relate to the claims made ,in the' advertisement in 

order to determine if the advertised claims are true ~r false." 

However, the Supreme Court has consistently rejected efforts to 

test the truth of claims or opinions especially by tests that put 

the burden of proving truth on the speaker. New York Tim~ v. 
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Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 271, (1964). Where the ideas expressed 

in a book or publication only purport 1;:0 be the opinion of the 

author, "tl).e,re is no exact standard of .absolute truth by which 

to prove the a~~;~rtion false and. ii fraqd. n American School of 

Magnetic Healing V. ~~nulty, 187 U.S. 90, ;>4 (1902). 

It is significant that ,Health Purifiers, Inc. and Magnolia 

~ both de.alt with literature concerning medi.~al practices. 

The health area is especially vulnerable to Postal service claims 

.of false representation because of the lack of certainty of 

many mediciil theories advanced In Reilly v. Pinkus, 339 U.S. 

269 (1949), the Supreme Court approved the McAnnulty decision, 

supra, 

••• as.a, wholesale limitation upon findings of fraud 
und~r the mai~ sta~utes when the charges concern 
medical pract1ces 1n fields where knowledge has not 
yet ~een crys~allized in the crucible of experience. 
For 1n the SC1ence of medicine, as in other sciences 
experimentation i~ the spur of progress. It would ' 
amou~t to condemnation of new ideas without a trial 
~o g1ve the Postmaster General power to condemn new 
1deas as fraudulent solely because some cling to 
traditional 0 inions with.un uestionintenacit • 
Emphas1s added. 

at 273-275. 

of 

TQis view is consistent with another central principle 

the First Amendment, namely the rejection of the nhighly 

paternalistic" view that government has complete power to 

regulate commercial speach. nPeople will perceive their own 

best interests if only they are well enough informed, and. • • 

the best means to that end is to open the channels of communica

tion rather than to close them." Virginia State Board of 

Pharmacy v. Virginia Citizens Consumer Council, Inc., 425 U.S. 

748, 770 (1975). 
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Unfortunately, the postal Service record of enforcement 

in mail fraud cases indicates substantial disregard of these 

important First Amendment principles. In a variety of recent 

cases documented in these hearings, once the Service has 

concluded that ideas contained in an advertisement are false, 

as is likely to occur in cases of unorthodox views, it has· 

entered an order prohibiting sale of the publication via the -

mails. The effect of such an order is·to prevent virtually all 

dissemination of the publication in question, because effective 

marketing of most publications req.uires use of the ~ails. Thus, 

while the postal Service does not openly seek to suppress the 

publications themselves, it may effectively achieve this res~lt 

by banr.ing an advertisement which describes the publication. 

This runs afoul of the First Amendment. 

conclusion 

The ACLU is concerned abol,lt the broad new powers that 

H.R. 3973/S. 1407 would give to the postal Service •. We do not 

believe that such sweeping legislation is necessary for the 

Postal Service to effectively combat mail fraud practices. We 

urge Congress to carefully examine the constitutional implica

tions raised in the bill. It is especially imperative for 

Congress to exercise careful judgment in this area because of 

·the difficulty under existing laws in obtaining judicial review 

of postal serv'ice abuses. Al though we . recognize the valid goal 

of H.R. 3973/S. 1407 to combat mail fraud, we strongly oppose 

the legislation's infringement of rights guaranteed u.nder the 

First, Fourth and Fi£th Amendments to the Constitution. 

Tr.ank you for -this qpportunity to present our views. 
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MAIL FRAUD/FALSE REPRESENTATION 

THURSDAY, JULY 22t 1982 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL 
PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION, COMMITTEE ON POST 
OFFICE AND CIVIL SERVICE, 

Washington, D.G. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 1:40 p.m., in room 

311, Cannon House Office Building, Hon. Mickey Leland presiding. 
Mr. LELAND. Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. Welcome to 

this fifth and final public hearing of the Subcommittee on Postal 
Personnel and Modernization on H.R. 3973 and S. 1407, which seek 
to enhance the Postal Service's ability to combat mail fraud 
through increased investigatory and enforcement powers. Today we 
will hear from representatives of the U.S. Postal Service. 

I would like to acknowledge the presence-and am very mu.ch· 
pleased to do so-of the chairman of the full committee, Mr. Ford. I 
~m very happy that he could be with us, particularly for this hear-
lng. . 

Our witnesses will be Mr. Charles Nelson, Acting Chief Postal In
spector, and Mr. Nelson will be accompanied by Mr. Louis Cox, 
General Counsel, and Mr. George Davis, Assistant General Counsel 
for Consumer Protection. 

If I may, I would like to now recognize my chairman, Mr. Ford. 
Mr. FORD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have no comment at this 

time. I am looking forward to the testimony and will have some 
questions at the conclusion of the testimony. _ 

Mr. LELAND. On balance, since this is the last hearing, I would 
like to Sh9W my favoritism toward bipartisan efforts and acknowl
edge the presence of my friend and colleague from the great State 
of California, Mr. Dannemeyer. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Thank you, Mr .. Chairman; I will just reserve 
my questions until the end of the testimony .. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you. . 
Gentlemen, you may proceed. 

STATEMENT OF CHARLES P. NELSON, ACTING CHIEFPOSTAL1N
SPECTOR, ACCOMPANIED BY LOUtS COX, GENERAL COUNSEL; 
AND GEORGE DAVIS, ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL, CONSUM
ER PROTECTION DIVISION 

Mr. NELSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
My name is Charles P. Nelson, and I am the .Acting Chief Posta! 

. Inspector. With me at the table are the Postal Service General 
Counsel, Louis Cox, who sits on my right, and Mr. George D'avis; 
his Assistant General Counsel for the ConSUmer Protection Divi .. 
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sion. Mr. Davis has headed up this division for approximately 11 
years, and it is the division that oversees the 3005:-3007 type of ef
forts from the litigation and procedural standpOInt for the U.S. 
Postal Service. 

With your permission I will submit my complete statement for 
the record and cover a few highlights. 

Mr. LELAND. Without objection. 
Mr. NELSON. We are here today to express our support for the 

Mail Order Consumer Protection Amendments of 1982. Over the 
past several years we have found increasing public concern ~~out 
the problem of mail order schemes built upon false advertisIng. 
Many of these schemes tend to prey most heavily on the elderly, 
the poor, and other more disadvantaged m~mbers ~f our society. 
The subcommittee has already taken detaIled testImony on the 
scope of this problem in earlier hearings, including testimony from 
some of the victims. You know the injury which these schemes 
cause, and it is not my purpose to cover the same ground again 
today. 

The legislation you are considering, which has already passed the 
Senate, represents a congressional effort to do so~ething about th~s 
serious and growing problem. The Postal ServICe supports thIS 
effort. Any public perception that the mails are becoming a haven 
for deceptive merchandising schemes reflects unfavorably ?pon the 
legitimate mail order business~all and on th~ Post~l Serv~ce as an 
institution. It tends to undermIne confidence In the IntegrIty of the 
mails which is necessary for the postal system to continue to grow 
and prosper in serving public needs into the futu:r:e. . 

Because the public looks to the Postal SerVIce for protection 
against this kind of scheme, we have another interest at stake, too. 
When our ability to deal with these problems does not m~asure up 
to the expectations of those who look to us to do sOI?ething a??ut 
them the Postal Service may tend to be blamed unfaIrly for fallIng 
to pr~vent this type of illegal activity from flourishing and grow
ing. 

The fact of the matter is that the laws already adequately define 
what advertising is prohibited. No change is needed in this regard 
and we do not read this legislation to propose any. The problem we 
have now is that there are some very serious loopholes which make 
it possible for operators of these schemes to circumvent en~o~ce
ment of the law. We believe that operators are gradually becomIng 
more sophisticated in exploiting these loopholes in order to evade 
the effect of the statutory prohibitions. 

It is important to keep in mind that the civil false representation 
statute has one purpose and on~ purpose only: that is to stop the 
victim's money from passing into the hands of the perpetrators of 
the scheme, so that the victim can get it back. As a practical 
matter, once the operator receives the money, whether or not there 
is a subsequent mail fraud conviction or other action against the 
false advertiser, the .. victims rarely get their money back, so speed 
is essential for civil enforcement efforts to be of practical use. The 
need for . legislative action as we see it, and the purpose of the bill 
under consideration as we understand it, are to close the present 
loopholes which permit the civil mail stop order remedy, the only 
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remedy we have to safeguard the victim's money from being de
layed or evaded. 

One of the tools proposed by the bill to close these loopholes is 
the authority to obtain an advertised product or service upon 
tender of the purchase price. Most people who are concerned about 
deceptive mail-order schemes are surprised to learn that right now, 
the only way the law can be enforced against this type of scheme is 
for the inspectors to order an advertised product and wait for it to 
come through the mails like anyone else. More and more operators 
are finding that all they have to do to avoid the effect of the law is 
to postpone mailing advertised products until they already have 
most of the orders and the money they expect to receive. At that 
point the mail stop order is worth little and the Postal Service is 
powerless to help the victims of the scheme. 

Under the procedure proposed by the legislation, an inspector 
who notices a possibly deceptive advertisement would be able to go 
right away to tender the advertised price in person, to obtain an 
example of the product to examine. While the advertiser could 
refuse to cooperate voluntarily, the Postal Service would then be 
able to ask the Department of Justice to seek a hearing before a 
Federal judge to show that if the operator continues unreasonably 
to withhold the product, then cause· exists to stop mail addressed to 
the' scheme pending further investigation. Without this kind of 
commonsense investigative tool, we fear the civil protection for 
mail order consumers which is now on the books may amount to 
little more than paper promises against the more ruthless and so
phisticated schemes. 

A second troublesome loophole at the present time is the absence 
of any requirement that advertisers come forward with the records 
backing up their advertising claims under investigation. The Postal 
Service must carry the burden of a formal evidentiary showing 
that an advertising claim is false before the victims' m.oney in the 
mails can be returned but the operator need not produce any re
cords concerning the amazing test results or thousands of endorse
ments touted in the ads, or even inventory records showing suffi
cient quantities of the product on hand to fill orders received. 
While the test purchase authority proposed by the legislation is an 
elementary need, it will be of little use if an operator acquires only 
enough of the product to sell one to the Postal Service. 

As with the test-purchase authority, the written demand authori
ty provided by the bill rests entirely upon voluntary cooperation by 
the advertiser, absent a court order. A Postal Service demand for 
access to records under the bill as we understand it is not intended 
to be a subpena, which is self-enforcing unless the recipient goes to 
court for a protective order. No punishable violation would occur 
under the bill until there is a refusal to comply with a court order, 
which could be issued upon application by the Justice Department 
and only at the discretion of a Federal judge. 

The written demand mechanism proposed by the bill would 
extend generally to all investigative matters under the Postal laws 
except, in the case of the Senate bill, matters under the private ex
press statutes. This authority, which is similar to that assigned to 
inspectors general of Federal departments and agencies) would gen
erally enhance the efficiency of efforts to investigate frauds and 
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depredations against the mails and the postal system, subject to 
necessary supervision and support from the Federal courts. 

The test-purchase and demand authority together will permit the 
Postal Service to apply its limited investigative resources to act 
more quickly to safeguard consumers' money from schemes shown 
to depend upon false advertising before the money disappears for
ever into the hands of the operators of the schemes. However, 
there is another kind of loophole which needs to be addressed and 
is addressed by this legislation. Even after the evidence has been 
presented to support the issuance of a mail stop order, the scheme 
operators often can evade the effect of the order by resuming the 
scheme through a different address or by restricting the scheme to 
telephone credit-card orders. The use of a new address requires the 
administrative process to start all over, to obtain a new stop order. 

Sophisticated schemes which switch addresses frequently can se
verely curtail the effectiveness of the stop-order remedy in protect
ing the consumer. Since these orders are about the only protection 
that can return the victim's money, their susceptibility to evasion 
is a shortcoming which is felt personally by the consumer. The bill 
proposes to attack this problem by authorizing the Federal courts 
to assess a civil penalty in amounts up to $10,000, upon proper 
hearing and showing of evasion of a previously issued mail-stop 
order. 

I have a few exhibits which illustrate the kinds of situations 
where this authority is needed. 

The first exhibit relates to Braswell, Inc. or Braswell Industries, 
which has operated under at least 21 separate company names, 
selling numerous health-related products such as hair growth prod
ucts, diet, weight-reduction, and other well-being products relating 
to skin care, bust enlargement, and so forth. The 21 company 
names used by Braswell have utilized 36 separate mailing address
es in Georgia and Florida. 

The next three exhibits that we will put up relate to separate op
erations of Braswell. There are smaller blow-ups of these in the 
submitted testimony but they display how, when a mail stop order 
is presented, Braswell would next go to a telephone credit card 
system so themailswerenotused.Theyfound.soIam told, at this 
point that that is not a good means of advertising. The income is 
not as good as if it is by mail. They go back to another mail-order 
address in another State. That happened in all three cases that we 
have here, and the advertising is present and explanations of the 
advertising appear beneath the exhibits. 

Mr. FORD. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. The gentleman from Michigan. 
Mr. FORD, I do not want to interrupt but would you keep that up 

there for a minute? I do not want to interrupt the witness but 
while that is there, these thoughts just popped into my mind. 
When you follow the first arrow to that second step where they are 
now on the telephone soliciting, am I correct that what you are 
suggesting is that you want to stop the dishonest solicitation? They 
are lying to somebody in the first exhibit up there. There is mailed 
material that is misleading or fraudulent and that is the scheme. 

Mr. NELSON. And receipts are received by mail. 
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Mr. FORD. All right, but at that point what you are trying to in
tercept is misleading people. 

Mr. NELSON. Yes. 
Mr. FORD. Then they abandon the mail because you come after 

them, and they go to the second stage where they are now using 
the telephone. 

Mr. NELSON. Yes. 
Mr. FORD. What is the basis for our continuing interest in the 

post office once they have gone over to AT&T? 
Mr. NELSON. I am going to address that a little later in my testi

mony. 
Mr. FORD. Well, how do you make that jump? I do not follow, 

with my understanding of our mission and yours in the post office, 
some assumption that you can make the jump from the first to the 
second without some reason for doing so. What is it that links the 
post office to what they do with the telephone? 

Mr. NELSON. The exhibit is to try to display that the mail-stop 
order is brought about, yet the operator goes on dispensing the 
same materials through a different medium. 

Mr. FORD. All right, now, that is a serious concern for the U.S. 
attorney in prosecuting these people as scoundrels. What I want to 
know is, how does that concern us as a postal delivery system? 

Mr. NELSON. It does not really relate to the postal delivery 
system. It is an avenue that addresses some means for the Depart
ment of Justice to address these firms who do circumvent the order 
by some other means. 

Mr. FORD. All right. Are we going to be reimbursed by the De
partment of Justice for doing their job for them? 

Mr. NELSON. Well, at this point we are just trying to portray the 
means of circumventing the order, the mail-stop order. 

Mr. FORD. However, that second place that you have there could 
be handbills, radio advertisements. It could be anything that looks 
for suckers, couldn't it? 

Mr. Cox. Mr. Chairman, if I may break in for just a second, in 
my own thinking about this, it is helpful to me to bear in mind 
that the core part of this statute-which has been in the books 
pretty much as it now is and as I am about to describe it for a long, 
long time, over 100 years-undertakes to slow down somebody con
ducting a scheme or a device for obtaining money or property 
through the mails on the basis of false representation. It is not the 
advertising through the mails necessarily that is drawn in ques
tion, it is just what I said, obtaining money or property through 
the mails. 

Now I think what Inspector Nelson's testimony is intended to il
lustrate here is simply sort of factual background, a typical exam
ple of factual background that lies behind the provision in the 
Senate bill that talks about other means of interstate commerce, 
and we well understand your concern on that point. However, I 
think it is fair to look at what is depicted here as a natural out
growth of something that very much did involve obtaining money 
or property through the mails by means of false representations, 
and in this particular example is about to involve it again. I sup
pose that you would want to think about whether it really makes 
sense to kind of leave a broad flank through which this protective 
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process that the Congress has set up can be readily circumvented, 
totally wide open, by allowing the use of 800 telephone calls and 
credit card transactions and that sort of thing as a different way of 
obtaining money or property. I believe that is all this testimony is 
intended to illustrate. 

Mr. FORD. All right. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. The gentleman from California. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Would you please explain to me who invested 

any of you or someone working for you with the judgment to con
clude that the South American diet product, as it is being adver
tised, was false and misleading? Who gave you that judgment? 

Mr. NELSON. I have to defer to Mr. Davis for that, for the han
dling of the--

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Who gave you the right to say, as a matter of 
conclusion, that some advertised product by a promoter in our 
system was necessarily false and misleading, thereby enabling you 
to go after them? 

Mr. Cox. Sir, I think the Congress did that in the basic legisla-
tion. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. I admit the law says that. 
Mr. Cox. Oh, I misunderstood your question. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Tell me how you went through the intellectu

al process of concluding that this product, among hundreds adver
tised in Christendom, was, on the basis of some intelligence you 
gleaned or something brought to your attention, false and mislead
ing, so as to begin some process to stop it. Did you try the diet? 

Mr. DAVIS. No; definitely not. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Do you know anybody who did try the diet? 
Mr. DAVIS. No; I personally do not. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, how did you conclude that it was false 

and misleading? 
Mr. DAVIS. I cannot tell you the details of that case. I am not 

that familiar with them. I can tell you in general how this type of 
case-and I think this one would undoubtedly follow the same 
route--

Mr. DANNEMEYER. I do not think your response would be all that 
helpful. I am asking, since you in your testimony, Mr. Nelson, are 
talking about the South Amerkan diet product, and I would be in
terested in your evaluation of how your system, whatever it is, con-
cluded that this was a false and misleading product. . 

Mr. NELSON. I do not think our system, the Inspection Service's 
system, concludes that. I think there is something in the ad that, 
when the inspector saw it, indicated to him that there may be 
something suspicious about this, so a purchase was made of the 
material and it was examined by an expert. That then gets into the 
point where Mr. Davis' group takes off .. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. An expert? 
Mr. NELSON. Yes. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Have you tried any lawsuits? 
Mr~ NELSON. No; I have not. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, I have. 
Are you a lawyer, Mr. Davis? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes; I am .. 
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Mr. DANNEMEYER. Have you tried lawsuits? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Have you had witnesses testify on behalf of' 

your cause? 
Mr. DAVIS. Certainly. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Did you have witnesses testify on the other 

side? 
Mr. DAVIS. Certainly. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Concluding diametrically opposed conclusions 

to the witnesses that you presented? 
Mr. DAVIS. No question about it. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Yet you in your wisdom have concluded, based 

on some access to one expert that you have selected who mayor 
may not have a bias, that the product necessarily is false or mis
leading, and you go after them? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes; but we do not make the decision. The decision is 
made by the judges. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. It is only 1982. We still have 2 years to go. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like some clarification on the "2 
years to go" business. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. In 1984 the famous author says that we will 
arrive at a point where the all-knowing Government will make 
every relevant decision for man. We will be relieved of the necessi
ty of any moral or ethical judgments because the nirvana will have 
arrived. 

Mr. FORD. If the gentleman would yield, you see, we have to split 
the difference: The reason for 1982 is, I think 1984 started 4 years 
early and you are still waiting for it. If you have the time I will 
send you a copy of the Heritage Foundation blueprint for conserv
ative government and you will find that 1984 is already blueprint
ed as early as October of 1980. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. You are saying 1980 but don't you mean 1976? 
Mr. FORD. No; 1980. [Laughter.] 
In 1976 we started workiflg back toward the late 19th century. 
Mr. LELAND. The Chair thought it was November of 1980. 

[Laughter.] 
Mr. LELAND. Mr. Nelson, if you do not mind, you might proceed 

with your testimony. 
Mr. NELSON. These three exhibits all portray the same type of 

thing I was trying to explain relating to the Braswell products. The 
next exhibit concerns a work-at-home, envelope-stuffing type 
scheme that took place in the West. The company in this particular 
case used 17 different names throughout 6 States-17 different ad
dresses, I am sorry-under 9 company names, all to attempt to 
evade the mail-stop orders that had occurred. 

The last exhibit concerns an organization called Brant Pharma
cal. Brant is engaged in the sale of look-alike drugs, the amphet
amine-depressant type. In Brant's case a mail-stop order was filed 
in February of 1982. Within days after that they started accepting 
and advertising telephone orders, requesting payments be mailed 
to a different address. That was stopped and a few weeks after 
that, as the exhibit will show, they went. into telephone and 
common carrier type delivery of their products. 
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Some of the previous testimony received by the subcommittee 
has raised the issue of whether penalties for resumption of a 
scheme solely through credit card telephone orders would improp
erly extend the jurisdiction of the Postal Service into an entirely 
new arena of communications. 

In our experience the use of mails continues to be an integral 
part of most such schemes, for publicity and for other purposes, 
except for transmitting the victim's money. Whether to try to deal 
with this kind of evasion as with the rest of the legislation is, of 
course, a policy dedsion which Congress must make. Our own view 
is that U.S. attorneys should be able to seek and Federal judges to 
assess the civil penalties proposed by the bill when the Govern
ment can show that the scheme is in fact a continuation and re
sumption-and I emphasize the word "resumption"-which is a 
test established by the bill of the activity covered by a previously 
issued mail-stop order. 

The areas I have described are the areas of significant opportuni
ty to improve administration of the present law by closing the loop
holes which permit scheme operators to delay or avoid action safe
guarding the victims' money. 

We have noted the general concern which some have expressed 
in previous testimony that some of this proposed authority might 
be abused. In a free country such as ours, the avoidance of law en
forcement abuse is an abiding concern which must permeate all 
our efforts to protect the public against unlawful activities. Both 
under present law and under the amendments proposed by these 
bills, the civil false representation statute has built into it the high
est safeguard which our system of justice affords; namely, partici
pation and oversight by the impartial Federal judiciary. 

No one who prefers to refrain from voluntary cooperation with 
the Postal Service under this legislation can be subjected to any 
penalty or disruption of his business except upon order of a Federal 
judge after an open hearing in court. The Federal courts have 
always maintained th.~ closest supervision over the administration 
of the mail-stop ordeviprocedure and that will continue to be the 
case under the amen(frnents proposed by these bills. 

The bills also require ongoing and detailed reporting to the Con
gress on the Postal Service enforcement efforts. We hope that the 
attention which Congress has devoted to the mail order deception 
problem over the last 2 years will continue in the future through 
close oversight of the progress of the enforcement effort. We want 
you to know what we are doing, what is being accomplished, and 
what is not being accomplished. 

People understandably can be apprehensive about the implica
tions of legislation when they are not close to the everyday prob
lems being addressed and see only the necessarily general language 
of the proposed legislation itself. We believe that any fears on the 
part of those who are not targets of the present law will be put to 
rest when the Postal Service publishes the detailed procedures 
which will be required to implement these amendments. These reg
ulations will spell out exactly how and when the written investiga
tive demand authority will be used and what we will be looking 
for. 

~ 

I 

" ; 
\ 
I 

\ 

t 

t 

;;.::::'-: 

! 
I 
i 
t) 
'I I, 
)j f, 
I, 
t 
i'-
i 
p 

t, 
I 
! 
1', 

I 
J 
! 
i 
f' 
l' !; 
! 
i 
I 
I. 
F 
I 
I 
l 
!' 

f 
I 
1 

I 
t 
r II 

i 
~ 
M 

~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 

~ 
11 
I' u 
11 

~ , 

r I 
II 
r j 
J 

Il 1{ 

H 
H r 11 II .,.; 

. ,~ 

i"'i 
U 

y 

" 

.~, 

213 

I want to e~pha~ize ~s strongly as I can that the Postal Service 
sl~pport for thIS le&"Islatl(~n extends only to closing loopholes which 
hInder us fr?m d?Ing a Job we have already been assigned to do. 
We ;most affIrmatIvely: do not h:=tve the interest or the resources to 
get In~o any new or dIfferent kInds of investigations or to go after 
an~hIng other than t?e kind~ of schemes with which we have been 
deahng [or years. It IS our fIrm belief that the enforcement tools 
for helpIng. people, to recover their money before they are cheated 
by ~hese kmds of schem~s can be significantly improved without 
P?SIng any threat to the Interests of law-abiding citizens or to the 
rIghts of persons under investigation. 
~~e fu~ther issue which has been raised, which concerns the ad

mInIstratIOn. of current law rather than these amendments, also 
warrants brIef comment. It has been alleged that the mail-sto 
o~der ~roc~dure currently places the Postal Service in the busines~ 
o~ passIng J~dgment on the merits of books and pamphlets in viola
tIOn of the rIg?t of free speech. This is not correct. The la~ and the 
courts see to It that the Postal Service investigations focus on the 
truth of the advertising claims, not the truth or merits of the pro
tected speech and the product which is offered for sale. 

The Federal. Trade Commission "mirror image doctrine" which 
has be~n ~entIOned as a suggested remedy is a statement of what 
we belIeve IS already the law today. It summarizes principles which 
appl! ~o th~ Postal. Service under the case law which assures that 
bdmInIstr:;-tIve actIOn respects constitutional and other legal 

funds. SInce the ~ostal Service already must apply these princi
p esdor ~e rever~ed In court, this is not an area where legislation is 
nee ed In our vIew. 
. In. summary, Mr. ChaIrman, the Postal Service supports this leg
IslatIVe effort !lnd looks forward to working with you and your staff 
~f make any Improvements which need to be made to these bills 

.terwards we also ?Op~ to receive your ongoing help in making 
thIS pro~ram do the Job It should be doing for the American public. 

We wIll be pleased to try to answer any questions at this time 
[The prepared statement and exhibits follow:J. . 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLES P. NELSON 
BEFORE THE 

SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTAL 
PERSONNEL AND MODERNIZATION 

ON 
H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 

Mr. Chairman my name is Charles P. Nelson, and I am the Act

.ing Chief Postal I~spector. I am accompanied by Mr. Louis A. ~ox, 

General Counsel of the U.S. Postal Service and by Mr. George C. 

Davis, Assistant General Counsel, Consumer Protection Division, 

Postal Service Law Departm~nt. 

Over a century ago,-Congressional concern to protect 

the public from marketing schemes conducted by mail -- where the 

prospective purchaser has little opportunity to conduct a pre

purchase inspection of matter offered for sale -- led to the 

enactment of the criminal mail fraud statute (18 U.S.C. § 1341) 

and the civil false representation statute (39 U.S.C. § 3005). 
) 

As direct mail marketing has grown, a small segment of the 

industry which fails to adhere to the high standards of candor 

and honesty followed by the industry as a whole has, regrettably, 

also grown. Consequently, these consumer protection statutes 

are t perhaps, more important today than in the past. 

Not only has the number of civil and criminal cases involving 

decept~vemail marketing increased over the years but so also 

has the sophistication of many deceptive mail order promotions. 

The civil false representation statute in particular is 'becoming 

increasingly ineffective in dealing with this problem. 
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This statute has a very simple mandate -- that persons 

selling goods o~ services by mail refrain from the use of 

advertising which will mislead prospective purchasers in any 

material respect. U~like the criminal mail fraud statute, its 

purpose is not to punish intentional deception. Rather, its 

purpose is to preclude consumer losses caused by misrepresenta

tion, whether or not deception waS intended. 

The principal sanction authorized by the statute is an 

administrative "mail stop order" which prevents the consumer's 

money from reaching the operator of the scheme and requires its 

return to the sender. The underlying expectation is that if the 

operator of the scheme is cut off from his }?rofits, he must either 

reform his promotion to avoid misrepresentation or cease marketipg 

his product by mail. This expectation is often not realized. 

The proceedings which may lead to these orders are conducted 

pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. Chs. 5 ~nd 7). 

A formal complaint is filed with the Postal Service's Judicial 

Officer. A copy of the complaint, a notice of hearing and our 

rules of practice are served on the promoter -- called the "re-

spondent" in our cases. The complaint is assigned to a federal 

Administrative Law Judge who has no stake in'the outcome of the 

proceedings., He or she presides over a formal evidentiary hearing 

where the respondent may be represented by counsel, present testi

mony, and cross-examine our witnesses. The Administrative Law ., 
Judge renders an "Initial Decision" which recommends, or not, 

-2-

" 

[\ 

o 



~ 
, 

t 

I, 

216 

the issuance of a mail stop order. The entire record, including 

a transcript of the hearing, is reviewed by the Judicial Officer. 

If he concludes that the Postal Service has proven by a preponder

ance of the evidence (5 U.S.C. § 556(d» that the statute is 

being violated, he will then issue a mail stop order. If he 

does so, the respondent may seek judicial review of that decision 

in a federal district court. 

In practice, however, approximately half of our cases do not 

Eollow this entire course of litigation but are informally ~ettled 

through consent agreements in which the.re?pondent agrees to dis

continue misrepresentation of his product or service. 

Regrettably, the protection intended by the statute carr 

readily be frustrated, and some major deceptive marketing schemes 

cannot be effectively challenged under it. S. 1407 would deal 

with these deficiencies,by enacting four major changes in the 

present statute. 

First, the bill would authorize the Postal Service to obtain, 

upon tender of the advertised price, any article or service being 

offered for sale by mail. An unreasonable failure (as determined 

by a United States district court) to provide the article or 

service would, for purposes of 39 U.S.C. § 3007, constitute probable 

cause to believe that section 3005 is being violated and authorize 

the court t9 issue a temporary mail ~etent\pn order. The purpose 

of this provision is to counter a 2ractice whereby unscrupulous 

promoters, by means of false advertising, induce people to send 
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orders for items that are not as advertised and then postpone 
. 

filling the orders until after the advertising has run its course 

9r, in some cases, forever. Proceedings under section 3005 typ

ically turn on a showing by the Postal Service of a significant 

discrepancy between what is stated in an advertisement and what is 

actually offered for sale. To show this discr~pancy, the Postal 

Service general'ly must b~ able to obtain ?l sample of that which 

is offered for sale. The longer a promoter may keep us from ob

taining a sample of his product, the longer we must defer our 

proceedings and the less mail will ultimately be "stopped" if ~ 

mail stop order is issued. In our experience the time required to 

obtain the product often exceeds one month. The bill would reduce 

this source of delay by making the advertiser's unreasonable failure 

to sell us the advertised prodl1ct or service a sufficient ground 

for a federal court, in its discretion, to take injunctive action 

under section 3007. Under Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, the courts are required to a t:tempt to give notice to 

the defendant before issuing a temporary restraining order, which 

may last only ten days unless extended for 10 additional days, and 

are required to ptovide notice before issuing a preliminary injunc

tion which, in these cases, normally extends until termination of 

the administrative proceedings. In our experience it is extremely 

rare for a court to issue any order under section 3007 without the 

defendant's being''''nbti'.f',ted and having an opportunity to present 

his defense. 
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Second, S. 1407 would explicitly give the Postal Service the 

same kind of authority to inspect books and records relating to 

matters under investigation by the Postal Service that Inspectors 

General of other Government agencies currently possess. This 

authority would be particularly useful in investigating schemes 

.involving apparent false'representations that may be very diffi~ 

cult to prove under the current statute because the· promoter is 

able to contend that the few consumer complaints ",e have received 

at the time the case is presented represent mere aberrations. We 

have no authority to subpoena witnesses or records to verify the 

respondent's allegations. For example, a scheme in which people 

are billed for goods or services they have not ord~red can pe.rhaps 

best be revealed by access to the promoter's records of pre-existing 

contracts. Similarly, schemes in which the promoter has no 'intention 

or capacity to provide the advertised product can best be exposed by 

allowing access to the promoter's shipping and inventory records. 

In many jltypical misrepresentation cases the written demand would 
if 

seek to verify advertising claims that scientific studies validate. 

the claims for the product. Here again, no administrative sanc

tion or penalty would be authorized. If the promoter refuses to 

allow access to his books and records following a proper demand, 

the Postal Service would have to obtain a federal district c9urt 

order requiring compliance. And, again, requiring judicial control 

over the imposition of sanctions, the bill would provide that un

reasonable refusal to allow access to records may p~ovide a basis 

for injunctive action under section 3007. 
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We have noted the concern which SOllle have expressed in 

previous testimony·that this propos~d authority might be abused. 

In a free country such as ours, the avoidance of law enforcement 

abuse is an abiding concern which must permeate all of our efforts 

to protect the public against unlawful activities. Both under 

present law and under the amendments proposed by these bills, the 

civil false representation statute has built into it the highest 

safeguard which our system of justice affords, namely intimate 

participation and oversight by the impartial federal judiciary. 

No one who prefers to refrain from voluntary cooperation with 

the Postal Service under this legislation can be subjected to 

any penalty or disruption of his business except upon order of a 

federal judge after an open hearing in court. The federal courts 

have always maintained the closest supervision over the adminis-

tration of the mail stop order procedure and that will continue 

to be the case under the amendments proposed by these bills •. 

He recognize the concern that has been expressed in these 

proceedings over the need for care in framing the procedure~ to 

implement this authority in order to prevent abuse. We favor the 

bill's present requirement of establishing detailed procedures in 

regulations resulting from public participation rather than writing 

these details in the statute. ,ve anticipate that any procedures 

will be tested in litigation, and that administratively established 

procedures could snore easily be modified to accord with the courts' 

d"~cisiohS • 

We have studied the rules adopted by federal agencies exercis

ing similar authority and plan to propose a rule which would con

template the following procedures: 
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The demands may only be issued by a limited number of managing 

postal inspectors. ey mus : 'rh t state the nature of the alleged 

violation being investigated and the provisions of the law involved; 

describe the documents to be produced with sufficient certainty to 

permit their identification; prescribe a reasonable return date; 

identify the custodian to whom the material is to be made available; 

state the location at which the documents shall be made available; 

and, state, the rights of the recipient regarding compliance and 

note that upon failure to comply the Postal Service may seek a 

court order. 

The rules would provide how service 6f demands may be made, 

allow for modification of the demands, establish limits on the use 

of the documents, and provide for their return to the owner. 

The rules would provide that demands may not be served upon 

third parties unless an informal request has first been made and 

refused unless there is reason to believe the documents may be 

destroyed. No demand could be issued to a news or communications 

media to obtain sources of newsmatter. 

I should like to stress that our thinking in this area is open

minded. We fully intend to be guided by the comments we would receive 

both from the Committee's deliberations and in response to our pro-

posed rulemaking. 

Third, the bill would remedy a weakness in the existing law 

resulting from the fact that it has little or no deterrent effec,t. 

The mail stop order that may eventuate from a current section 3005 

proceeding is directed at blocking remittances responding to a 

particular false advertisement using a particular t,rCide name and 
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address. Only mail so addressed is affected. So far as the cur

rent statute is concerned, a promoter who wishes to continue the 

same false advertising scheme need only change his trade ~ame and 

address and thereby escape the consequences of the outstanding 

mail stop order until we can complete additional. administrative 

proceedings. vJe have had cases where promoters have employed this 

tactic many times, and in each case the public ;is inj ured in the 

interim between the resumptions of the scheme and our completion 

of additional proceedings. 

To illustrate this point, in the case of one promoter who 

peddled phony aphrodisiacs by mail, 55 different trade names 

and addresses \lere employed to evade the effects of 25 administra-

tive actions. After each action, he simply moved on to new addresses 

establishfng the same promotion under different names. 

s. 1407 WOuld allow the Postal Service to order ,the promoter 

to cease and desist from continuing the scheme and would authorize 

the federal ,courts to impose a civil penalty upon those who resume 

a scheme previously determined to have been in violation of sec

tion 3005. Once again, the sanction could be imposed only Upon 

court order obtained through the assistance of the Department of 

Justice. We believe authorization to issue a cease and desist 

order is necessary to place the respondent upon fair, advance' 

notice that his resumption of the scheme, could result in the im

position of a penalty. The order authorized by the current statute 

places no direct obligation Oh a respondent -- it is directed only 

to a postmaster. 

-8-

98-546 0-82--15 

,i 



i. 

\ 

222 

Fourth, S. 1407 would remedy another shortcominq in existing 

law. We have seen in recent years a number of instances where 

after a promotion has become the subject of a mail stop order, 

the promoter will continue to gather the fruits of false adver-

tising by modifying his advertising to have gullible purchasers 

use a toll free line and credit card in lieu of the mails to remit 

payments or perhaps an alternative C.O.D. delivery service. In 

such cases, the bill would allow the federal courts to impose the 

civil penalty authorized upon resumption of the same scheme after 

the issuance of a mail stop order, even if in the resumed scheme, 

t.he promoter seeks to obtain remittances through an instrumentality 

of interstate commerce other than the mails. 

The exhibits appended to this statement illustrate this 

point. In each case the promotion reflected in the comparative 

advertisements is substantially identical. The principal difference 

to be noted is that in the later advertisements -- following action 

by the Postal Service -- the promoter is seeking to obtain remit

tances for the product by telephone and credit card rather than 

through the mails. 

Some of the previous testimony received by the subcommittee 

has raised the issue whether penalties for resumption of a scheme 

solely through credit-card telephone orders would improperly 

extend the-jurisdiction of the Postal Service into an entirely 

new arena of communications. The exhibits appended to this state-

ment illustr@te how a promoter who previously seeks remittances 

by mail may shift to telephone/cre~it card receipts after action 

by the Postal Service. In our experience if the mails are used 
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initially to .deceive the public regarding the product, in the re

sumed scheme the .mails continue to be used for publicity and other 

purposes except for 'transm~ tting the victi~\ I s money. Whether to 

try to deal with this kind of evasion, as with the rest of the 

legislation, is of course a policy decisi~n which the Congress 

must make. Our own view is that U.S. Attorneys should be able 

to seek, and federal judges to assess, the civil penalties pro

proposed by the bill when the Gov~rnment can show that the scheme 

is in fact a continuation and "resumption," which is the test 

established by the bill, of the activity covered by a previously 

issued mail stop order. Similarly, the provision authorizes no 

sanction to be applied by the Postal Serv'lce. 0 1 ~ ur on y obligation 

under this provision would be to bring the J:esumed scheme to the 
" 

attention of the Justice Department, which could then ask the federal 

courts to act if it felt that would be justified. 

The bill does not authorize any additional regulation of 

activities in the private sector or impose any new recordkeeping 

or reporting requirements on any segment of the public. It does 

not authorize the Postal Service to impose any additional sanction 

or penalty. All provisions of the bill providing new sanctions 

or penalties vest that authority in the federal courts. We 

believe the bill, in this respect,'l'S~ a f 11 . care u y Ilmited measure 

to fill in what experience has i3hc)Wn to be important omissions 

that have impaired the effectiveness of ,the false representations 

statute while avoiding the expansion of administrative powers. 
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I should like at this point to address several additional 

concerns which have been expressed in the course of this committee's 

considertion of the bill. 

First, my testimony thus far has dealt with the, effect of 

the bill upon the false representations statute. As we view the 

bill, its major significance will be to improve our enforcement 

of that statute. But one'aspect of the bill -- the written investi

gative demand authority -- extends to all statutes enforced by the 

Postal Service except the Private Express statutes for which 

adequate authority already exists. 

The intent of Section 413(a) in this regard seems to be to 

provide the Postal Service statutory authority similar to that 

conferred upon the Inspectors General of federal agencies to 

investigate false claims, fraudulent practices, embezzlement and 

similar offenses. The authority could also be used in the enforce

ment of criminal statutes for which the Postal Service has'investi

gative responsibility, including the mail fraud statute (18 U.S.C. 

~ 1341). With regard to the mail fraud statute, it should be 

noted that at the outset of an investigation of a deceptive mail 

marketing scheme, it often is not clear whether the civil mis

representation statute, the mail fraud statute or both have been 

violated. 

I should also note that to maintain comparability with the 

Inspector General statutes, the Postal Service would be required 

by the bill annually to report to the Congress on our activities 

in this area. 
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Secondly, I would like to comment upon our enforcement of 

the false representations statute in cases where the product 

being falsely advertised consists of a publication or other matter 

Fresumptively entitled to protection from government restraint 

by the First Amendment. 

Although the First Amendment narrowly .limits our authority 

to'proceed against false and d~ceptive advertising of publications, 

the proscription is by no means absolute. Clea:r:ly, the opinions 

or ideas of an author are entitled to absolute protection from 

government interference, and their truth or falsity is not at 

issue in our cases. As long as there is no material discrepancy 

between what is advertised and what is delivered, Section 3005 

is not applicable. 

The concern of Section 3005 is " ••• a scheme or device for 

obtaining money or property through the mail by means of false 

representations •.•• " Typically the "false representation" is 

in a product's advertising. Accordingly, our proceedings do 

not seek to prohibit the dissemination of false ideas but only 

of false advertising. 

The Supreme Court has held that the regulation of deceptive 

com1l\~rcial advertising is not proscribed by the First Amendment. 1:.1 

And, in the case law that has evolved in Section 3005 cases, no 

distinction is drawn between advertising that falsely describes 

publications and advertising that falsely describes other products. ?:.I 

1:.1 

'l:.1 

See Virginia State Board of Pharmacy v.' Virginia Citizens 
Consumer Council, Inc., 425 U.S. 748, 770-771 (1976). 

See Hollywood House International, Inc. v. Klassen, 508 
F.2d 1276 (9th Cir. 1974). 
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that can be achieved by following the procedures described in a 

publication, Section 3005 has been violated. To date, none of the 

challenges to Our positi~n have been sustained by the courts. 

Cases involving products which consist in whole or in part 

of written matter -- such as pamphlets~ diagrams, memoranda 

comprise a larger percentage of our cases. For example, in the 

typical work-at-home scheme, the product consists of a memorandum 

or pamphlet telling the buyer how to operate a similar scheme. 

The Supreme Court recently denied certiora'ri in a criminal 

mail fraud case where the Fifth Circuit court of appeals held that 

the First Amendment did not bar prosecution of the promoter of a 
3/ 

work-at-home scheme.- Our cases involving pUblications invariably 

involve a material disparity between the results the advertisement 

promises will be revealed and the results that are, in fact, 

achievable. Our re'cent cases, for example, have invol,ved: 

• advertisements promising to provide plans for build

ing an automobile carburetor that will yield 200 miles 

per gallon, a result that cannot be physically achieved 

by the device described; 

--------------------
3/ Shano Franklin Tage v. U.S., 663 F.2d 105 (5th Cir. 1981), 

cert.-den~50u.S.L.W. 3695 (Harch 1., 1982), (No. 81-1403). 
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• a method allowing anyone to obtain $500 and a free auto

mobile from the government when, 'in fact, only persons 

meeting the qualifications of particular entitlement pro

grams may expect to receive any semblance of tbe promised 

benefits; 

e a method of clearing the body's arterial system of 

accumulated plaque through diet when, in fact, the 

diet plan furnished could at best only prevent some-

what the initial build-up of plaque; 

• a method of obtaining high-salaried employment in 

Alaska when, in fact, employment of the types described 

was not available; 

• a method of picking winning race horses which, 

when tested, was found valueless. 

Perhaps the most troublesome cases in this area have involved 

advertisements for the sale of methods of treating various medical 

disorders through procedures that are not recognized by the consen

sus of informed medical experts as being efficacious or, in some 

cases, safe. As in all cases, it is our burden to prove by a pre-

ponderance of evidence that the advertisement is false. In these 

cases, the issue typically is drawn between scientific experts pre

sented by the Postal Service who testify tha.t, based upon controlled 

scientific testing or established medical principles, the methOQ 

-14-
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will not yield the results claimed by the advertising, and lay 

witnesses who support the lnethod based upon anecdotal results or 

theories that are not accepted by the scientific community. Of 

course, it is the function of the presiding judge to determine 

the qualifications and credibility of the witnesses in the pro

ceeding and to weigh the evidence accordingly. 

Again, we are not concerned with the truth or falsity of the 

method or views related in the book itself. Our concern is limited 

to the advertising, and, most commonly, the deficiency in the adver-

tising is the express or implied claim that the materi~l has es-

tablished scientiEic validity rather than merely being the views 

of the author. 

If the advertising accurately describes the content of a 

publication as being merely the views of the author or expressly 

states that the author's views may not be consistent with the 

consensus of informed scientific opinion, the fact that the 

procedures described in the book are inconsistent with current 

scientific opinion does not constitute false advertising. The 

right te disseminate views inconsistent with current scientific 

opinion is clearly in the public interest and clearly protected 

by the First Amendment. Where the advertising expressly or 

impliedly misrepresents that the method is consistent with 

current scientific opinion, the public not only fails to receive, 

as advertised, a scientifically established method but may be 

misled into failing to seek effective medical treatment in reli-

ance upon the falsely advertised procedure. 
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In ~egard to our enforcement of Sectlon 3005 against false 

'advertising for publications, it has been suggested that the 

bill be amended to include the Federal Trade Commission's "Mirrgr 

Image Doctrine" an enforcement policy stateme~t, adopted by the 

FTC in 1971 (36 Fed. Reg. 13,414) to guide the Commission's staff 

with respect to false advertising cases agains~ pUblications. We 

believe the "doctrine" represents a reasonable balancing of the con

stitutional right of publishers to exercise a free press and the 

public's right to be free from false advertising in the sale o~ 

publications. We believe that in the enforcement of the postal false 

representations statute any decision of the Postal Service which 

is inconsistent with the "d6ctrine" and the case law upon which it 

is based would be overturned by the courts. vle, accordingly, see 

no need to incorporate the "d,octrine" into Section 3005 and 

intend to follow the "doct'rine" in any event. 

In conclusion, I would respectfully suggest that the American 

public widely believe that they have a significant measur~ Of PJ:"o

tection against fraud and deception when they use the mail syqtem' 

to purchase merchandise or service, to make invE;:!stm~mts, gr tQ 

seek employment. Sections 3005 and 3007 are among tne important 

guarantors of that pr"o~~ection. And they are effect], ve when not 
~\"~-. 

underminded by 100ph61es. 

In recent years these statutes have been enforced ~ith positive 

effect against false advertising of drug products that closely 

resembled well-known amphetamines and other controlled substances. 

Such "look alike" drugs are widely offered to youngsters as real 

"speed" and can themselves cause serious and sometimes fatal effects. 
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Numerous schemes purport to offer, and to pay handsomely for, 

simple at-home work that appeals to older citizens, the disabled, 

and the recently out-of-work. Before the applicant finds out 

that most ·of the work is to recruit others who are as gullible 

as he, the promoter has extracted a $15 or $20 payment for a 

"starter kit .• " 

The ever-prevalent cosmetic ads with <their exaggerated claims 

have developed a new sophistication. In recent years the. promoters 

of these multi-mi~lion dollar enterprises have come to rely on 

slick presentations of apparently scientific "proof" that a pill 

or potion will grow hair on a genetically bald pate, rejuvenate 

cells, improve memory or intelligence, and rid the body of cell

destroying free radicals. 

Businesses, schools, banks, even'law firms are perennially 

victimized by false billing schemes that involve photocopy supplies, 

cleaning chemicals, light bulbs~ and advertising for non-existent 

or falsely described directories~ If people believed they had no 

recourse against ~eceptivemail order practices, the integrity 

-- and the revenue from use -- of the mail system wopld suffer 

serious harm. 

For over a hundred years, the Nation's Postal Service has 

been charged by the Congress with tile faithful <execution of the 

false representations statute (although the detail of the statute 

has been< modified from time to time). This responsibility is 

fairly assigned to the Postal Service. If false advertising were 

prevalent ~<~ the mails, pulic confideo<ce. in direct mail marketing 

would suffer with COnSe(lUent inroads into maiL volume. The 
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national postal system runs on volume. Moreover, Postal Service 

investigators and attorneys have developed sUbstantial experience 

and skill in making the false representatjons statute work. The 

bill would simply make the statute more effective by closing the 

loopholes that we have described. 
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BRASWELL/COSVETIC LABS ET AL 
TIME FRAME (JULY 1980 .. JULY 1982) 

TRADE STYLES 21 

ADDRESSES USED 36 

COMPLAINTS FILED 136 

FALSE REPRESENTATION ORDERS 18 

CONSENT AGREEMENTS 15 

NUMBER OF PRODUCTS INVOLVED 50 

FINAL DECISIONS PENDING 70 
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SOUTH AMERICAN DIET PRODUCT 
OCToatR 21, 19110 

POSTAl 5£RVICE RLEO A 
FAl5£ ItEI'RESfNTATlON COMPLAINT 
BEARING ON THE ATlANTA AOORfSS 

• lOSEWElGHTWHERErrCOUNTS 
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PHILLIPS· 
WORK-AT ·HOME 

ENVELOPE STUFFING SCHEME 
TIME FRAME (JULY 1978 THRU JULY 1981) 

TRADE STYLES 
ADDRESSES . 

9 
17 

CIVIL COMPLAINTS FILED 17 

FALSE REPRESENTATION ORDERS17 

CRIMINAL ACTION 

INDICTED 2-17-82 
CONVICTED 4-19-82 
SENTENCED 6-17-82 

VICT,IMS 43,000 
ESTIMATED LOSS $500,000 
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Mr. LELAND. The Chair would like to thank you for your testimo
ny. 

You told us that over the last several years you have found in
creasing public concern about the problem of mail··order schemes 
built upon false advertising. You also referred to the possibility of 
there being a public perception that the mails are becoming a 
haven for deceptive merchandising schemes. Can you tell us how 
that public concern has been expressed or how it has come to your 
attention? 

Mr. NELSON. It is generally expressed in complaints from the 
mail-order consumer, in written complaints, in verbal complaints 
about failure to receive items, receiving items that are not what 
the buyer thought they would be when they ordered, that type of 
effort. 

Mr. LELAND. At the beginning of the hearings we also heard that 
people had gone to the Better Business Bureau and other agencies, 
a few agencies similar to the Better Business Bureau, and posed 
their complaints also. Have you heard anything from the Better 
Business Bureau or other agencies that might be advocates for con
sumers? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes; we hear frequently from Better Business Bu
reaus around the Nation. We have close contact with them about 
this very thing. 

Mr. LELAND. What is their concern, and how do they or do they 
presume to collaborate with you at all on these matters, or have 
they offered any kind of suggestions to you as to how you should 
proceed to resolve the problems without the legislation? 

Mr. NELSON. I do not believe we have received any such sugges
tions from them. Their concern and what they try to do is evaluate 
the complaints they receive and, if they think they involve mail 
order, get them to the Postal Service. 

Mr. LELAND. You say that mail fraud is a serious and growing 
problem. Can you tell us what evidence you have encountered that 
the problem is growing? . 

Mr. NELSON. Again, I think it is by complaints from the public, 
from other regulatory agencies, basically in that area. 

Mr. LELAND. You told us that the time required to obtain a prod
uct often exceeds 1 month. If you had the authority to purchase a 
product or service that this bill would provide, then you could in
crease the speed of your proceedings by that amount of time. Is 
that not correct? 

Mr. NELSON. That is correct, yes. 
Mr. LELAND. What would be the effects of your being able to 

move against fraudulent promoters in this much speedier manner? 
Mr. NELSON. I think it would benefit us greatly. I cannot tell you 

in numbers but it would be, as you say, from 5 weeks to possibly 1 
day. We could move that much faster to resolve these situations. 

Mr. LELAND. Chairman Ford? 
Mr. FORD. Thank you. Several witnesses during the hearings 

have asked us to amend the legislation to include the mirror image 
doctrine. And toward the end of your statement today you say that 
the Postal Service already abides by this doctrine and intends to 
continue doing so. And for that reason you do not think it is neces
sary. Even if you think it might be superfluous, am I correct in as-
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suming that you would have no objection if we were to amend this 
bill by an amendment reflecting the "mirror image"? I would even 
tender a public offer to have the proposed language gone over by 
Mr. Cox and his folks before we agreed on its final form. If it seems 
that we have some consensus to the wisdom of the doctrine, there 
is no reason why it could not be in there. I say this because there 
are several groups advocating this, it seems to me, who have a 
longstanding interest in the integrity of the mails: The book pub
lishers, the magazine and newspaper publishers, the di.rect mail 
marketing association, and the ACLU. If we can do a little some
thing to reassure them that there is a positive side to this bill, it 
might be helpful. Would you have any objection to cooperating 
with us in putting a mirror image amendment in the bill? 

Mr. NELSON. Not at all. 
Mr. FORD. Mr. Cox, do you have any objections to that? 
Mr. Cox. I have certainly no objection to cooperating and indeed 

a real eagerness to cooperate. 
Mr. FORD. Would you assist me in drafting a suitable amendment 

that we could mutually support with a clear conscience? 
Mr. Cox. I would sure be happy to give it a good try. 
Mr. FORD. All right. 
Mr. Cox. Can I add one thing on the mirror image doctrine? It 

seems to me that, sure, it might be reasonable to put the thing in 
the bill but there are a couple of points that may suggest them
selves to you which point the other way, and I think they are 
worth your careful consideration. One is that the mirror image doc
trine itself is a general statement of policy by the FTC. It starts off, 
"The Commission, the FTC, as a matter of policy ordinarily will 
not proceed against advertising in certain circumstances," so that 
the FTC's own mirror image doctrine is not at the moment cast as 
s?me kind of an ironclad, rigid rule that never admits .of excep
tIOns. 

The second point is the one that I think we have tried to make in 
our testimony, that as we understand it this is no more than a 
reading of wise-and we fully agree with it-case law, or a sort of 
distillation of that case law which we think probably should apply 
to our affairs whether or not it is stated in the bill. However, since 
it is case law, possibly there may be still further developments 
which would make a still better doctrine, and if you freeze it into a 
statute perhaps you are not as open.. to the benefits of those devel
opments as you would otherwise be ... 

One possible other thought which I would put forward to you, 
without taking away one bit of my first and most important 
thought of wanting to cooperate, would be that perhaps the Postal 
Service should do exactly what the FTC does and adopt this as a 
matter of policy in its regulations and be bound by them, which 
would still leave us with the prospect of, if there should be further 
judicial case law developments, we could take advantage of those. 

However, the most important point is, you bet we want to cooper
ate. 

Mr. FORD. Well, thank you very much. I would like to discuss 
that other possibility as well. I have spent enough years working 
with and representing law enforcement interests to know that law 
enforcement officers have enough to do without trying to interpret 
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court decisions, and that they are very strong respecters of the 
pragmatic rule book. I feel that I would like to afford the Postal 
Service that kind of protection and assistance. 

The second question I have, really, is to solicit from Mr. Nelson 
something that is, to the best of my knowledge, so far missing from 
this recOl'd. Everybody talks about the Postal Inspection Service in 
this room as if everybody knew what the Postal Inspection Service 
is, who they are and what they do. Could you in a rather short way 
give us a quick history? How did we get a Postal Inspection Service 
and what historically has been the role of the Postal Inspection 
Service? What is the mission of the Postal Inspection Service? Just 
sort of generally, what kind of people do you have and what kind 
of professionals do you employ and what kind of categories of 
people do you have? Then, finally, who do you find yourself directly 
accountable to? 

Mr. NELSON. The Inspection Service began in the late" 1700's and 
what we call postal inspectors, at that time I think they were 
called postal surveyors but the duties were there to investigate 
crimes involving the U.S. mails. 

Mr. FORD. Well, wasn't the original focus of the Postal Inspection 
Service to guarantee that the postal employees protected the integ
rity of the material that came into their possession? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, and held to account for receipts. 
Mr. FORD. We used to build post offices with the little galleries 

and peep windows that created a constant impression with the em
ployees that they were being watched and so it was wise not to 
steal, one of the most insulting things I think we have ever done to 
anybody. I do not think we do that anymore, do we? 

Mr. NELSON. In very large facilities we may; in most smaller ones 
we do not. 

Mr. FORD. However, until fairly recently in the history of the In
spection Service your primary concern was over the actions of the 
employees of the Post Office, the proper accounting for funds by 
postmasters and special delivery messengers and rural carriers and 
things of that kind. About when did we start imposing on you 
duties to go outside of the actions of postal employees? 

Mr. NELSON. Well, I think from the onset we had duties that in
volved burglaries of post offices which did not necessarily involve 
employees. I am not that current on all the legislation. In the late 
1800's of course we had the mail fraud statutes enacted and the 
civil statutes enacted that took us into the areas of fraud and lot
teries and other aspects of it. 

We have about 1,895 inspectors. We devote probably between 25 
to 30 percent of our time to audit work, financial audits, operation
al-type audits. About 60, 65, to 70 percent is in criminal work 
which is made up of internal crimes such as you have alluded to
employees who are dishonest, who embezzle, who steal mail-mail 
fraud, nonmailable-type investigations such as bombs in the mail 
and other dangerous and nonmailable items in the mail, robberies, 
holdups and robberies of postal carriers, postal employees, and 
postal facilities, and thefts of mail from carriers' vehicles or collec
tion boxes, whatever it may be, and various security items, protect
ing high-value mail, protecting our employees, that type of effort. 
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We have-and I cannot give you the specific numbers-we have 
a number of attorneys, we have CPA's, a good mix, I think, of 
blacks and Latins in our regular EEO-type efforts. 

Mr. FORD. Do you still have scuba divers? 
Mr. NELSON. No, we do not have scuba divers. 
Mr. FORD. Dog handlers? 
Mr. NELSON. We have two dog handlers in the country, and they 

are with the security force, the uniformed security force. 
Mr. FORD. What happened to that pretty scuba diver you had a 

few years ago? 
Mr. NELSON. I think she resigned. 
Mr. FORD. You put her picture in the annual report-
Mr. NELSON. That is right. 
Mr. FORD. And that was what brought my attention to the 

growth of the Postal Inspection Service. I took a renewed interest 
in your activities ever since then. [Laughter.] 

That was about half a dozen years ago. 
Mr. NELSON. Yes, about 7 years ago, I think, something like that. 
Mr. FORD. I do not think you put her picture in again after that 

committee hearing. 
We also had great cooperation from you in alleged safety viola

tions over in Secaucus, where the postal inspectors were really the " 
ones who blew the whistle on the employees who bypassed safety 
devices. That would not be in the nature of a criminal investigation 
but it was your department that conducted the most meaningful, 
specific onsite investigation to find out what had happened over 
there. What other kinds of functions like that do you perform? 

Mr. NELSON. Well, we have those accident investigations where 
death or very serious injury does occur. We have, again, the civil 
proceedings that we have talked about today insofar as misrepre
sentation is concerned. We have other efforts that relate strictly to 
the Postal Service, such as recruitment and training of postal 
police officers and postal inspectors. 

Mr. FORD. I am looking at a list of the civil administrative ac
tions running from 1975 through 1981 and I notice that the 
number of cases presented to the USPS law department in 1975 
was 170. And it went along for a while and in 1980 went up to 227; 
in 1981 it went up to 371 and it looks like it is headed there again 
because you had 162 by some time in the secon.d quarter. When one 
looks at the number of complaints filed, 112 in 1977, 454 in 1981-
the FRO's issued were only 80 in 1977 or 157 in 1981 and the 
number of consent agreements signed, only 52 people did that in 
1977 and 177 did it in 1981-that on its face shows a tremendous 
increase in your activity in this particular area and it presumably 
also shows a very high success rate, because almost half of them 
are copping a plea, if you will, by those consent agreements. Why 
do you need more authority in the face of this kind of success pat
tern established over these several years? 

Mr. NELSON. Well, a few years ago we purposely changed the di
rection of a great deal of our fraud work. We backed away from 
some of the fraud cases that involved cl'edit card companies, for in
stance, who would mail out credit cards without request, various 
insurance-type things where they had their own inhouse policing of 
these crimes, and we developed the position that we should direct 
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our basic attention to fraud-type efforts that involve the postal con
sumer, to maintain the integrity of the mail. 

We went so far as to-we trained, I think, 15 attorneys about 2 
years ago in Mr. Davis' shop and put them out in the field to get a 
better handle on what was going on, and we have purposely tried 
to increase that to give the consumer better protection. 

Mr. FORD. Well, that both pleases me and concerns me. We have 
a surplus over there right now. I was: recently in Michigan with a 
postmaster where we were both proudly telling the chamber of 
commerce about the great success story reflected in the operation 
of the post office, and how you develop by better utilization of man
power-it is a labor-intensive business-the kind of productivity in
creases the post office has been showing. I am a little bit concerned 
lest we undermine Mr. Bolger's exc:eptional record by draining off 
resources, and for other reasons as well. I was concerned to see 
that we were going to start registering people for the draft. I am 
not satisfied yet that we get paid adequately for that. They have 
not yet asked us to go out and find the people who do not register 
but somebody will get that idea beft/ore long. 

I go through long lines in my district office, which is located in a 
post office, of people waiting for food stamps, to get to my office, 
and if you wanted to mail a package you would not be able to get 
to the window to mail it, not because they do not, when you once 
get to the window, have the cle.rk handling that segregated from 
the clerk handling the food stamps, but because the entire estab
lishment is full of unemployed auto workers getting food stamps. 

Over the years everybody has sort of used the post office as a 
handy place to put things. They have nice lobbies, so let's put the 
10 most wanted men up there and raise hell with the postmaster if 
he. for&,ets to change the pictures. Every time somebody gets a 
brIght Idea of a better approach to get at a nagging problem, there 
is a temptation to use the Postal Service to do it. 

I have become quite defensive of the institution. It suffers from 
enough attacks, it seems to me, from the outside so that we ought 
to really be concerned above and beyond the kind of concerns that 
have been expressed by, special attention given by people who have 
been at these hearings. 

Mr. Chairman, I feel that this committee has a special duty to 
protect the post office against being used by everybody that wants 
to use it. No matter how well-meaning people who advocate a 
broader role in consumer protection for the Postal Service, I am 
concerned that we are able to expand into this kind of added activi
ty without further draining away the resources. 

How do we pay for the Postal Inspection Service? Doesn't that 
come out of the general revenues of the post office? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is true. 
Mr. FORD. Have you made any projection of what your manpower 

needs would be over the next 5 years for the expanded activity that 
you would have with this expanded ability? 

Mr. NELSON. We do not foresee any additional manpower to ac
complish this. We are doing the job now. What this will enable us 
to do is a more efficient job faster, and if anything I could see a 
reduction. 
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Mr. FORD. Well, presumably you are ~oing to increase the 
number of prosecutions by these more effiCIent ways to get at the 
problem, aren't you? Wo.uld~'t it be ~easonable to expect that t~ere 
would be some substantial Increase In the number of prosecutIOns 
that would result from your activity? 

Mr. NELSON. That is probably correct, and I would d~fer to Mr. 
Davis to take care of that since he oversees the prosecutIOn of the~e 
types of cases. . 

Mr. FORD. Well, let's assume it for a moment, that you are gOIng 
to increase by, say, 20 percent the number of cases that are suc
cessfully developed to the level where the U.S. attorneys would ~o 
forward with prosecution. Your people have to be. the~e as WIt
nesses and to provide backup at every stage of thIS thIng. I am 
mindful of trying to represent a police department when I had 20 
percent of my cops tied. up tes.tifyirW in traffic case~ every. Monday 
mornina and we had dIffIculties With that. There IS a pOInt. of dI
minishi~g returns on this in terms of your personnel. .Isn't It rea
sonable to assume that if we are not careful we are gOIng to put a 
strain on your personnel requirements? 

Mr. NELSON. I suppose it is reasonable to ~ssu~e that. but I do 
not foresee that occurring. From the prosecutIOn, If you will, of the 
administrative cases, I cannot speak to that i~s?far ~s the at~orney 
requirements to handle these before th~ admlnistra~Ive la,,: Judges. 

Mr. FORD. Well, let's call your attentIOn to one of the thIngs the 
ACLU mentioned in their testimony. They said Tuesday that the 
bill would give the Postal Service the authority to monitor d<?o~-~o
door sales, telephone advertising, and a range of other actiVIties 
which employ instrumentalities of interstate commerce but are not 
connected with the mail. 

Mr. NELSON. Well, I do not think that is t~ue. Getti~g. ?ack to 
what we talked about earlier on the resumption of actiVIties and 
the 800 telephone number and the credit card--

Mr. FORD. Let me see if I understand you. You say, "I do not 
think that is true." Is it your understanding that the bIll would not 
give you the authority to do that? . . 

Mr. NELSON. I believe that is Iny understandIng of the bIll. We do 
not intend to monitor anything else.. . 

Mr. FORD. Therefore, if we changed the bIll so that you dId not 
have the authority to monitor door-to-door sales, tele:p~one B:dver
tising, and other activities which emploY,instrumentahtH:s of In~er
state commerce it would not affect the bIll from your pOInt of VIew 
in terms of wha't you are trying to achieve? 

Mr. NELSON. I do not read the bill that way. I would prefer to 
have Mr. Cox or Mr. Davis, maybe, respond to that. 

Mr. FORD. I am not really trying to trap you-
Mr. NELSON. I realize that. 
Mr. FORD. But there are some bothersome parts of this bill and, 

to the extent that we can get rid of them because of the people who 
are concerned about them and raise really serious--

Mr. NELSON. The "other instrumentality" part of it again gets to 
what we talked about earlier on usage of an 800 telephon~ number 
and credit cards, or Western Union, whatever it may be, In resum
ing these activities. We have no authority there. If we ~earn that 
the activities are resumed, and we frequently learn of It through 
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organizations like Action Line in the newspapers, r~dio stations, 
and television, in my view the bill indicat~s at that pOInt we would 
advise the Department of Justice that thIS has occurred and they 
have the authority to go on with it, not the Postal S.ervice. . 

Mr. FORD. All right. Suppose that-.and I see thIS o~ my teleVI
sion set-they advertise a set of knIves and they gIve Y01:l $50 
worth of free equipment to go with them and a full place settIng. of 
everything, and when they get up ~,o a~out $1,000 ,,:orth of materIal 
they sell it to you for $19.95- wrIte down thIS number, 800-
some"-and you call it in. Then you find out that it is lousy stuff 
and it is not what you thought you would get. . . 

However, you order it by telephone; the ad comes by televIs.lOn; 
and they deliver it by UPS. There are some people who .bellE;ve 
that under this bill you would have to entertrun a compl~,Int lIke 
that and investigate it. Do you think that is correct or not? 

Mr. NELSON. No, I do not think that is correct. 
Mr. FORD. What would have to happen in that sequence to make 

it subject to your view of what the bill would cover? . 
Mr. NELSON. In my view what would have to happen IS, that 

company would have previously had to have been the su~j~ct of a 
mail-stop order and when they resort to the TV advertISIng and 
the 800 telepho~e number the Postal Service wou~d presu~ably be 
advised by consumers or newspapers or other ~edla that, Hey, .we 
saw that this was stopped but they are dOIng the same th~g 
again." At that point we would notify the Department of JustIce. 

Mr. FORD. Respectfully, I have to remind. you of what you said a 
little while ago in response to ~r. D~nnemeyer about ho~ that 
particular case, the South AmerICan dIet plan or whate~er It was, 
that you had up there, how did that come to your attentIon. When 
he asked you about that you said that one of the postal inspectors 
saw the ad and suspected that it probably was adve~tising some
thing that was a phony, so he sent away for the materIal, then had 
that analyzed and determined that indeed it was not what it was 
represented to be. 

Now what you are saying to me is that if th~t outfit was reac~ed 
by one of your mail-stop orders and they SWItched over to USIng 
television to advertise, the 800 number to order, and the UPS to 
deliver that because they had previously been violating the postal 
law yo~ would use that as a reason for continuing to pursue them 
into these other avenues of interstate commerce. 

Mr. NELSON. In my view, we would use that if it came to our at
tention simply to notify the Department of Justice that they have 
resumed activities. 

Mr. FORD. Well, that is where I guess we have a problem. I do 
not understand why we should payout of the revenues of the post 
office for you to pursue them beyond the point where they are 
using your delivery service. 

I sense that you feel that once you are onto a scam that is bad 
for the consumer, that you have some kind of a continuing respon
sibility that goes beyond their use of the mails. 

Mr. NELSON. I think we feel the Department of Justice has some 
kind of responsibility because--

Mr. FORD. Oh, I completely agree but they can get all the money 
they want when they come over here and ask Congress for it, and I 
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am fighting like a tiger to get a couple of pennies in supplementary 
money fbr the Post Office. I cannot even get my own committee to 
vote unanimously for that. It is hard to get money for you folks in 
the Post Office, believe me, it is hard, but I can get all the money 
for law enforcement that the Justice Department wants. All they 
have to do is say they need some more money and they get it. That 
is part of the problem we have here. Shouldn't they be coming up 
here looking for law enforcement money to pursue this course of 
action, instead of the Postal Service? 

Mr. NELSON. I understand your concern and,I accept that. The 
portion of the bill I think is simply to address, if you will, recidi
vism, when the order is issued and they circumvent it by going to 
the television and the 800 phone number and the credit card pur
chases. 

Mr. FORD. Well, Mr. Chairman, you and the other Members have 
been very generous. I have used more than my time. I will come 
back if we have a chance after the other Members have talked to 
you and I thank you for your answers. 

Mr. LELAND. The gentleman from California. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
After the hearing the other day I wrote a letter to the Postal 

Service and asked for information concerning the Magnolia Labo
ratory case. Mr. George Davis, I would assume, who is one of the 
three witnesses before the subcommittee now, responded and he 
was kind enough to do so. In his response he set forth the process 
of how this particular prosecution commenced. 

It seems there was an inspector by the name of Michael P. Flynn 
who apparently, in accordance with his assign.ed duties, was read
ing the National Enquirer, and as a result of having read the, Na
tional Enquirer on October 14, 1980, he noticed an ad for a book 
entitled, "Stale Food Versus Fresh Food." Suspecting that what he 
read was a violation of the law, in that in the opinion of the 
reader, Mr. Flynn, it was false and misleading, Mr. Flynn caused? 
process to come into existence which resulted in an expert, a medi
cal doctor, reading the book and rendering the opinion: What do 
you know, I'Yes, it fits within the purview of false and misleading," 
so the prosecution commenced.. . 

The defect in this whole process was the beginning. One of the 
rudimentary things you learn in law enforcement is that you must 
retain your objectivity. When you lose your objectivity and become 
a partisan, you are not performing law enforcement; you are per
forming advocacy. Law enforcement works best, it seems to me, 
when a citizen complains to the existing authorities and comes in 
and says, "Something is amiss." Then a person who has the respon
sibility and the judgment to determine if something indeed is amiss 
can begin to use the prerogatives of public office, and everything 
that that entails in our system, one of which is respect for law and 
order and due process. Only at that point can you hope to maintain 
your objectivity. 

I am deeply disturbed by the practice of a Federal employee 
whose supervisor has instructed or tolerates such a perSon on 
public salary reading the National Enquirer to determine if some
body is violating the law, and I hope in the course of these qUes
tions to peruse that. 
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N ow any of you on the panel can feel free to answer these ques
tions: How many USPS employees are actively enga~ed in review-
ing ads in magazines in the manner that I have descr~bed? . 

Mr. NELSON. I cannot give you the exact number. 1 would say It 
is probably 20 to 25 people. .. . 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Are they located In dIfferent places In the 
country? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is right. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Can you just give me an example of the geo

graphical distribution of these readers? 
Mr. NELSON. Well, the country is split up geographically into 17 

divisions and we have a division specialist who works, addresses 
this type' of thing, reviews ads in various publications. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. How many publications does the Postal Serv
ice subscribe to for the purpose of reviewing? 

Mr. NELSON. I do not want you to phi me down to this number 
but it is probably very close to about 140 or 150: . . 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Do you include the AmerIcan MedIcal AssocI
ation Journal in that list? 

Mr. NELSON. I do not have the list with me; I cannot tell you. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, wouldn't it be logical? It would al?pear 

probable that certain claims about drugs or remedies are publIshed 
in the American Medical Association Journal, and by what stretch 
of the imagination are we to conclude that j~st because establish
ment medicine in the United States of AmerIca asserts that a cer
tain drug will alleviate a particular symptom, that they are cor-
re~" . 

Mr. NELSON. No no. I do not agree with that at all but I thInk 
what we try to m'onitor are those publications which experienc.e 
shows us have advertisements of this type. Now I do not know If 
the American Medical Association publication carries advertise
ments. I cannot give you that answer. 

Mr. FORD. Would the gentleman yield to me? 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Go ahead. 
Mr. "FORD. I ask you not to leave our union out. One of the things 

I find interesting in the American Bar Journal is the constant flow 
of advertising for cheap but fun trips allover the world, and group 
insurance of all kinds, new, super .. dliper computer systems so you 
do not have to remember anything about the law, you can push a 
button and get the answer to any question. I hope you watch them, 
too. Do you? . 

Mr. NELSON. Again, I cannot answer if we watch the American 
Bar Journal publication or not. We-- " . 

Mr. FORD. I tJ:dnk I join the gentleman. I would .lIke to observe 
that any time somebody can come before this commltt~e and cast a 
net wide enough to catch MI'. Dannemeyer and me In the same 
cast, you really are shooting with a.bl~nderbuss. [~aughter.] 

However, I think he and I are thInkIng at least In part along the 
same lines. What criteria could we use that would exclude t~e ABA 
Journal and the American Medical Association but would Include 
some other kind of publication. . 

Mr. NELSON. I think the criterion is a publication that carries nu
merous advertisements. That is what we look at. Some publications 
have no ads, they accept no ads. We look at, I believe, between 140 
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and 150 that carry multiple advertisements for any number of 
things. 

Mr. DAVIS. Mr. Ford, I know of one case we had where the adver
tisement did appear in the American Bar Journal. It was a lovely 
little device called a truth detector which you could set on your 
desk and, while you were interviewing someone in your office, this 
machine would light up if the person lied. I guess it was quiet if 
the person was telling the truth. That was the subject of one of our 
cases. 

Mr. FORD. I want to see that because in my years in law practice, 
the light must have been on all the time. 

Mr. DAVIS. In my business it would be very, very useful. 
Mr. FORD. The last person anybody tells the truth is their own 

lawyer. [Laughter.] 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. If I may continue, please explain approximate

ly a 46-percent drop in total number of convictions between fiscal 
year 1980 and 1981. The drop was from 9,576 total in 1980 to 5,410 
in 1981. What is the explanation for that? 

Mr. NELSON. Well, the big explanation is, again, a change in our 
program direction. Probably about 3,500 of those would be under 
the category of external crimes, and for a number of years we ad
dressed external crimes by identifying individuals who cashed or 
possessed checks or credit cards or other items of stolen mail. We 
looked at our program long and hard and decided this really is not 
helping us curtail theft that much. We could just pour inspector, 
inspector, and inspector in, and continue to arrest the possessors or 
the forgers of the checks stolen from the mail. 

Therefore, we developed a program where we are putting the 
greater share of our resources into people who fence these items, 
into gang activities' where they break into numerous postal vehi
cles, or collection box activities, into the organized part of it in an 
effort to stem the tide. We realize those are down; we expected 
those to be down. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. We talked earlier about health-related cases. 
Aren't many of these health-related cases such as "Stale Food 
Versus Fresh Food," initiated by the Postal Service without any 
consumer complaints? 

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is true. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. USPS has apparently refused numerous Free

dom of Information Act requests for its guidelines on choosing mat
ters for investigation and prosecution. Doesn't the public have a 
right to know which ~:aSes you go after and why? 

Mr. NELSON. I am not that conversant with the refusals of any 
FOIA requests. I think, you know, we have a section in the USPS 
and in the Inspection Service that reviews all these requests, and if the 
determination is made that the material is exempted because it is 
an internal working manual or whatever it may be, we generally 
refuse to release that material. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. The USPS has repeatedly said it needs cease 
and desist authority because defendants can simply use new ad
dresses and you must start a new administrative action each time. 
Isn't it true that under your rules of procedure in section 3005 you 
may amend the stop order to allow for "any new name or new ad-
dress? " 
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Mr. DAVIS. That is correct but only after a full administrative 
procedure. You know, we do not do it ex parte or unilaterally. You 
would have to file an action with the administrative law judges, 
with a judicial officer of the Postal Service, and the matter would 
be heard by the judicial officer to determine whether or not, for ex
ample, it is the same person. The mere fact that you see an ad that 
is identical to the one you have had before does not mean it is the 
same person. I mean, anyone can copy an ad and run it, so the 
amended order results through the process of a second administra
tive case. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. You say that is burdensome? 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, it is preferable to not having people start the 

second scheme. I mean, if people were dissuaded from coming back 
again and again and running the same fraudulent advertising, we 
would not have to bring those cases and we could concentrate on 
other cases. That is the intent of the penalty provision. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. If the initial action which results in a-what 
do you call it, a stop order? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Then you contend that the stopee will move. 

You contend that you have to get a new stop order in order to 
reach that person at a new address? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, that is correct. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. What is wrong with that? 
Mr, DAVIS. Well, there isn't anything wrong with that. It would 

just be better if they did not come back and we would not have to 
do it again. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Do you have many instances where these cul
prits will, having received a stop order, vacate their place of origin 
and then move to another location and again resume their nefar
ious activities? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, we certainly do. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Examples of fraud the USPS has brought here 

to testify are victims of real fraud under title 18, United States 
Code, section 1341, yet this bill mainly expands powers under a 
false representation statute, title 39, United States Code, section 
3Q05, a separate matter. Isn't it misleading to present a victim of 
one crime and try to use them to justify expanding your powers in 
another area? 

Mr. DAVIS. I am not sure what examples are alluded to. The ex
amples that Inspector Nelson presented today were entirely civil 
cases. To what cases are you referring or what victims? 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Can you imagine a factual situation that fits 
within the purview of the sections I have described? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes. The cases that Inspector Nelson, for example, 
showed the committee a few moments ago on the placards were all 
cases under the administrative statute. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Section 3005 proceedings have been termed 
"kangaroo courts" in light of the approximately 99-percent convic
tion rate in 3005 cases and approximately 10Q-percent conviction 
rate in health-related cases. Do you maintain that these proceed
ings are an impartial process? 

Mr. DAVIS. No question about it. 
lV1r. DANNEMEYER. You claim they are impartial? 
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Mr. DAVIS. They certainly are. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Have you heard anyone contend otherwise? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes. A lot of the people that have lost the cases con-

tend just that. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Can you cite any health-Telated section 3005 

case out of the last 200 or so which the USPS did not find for the 
USPS? 

Mr. DAVIS. I cannot off the top of my head. We do lose some 
cases. We do not lose very many. I think our win record has to be 
something approaching 96 or 97 percent but the reason for that is 
the selectivity that goes into the cases. We do not bring weak cases; 
we bring winning cases, cases where the advertisement is blatantly 
false and the evidence is clearly in our favor, and the administra
tive law judges and the courts find that. We would be losing cases 
if we were J:>ringi~g cases. against advertisements that are just 
somewhat mIsleadIng or wIshy-washy or full of puffery or what 
have you. Our cases are selected on the basis of our perception that 
they are just plain, blatantly false, and to date our winning record 
has reflected the accuracy of those determinations both in the 
agency and the courts. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. When you have a matter involving nonortho
dox health products or books, do you consult experts in that area of 
health practices or just mainstream doctors? 

Mr. DAVIS. We consult only mainstream doctors, and the reason 
for that is,' that is the source that the judge accepts as valid in 
these cases. The ultimate determination, Mr. Dannemeyer, of who 
to believe in a hearing and who has the correct knowledge and who 
~as the most expertise is not ours. It is the judge's, and the judge 
ill any case might accept the word of a holistic practitioner over a 
doctor of medicine or a chiropractor over a doctor. of medicine but I 
have not seen a case where they have done that. In most of our 
cases in the health area the respondents could produce those prac
titioners as witnesses and they do not. Now they must have a 
reason for not doing so. My suggestion to you is that the reason is, 
they do not believe they would be believable. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. You know, in the history of western civiliza
tion there was a time when science believed the world was flat. Do 
you know what we did to scientists who advocated that it was 
round? 

Mr. DAVIS. No, but I am sure it was not funny. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. We put them to death because of heresy. 

There was a time in the history of our Republic when we burned 
witches because we believed they were possessed of the devil. 

Mr. DAVIS. It has not been long since we put leeches on people's 
arms to cure them of disease or drilled holes in their heads to re
lease evil spirits. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Do you really think it is the function of the 
Government to set itself up as an arbiter between what a free 
people have a right to claim in terms of what they believe can alle
viate human suffering, and what a free people, educated, in our de
mocracy have a right to read and believe for themselves? 

Mr. DAVIS. I do not. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, then, are you uncomfortable with your 

current job? 
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Mr. DAVIS. Certainly not. What you have just expressed is, in my 
opinion, totally protected by the first amendment; the right to ex
press any idea, no matter how unorthodox, no matter how un
founded, unreasonable, unscientific, or un-anything else you can 
think of is clearly protected by the first amendment without any 
doubt in my mind or in any court's mind. 

However, when you get into the realm that we deal in of adver
tising a product that says that it is valid, that it has b~en proven, 
that it will work, and you deliver that to people and It does not 
work, then you are in the realm of false advertising of your view. 
You can express your view but do not falsely advertise it. Tell 
people, "This is my idea. I think stale foods are better than fresh 
foods, and I think they will work, and I think they will keep you 
from having arteriosclerosis," but do not tell them, "This is a star
tling new discovery that has cured all sorts of people." 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Don't you think people are equipped with 
enough intelligence to evaluate the dignity of claims that are 
made? 

Mr. DAVIS. No, sir; I am afraid I do not. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. I disagree with you, sir. I think you are under

estimating the ability of the American public to read, understand, 
assimilate, and act intelligently, and I suspect one of the reasons 
you have come to this conclusion is that your self-interest is in
volved because you have to protect your job. 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, I think my conclusions are based upon a little 
more than that. I think my conclusion is based upon now having 
lived through somewhere between 1,500 and 2,000 of these cases 
where you have, in virtually all of them, a record that says that 
the advertising is just absolutely false, that they will not work, it 
has no validity, yet people, thousands of people, bought it. They 
used it. They were cheated. Theil' perception of the advertising 
when they read it obviously was not that accurate, and if it had 
been, they would not have bought it. , 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, I have additional questions but there 
may be other members who would like to ask some. I thank the 
Chair for the indulgence and the time you have extended to me. 

Mr. LELAND. The Chair will certainly recognize the gentleman in 
another round of questioning if he cares to ask the other questions 
he has. 

The Chair would now like to recognize the gentleman from New 
York, Mr. Gilman. 

Mr. GILMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Nelson, on page 5 of your statement you indicate that the 

written demand mechanism that has been proposed by the bill is 
similar to that assigned to inspectors general of Federal depart
ments and agencies. Would you explain how the inspectors general 
of these departments and agencies exercise that authority now? 

Mr. Cox. I cannot give you a really complete explanation of that. 
I have read the Inspector General Act. It is probably more intru
sive-to use a slightly loaded word-than anything that is proposed 
in this bill. I cannot tell you how the HHS and the Department of 
Education and other departments and agencies that have inspec
tors general under that act, how they actually operate. I would 
have to go outside to learn that. 
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Mr. GILMAN. Could you give us--
Mr. DAVIS .. I can supplement that a little bit. The Inspector Gen

eral Act, unhke a number of other statutes which give to agencies, 
for ~ant of a better general term, agency subpena power, is an act 
t~at J~lSt crea~es a blanket authority to examine records relevant to 
V!OlatIOns agaInst the agency that the Inspector General is respon
SIble for. 

Under that statute those agencies, each agency that is covered by 
the. act, have promulg~ted definitive regulations to govern how 
theIr subpena powe~ WIll be utilized in the investigation of their 
cases: Who can use It, when they can use it, how they can use it 
what t.h~y ~an get, what they cannot get. To date there has bee~ 
some lItigatIOn under the statute, not much. There have been prob
ably.a half a dozen or fewer cases involving the exercise of that au
thorIty. They have thus far been in favor of the inspectors general 
who ?ave exercised the authority. 

It IS, as Mr. Cox says, a .somewhat more intrusive authority than 
the one w~ have here. It IS broader. They can generally interview 
pe~ple. It}S a subpena which carries with it much more of a conno
tat!on of you had better comply or else" than you have under this 
,wrItten demand authority under this bill which is a more volun
tar:y process . .If people do ,not choose to honor it, then it is our obli
g~tIO.n to satisfy the Justice Department and, in turn, the Federal 
dISt~ICt cour~s that we have a reasonable basis for getting the infor
matIOn and It should not be withheld. 

Mr. GILMAN. I thank you. 
~he Senate b~ll, S. 1407, directs ~h~ Postal Servige to issue regu

latIOns concernIng reasonable condItIOns for complIance with writ
ten demands. Could you discuss these procedures that you contem
plate and that you ~utline on page 7 of your written statement? 
. Mr. DAVIS. Yes, SIr. We are still, I guess, in the process of refin
Ing what we woul~ proI?ose to publish in the Federal Register as a 
r.ule to gover~ thIS. It IS. largely, what we ha~e to date is largely 
lIfted out of title 18, UnIted States Code, sectIOn 1968, which is a 
s~at:ute that g<?verns how the Department of Justice may exercise 
~Imilar a~thorI~y u~der different legislation. It sets forth who may 
Issue the Investigative demand, what the return time Inay be, what 
sort of documents t[,ou can get and not get, and what do you do 
when y~u are told, We are not going to comply." 

We WIll ne~d to promulgate regulations that are as extensive as 
that. They WIll have to delineate who within the Postal Service 
would have au~h~rity to ,issue this. Our present thinking is that 
that would be lImIted t? the ~ame ma~aging postal inspectors who 
at ~resent have authorIty to ISS~~ !llail covers: That is the inspec
tor In charge of each of the 17 dIvIsIOns that Mr. Nelson mentioned 
and one of his assistant inspectors in charge. ' 

In ~he area of written demands. that would go to third parties, 
that IS, persons who are not ~he d~rec~ subject of an investigation, 
~he rule a~ we are now dealIng wIth It would not allow assistant 
Inspectors In char~e to issue the subpoena, the written demand. It 
would have to b~ Issued by the i~spector in charge, to put a little 
more ,contr?l. on It. The ~ule pro':I~es, consistent with the Supreme 
~ou:t s ~ecisIOns upholding admInIstrative subpoenas as being not 
In VIOlatIOn of the fourth amendment, that no civil demand may be 
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issued in any matter after the case has been presented to the De
partment of Justice for criminal prosecution. It provides that no 
written demand may be issued for any document which could not 
be constit.utionally claimed by a grand jury or under the Federal 
rules of discovery. I think that is the substance of it as it now 
stands. 

Mr. GILMAN. Mr. Cox, did you want to add anything to that? 
Mr. Cox. No, sir. 
Mr. GILMAN. Mr. Nelson'? 
Mr. NELSON. No. 
Mr. GILMAN. Several of the witnesses who testified have raised 

the concern that the Senate bill violates the fourth amendment be
cause of the written demand authority which. the bill provides the 
Postal Service, Would you care to comment on those criticisms? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. I think that they are baseless. The state
ments that I have read that deal with the fourth amendment 
area-the American Civil Liberties Union statement and the state
ment of the Congressional Research Service, in particular-are 
statements that follow the law of the Supreme Court in the area of 
administrative searches, not in the area of administrative sub
penas. 

The Supreme Court, :lS early as 1946 and consistently since then, 
has carved out an area, has delineated an area in which adminis
trative subpenas may validly be issued, exercised, and enforced. 
consistently with the fourth amendment. If you would bear with 
me for one moment, I would like to read one paragraph from a Su
preme Court decision that I think summarizes the law in this area, 
if you would like. 

I am quoting from the case of See v. City of Seattle, title 387, 
United States Code, section 581, pages 544-545, and it is a 1966 de
cision. 

Mr. GILMAN. Would you repeat that annotation for us? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. See v. City of Seattle, title 387, United States 

Code, sections 541, 544-545, 1966. 
Mr. GILMAN. Thank you. 
Mr . DAVIS. The quotation is: 
"It is now settled that when an administrative agenCy subpenas corporate books 

?r records, the fourth amendment requires that the subpena be sufficiently limited 
In scope, relevant in purpose, and specific in directive so that compliance will not be 
unreasonably burdensome. The agency has the right to conduct all reasonable in
spections of such documents which are contemplated by statute but it must delimit 
the confines of a search by designating the needed documents in a formal subpena. 
In addition, while the demand to inspect may be issued by the agency in the form of 
an administrative subpena, it may not be made and enforced by the inspector in the 
field and the subpenaed party may obtain judicial review of the reasonableness of 
the demand prior to suffering penalties for refusing to comply." 

In other words, the administrative subpena is valid if it is rea
sonable, if it is specific, if it is understandable, and if the courts 
enforce it, not the agency. Our bill, I believe, satisfies those condi
tions. 

Mr. GIl.MAN. Would the panel have any further comments with 
regard--

Mr. NELSON. I do not have any comments. 
Mr. Cox. Just to underscore that in a nutshell, as I understand 

it, the fourth amendment is protective of people and their papers 
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and possessions and so forth against unreasonable searches and sei
zures, and there is no search or seizure of an unreasonable kind 
involved in this legislation. 

Mr. GILMAN. I want to thank the panel. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. Mr. Nelson, do you feel that the written demand au

thority is valid without specific standards to control its use? 
Mr. NELSON. Oh, no, not at all. I think specific standards are 

needed. 
Mr. LELAND. What is the intent behind expanding the mail-stop 

order to include cease and desist orders? 
Mr. NELSON. Cease and desist, I think, in the terminology of the 

legislation may be poor wording. What we are trying to say is that 
the respondent or the individual operating the business should 
somehow be put on notice, "If you resume this activity and it 
comes to our attention, an appropriate notice will be given the De
partment of Justice." 

Mr. DAVIS. Mr. Leland, could I add to that just briefly this 
thought: rrhe order that is authorized by 39 U.S.C. 3005, the so
called mail-stop order, is an order which is defined by statute. It is 
an order that is directed only to a postmaster, a specific postmas
ter. It does not order the person who has conducted the false adver
tising scheme to do anything; it does not order him to stop, start, 
modify, or anything else. It simply tells the postmaster, "Do not de
liver any mail to this man in response to that advertisement." 

Now when we were dealing with this legislation in the last ses
sion of the Congress, someone in the Senate spotted that and said, 
"I do not like it. This business of issuing an order to a postmaster 
and telling him to do something and then coming along a year or 
two later and socking an advertiser with a penalty when you have 
never told him to stop doing anything seems basically unfair, and 
we think you have to change the penalty provision in the bill"-as 
it then stood-Hto put the person who might suffer a penalty on 
notice that he might suffer a penalty." The phraseology they sug
gested at the time was the cease and desist order. 

The concept is simply notice. That could be handled as well by 
saying that the mail-stop order shall include notice to the respond
ent that if the scheme is resumed, he may be subject to the penal
ties provided by statute. 

Mr. LELAND. If the court says so. 
Mr . DAVIS. Well, of course the penalty provision is enforced only 

by the courts. There is no authority, contrary to a number of state
ments in these hearings to date, in the Postal Service to assess any 
penalty. The penalty authority is totally in the courts. 

Mr. LELAND. Thank you. I appreciate that. 
Let me ask you, Mr. Nelson, you have a poster campaign in the 

post offices warning people against mail fraud; to what extent has 
that been effective? 

Mr. NELSON. I think it has been effective in bringing this to the 
attention of more of the mail order consumers, which has in turn 
brought more attention to us from them regarding cases or poor 
business dealings they have had with various businesses. It is part 
of an overall prevention program. We would like to stop these 
things if we could. If we could somehow magically put a stop to 
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. d'l f d that is what we would like to 
misrepresentatIOtns .an ml~tl.tlerap~rt of preventing and advising the do and that pos er IS one 1 

pU~!C·LELAND. In your closing remarks, you s~id you look lorh~r~ 
'. 'th d my staff to make any Improvemen s w lC 

to workinb
g 

WI d mte atnhI·S bill What kind of improvements did you need to e rna eo. 

haNh-inN~r:O~. Possibly one would be the cease an~ desist tJ;in~. we 
. b t b that should be reworded In some las IOn. 

JI'us~::1f~gd :h~~~s~!~n; of the past few hea!ings, the~e are. otthert 
n b th d' or somethIng there IS an In en 

areas that may bet .
y 

e ~~~ I~~allY originated by the framers of 
there that was no , In my, k th th' gs 
the legislation, and I think we could wor on . ose In . 

M LELAND. The Chair has no further questIOns. 
Th~ gentleman from Michigan. last comment on what 
Mr. FORD: Well, to piCt~eU¥r~!~~U~f v:hIs legislation. Heretofore 

rh': p~:~ Se~~:dh~~ in~ic~?>d that ther are h'rt U,:Psf:~:'; 
t~~t. thib ~~~~t;ti~n t::~~~~t~~dd th~; h~~~t di:cf:rimed pater'nity 
s ;tM~ D~vis refers to it as our bill. Isn't it time for us t<;> ~nd out, 
ff the Postal Service initiated

f 
thisknlegisla~go: thedl~~1~t10~' was ini-

Mr. NELSON. To the best 0 my ow e b~ 

tia~: F~~:,r#~it ~~~~~:a~1~~~:t~~~mon p~;ception tha,t we had. 
Wh MD' s do you refer to It as our bIll ? 

~r;. D~vI:'Il ~an explain that, I think. It is not an accurate state-

m't~~ve lived with this prop~sed legislhtionr/0! 3 ye~ft~!" tffl~cii 
pal effect will be to ~reatly ~~~Pkr?ve ·t ha: b~~~:~ my bill or our manage, and I guess In my li~_ln lng 1 

bi~r. FORD. You are not responsible for t~e paternity but you are 
willing to claim adoptive status? [Laughter,J 

Mr. Cox. To be the benevolent godI?arent. 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, in this case I certaInly am·

th
· th ~ Mr Gilman 

Mr FORD I would like to go back to some lng at". . 

~=i~~os:u~o~t~~~~i~:~~~~e t~::Wt:ti~;~o~:z:r !~~ 
t require you to obtaIn a warran prior h 

ways: dO to build in safeguards and procedures similar to t ose 
demta~ 'doin the FTC's civil investigative demand statute. How con aine . ? 

wMld ~ou reac\ t~~h~~~ :~~rf:~il~:~ with the FTC civil investiga-
tive den!~~~tatute. Perhaps o~e of these gentlemen can comment 
better than I from that standpOInt. I ld ke on that It 

Mr DAVIS Yes I have some comments wou rna . t' d 
. b' d . do~bt that very definitive, clear, and specIfic s ~~.-

~rd:~:e;'~g th~t ~xerc!s~ ~~ ~: sh~~hd~~ ~u:~eefi~;t bc"t~~t t~~ 
~~:; itxe[t~~uld ~le~~~o~olate the fourth amendmen~ if w~ went 
out without any kind of standards, willy-nilly, to exerCIse thIS type 
of authority. 
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In one line of legislation, typified I guess by the inspector general 
statutes, the Congress simply granted the authority to subpena 
books, records, and persons, left it up to the agency to adopt regula
tions to manage those details consistent with the Supreme Court's 
decisions, and they have done so. So far, since 1978, they have 
fared very well in the courts. 

In another line of legislation, including the FTC Act, including 
title 18, United States Code, section 1968, including the antitrust 
civil investigative demand authority of the Justice Department and 
some others, the Congress has written the standards into the stat
ute. From my perspective, I would prefer to have the standards in 
the regulations because I expect that these things will be litigated 
and will be litigated fully for a number of years. As the courts in
terpret the law we may need to modify our procedures accordingly. 
It is easier to do it by regulation than to do it by coming back to 
the Congress but, whichever way the controls come about, they 
have to come about. If you want to write them into the bill, that is 
fine. 

I think, as a particular example, the FTC regulations as I reeall 
them are probably-they deal with enforcement of very broad stat
utes that are sometimes used for very extensive examination of rec
ords: All pricing records over umpteen years on a product, mf~mo
ralldums of meetings with competitors' boards, and on and on 
under the antitrust and the pricing statutes that the Federal Trade 
Commission administers. I do not think that for the kinds of inves
tigations the Postal Service would be using this that you need that 
kind of detail. I think that the detail in the 2- or 3-page statute 
which governs the Justice Department's authority, title 18, United 
States Code, section 1968, is much closer to the kind of investiga
tions we would be dealing with, and our regulations that we have 
been developing are pretty much copying title 18, United States 
Code, section 1968. There are some other precedents around. I 
mean, you can look at a number of them but I think you may find 
the FTC thing just covers a lot more than--

Mr. FORD. Yes, but what you have said does not reassure me all 
that much because I cannot think of a statute that the FTC-at 
least quickly-would be enforcing that parallels the provision of 
the law that you are enforcing here, that does not require the proof 
of intent to defraud. 

Mr. DAVIS. The FTC statutes do not involve any proof of intent to 
defraud. There is no intent element in section 5 of the FTC Act 
whatsoever, or in any false advertising statute that I am aware of. 
The intent element is an element, typically, of criminal statutes, 
not of the civil statutes. 

Mr. FORD. I see. 
The provisions with respect to this very general and broad lan

guage on page 2 of the bill-tiThe Postal Service may require, pur
suant to written demand made under this section, that any officer 
or employee"-any officer or employee-"designated by the Postal 
Service be given access at reasonable times to inspect or copy any 
books, records, documents, or oth,er objects that the Postal Service 
has reason to believe relate to any matter except a matter pertain
ing to chapter 6 of this title or the provisions of title 18 concerning 
the carriage of letters by private express~ to wit, first class mail, 
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under investigation by the Postal Authority pursuant to it~ auth?r
ity under section 404(a)(7) ... "-this gives you the ~uthor~ty to In
vestigate everything. "Any w~itten .deman~ under thIS sectIOn shall 
describe with reasonable partIcularIt~ the Items sought to be: exam
ined and shall specify a reasonabl~ tIme and place .for m~klng the 
inspection. No written demand Issued under thIS sectIOn may 
impose an unreasonable burden on the party to whom t~e demand 
is issued. The Postal Service shall, after reasonable notIce. and op
portunity for interested par~i~s to commen~, !ssu~ re.gulatIO!ls pro
viding procedures and condItIons for exerCIsIng ItS InspectlOn au-
thority under this section." .. . 

What do you think the average small buslne~sman IS ~Olng to .do 
when a postal inspector walks in and flashes hIS credentIals to hIm 
and says, "I want to see your books." 

Mr. DAVIS. He is going to have to flash a lot more than that. He 
is going to have to serve upon that person--

Mr. FORD. Well can't I walk in with the letter making the 
demand and hand it to you and say, "I am here"? 

Mr. DAVIS. No. No. You could not, consistent with the fou~th 
amendment, do anything like that. That would be clearly outSIde 
the scope of the permissible use of an agency's subpena power as 
delineated by the court. 

Mr. FORD. How should we protect you from, as you desc.ribed it, 
being kicked out on your tail by the first court that sees It? Your 
inspectors are just like all other law enforcement pe?ple. Somebody 
is going to do that unless we tell them not to do It or that they 
cannot. 1 

Mr. DAVIS. That is correct. The type of standard that has to oe 
enunciated somewhere in the statute or in administrative regula
tions implementing the statute has to narrow that down. I mean, it 
has to be narrowed down to the constitutional limits that the Court 
has set. The document woula have to give the people fair notice. In 
our view the thing should have right on the front of it, right on the 
face of it, a simple English statemen~: "Your complianc~ with this 
is voluntary. If you do not comply WIth, the Postal Ser"YI?e has au
thority to go to a Federal COU!t and s.eek an ord~r reqUIrIng :fou to 
comply." No mumbo-jumbo, Just a SImple, straIght declaratIOn of 
what the case actually is under the law. 

Our regulations as we ha,:e bee!l developing ~hem a~dress that 
but it has to be delineated, eIther In the regulatIOns or In the stat
ute. It has to be somewhere. You cannot just leave it wide open. 

Mr. FORD. Well, who in your view is outside the parameters of 
that kind of demand? 

Mr. DAVIS. Outside the parameters of the demand? 
Mr. FORD. There is nothing to define or limit, except what you 

believe is important to your investigation. If you decide that it. is 
pursuant to section 404(a)(7), then it is a reasonable demand on Its 
face under this provision of the bill. . . 

Mr. DAVIS. No. No, sir. That does not follow. The fact that It IS 
pursuant to a statute would not mean that the demand itself is rea
sonable. The demand could exceed the scope of the statute. 

Mr. FORD. Suppose on line 11 of page 2 of the bill we removed 
section 404(a)(7) and put section 3005, which is the false representa
tion provision of the statute, limit it to that? 
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Mr. DAVIS. I think we would have a problem with that. At the 
initial stages of an investigation of what is believed to be a false 
advertising practice by mail, it is generally not possible to know 
whether you are dealing with a criminal fraud violation or you are 
dealing with a civil misrepresentation violation or both. At that 
very early stage of the investigation, too little is known to know 
that. It may not be until you get the books, records, documents, ad
vertisements, whatever you are seeking, that you can make that 
kind of judgment. 

Now if you have limited the statute to the civil statute, to section 
3005, and if it were used and an inspector went in and got hold of 
records that show that the guy never ships anything, never intends 
to ship anything, has never shipped anything and is just flat out 
cheating people, you would have a case of criminal intent to de
fraud but we might not be able to pursue it because the way we got 
the evidence was under authority of the civil statute, limited to the 
civil statute. We might be thrown out when we get into the Federal 
criminal courts for having obtained the evidence without authority. 

1\1:1'. FORD. You might be thrown out for the use of the specific 
evidence but--

Mr. DAVIS. You might be able to back and fill, you might be able 
to. 

Mr. FORD. The Justice Department would not be precluded from 
using all the information that you in good faith were gathering, as
suming you were dealing only with the matter of a civil penalty, 
and then in the course of it developed what is clearly a criminal 
violation and I, in complying with your request, have given all 
sorts of evidence against myself, haven't I? 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, you may have. 
Mr. FORD. Now my limited understanding of my protection is 

that I can prevent you from using in my prosecution a specific doc
ument that came to you. out of my possession when you were doing 
this without advising me of my rights and protecting my rights. 
But I cannot prevent you from using all of the information con
tained therein to develop a case against me. 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, or in another example, if the document is served 
on a corporation rather than an individual. 

Mr. FORD. The Magazine Publishers Association testified this 
week. They point out that under section 2 of the bin, a postal in
spector could walk into any citizen or business enterprise in the 
United States which uses the mail and demand to inspect and copy 
books and records. They go on to say, "There are several hundred 
thousand religious, educational, scientific, philanthropic, labor, and 
other organizations authorized by law to mail second- or third-class 
mail matter at preferred rates. This language," they say, "would 
permit a postal inspector to demand, inspect, and copy any named 
object in the possession of that church or foundation or society or 
labor union on the grounds that the demand was pursuant to a 
civil investigation of the qualifications of the organization to mail 
at nonprofit rates or some other civil matter investigation related 
to the post office." Now how do you respond to their suggestion 
that that is made possible. 

Mr. DAVIS. There are internal regulations in the Postal Service, I 
think specifically in the Domestic Mail Manual, which address ex-
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actly what you have just read to us. The. burden ~f proof is up0!l 
the mailer. If he has a second-class permIt or a thIrd-class permIt 
or a permit to give him a reduced rate, he has to satisfy the Postal 
Service that he is complying with those directions. 

For instance, he prepares his mail and takes ~t to th~ post office 
and has his mail preparation forms and the maIl. He gIves that to 
us. We have the records right there, as a matter of course, that we 
can look at. We can examine the mail as a matter of course. 

Mr. FORD. Do you remember what happened in this country a 
few years ago when one of our ?olleagues on thi~. committee 
brought forth a bill that would reqUIre people. who solICIted money 
for charitable purposes through the mall to dIsclose the amount of 
the proceeds that were actually dedicated to charitable purposes? 

Mr. DAVIS. I have some recollection of that, yes. 
Mr. FORD. The roof fell in on us. Every church in the country 

was upset. What triggered it, I think, was one particular religious 
group that had raised so m~ch money that they ,:"ere lending. some
body their divorce proceedIng money or somethIng of the kInd. It 
was close by here and everybody read it, and it seemed logical. 
Why not? If they are getting a special postal rate to solicit thi.s 
money, frnd out whether it indeed inures to the benefit of a charI
table objective or it goes into a pot that is spent for a whole lot of 
other reasons. 

The revulsion to the idea that we would open charitable organi
zations to that kind of scrutiny was so great that it was over
whelming. It became politically very, very sensitive, as an under
statement, and so the gentleman was persuaded not to put us on 
the spot by bringing forth that great idea again. 

I am agajn coming back to the idea that if we have in here the 
kind of prospect that can be described as the Magazine Pub.lishe!s 
have described it, as the ACLU and other groups have descrIbed It, 
that is going to trigger that kind of reaction out there. We may 
have you busy doing nothing except responding to harrassment of 
one kind or another. 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, there is a difference here, I think, between the 
charitable disclosure legislation you are mentioning and this bill, 
at least one clear difference in my mind. That effort sought to have 
a very up-front, specific kind of disclosure in any soli~itation letter 
telling people where the money goes. The churches VIewed that as 
an invasion of privacy and, as you say, it died. 

This seems to me to be really quite different in that if we were to 
use one of these written demands as that organization fears, it has 
to be backed up by the courts. We have no authority under this leg
islation to force people to comply with one of these things. It has to 
be taken to a judge and the judge has to find that we have reason
able grounds for doing what we are doing, that we are doing it in a 
reasonable manner. You know, those are awfully broad standards. 
Now what is reasonable or what is unreasonable from the view
point of a judge is ju~t about ~s broad as yO';l can ge~. If he d?es n.ot 
like what we are dOIng, that IS the end of It. That IS what It bolls 
down to in my mind, and as Mr. Minton pointed out, "The Postal 
Service will say, 'We would never do that,' " so I do not need to say 
it but it is a very farfetched example. 
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As Inspector Nelson testified, we already have about all the au
thority you could ask for in these special rate mailings to require 
people to prove they are ent.itled to them. We do not have to 
demand anything or go to a court, or anything like that. We just 
say, "You say you are entitled to the rate. We do not believe you. 
Prove it." They have to come forth with the records or they do not 
get th~ rate or they. do not keep the rate. You know, if you have 
that kInd of authorIty, why would you use this? I do not know 
what you would get out of it. I mean, what record would you get 
out of a church or a labor union or whatever that would tell you 
about the use of the mailing privileges that you do not already 
know? They are bringing the mail to us; they have to demonstrate 
t~ us th~t they q~alify for the rate. What would you ask for? What 
kInd of InformatIOn would you ask for? I mean, if we went in and 
said, "We want all of your love letters to your girl friend" would a 
judge back us up on that? ' 

Mr. FORD. Well, you mentioned your commitment to this legisla
tion and your concern for it, and therefore I assume that means 
that you want to protect the legislation for its ultimate passage. 
But aren't you con,cer~ed that communicators like Time magazine, 
Newsweek, Reader s DIgest, some of the above respected by virtual
ly everyone in this country as valuable sources of information ex
press the kind of serious concern they are expressing? Doesn't that 
mean it is time to back off and have another look? 

.Mr. !?AVIS: Su~e; I think there is some communication problem 
wl~h thIS legIslatIOn that we have not mast~red. It was a real disap
pOIntlnent to me to read that statement. It IS so farfetched--

Mr. FORD. It goes beyond his statement. There have been direct 
comm~nications to the members of the committee by people whose 
expertIse one has to respect, indicating that their concern is not su
perficial but is genuine and rather straightforward and forcefully 
presented. Therefore, that is why some of us have taken another 
look at what this thing was that came from good old Claude Pepper 
and started running through here. When you look at the--

Mr. DAVIS. Sure; have you asked the question, when people raise 
these. concerns: Why isn't the protection of the courts adequate? 
That IS my personal confusion on these very legitimate statements 
that have been filed, is why--

Mr. FORD. Let me answer it only partly facetiously: I thought Mr. 
Dannemeyer would catch you when you cited a Supreme Court de
cision from the Warren court. If that does not connote to you why 
there. is something less than universal acceptance of the tender 
merCIes of the court, then you have not been in town as long as I 
thought you were. 

Mr. DAVIS. That is a good point. 
Mr. FORD. You will never make a whole lot of people happy if 

you say, "Just trust the court." You and I might be willing to take 
that as lawyers, up to a point, but the public is not going to accept 
that and the~e groups are not going to accept the idea that they 
should be subjected to the tender mercies of the court, if they think 
that the rules of the game are being changed from a situation 
where they are not now subjected to that threat and they have a 
new threat. 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes. 
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Mr. FORD. What we have to do is find a way to answer those con
cerns in a legitimate way, or it is going to be very difficult to get 
the legislation and even more difficult to keep it on the books after 
it goes there. 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes. 
Mr. FORD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. LELAND. Thank you. 
It is the intention of the Chair to recess now for another 20 min

utes. We have a 15-minute quorum call that is on right now, in the 
last 10 minutes, and a 5-minute vote pursuant to that quorum call. 

[Recess taken.] 
Mr. FORD. The Chair would now like to recognize the gentleman 

from California. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I would like to postulate a case if the proposed section 413, found 

on page 2 of the act, S. 1407, would become the law: 
The Bible contains 66 books, The first 4 books of the New Testa

ment contain an account of a man describing himself as the Son of 
God. Jesus Christ is His name. Jesus Christ claims to have lived on 
this Earth about the beginning of Christendom. He claims that He 
was crucified for blasphemy, hung on a cross, and He rose again 
from the dead. The claim is that people who have faith in Him can 
attain eternal life. 

Now from the standpoint of an atheist, what I have just de
scribed is poppycock. It is false and misleading to an atheist, so an 
atheist comes in to you or you have an atheist who works as one of 
your 17 inspectors, and among the publications you peruse to pro
tect the public interest, you select the Bible one day. You conclude 
that, in the atheist's eyes, the claims of Jesus Christ are false and 
misleading, Anybody suggesting that there is a hereafter based on 
faith must be out of their mind, and we must stop that insult to 
the intelligence of the American public. 

So, if this section becomes the law you show up at, say, the 
Catholic diocese headquarters in Chicago; you and your inspector 
ask to look at all of the books and records that are extant in that 
office in order to determine how that particular diocese has been 
administering its affairs as one who claims to have a belief in 
Jesus Christ, therefore false and misleading in the eyes of the athe
ist. As I see it, you would be required to prosecute anybody who 
attempted to mail a Bible through the U.S. mail because it con
tained false and misleading information in the eyes of the atheist 
worker for the post office. Couldn't that happen? 

Mr. DAVIS. What were your last words, sir? 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Couldn't that happen? 
Mr. DAVIS. No, sir. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Why nut? 
IvIr. DAVIS. Well, there are a number of reasons. 
First of all, the statutes that we are concerned with apply not to 

the truth or falsity of matter mailed; they apply, rather, to the 
truth or falsity of advertising which seeks remittances of money 
through the mail. , 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, the church collects a lot of money. 
Mr. DAVIS. By false advertising? 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. In the eyes of an atheist it must be false. 
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Mr. DAVIS. Well, let's go to the next step. The next step is: The 
first amendment would most clearly protect any speech in the reli
gion area from any kind of Government intrusion of that sort. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Oh, would it really? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, it would. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. You say it protects religion. How about 

speech? What about the guy who claims that there is a difference 
in this book pUblication, the difference between stale food and 
fresh food? Why wouldn't the first amendment free speech rights 
protect him in his ability to spread his propaganda as he sees the 
light? 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, he would not come within the religion protec-
tion of the first amendment. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Just plain speech. 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, his claims are subject to scientific validation. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Scientific validation? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Would we call an expert witness to determine 

whether or not the claims of Jesus Christ fit within the--
Mr. DAVIS. The first amendment would bar the case. You could 

not have the case. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, what I am suggesting to you is that I 

think you people are on very dangerous grounds when you come up 
and make a serious suggestion that your agents, in an advocacy 
sense, would have the right to come in to a businessman and say, 
"Give me your books and records because we want to start perus
ing them to determine whether we can find something on which to 
hang our case." 

Mr. DAVIS. I could not agree with you more. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. We do not live that way in this country and I 

pray we never will. 
Mr. DAVIS. I agree with you completely. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. However, this is what you are asking for. 
Mr. DAVIS. No; a written demand would not, could never be so 

broad as you have just stated. It would have to be-
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Listen to the language. 
Mr. DAVIS. I know the language. I know the language well. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. I will read it. Listen, please. 

The Postal Service may require, pursuant to a written demand made under this 
section, that any officer 01' employee designated by the Postal Service be given 
access at reasonable times to inspect or copy any books, records, documents, or 
other objects. 

It does not say with a court order. It just means that a postal 
agent would come in with his identifying data and say to the busi
nessman or citizen of the United States., "Let me see your books," 

The citizen says, "The door, sir, is there. See you later." The 
postal inspector says, "Sir, you do not understaiad. If you do not get 
me these books and records now, I am going dr.)wn to court and get 
an order and compel you to do that and you will have to hire a 
lawyer, you will have to pay that lawyer, and we will see who is 
going to get these books and records," and he walks out. 

The next thing you know, here comes a process server from the 
court telling this businessman that the postal fellow was right; he 
is going to have to go to court and defend himself. About that time 
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he is going to come flying into his Congressman's office and say, 
"What are you people doing? Just what are you doing?" 

Mr. DAVIS. A couple of comments: First of all, the section contin
ues to say, " * * * which the Pos,tal Service has reason to believe 
relate to any matter under investigation by the Postal Service pur
suant to its authority." Secondly, the demand must be reasonable 
and must be specific, by statute. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. In a civil proceeding in Our Court system, if a 
lawyer wants to conduct discovery he has to serve a subpena duces 
tecum on his opponent. If it is in proper order it will be. honored. If 
it is not, you file an objection. There is a Court hearing on the effi
cacy of whether it is indeed or proper discovery or a fishing expedition. 

Mr. DA VIS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. That is due process. 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, I agree. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. I understand that; I respect that. What you 

ar~ suggesting here, sir, is not due process; it is ex parte. 
Well, maybe we do not understand the law, but in the opinion of this 

lawyer and this Member of Congress, sir, you are seek;ng authority that I hope you never get. 
lYlr. DAVIS. Well, wliat you just stated is exactly now I see this 

operating. You would go in with your subpena duces tecum. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. No, I do not want any official walking into a 

businessman's office or a private citizen's office under the cloak of 
authority of an agent of the U.S. Government, on his unilateral 
action on a complaint initiated as a result of perusing some docu
ments on his Own when he is acting under the concept of advocacy, 
and saying) "If you do not give me this stuff, I am going to go to t " N . COur . 0, SIr. 

Mr. DAVIS. That is precisely a Federal discovery document you 
just described; exactly what you described would apply. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. We do not run our system that way. I want to 
have the intervention of some judicial authority before anybody 
working under the cloak of authority can move into a private citi
zen's place of business or home and say, "Fork over something." 

Mr. DAVIS. That is a respectable point of view. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. A major percentage of your section 3005 cases 

relate to health products. How would you answer critics who 
accuse the U.S. Postal Service of conducting a vendetta against the natural food and health field? 

1Wr. DAVIS. Conducting a vendetta? 
1\;11'. DANNEMEYER. That is the term, vendetta. 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, I guess the one word that comes first to mind is "nonsense.' , 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. You do not admit that you have been conducting a vendetta? 

Mr. DAVIS. It is hard to do when you have not been. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, would you agree that a major percent-

age of your section 3005 cases relate to health products? 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, no question about it. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, how is that? 
Mr. DAVIS. A major portion of them relate to work-at-home schemes, too. 
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Mr. DANNEMEYER. ~hat? f them relate to work-at-home 
Mr. DAVIS. A maJo~ portIOn 0 relate to false billing schemes. 

schemes. A major P0'dtIOf. of th::detta against false advertising, 
Now we may. be. con uc lng articular area unless the people who 
but it is not hmlted .to thn~ pa ea concentrate more on false adverare selling products In a ar 

tising than in other aT~~t 18 United States Code, section 1341, es-
Mr. DANNEMEYER. I e Service involve itself in any supposed 

sentially lets the l!.S. Postal d at all Isn't this overbroad? Would 
scheme where J:?a.lls alr3e4fse that ~se of the mails must be the you favor restrIctIng so 

major' part of the ~che~e? S reme Court has restricted 1341 in a 
Mr. DAVIS. I thInk t e up t . cted the use of the mail fraud 

little different way. Thet have r~s thle mails is an essential part of 
statute to cases where t e USt~ 1 d minor part of the scheme. It 
the scheme, no~ some t taFrh

n ;~he:e the use of the mails, not just 
has to be a major par .0 e h r~ along the line. 
that one letter was maIled somt eWd t~ t that is already the law right Mr. DANNEMEYER. You con en a 

now? . h t' 'o-ht 
Mr. DAVIS. Yes, SIr, t a. IS rIb dent of mail under section 3007 
Mr. DANNEMEYER, The Imp0l:1n R would kill a mail order compa

obviously i:t~pos.es ~Teat haldS~Wt t ue that U.S. Postal Service will 
ny by stOPPIng ItS InC?me. sn 1 ~ch im oundment is in effect? 
not expedite proceedIngs t when s t the l~gal factfinding and due 
Doesn't the impouhndmhelnd' pre~P%~il itself bl~ed the company to process? Doesn t teo Ing 

death? ~ th h that The section 3007 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, let's see. Let s.go th~U!erits ~f th~ section 3005 

order is not an ord~r th.at deterFDd!ral district judge that there is 
case; it is a determblnl~tIonthbYt ~hee agency ultimately will find that probable cause to e Ie-ye a 

section 3005 has been VIOlated. . h t is a term of art The Ad-
As far as expedited proceedln~s, t ~t these cases be h'eard by a 

ministrative .P:oced,;,re {,ct :re3U1res h~ is appointed by the Offi~e of 
Federal admInIstratIve aWIJu t gel' bW them screened by them, Inde-Personnel Management, se ec e y , 

pendent of the agency. W hould all understand here, so ~t 
. Mr. DANNEMEYER. e sd t d that in these Federal admlnnonlawyers present may u~ ers an '. .' ht? 
istrative proceedings, there IS never a Jury, rIg . 

Mr. DAVIS. That is correct: here are assigned by the admin
Mr. DANNEMEYER. These Jut1'hs get a little hardened after a istrative agency and some 0 em 

while, don't they? h do That is correct. . 
Mr. DAVIS. I supposTeht ey . ointed and they serve In good be-Mr. DANNEMEYER. ey are app 

havior. . 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sIr. If th manifest a bias toward the prosecuMr. DANNEMEYER. . ~Y'? 

tion, that is just tlolugIh, IS~dt !tu'spect if you could demonstrate that, Mr. DAVIS. We, wou_ '-' , 
they would be removed. 
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Mr. DANNEMEYER. Do you have the privilege of disqualification 
in the proceedings? 

Mr. DAVIS. Oh, sure. . . . 't? 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. How many times can a lItIgant exerCIse I . 
Mr. DAVIS. A litigant exercise it? . . . . 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. That is right. Wha~, ~f a lItIgant comes In w~o 

has been caught in your ne~ a~d says: I do not choo~e to ~}lbmit 
my cause to the administratIve Judge that has ~e~n aS~Ign~d. ~oes 
he have a preemptory right to excuse that admInI~tratIve Judge. 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, the judge would have the rIght to excuse or 
recuse himself if he felt that--

Mr. DANNEMEYER. No. The ql1;estion is, does the accused have the 
preemptory right to excuse the Judge? 

Mr. DAVIS. No. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Why not? 
Mr. DAVIS. I do not know of any case under any system of law 

where that is the case. . . 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Have you practiced law in CalIfornIa? 
Mr. DAVIS. What? . C I'e .? 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Have you practiced law In a hornla. 
Mr. DAVIS. No, sir, I have not. .. . . 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Let me. suggest to y~~ t~~t In CalIfornIa.' In 

the State civil court proceedIngs, that a CIVIl lI~Igant has the .rIght 
to preemptorily excuse the first judge to whIch a matter IS as
signed, as a preemptory matter. 

Mr DAVIS. I did not know that. 
I did not complete the answer. I think there were some other 

parts of your question that I did not answer. 
Mr DANNEMEYER. Go ahead, sir. 
Mr: DAVIS. As I was saying, the Administrative ?rocedure Act re

quires a hearing before an "admin!strative .lavy, J.udge. U ~der our 
rules of practice, the term expedIted hearIng . IS a hearIng ~h~t 
bypasses the administrative law judge. You go directly to th~ Jud!
cial officer of the Postal Service; he ~e~rs tI:e case;. he decIdes It 
finally. There is no hearing by an admInIstratIVe law Judge. . 

Now the only way in our opinion th~t. can be do~e consIstent 
with the Administrative Procedure Act IS If both partIes .agree be
cause if just we could apply tha~, .the p~rty on the other SIde would 
lose their right unde! the A~I?1InIs~ratIve ~rocedure Act to a hear-
ing before an impartIal admInIstratIVe law Judge. . 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. In light of past USPS abuses of prIvacy such 
as mail covers, mail opening, and other :t;natte~s, why, should we. be
lieve that the USPS would not try to mIsuse InspectIOn authOrIty? 

Mr. DAVIS. When did I stop beating my wife? . 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. You asked the question. I WIll ask you: When 

did you stop? 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, as a matter of fact, I have not. [Laughter.] 
I do not know of any abuses th~t justify ~h~t statement, that 

would support it, but if there are In your ?pIn~On ~uch abuses,. I 
think the answer that is provided by this legIslatIOn I~ that ther~ IS 
not a single penalty there is not a single power, a sIngle sanctIon 
vested in the U.S. P~stal Service under this bill. Every power that 
is created, every sanction that is created, is in the Federa~ courts. 
If you want to back up a penalty or a subpena, you go to a Judge to 
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do it, and if the judge thinks you are unreasonable, or biased, or 
what have you, the judge can deny you the right to exercise that 
authority. 

Now I do not know what better safeguard you can build in than 
that. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, if you have the inspection authority, if 
that power were to be granted, shouldn't it be limited only to 
criminal matters and only by court order? 

Mr. DAVIS. No, sir. Under the mail fraud statute, the power of 
the grand jury to issue subpenas for books and records already 
exists, and it is more extensive by far than the written. demand au
thority under this bilL The power has been there for a long time. 
There is no similar authority in any degree under the civil statutes 
at the present time. That is the need for this bill. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Some people have said that ~ection 3005 pro-
ceedings are kangaroo courts. 

Mr. DAVIS. We have heard that today here. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Sir? 
Mr. DAVIS. We heard that today here. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Would the USPS object to the availability of a 

district court trial or a trial de novo at a defendant's request? 
Mr. DAVIS. Would we object to trial de novo, retry the case in the 

Federal district court? I guess my off-the-cuff answer would be no; I 
would not object to that. I think the courts might because it would 
place quite a burden on the courts to rehear an entire case rather 
than review a record and find out whether it is supported by sub
stantial evidence. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, you and I both know that in the review 
of an administrative proceeding certain presumptions take place 
with respect to the evidence and it is almost impossible to overturn 
an administrative judge. 

Mr. DAVIS. WeH, I don't know. I wish it were almost impossible. I 
do not think that is quite right. It does happen. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Very rarely. 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, if your administrative case was well-founded, 

well-tried, based upon substantial evidence, it should not have been 
overturned. ' 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. VVould USPS favor a provision that a money
back guarantee would remove any USPS cause for action under 
section 3005? 

Mr. DAVIS. No, sir. 'rhe problem with money-back guarantees
and they are prevalent in advertising, they are in many, many 
ads-there are several problems with it. One of them is, Where is 
the promoter when you go to exercise the money-back guarantee? 
Where is he? Can you find him? Can the citizen who wants the 
refund track this guy down? I mean, you have his last mailing ad
dress but you do not have his new mailing address. What has he 
done with his money? Has he created another set of books? Has he 
spun the money off? Has he put it in some new scheme? 

Suppose the citizen writes and says, "I want a money-back guar
antee. This law says I have a right to it," and the guy ignores it or 
he says, "No, I am not going to give it to you." Then the citizen 
goes to a Federal court, hires a lawyer, files a case to get back the 
$2.98 that they are owed under the statute? Not real practical. 
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Mr. DANNEMEYER. Is this $20,000 fine that i~ postulated in .this 
legislation-how did you arrive at that? Doesn t that seem a lIttle 
excessive? '" th fi t 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, we did not arrive !It It, .1 ~uess I~ . e irS 
answer I would give you. My understandIng of It IS that It IS sort .of 
based upon the penalty provisions of the Federal Trad~ Co~mls
sion Act which are both more extensive and less extensIve, If you 
can believe that. . h . I 

The Federal Trade Commission Act prOVIdes that for eac VIO a-
tion of an order you can be fined $5,000. I will t~ll you how ~hi~ 
works or can work. In one recent case a large maIler made a u 
mailing of mail that violated the order of the. F~deral Trade Com
mission. The Commission sat down and mul~Iphed the number ?f 

ieces of mail by $5,000 and handed them a bIll for a couple of mIl
lion dollars. It went through the courts, and the last I saw of t1?-e 
case the second circuit had approved the Federal Trade Cornmls-
sion's methodology. , . . b th 

Now that is one reason why I say It IS more extensIve ut <!n e 
other hand it is less extensive in that the same statute says, In the 
case of a continuing violation of the FTC order, the pena~ty shall 
be limited to $5,000 per day. Comparing just that part WIth ours, 
ours is more extensive. ,. . .. d I I 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. Well, is ther~ a.provlsIO~ I!l.CIVII Fe era aw 
which makes it actionable by a vICt~m w~o I~ Injured or has s~s
tained damages as a result of the dIssemInatIOn of false and mIS-
leading advertising? . b . 

Mr. DAVIS. No, sir, not to my knowledge. I thInk you would ring 
a civil action to recover on a breach of contract. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. It is a civil action, isn't i~, un~er our law to 
make a false and misleading claim in con!lectIOn WIth a .commer; 
cial product, under I would suspect the UnIform CommerCIal Code. 

Mr. DAVIS. Sure. . t' 't th 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Why couldn't our syste~ ~f JUS Ice J?ermi e 

bringing of a class act~on o,n 1;>ehalf of some VIctim of bUYIng a book 
that has ridiculous claIms In It?" . 

Mr. DAVIS. I think the law per:~lll~s that right now. I thInk you 
could have a class action by the VIctims of one of these schemes to 
recover their losses. " . 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. You see, I believe that thIS system of JustI~e 
should permit a remedy for a wrong, and if somebody engages In 
false and misleading advertisi:r:g! I think the p~rpetrator~ of that 
advertising should have the prlVI~ege ~f ans~erIng for theIr CUlpa
bility. Where I think you and I dIffer IS the Involvement of ~n ex
isting agency of Government carryin~ the mantle of authorIty: to 
begin the process whereby somebody IS brought to the bar of JUS
tice. 

Mr. DAVIS. Yes. . h b I 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. I am a little sensitive about t a.t ecause 

happen to be a former prosecutor, and I have also h,andled a lot of 
defense matters on the other side. I have seen both SIdes. 

Mr. DAVIS. So have 1. . . 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. As I said when I began questI?nlng, I am very 

reluctant to countenance a process where~y a publIc agency, under 
color of authority, can initiate a complaInt and become the com~ 
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plain ant because in my judgment they lose their objectivity and 
become an advocate for a cause, and that is dangerous for a free 
people, and I want no part of a continuation of that. 

Mr. DAVIS. Well, maybe this will make some sense to you. I know 
exactly what you are saying and I think the way I see. the problem 
is something like this: In many areas of commercial deception-
breach of contract cases-you know, if you sell me your house and 
you do not have title to it and I have lost $150,000 or $200,000, ob-
viously I am going to be able to afford a lawyer and I am going to 
be able to track you down and sue you and get my money back. I 
think, as I said a minute ago, there is authority in existing law to " 
have class actions to recover damages for breach of contract under 
mail fraud schemes. 

How do you get together-have you ever had a class action, in your experience? , 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Yes, I have. 
Mr. DAVIS. OK. That is my problem. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. Don't underestimate the ability, the imagina-

tion, and the perspicacity of lawyers. 
Mr. DAVIS. Well, try putting together a class action of people 

who have lost $2.98. 
Mr. DANNEMEYER. I thank the chairman for his indulgence. I 

have concluded my questions. Thank you very much. 
Mr. DAVIS. Mr. Dannemeyer, I might add I have some more in-

formation on the case you asked me about earlier. I could give it to 
you either on the. record or privately, whichever you would prefer. 

Mr. LELAND. Why don't you just hand it to him? 
Mr. DAVIS. I am sorry, sir? 
Mr. LELAND. Why don't you just hand it to him? 
Mr. DAVIS. 'Well, if I hand you what I have you are probably 

going to hit me because it is barely legible but I can translate it for 
you, I think, or I can give it to you later in something approaching English. 

Mr. DANNEMEYER. I appreciate that. Thank you. 
Mr. DAVIS. I will be happy to do it. 
Mr. LELAND. I thank the panel for its indulgence and I thank all 

of the parties who have contributed to the hearings to date. It has 
been quite an experience, to say the least. We have had anyone 
who wanted to testify to come before us and have their day in 
court, so to speak, Mr. Dannemeyer, and I think that the matter is • 
serious enough for us to pay very close attention to this matter, 
really closely, with as much meticulous scrutiny as possible. 

We intend to have some kind of instrument to confer on with the 
full committee. At some point in the near future this committee • 
will hold a markup session on these bills. 

Thank you very much, Mr. Davis and Mr. Nelson. 
Mr. DAVIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. NELSON. Thank you. I just want to reiterate that we certain-

ly are available to work on any matters concerning the bill with the sUbcommittee. 
Mr. LELAND. Well, let me assure you that the Chair feelo that 

you have been most responsive. Thank you. 
This concludes our public hearings on H.R. 3973 and S. 1407. I 

am satisfied that we have heard from all interested parties and 
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that we have thoroughly investigated every aspect of this proposed 
legislation, in addition, we have received written comments from a 
number of other interested parties. 

I want to thank everyone who has come before us for their con
tributions to our deliberations. 

Our consideration of this proposed legislation has heen focused 
on the following subjects: (1) Any reasons for enactment of this leg
islation; (2) the legislation's grant to the Postal Service: of access to 
books, records, and documents-section 2 of S. 1407; (3) the Postal 
Service's "stop mail" and "cease-and-desist" authority, and related 
questions of procedure and burdens of proof, pursuant to section 3 
of S. 1407; (4) the civil penalty authority granted the Postal Service 
by section 4 of S. 1407; and (5) the provision of section 4 of S. 1407 
which specifies that the resumption through use of any instrumen
tality of interstate commerce of any activity with respect to which 
a cease-and-desist order has been issued shall be considered a fail
ure to comply with such order. 

It hurt greatly when I heard from some of our witnesses, about 
the terrible tragedies that had befallen them as the result of mail 
fraud schemes. 

However, it also bothered me greatly to hear from others of our 
witnesses, about the potential for the abuse of constitutional rights 
protected by the first, fourth, and fifth amendments that this pro
posed legislation contains. 

Now that our hearings are concluded, we are going to make 
every effort possible to produce legislation that will enable law en
forcement officials to fight these frauds more effectively, but also 
remove the potential for the abuse of constitutional rights. 

[Whereupon, at 5:20 p.m., the subcommittee recessed, to recon
vene at the call of the Chair.] 
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May 17, 1982 

Dear Committee, 

The vending machines I bought were through an ad in the Rochester 

~ Bulletin newspaper Rochester, Minnesota September 1977. The machines 

advertlzed were faulty merchandise and were falsely'represe~ted. When 

machines were put on location they did'bt vend properly. They would jam 

so many 'times I spent more tlme on repairing them than on my other job. 

They were so bad the accounts asked to have them removed fro~ thelr 

property. The customers contlnually lost money in them. 

I tried to get help from many people. The manufactures of the machines 

and, the salesmen. Once they rece 1 ved money for the machines (7,000 dollars) 

they were of no help. The promise made was the machines would vend 

enoug~ profit to pay for themselves in less than one year. This was a lie. 

The $7,000 I purchased the machines with was barrowed at 7% interest. 

I was'going to use the proflt to pay Off this debt. I stll1 do not have 

this debt payed off. At 7% lnterest the debt has grown larger. It has 

caused much frustratio~ in my famlly. An addltional $450.00 was spent 

for plane fare to PennsYlvania to settle legal matters with my attorney 

and debate with manufaotures attorney. To this day all I have to show f'or 

a fraudulent ad ls a $7,000.00 debt,due September 1982, 7% interest for 

5 years, $450.00 plane ticket plus addltional expenses. Constant anxiety 

in my famlly, and I don't even have the machines. The manufaoture has' 

my money, the maohines and that~ wrong. 

These people should be punished for leeching on fellow Americans. 

And be made responsible for the debts and anxiety they have caused. 

As I write this letter to your committee I feel a great deal of 
frustration well up inside me once again. I sincerely hope progress will 

be made in this area. Thank you for hearing me out. 

Sincerely, 

Jay F. Smith 

98-546 0-82-18 

\, 
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JAMES JACKSON KILPATRICn: 

Dear Mr. Ford: 

WHITE WALNUT HILL 

WOODVILLE, VIRGINIA 22749 

(703) 91\7-8289 . 

16 May 1982. 

'. 

Let me thank you for your invitation to 
testify before your committee on H.R. 3973 and 
S. 1407, but let me beg off. Over the years I have 
made it a rule to limit my personal appearances be
fore congres'sional committees to those issues deal
ing directly with journalism--the Freedom of 
Information Act, a proposed "shield law,lI the Failing 
Newspaper Act) and so on. Otherwise, I think it best 
for me to comment on pending legislation through the 
medium of my syndicated column. 

My interest in the Pos-tal Service, as you 
may recall, was prompted by a stop order recently 
obtained ag~inst a fellow in Mississippi who was 
selling a bcoR--an inoffensive if mildly heretical 
book arguing that uncooked vegetables will keep one's 
arteries clear. It seems to me an intolerable vio
lation of First Amendment 'rights for the government 
to suppress the cfrculation of an idea. I pass this 
thought along for whatever it may be worth to you. 

Mr. William D. Ford, 
House of Representatives, 
Committee on Post Office and 
Civil Service, 
Washington, D.C. 20515. 
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Copyright Act of 1976 (17 U.S.C.)"MAIL SERVICES vs 'SEX PILLS' 
(from marillo Daily News, April 9, 1982, Amarillo, Texas 
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U.S. G9VERNMENT 

SMALL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20416 

Honorable William D. Ford 
Chairman 
Committee on Post Office and Civil Service 
House of Representatives 
Washington, D. C. 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

Tnis is in reference to your letter of May 11, 1982, inviting 
the Small Business Administration to appear before the.P~s~. 
Office and Civil Service Cocnittee on,th7 need. for legl.sda 10n 
to strengthen the u.s. p~s~al Servi:e s l.nVest1gatory an 
enforce~ent powers perta1nl.ng to ~al.l fraud. 

The Administrator has requested that I inform you that he feels 
SSA's involvement would be too limited to warrant an appearance 

~il~~;sH:~~e397~sa~~us~e~~~~n~~d~o;: ~~~!~ll!:~ ~~l~O~~!~~~et~~r 
comments tor the record at a later date. 

consl.·deration and invitation to participate I do appreciate your 
in this hearing-

Sincerely, 

Marshall J. Parker 
Assistant Administrator 

for External Affairs 

il II r 
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u.§. i[follsC of iRep~c.5enhtfiue.5 
SELECT COMMITiE:E ON 

NAR,COTICS ABUSE AND CONTROL 
ROOM H2,Z34. HOUSE OFFICE BUfLDlNQ ANNEX 2 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20515 

COMMITTEE PHONE 202-226-3040 

Honorable Mickey Leland 
Chairman 
Subcommittee on Postal Personnel 

and Modernization 

July 19, 1982 

Committee on the Post Office and Civil 
Service 

U.S. House of Representatives 
Washington, D.C. 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

---

It is my understanding that your subcommittee is currently holding 
hearings to consider H.R. 3973 relating to the Postal Service's authorities 
in dealing with false and misleading mail order promotions. I wish to call 
your attention to testimony the Select Committee has received concerning a 
drug abuse problem which involves the use of the mails and pertains to' 
this legislation. A copy of our hearing record is enclosed. 

Last fall, the Select Committee held a hearing on the growing problem 
of "look-alike" drugs. These capsules and tablets contain substances that have 
been approved for over-the-counter use, but they are made to closely imitate 
commonly abused controlled substances such as' amphetamines. They are often 
advertised and sold through the mail. Advertisements for these products fre
quently refer to them as "black beauties," "yellow jack~ts~ "white crosses, II 
or other street terms used for illegally obtained prescription drugs, and they 
are touted as body stimulants, alternative energy sources and the safe, legal 
way to get high. Some ads also include implicit or explicit suggestions of the 
profits that can be made by reselling the drugs. 

The primary marJset for these j}L'oducts is young children and college students. 
These pills are anything but safe as a number of deaths and injuries have been 
reported in connection with their ·use. Look-alikes serve no legitimate medical 
purpose but are merely intended to encourage drug abuse while making huge profits 
for manufacturers and distributor~. The potential for fraud in the promotion and 
sale of these articles is obvious. 
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Because of the widespread use of the mail in advertising and distributing 
these products, the Postal Service has been actively engaged in investigating 
look-alike distributors. The Postal Service has taken the position that look
alike drugs are a potentially serious health hazard and should be considered 
dangerous when sold and advertised in the manner described above. As a result 
of its investigations, the Postal Service has initiated stop mail proceedings 
against a number of distributors under 39 U.S.C. 3005 charging them with misre
presenting their products as safe. These actions have succeeded in forcing many 
of these distributors out of business. 

A major concern of the Select Committee has been whether present Federal 
statutory authorities are adequate to control the burgeoning loo~-alike problem. 
In its testimony before the COll1ll1ittee last fall, and in subsequent written 
responses to certain additional questions, the Postal "Service urged the adoption 
of H.R. 3973. Postal Service officials indicated that provisions contained in 
that bill, including the investigative demand authority, the authority to make 
test purchases, and the authority to impose civil fines of $10,000 per day on 
persons who violate false representation orders, would greatly enhance the Postal 
Service's effectiveness in dealing with false and misleading mail order promotions 
such as look-alike drugs. While the Postal Service's authority with respect to 
the look-alike trade is limited to the mail order aspects of this business, their' 
administrative actions are an important part of a comprehensive overall Federal 
response to this problem. 

We strongly encourage your subcommittee to approve expanded investigative 
and enforcement powers for the Postal Service to deal more effectively with the 
insidious practices of look-alike vendors. I note that nearly 300 members of the 
House, including 24 members of the Select Committe , have ~o-sponsored H.R. 3973 
and ,"at ,,,"ilar 1a81,lation (5. 1407) h., a1"'"'r.:;;;,ad n .a Sanata. 

Eol Z~~ 
LCZ:ggc 

Enclosure 

cc: Congressman Benjamin A. Gilman 

Congressman William D. Ford 
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LEE H. HARTER 
ATIORNEY AT LAW 

2256 VAN NESS AVENUE 
SAN FRANCISCO. CALIFORNIA 94109 

(415) 673·6300 

July 12, 1982 

TH~ HONORABLE MICKEY LELAND 
Chairman, Postal Personnel and Modernization Subcommittee 
United States House of Representatives 
Washington, D.C. 20515 

RE: H.R. 3937/S. 1407 
Hearing dates: July 15, 20 

Dear Chairman Leland: 

I write as an interested and concerned citizen; I am not offering 
the following on behalf of any client; however, I have spent 
almost nine years either prosecuting or defending postal fraud 
cases.under 39 U.S.C. §3005, and there are few attorneys as 

• exp,erienced in this field. I see two major problems with appli
cation of the proposed bill, \>lhich I believe the committee should 
addre~s prior to consideration of this bill: 

1) The infringement upon a publisher's Constitutional 
rights of freedom of the press; and 

2) The scheme of unbridled administrative censorship 
created by this bill. 

The Senate in its report on S. 1407 cited with approval' the so

called "Mirror Image Doctrine" as promulgated by the Federal Trade 
Commission (36 Fed.Reg. 13414, July 21, 1971). (S.Rept. No. 97-392.) 
The Mirror Image Doctrine provides: 

The Commission as a matt~r of policYr ordinarily will not 
proceed against advertising claims which promote the sale of 

. books and other publications: Provided, the advertising only 
purports to express the opinion of the author or to quote the 
c?ntents of the publication; the advertising discloses the 
source of opinions expressed about the publication. Whether 
the advice being offered by the publication will achieve, 
in fact, the results claimed for it in the advertising will 
not be controlling if appropriate disclosures have been made. 
The policy doe~ not apply, however, if the publication, or 
its advertising I is used to promote the sale of some other 
product as part of a commercial scheme. 
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Thus, the Mirror Image Doctrine provides protection for un

orthodox, unpopular opinions and ideas in book form as long as 

1) the advertising only purports to express the o~inion af 

the author or to quote contents for publication; 2) the adver

tisement discloses the source of statements quoted or derived 

from the contents of the publication; and 3) the advertising 

discloses the author to be the source of opinions expressed of 

the publication. In the Senate Report, it is stated that "in 

the view of the Postal Service its policy regarding enforceJ~ent 

against false advertising in the sale of publications is con

sistent with the 'Mirror Image Doctrine'." S. Report 97-392 

at 8. However, a recent case before the Postal Service suggests 

strongly that the Postal Service does not follow the Mirror 

Image Doctrine, and the committee should insist that the doctrine 

be included within the law. 

Attention is invited to the Postal Service case of 

Magnolia Laboratory, P.S. Docket No. 10/123 (Initial Decision 

July 28, 1981; Final' Postal Service Decision February ll! 1982). 

Robert Ford of Pascagoula, Nississippi believes that a diet 

principally of properly cooked vegetables cleans arteries. He 

wrote a book including his:~!['iory, plus diet suggestions, and has 

revised it so that it is now sold as a 48-page booklet entitled 

"Stale Food vs. Fresh Food." The book sells for $5.00 a copy. 

There is no question whatsoever that he clearly advertises that 

his product is a book, representing his own opinions and his 

own "discovery." (See enclosed copy of ad.) Even though it 

was clearly disclosed that this was a book, the Postal Service 
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charged Ford falsely represented that the dietary regimen in 

his book will effectively cleanse and' clear blocked arteries. 

Mr. Ford is selling no other product but his book; his 

ad~ertisement discloses that he is the original discoverer. 

While it is arguable that Mr. Ford did not technIcally comply 

with the Mirror Image Doctrine (because he included anonymous 

testimonials), importantly, the material cited by the Postal 

Service in support of its findings of false representations was 

not contained in the testimonials. The Postal Service went after 

the sum and substance of the book as expressed by author Ford. 

The administrative law judge concluded that Ford's booklet 

was "unproven and contrary to the weight of informed medical 

and scientific opinion." Because Ford's book was found to be 

falsely represented on its substance, he was effectively barred 

from using the mail; his advertisement wasn,'t false, but the 

substance of his book was 'found to be false. 

Thus, the Postal Service is banning opinions and ideas 

expressed in booklet form if the Postal Service finds them ·to 

be "unproven" and "contrary" to "informed" opinions. Worse 

yet, the administrative law judge continued and found "a danger 

of this publication." Shades of book burning! When can "dangers" 

be found in publications? Is this a seditious idea? Was this 

a book advocating violent overthro~ of the government? Was 

it urging any unlawful act? No! The supposed danger of Ford's 

ideas are that they "will deceive people who have arteriosclerotic 

problems into believing they can cure these problems b~ diet 

alone instead of seeking medical help." Ideas a~d opinions, 
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h OVerzealous govern-unpopular, are protected speec • however , 

f stopping the d1s-ment prosecutors should be prohibited rom 

, to be against "informed semination of ideas which they perce1ve 

opinion" or cause a The ludicrous "danger" to the readers. 

tly observed by the Postal Service was cogen 
position of h attached 

columnist James Kilpatrick in t e nationally syndicated 

article. 

, strongly recommended For the aforesaid reasons, it 1S 

, Image Doctrine be includeq within the pro--that the M1rror 

posed amendment~ to 39 U.S.C. §300S. 

bill a~ proposed would The second major problem with the 

administrative censorship over be the creation of a scheme of 

through the U.S. ,Mail; ~, , and what is not carried 
what 1S , With 

effectively barred from the mail. Mr. Ford's book was 

l ' t' of 39 U.S.C. §300~ expanqed authority, app 1ca 10n could likely 

result in considerable abuse. 

d principally to the printed -Application of §300S is confine 

. direct mail pieces. Mail newspapers, magazines, media, e.g., 1 

are extremely rare; ful y stop orders against the spoken word 

98% of the litigated cases Postal Service involve initiated by the 

media, and not the spoken word. the print~d 

* -cited in testimony presen~ed Therefore, some-of the examples ected by passage of th1s 
before the Senate could not b~ c~rfse representations were , 
bill; ~, Mrs. Bayard ~ore s a, ne Marcus, represent~t10ns 
from a face-to-face meet1ng; for S1d c;mPlaints of franc~1se 
were made on the telephone; the m~~y be solved, since 1n 
fraud would not, under current POr~~~blY not been more t~an frauds~ 
the last nine years, there have p ainst alleged franch1se . three 'if that many) cases ag two or: - \ 
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There are real problems of interpretation of advertisements 

when applying §3005. For example ,an advertisement is to be 

construed by its effect upon the mind of the ordinary person 

Viewing the advertisement in its entirety, conSidering what is 

expressly stated and what is omitted. Donaldson v. Read Magazine, 

333 US 178 (1948). This determines the representation made to 
the prospective customer. 

However, this decision is left up to two persons __ the 

administrative law judge and the Postal Service judicial officer. 

There is never any testimony by persons of the "ordinary mind," 

nor does the government put on any other evidence of what the 

advertisement means to the person of the ordinary mind. Obviously, 

with an express misrepresentation of fact, it shOUld not be 

required that experts or consumers give evidence on the meaning 

of the adverti~ement. But what about the cases where there is 

only a so-called "implied representation," i.e., the representation 

is not made directly but only by implication. How do we know how 

the person of the ordinary mind construes the advertisement? 

For example, consider the following language from an advertisement 

challenged by the Postal 'Service: 

Dr. Lester L •. Morrison, in a recent project, found 
that Lecithin produced a decrease of as much as 
30% in cholesterol of the body. 

The Postal Service alleged that this language represented: 

that the lecithin in the product~ in the doses pro-
: vided therein, will cause a decrease of 30 percent 

in the cholesterol level of the average person. 

Wi th no evidence, other than the advertisement, the Postal Service 

found the advertisement made the alleged false representation. 
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While the Postal Service mail stop .order was 'upheld on judicial 

review, the concurring opinion of Circu.i t Judge Clark is 

instructive: 

The typical shopper in 1977, who often marches 
into the market place armed with a current consumer 
report, would not be led astray by this assertion. 
One is hard pressed to find advertisements today that 
fail to extol how well various products have fared 
in recent independent tests • • • I say the mind of 
the ordinary reader says maybe so and maybe no when 
it notes an advertiser report of favorable tests or 
studies. Although the Postal Service's expert could 
not be classed as an ordinary reader, he testified 
he would not expect such a result. I don't ei th er • 
More importantly, I cannot accept the quoted portion 
of the advertisement would leave an ordinary rclader 
with the impression t.hat a 30% reduction of his body 
chOLesterol will necessarily' result from taking [the 
product). Peak Labs. v. U.S. Postal Service, 556 F.2d 
1387 (5th Cir. 1977), concurring opinion at 1390-91. 

With no evidence of any sort, other than the advertisement, how 

does anyone know the effect on the ordinary mind? The Postal 

Service says one thing; Judge Clark, another. Such a system of 

in·terpreting. advertisements leads to easy abuse when the Postal 

Service decides to bring its vast resources against a product; 

the situation will worsen if the Postal Service.gets this authority 

to issue cease and desist orders as proposed. 

Cease and desist authority now rests with the Federal Trade 

Commission, which also protects consumers by bringing actions 

against unfair and deceptive trade practices. 

The contrast between the Post~l Service and the FTC should . 
be noted prior to giving cease and desist authority to the Postal 

Ser~lce. Consider the difference in the institutions. With the 

FTC" there are five full-time commissioners, politically balanced, 

appointed by the President and confirmed by the Senate. The 
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commissioners serve staggered terms. Compare that governmental. 

process with that of the quasi-independe~t Postal Service, 

wherein eleven part-time members of the :Bo.ard of Governors 

select a Postmaster General;. the Postmas"ter General· then selects 

a "judicial officer" who serves at the Postmaster General's 

pleasure. The judicial officer is a high level Postal official, 

roughly equivalent to an Assi£it'ant Pos;tmal':tter General. There 

is probably not one member of Cong ress who has ever met, will 

ever meet, or have any occasion to even know t~e name of the 

judicial officer pf the U.S. Postal Service-. Personally, I 

question the wisdom of giving one person, th~ judicial ~fficer, 

the role of censor within an agency whose job is to move the 

united States mails. 

Additionally, the FTC has the authority to institute 

industry-wide regulations, if indeed there is a substantial 

. problem in protecting consumers, the Postal Service must go on 

a case-by-case basis entirely. This case-by-case approach 

heightens the problem of administrative discretion --some, but 

not all, persons using false r~presentations will be charged, 

and possibly face $10,000 per day penalt~es; others will not! 

Unbridled discretion in bringing charges coupled with almost 

non-existent evidence of the meaning of any advertise'ment, with 

the court composed of two levels of Postal Service-paid Qdministrators, 

is hardly a model of due process, especially in light of the severe 
) 

penalties being proposed. 

~ ______________ ~ __ ~ ____ ~JI __ ~_L~ __ -~ ____________ ~ ____________ • 
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Unfortunately, I believe Congress was not adequately 

apprised of the workings of the Postal Service prior to the 

bills' rush through the legislative halls. It is difficult 

to vote ag ainst something called "consumer protection It; 

whether an administrative agency's censorship of ideas and 

opinions ordered by the customer is "consumer protection" is 

open to question. I trust Congress will consider the wisdom 

of its policy. 

Attachments: 
1) Magnolia Labs ad 
2) Kilpatrick's column 
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Yours truly, 

LEE H. ,HARTER 
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AMERICAN RETAIt;. FEDERATION 
'616 H STREET, N, W, 

LOYD HACKLER 
PRESIDENT 

WASHI~GTON. O. C. 20006 (202) 783-7971 

May 21, 1982 

The Honorable William D. Ford 
Chairman 
~ommittee on Post Office and Civil Service 
House of Representatives 
Washington, D. C., 20515 

'Dear Mr. Chairman: 

Thank you so much for showing an interest in our postal 
, viet'1s. 

Since the first of the year our postal and transportation 
experts have been going over policies and recommended changes 
in 'our postal policies. We sincerely believe that there is a 
great need for some changes but we do not want to act precipitously. 

Our committees are reconsidering these policies again this 
week a't ,the Weste:.:n Traffic Confe:t:ence in Seattle, Washington .. 
As soon ,as we have something definite to say I will forward you 
a copy of those policies and recommendations. 

SinCerelY'~ 

~,"" 
LH:WKD:asl 
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National Broadcasting CompanY,lnc, 1825 K Street, N.w, 
Washington, D,C, 20006 202-833-3600 

Sallie H, Forman 
Director, Government Relations 

May 18, 1982 

HAND DELIVERED 

The Honorable 
William D. Ford, Chairman 
Committee on Post Office and Civil Se41:vice 
u.s. House of Representative$ 
Washing~on, D.C. 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

I am in 'receipt of your letter of May 11, 1982 
requesting an analysis and comments on HR 3973 
and S. 1407 for the hearing to be conducted 
beginning on May 20, 1982. 

The issues dealt with in the proposed legislation 
are not at all f'amiliar to me nor am I expert i,n 
matters pertaining to the Postal Service. Neither 
do I see where NBC woul~.have a direct interest in 
the provisions of the two bills. 

Therefore, it would appear that any analysis, 
comments, or appearance I would make before your 
committee would be inappropriate and would not 
ben,9fit the committee in providing the kind of 
exp,ert testimony you require. I have discussed 
with Louis Delgado, Staff Director for the Sub
committee on Postal Personnel and Modernization, 
the reasons why I believe I should not be invol v'ed 
and he agreed. 

SHF/KG 

cc: The Honorable Mickey Leland 
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National ASSOCiation 
of Manufacturers 

JAMES p, CARTY 
VicE: PresIdent and Manager 
Government RegulatIon and CompetitIon 
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May 17, 1982 

The , Honorable William D. Ford 
Cha~rman 

Committee on Post Office and Civil 
U. S. House of Representatives 
239 Cannon Hous~ Office Bldg 
Washington, DC 20515 • 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

Service 

Thank you for your letter f M . 
National Association of ilanufac~ ay ~J., 1982 inviting the 
Subcommittee to testif urers 0 appear before your 
investigatory and en£o~c~~e~~op~roposafls to strengthen the 
Service. . wers 0 the u. S. Postal 

Presently the NAM do t h ' 
these proposal~ As ares nO. ave a Pos~tionon either of 
in hearings on these two e~~ti we. are unable to participate 
for us to appear before your ~tibc~~~t~~~ for your invitation 

I, 

JPC/edr 

98-546 0-82-. 19 
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THE: ASSOCIATION OF" THE: BAR 

OF" THE: CITY OF" NE:W YORK 

<42 WEST 44TH STREET 

NE.W YORK l003e 

OSCAR ~ RUe:BHAUSE:N 
~AE5ID£HT 

zap PARK AVE:HUr: 
Hew YOnK 10017 

May 14, 1982 

William D. Ford, Chairman 
Committee on Post Office 

and Civil Service 
Mickey Leland, Chairman 
Subcommittee on Postal 

Personnel and Modernization 
House of Representatives 
Washington, D.C. ~0515 

Re: H.R. 3973 and S. 1407 

Gentlemen: 

" Thank you so much for your letter of the eleventh, inviting 
us to comment and testify in connection with the above two bills. 

Unfortunately, we do not have a substantive'position to com
"mun!cate to you in time for your hearings beginning next week. 

Your letter and its enclosures have been referred t~ Mr. Jack 
David, the Chair of this Association's Committee on Federal Legis
lation, with the .request that he communicate to you and your ~ol
leagues such comments with respect to the above bi1:ls as he or his 
Committee may believe useful to you. 

r am sorry that we can not accept your invitation to appear on 
May 20, but you will hear from Mr. David in the near future. 

Sincerely yo~urs 

ex t --.4&. ... _ '-tJi14Ao. J).... ' 

cc: Jack David 
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COMPTROLLER GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES 

WASHINGTON D,C. 20548 

July 28, 1982 

The Honorable Mickey Leland 
Chairman, Subcommittee on PostalPersonne1 

and Modernization 
Committee on Post Office and Civil Service 
House of Representatives 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

This responds t6 your request of May 11, 1982, for our 
views on S. l407~ a bill entitled, "Mail Order Consumer Protec
tion Amendments of 1982." 

S. 1407 is designed to strengthen the U.S. Postal Service's 
investigatory and enforcement powers~' The bill's key provisions 
would grant the Postal Service authority 'to issue written inspec
tion demands relating to matters under investigation, issue cease 
and desist orders regarding fraudulent activities conducted 
through the mail, and commence civil actions to obtain penalties 
of up, to $1U,000 per day for certain violations. ~/ 

We have not conducted any recent reviews of the mail fraud 
matters addressed by the bill, and, therefore, are not iri a posi
tion to comment on the problem of mail order fraud or the extent 

, to which enactment of S. 1407 would combat it. However, we do 
have several recommendations for clarifying those provisions of 
S. 1407 that deal with Postal: Service inspection demands and 
cease and desist orders. 

Inspection Demands 

Section 2 of the bill would authorize the Postal Service to 
require, pursuant to a written demand, the production of records 
deemed relevant to inVestigations of pos,tal offenses and postal 
civil matters. This inspection demand authority apparently would 
be available to the Post.al Service for the purpose of conducting 
cr iminal and civil inves,tigations ~efore pr,esentment. of a case to 

~/ An enforcement matter not addressed by S. 1407 is the 
authority of Postal agents to carry firear~s and make 
warrantless arrests for the commission of Federal 
felony offenses. These matters are covered, however, 
by S. 1630, the pending version of the comprehensive 
revision of the Federal Criminal Code. 
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the grand jury or the filing of a civil complaint. The 
inspection demand authority contained in S. 1407 is analogous 
to the pretrial investigative demand authority available to 
the Department of Justice for conducting antitrust investiga
tions. See 15 U.S.C. §13ll et~ •. 

The Justice Department's investigative demand authoriza
tion is subject to a number of statutory safeguards and 
standards, including specific provisions that prohibit 
demands for records that would be exempt from disclosure or 
otherwise privileged if subpoenaed by a grand jury or sought 
for discovery under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 
Although S. 1407 directs the Postal Service to promulgate 
regulations governing inspection demands and prohibits demands 
that are "unreasonable," it is not clear whether these provi
sions are intended to assure the adoption of standards such as 
those described above that govern investigative demands issued 
by the Justice Department. We recommend the Corr@ittee address 
the standards that are intended to apply to inspection demands 
issued under S. 1407. 

Cease and Desist Orders 

Section 3 of S. 1407 would provide the Service with author
ity to issue cease and desist orders for certain illegal uses of 
the mail. This would supplement the Service's authority under 
existing law to issue so-called stop mail orders. See 39 U.S.C. 
§ 3095 • 

Section 4 of the bill, quoted in part below, explains what 
will constitute a violation of a cease and desist ~rder issued 
under section 3: 

"The resumption through the use of any 
instrumentality of interstate commerce 
of any activity with respect to which 
a cease and desist order has been issued 
* * * shall * * * be considered to be 
a failure to comply with such order." 
(Emphasis added.) 

As presently drafted, section 4 seems to cover fraudulent 
activities not involving the mails that could tiot have been 
the subject of a cease and desist order under section 3. 
For example, a cease and desist order could properly issue 
for a fraudulent mailing, but the Service would not be 
similarly empowered to order the cessation of fraudulent ., 
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activity not involving the mails. Nevertheless section 4 
may be,read to provide that once the Service orders the 
cessat:on of a particular fraudulent or other illegal use of 
th~,m~lls, (e.g., engaging in conducting a lottery~ fraudulent 
so lC:t~tlons), a resumption of the activity by telephone, 
~elevl~lon, or o~her form of interstate communication not 
lnvolvlng the mal~s would be deemed a violation of the origi
n~l,cease,and deslst order. The Postal Service could file a 
C1Vll actlon and seek the imposition of civil fines if this 
were to occur. . 

If section 4 is not intended to operate in this manner, 
we :ecommend t~e bill be clarified. However, if our interpre
t~t:on of sectlon 4 is consis~ent with the inten~ of the pro
vlsl~n, we :ecommend the Commlttee consider whether exis·ting 
PostQl Servlce resources are adequate to assume a monitoring 
and enforcem:nt role for fraudulent and related activities 
that do not lnvolve the use of the mails. In addition we 
recom~end that provision be made for the Postal servic~ to 
coord:nate the exercise of this expanded authority with 
agencles such,as,the Justice Department, the Interstate 
Commerce Commlsslon, the Federal Trade Commission and the 
F:de:al Communications Commission. These agencie~ have juris
dlctlO~ over the,instrumental~ties of commerce not involving 
the malls that m1ght be used 1n connection with the violation 
of a Postal Service cease and desist order. 

We hope this expression of views will be of assistance to 
the Committee in its deliberations on S. 1407. 

~Jjl~YOUrS' 
~I}.ffi) . ~ 
Comptroller Gene~ 
of the United States 
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... 1i'1'ES POST,\-

.~~UI w !ll 
~ < Z _ n-
:J u.s.MAlL m 
.'- * Jf.***.*'" 

BOARD OF GO'/ERNORS 
washington. DC 2026().1 000 

July 14, 1982 

Honorable William D. Ford 
Chairman, Committee on Post Office 

and Civil Service 
House of Representatives 
Washington, D.C. 20515 

Honorable Mickey Leland 
Chairman, Subcommittee on Postal 

Personnel and Hodernization 
Committee on Post Office and 

Civil Service 
House of Representatives 
Washington, D.C. 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairmen: 

This letter responds to your request of ,May 14 seeking 
the views of the Governors on S. 1407, which has passed the 
Senate and is now pending before your Committee. This bill 
would amend the provisions of Title 39 relating to postal 
inspectors and their authority to investigate allegations 
of mail fraud. 

Hearings on this legislation have focused on a serious 
problem: unsuspecting consumers, especially the elderly, are 
often the innocent victims of fraudulent schemes that rely on 
the matls .. The United States Postal Service has the respon
sibility, in conjunction with the Department of Justice, for 
identifying and stopping these illegal practices. The pro
visions of S. 1407 would significantly strengthen the Postal 
Services' ability to carry out its responsibility. Any legis
lation that 'strengthens the authority of postal inspectors, 
however; ,must be accompanied by adequate safeguards to assure 
that the rights and privacy' interests of legitimate users of 
the mails are protected. 
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S. 1407 would. correct serious deficiencies in the ability 
of ~h7 ~ostal Se:v~ce to protect consumers againat fraudulent 
act~v~t~esthat.~nvolve ~he mails. U~der this legislation, 
t~e Postal Serv~ce must ~ssue regulat~ons governing the exer
c~se of these enhanced investigative powers. If S. 1407 is 
enacted, the Board of Governors of the Postal Service will 
review the proposed regulations with care to ensure that the 
new enforcement powers are carried out in a manner that pro
tects the rights and privacy of all users of the mails. 

In its review of this legislation, I believe that the 
Congress should make certain that adequate safeguards are 
provided in view of the special status of the Postal Service 
With that in mind, legislation along the lines proposed in . 

·S. 1407 should help protect the elderly from fraudulent mail 
schemes. Our senior citizens need protection and I can assure 
you that the.Governors of the Postal Service will be particu
larly attent~ve to the needs of the elderly in reviewing 
reg":1lations governing the exercise of any enhanced investi
gat~ve powers that the Congress vests in the Postal Service. 

We appreciate the opportunity to comment on this legislation. 

Sincerely, 

~~r~ 
Chairman 
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3!nterstate (!Commerce Qt~missio11 
ma~ingtnnt ~.«:. 20423 
July 8, 1982 

OFFICE OF LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL 

Honorable William D. Ford 
Chairman 
Committee on Post Office and Civil Service 
U. S. House of Representatives 
Washington, D. C. 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

. Thank you for your letter requesting the Commission's 
comments on H.R. 3973 and S. 1407, bills which would amend title 
39, United States Code, to strengthen the Postal Service's ability 
to protect consumers against fraud and misrepresentation 
perpetrated through the mails. Since this legislation does not 
appear to have a significant effect on the activi~ies of the 
Interstate Commerce Commission, Chairman Taylor has asked me to 
respond to your letter on his behalf. 

The only language in S. 1401 which seems to impact on the 
Commission's jurisdiction is a provision of section 4, dealing 
with civil penalties. This 'provision would establish that the use 
of any instrumentality of interstate commerce to resume an 
activity after a cease and desist order has been issued under 39 
U.S.c. 3005 shall be considered a failure to comply with such 
oreier, and therefore subject to the civil penalties prescribed in 
the bill. Thus, if a cease and desist order had been issued 
against a person under investigation for a fraudulent mail order 

. scheme and that person continued to conduct his business by 
utilizing means other than the mails for transporting his goods, 
he would be liable for civil penalties for violating the order. 
Although this provision could apply to persons utilizing 
ICC-regulated carriers, the Commission would not object to the 
imposition of civil penalties in such cases. This authority 
should make it easier for the Postal Service to stop incidences of 
this type of consumer fraud. 

I hope that this information is helpful to you'as you 
consider this important legislation. If the Commission can be of 
any further assistance in this matter, please do not hesitate to 
contact us. 

Sincerely yo~s, j~ 

~ ('n {L/I" 
Jani~e M. ~osenak 
Legislative Counsel 
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FEDERAL COMMUNICATlo"NS COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON. O.C. 20554 

MAY 201982 

Honorable William D. Ford 
Chairman, House Committee on Post 

Office and Civil Service 
Washington, D.C. 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

IN REPL. Y ItEFEft TO; 

con Th~s is in' response to your letter of May 11, 1982, 
. cer~~ng H.R. 3973 and S. 1407, legislation strengthenin the 
~nve~t~gatory and en~orcement powers of the United States ~ostal 
erv~ce. The follow~ng comments are those only of the 

Commission's Office of General Counsel and not of the Chairman 
the other members of the Commission. or 

My staff has reviewed the provisions of H R 3973 d S 
l4?7 and ~e have no specific comments to make ~n'the le:~slation 
Whf~Ch bas~cally concerns the enforcement process and procedures 
o another Federal agency. 

I would, however, call to your attention the fact that in 
Septem1?er 198~, th7 Commission submit'ted to the Congress an 
extens7ve ~eg~slat~ve package of proposed amendments to the 
Commun~cat~ons Act of 1934. Among the numerous amendments we 
have pro~os7d the deletion of 47 u.s.C. §3l2(a)(6) which ailows 
the ~omm~ss~~n to. revoke any station license or construction 
perm~t for v~~lat~on of 18 U.S.C. §§1304 and 1343, the bro~dcast 
lottery,and w~re fraud statutes, as well as of 18 U.S.C. §1404 
the a~t~-~roadcast obscenity law. In February, Representative' 
Broyh~ll ~ntroduc7d this proposal as part of H.R. 5585 the 
Broadcast Regulat~on Reform Act 1982. ' 

W7 have recommended the elimination of this revocation 
author~ty for offenses related to wire fraud, broadcast of 
lotter~e~ and obsc7ni~y because the proposed elimination will 
remove direct Comm~ss~on involvement in and review of the content 
of broadcas~ programming where, in our judgment, such Federal 
government ~nvolvement no longer appears warranted We b l' 
moreover, that criminal prosecution by the Departm~nt of ~u~~r~~ 

! i 
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- vides a more effective remedy. Of 
and United States Attorneys P:ot . of 'a licensee, the commission 

ft criminal conV1C 10n t h uld course, a er a, 't the relevant conduc s 0 ld still determ1ne what ~m~ac , 
~~~e on the licensee's qua11f1cat1ons. 

1407. 
f th O~portunity to commen Thank you or e r' t on H.R. 3973 and S. 

Sincerely yours, 

S4Q. A-Sfd..-p 
Stephen A. Sharp 
General Counsel 
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Office of the Assistant Attorney General 

Honorable William D. Ford 
Chairman 
Committee on Post Office 

and Civil Service 
House of Representatives 
Was?ingt0I,l. D. Co' 20515 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 
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u. S. Depar~entof Justice 

Office of Legislative Affairs 

k'a:hin/:lon, D.C. 20530 

MAY 18 1982 

This is in respon'se to your letter of May 11. t 982, requesting 
the views of the Department of Just~ce with respect to S. 1407. a 
House version of which will be the subject of Subcommittee hearings 
'commencing May 20, 1982. This legislationvwould strengthen Postal 
Inspection Service i~vestlgatory and enforcement powers. 

'!nvi;ew of your desire to hold hearings next week, and beca~se 
- the Department's position was set forth in a November 30, 1981, 
-letter to the Senate Governmental Affairs' Committee, I alii taking 
the liberty of enclosing a copy of the Department' s report ,on 
S. 1407. As you will note, the Department supports enactment of 
S. 1407 provided two modifications are made in the bill. It is my 
hope that the enclosed letter is responsive to die Committee's 
request and that the information set out therein will be of value 
in connection with your consideration of this issue. 

Please let me' know if 'we can be of further assistan 0 you 
during the Course of your review of this important 1 isl tion. 

Enclosure 

cc: Honorable Mickey Leland 
Chairman 
Subcommittee on Postal Personnel 

and Modernization 

() 
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~l1iteb ~tates ;mepartmrnt of Jj'ustic£ 

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 
LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS 

WASHINGTON. D.C. 20530 

NOV 30 1981 

Honorable William V. Roth, Jr. 
Chairman 
Committee on Governmental Affairs 
United States Senate 
Washington, D.C. 20510 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

This is i~' response to your request for the views of the 
Department of Justice on S. 1407, a bill "To amend title 39, 
United States Code, by strengthening the investigatory and 
enforcement powers of the Postal Service by authorizing in- . 
spection authority and by providing for civil penalties for 
violations of orders under section 3005 of such title (per
taining to schemes for obtaining money by false repr~senta
tions or lotteries), and for other purposes." 

S. 1407 is intended to give the Postal Service certain 
additional powers to help deter mail fraud sche~es. As su~h, 
the Department of Justice generally supports th~s consumer 
protection bill. We do, however, have several·suggested 

. changes which we will make reference to la~er in our report. 

. S. 1407 proposes a new Section 413 of title ~9, United 
States Code which would authorize the postal Serv~ce, upon 
written request, to inspect books and records relating to 
matters under investigation pursuant to 39 U.S.C. S404(7), 
which authorizes investigation of "postal offenses· and civil 
matters relating to the Postal Service." 

S. 1407 also proposes new subsections (d)(l) and (d)(2) 
to 39 U.S.C. §3005. The proposed 39 U.S.C. S3005(d)(1) 
would authorize the Postal Service to purchase any article or 
services offered by a promoter for ~ale by mail. The unrea
sonable failure ·by any person to comply with ~uch a p~rchase 
demand would constitute probable cause to bel~eve that such 
person is engaging in prohibited mail fraud activities de
scribed in S3005(a)(1) and therefore would be grounds pursu
ant to 39 U.S.C. §3007, for a district court to enter a tem
porary restraining order and preliminary injunction directing 
detention of a d~fendant's incoming mail. Similarly the 
proposed 39 U.S.C. S3005(d)(2) provides that the unreasonable 
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failure of any person to comply with a written Postal Service de-
'mand, under the proposed §413, to inspect records, would ,also con
stitute probable cause to believe that such person is engaging in 
prohibited mail fraud acti'vities and therefore would be grounds 
for entry of a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunc
tion pursuant to 39 U.S.C. §3007. 

S. 1407 further proposes a new Section 3012 of title 39 
united States Code which could establish a civil penalty for any 

.person who evades or attempts to evade the effect of a mail stop 
order issued pursuant to 39 U.S.C. S3005(b). .The civil penalty 
could not exceed. $10,000. In determining the civil penalty the 
Posta~ Service would be required to take into account certain fac
tors such as the extent and gravity of the violations in a partic
ular·case. Administrative due process procedures would be.pro
vided. Any perso~ assessed a civil penalty would be allowed tol. 
appeal the decision to a Court of Appeals of th~ United States. 
An action for collection of any civil penalty could be brought in 
any appropriate Dis:trict Court of the united States. 

This· bill will give the Postal Service so~e of the additional 
power it needs to curb mail schemes by unscrupulous promoters. At~ 
present, while the Postal Service can order a mail stop for such a 
scheme, the promoter is free to change his name and obtain a new 
post office ·box to continue the same scheme. The Postal Service 
'can only commence another hearing process pursuant to 39 U.S.C. 
§3005(a) which is a slow process and which, even if successful, 

. can be defeated once again by the promoter changing his name,and 
obtaining a new post office box. Moreover, experienced promoters 
of such schemes often fail to deliver the product or service for a 
certain period following its advertisement in the mails knowing 
that the Postal Service polices such advertisements by making at
tempts to covertly purchase such product or service. The failure 
to deliver such product or service effectively curtails the Postal 
Service's ability to test such product or service and to obtain, 
.where.warranted, a temporary restraining order from a district 
court pursuant to 39 U.S.C. 3007(a) until after most of the vic
tims have placed their orders, and the mail has been received by 
the promoter. 

While we generally support S. 1407, we believe it can be im
proved by the following changes. 

With respect to the proposed 39 U.S.C. §3005, SUbsections 
(d) (1) and (d)(2), we note that those SUbsections establish cer
tain potentially problematic presumptions concerning what consti
tutes probable cause for purposes of obtaining an injunction in 
district court pursuant to 39 U.S.C. §3007. The latter section 
presently provides that a district court shall enter a temporary 
restraining order and preliminary 'injunction directing detention 
of a defendant's incoming mail upon application by the Postal Ser
vice and upon a showing of probable cause to believe that 39 
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U.S.C. §3005 (pertaining to schemes for obtaining money by false 
representation or lotteries) is being violated. As discussed 
abpve, proposed subsection (d)(l) establishes, for purposes of 
§3007, a presumption of probable cause of a violation of §3005(a) 
where a person has unreasonably failed to comply with a Postal 
Service purchase demand; proposed sUbsection (d)(2) establishes, 
for purposes of §3007, a presumption of probable cause of a viola
tion of §3005(a) where a person has unreasonably failed to comply 
with a Postal Service document demand. with respect to both these 
subsections, however, it appears advisable that the statute itself 
or Postal Service implementing regulations further define what is 
meant by an "unreasonabla failure" to provide a requested article 
and an nunreasonable refusaln to comply with a document demand. 
Otherwise the presumptions of probable cause established in the 
proposed §3005(d)(l) and (d)(2) may well be subject to challenge 
under the Due Process Clause. 

with respect to proposed 39 U.S.C. §30l2, we suggest that a 
sentence be added to sUbsection' (b) (2) to the effect that n The 
Postal Service shall have the power to compromise, mitigate, or 
remit any penalties before fi~al payment of such penalty is made. n 
This provision is consistent with other civil penalty provisions. 
It should be noted, however, that once the penalty is paid into 
the U.S. Treasury, the Postal Service is powerless to refund any 
such penalty from the Treasury. 

In conclusion, the Department of Justice recommends enactment 
of this legi~lation amended as 'suggested abo~e. 

The Office of Management and Budget has advised this Depart
mentthat there is no objection to the submission of this report 
from the standpoint 6f the Administration's program. 

Sincerely, 

(SIgned) Robert A. McCo.,neR 

Robert A. McConnell 
Assistant Attorney General 
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